

4th International Conference on Higher Education Learning Methodologies and Technologies Online HELMeTO2022

> September 21-23, 2022 Palermo, Italy

# **Book of Abstracts**

Sponsored by









Autori vari HELMeTO 2022 - Book of Abstracts Tutti i diritti sono riservati

Editore STUDIUM s.r.l. a socio unico Prima edizione Settembre 2022

ISBN 978-88-99978-52-5

Questa opera è protetta dalla legge n. 633/1941 sul diritto d'autore @ STUDIUM s.r.l. a socio unico 2022

### **Organizing Committee**

| General Chairs: |   |
|-----------------|---|
| Marta Cimitile  | Unitelma Sapienza University, Italy               |
| Giosuè Lo Bosco | University of Palermo, Italy                      |
| Davide Taibi    | CNR – Institute for Educational Technology, Italy |

| Permanent Steering Committee: |  |
|-------------------------------|--|
| Daniel Burgos                 | Universidad Internacional de La Rioja, Spain                 |
| Gabriella Casalino            | University of Bari, Italy                                    |
| Marta Cimitile                | UniTelma Sapienza University, Italy                          |
| Riccardo Pecori               | Universitas Mercatorum, Italy                                |
| Pietro Picerno                | eCampus University, Italy                                    |
| Paolo Raviolo                 | eCampus University, Italy                                    |
| Pier Cesare Rivoltella        | 'Sacro Cuore' Catholic University, Italy                     |
| Christian Stracke             | European Institute for Learning, Innovation and Cooperation, |
|                               | Germany  |

Program Chairs: Saida Affouneh Gabriella Casalino Alessandra La Marca

Publication Chairs: Daniel Burgos Giovanni Fulantelli

Publicity and Communication Chairs: Eleni Ilkou Daniele Schicchi

Special Session Chair: Elif Gulbay

Local Organization Chairs: Salvatore Calderaro Giuseppe Bianco Mariella Farella

Web Master: Daniele Schicchi An-Najah National University, Palestine Università degli Studi di Bari, Italy University of Palermo, Italy

Universidad Internacional de La Rioja, Spain CNR – Institute for Educational Technology, Italy

L3S Research Center, Germany University of Palermo, Italy

University of Palermo, Italy

University of Palermo, Italy University of Palermo, Italy CNR – Institute for Education Technology, Italy

University of Palermo, Italy

### **Program Committee**

Agrati Laura Sara Albanese Martina Albano Giovannina Amato Domenico Ardimento Pasquale Arrigo Marco Barattucci Massimiliano Baroni Federica Barpi Fabrizio Bernardi Mario Luca Borras-Gene Oriol Calderaro Salvatore Campisi Patrizia Cappuccio Giuseppa Casalino Gabriella Cimitile Marta Cristaldi Giusy Dalmazzo Davide De Blasio Antonella De Rossi Marina del Gobbo Emiliano Di Gangi Mattia Antonino Di Mitri Daniele Di Paola Benedetto Dimitriadis Yannis Doronzo Federica Drlik Martin Du Xu Eleni Ilkou Falzone Ylenia Farella Mariella Fazio Claudio Ferrari Simona Fiorentino Michele Giuliano Froehlich Dominik Fulantelli Giovanni

Gama Sandra Gilardi Marco González Enríquez Isabel Guarino Alfonso Gulbay Elif Hernandez-Leo Davinia Hoppe H. Ulrich Iuliano Enzo Università degli studi di Bergamo University of Palermo University of Bari Univesity of Palermo University of Bari **CNR** Institute for Educational Technology University of Bergamo University of Bergamo Politecnico di Torino Università del Sannio Universidad Rev Juan Carlos University of Palermo University of Palermo University of Palermo University of Bari Unitelma Pegaso International, I.S.S. C. Marchesi, Mascalucia Politecnico di Torino eCampus University University of Padova University of Foggia AppTek Leibniz Institute for Research and Information in Education University of Palermo University of Valladolid University of Foggia University in Nitra Central China Normal University L3S Research Center University of Palermo **CNR** Institute for Educational Technology University of Palermo Università Cattolica University of Bari Institut für Bildungswissenschaft National Research Council of Italy, Institute for Educational Technology, Palermo Universidade de Lisboa University of the West of Scotland Universidad Complutense de Madrid University of Foggia University of Palermo Universitat Pompeu Fabra Rhein-Ruhr Institute (RIAS) eCampus University

Program Committee

#### HELMeTO 2022

Izgi Ümit Jablonski Simone Jacques Sebastien José Moreno Guerrero Antonio Kruschwitz Udo Lanzetta Michele Lazzari Marco Litsa Maria Lo Bosco Giosuè Lombardo Renato Longo Leonarda Lopez-Bastias José Luis Maffei Antonio Maiorana Francesco Mancini Riccardo Marquez Ronald Martino Federica Masrour Tawfik Massaro Stefania Meletiou-Mavrotheris Maria Messina Salvatore Monfroy Eric Montano Debora Montone Antonella Parrinello Daniela Pecori Riccardo Pedone Francesca Picerno Pietro Pierri Anna Pilato Giovanni Ragni Benedetta Raviolo Paolo Rondonotti Marco Ros Martín Montserrat Irene Schicchi Daniele Scifo Lidia Simone Maria Grazia Slavickova Maria Taibi Davide Trevisan Ottavia Tu Chih-Hsiung

Vinci Fiorella Vinci Viviana Zaza Gianluca hacettepe university Goethe-Universität Frankfurt Université de Tours Universidad de Granada University of Regensburg University of Pisa University of Bergamo University of Thessaly University of Palermo University of Palermo University of Palermo Universidad Rey Juan Carlos KTH Royal Institute of Technology in Stockholm University of Urbino eCampus University North Carolina State University University of Palermo ENSAM Meknes My Ismaïl University University of Bari European University Cyprus eCampus University University of Nantes Università del Sannio University of Bari University of Palermo University of Sannio University of Palermo eCampus University University of Salerno National Research Council of Italy, ICAR, Palermo University of Foggia eCampus University eCampus University Universidad Rev Juan Carlos University of Palermo National Research Council of Italy, Institute for Educational Technology, Palermo eCampus University University in Bratislava National Research Council of Italy, Institute for Educational Technology, Palermo University of Padova Northern Arizona University eCampus University eCampus University University of Bari

### **Table of Contents**

| HELMeTO 20222 Editorial: Introduction to the Scientific Contributions<br>Saida Affouneh, Daniel Burgos, Gabriella Casalino, Marta Cimitile, Giovanni<br>Fulantelli, Giosuè Lo Bosco and Davide Taibi  | i  |
|---|----|
| General Track 1 - Online pedagogy and learning methodologies  |    |
| The effect of COVID-19 pandemic on online learning. A survey on a sample of Italian<br>undergraduates   | 2  |
| On line Peer Assessment with Heterogeneous groups of students formed by a<br>Machine-learning-based application   | 5  |
| Development of a Remedial Course for Students Who Attend Classes of Circuit Theory<br>Enrico Perano and Paolo Manfredi  | 8  |
| Externalizing Practical Knowledge Through Online Co-creation in Healthcare<br>Education: A Methodological Study<br>Fumiya Urushibata, Shogo Ishikawa, Hideki Ueno, Kaoru Sonoda, Yujun Murakami<br>and Shinya Kiriyama  | 10 |
| Boost students' engagement in Higher Education with Peer Teaching<br>Graziano Cecchinato and Romina Papa  | 13 |
| The impact of Covid-19 on Italian Higher Education in the context of the European scenario  | 16 |
| Social Learning for Professional Development. A In-house Service Learning<br>experimentation in Initial Teachers Training<br>Valentina Cautiero, Elena Valgolio and Pier Cesare Rivoltella  | 18 |
| Online Teaching and Learning for all? Experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic<br>Leonard Busuttil, Michelle Attard Tonna and Colin Calleja   | 20 |
| e-tutoring in Higher Education: research and experimentation<br>Irene Mauro and Marco Rondonotti  | 23 |
| Audio-visual atelier between media education and teaching<br>Pier Cesare Rivoltella, Chiara Panciroli, Alberto Parola, Laura Corazza and Anita<br>Macauda   | 26 |
| Performative teaching in higher education: from systematic review to the construction<br>of a survey  | 29 |
| How did university students adapt to the "new normal" of teaching and learning during<br>the pandemic? A qualitative study<br>Andrea Tinterri, Maka Eradze, Delio De Martino, Manuela Ladogana, Annalisa<br>Quinto, Angelica Disalvo, Isabella Loiodice and Anna Dipace | 32 |

# General Track 2 - Learning technologies, data analytics and educational big data mining as well as their applications

| Redefining Digital Distance Learning and Roles of Ten Digital Learning Tools in<br>Support of Distance Learning Processes   | 36 |
|---|----|
| A macro-level analytics of MOOC features in a regional platform: course design,<br>scheduling, participation<br>Annamaria De Santis, Katia Sannicandro, Claudia Bellini and Tommaso Minerva | 39 |
| Exploring data cultures in two universities: Contextualised data practices and needed<br>literacies   | 42 |
| Exploiting Student Participation for Early Prediction of Course Quality in Universities<br>Gianni Fenu, Roberta Galici, Mirko Marras and Simone Picciau                                     | 45 |
| Predicting students' academic success: the role of students' social-relational skills and synchronous activities<br>Giorgio Cecchi and Sara Mori  | 48 |

### Special Track 1 - Improving education via XR and AI

| Investigating Mixed Reality's Influence on Climate Change in an Undergraduate Science<br>Education Course  | 52 |
|--|----|
| Leonard Annetta and Mark Newton  |    |
| LOs within Moodle platform: IEEE-LOM and OAI-PMH integration   | 55 |
| Development of experiential learning, modelling and repetition processes in Virtual<br>Reality applications. Theoretical analysis and didactic implications  | 58 |
| Augmented and Virtual Reality Experiences in Computer Science Education<br>Gaetano Anastasi and Enzo Giuseppe Munna  | 61 |
| Teaching Science Concepts via Augmented Reality in the Fairy Tale Science Augmented (FAnTASIA) Project   | 64 |
| Giuseppe Chiazzese, Eleni Mangina, Crispino Tosto, Luciano Seta, Antonella Chifari,<br>Paola Denaro, Doriana Dhrami, Marco Arrigo, Mariella Farella, Christos Ioannides,<br>Konstantinos Tsolakidis and Darya Yegorina   |    |
| A framework for improving High Education Experiences by Deep Learning and<br>Immersive Technologies  | 67 |
| An innovative example of using Augmented Reality into behavioral lessons<br>Mariella Farella, Marco Arrigo, Davide Taibi, Crispino Tosto, Luciano Seta,<br>Antonella Chifari, Sui Lin Goei, Eleni Mangina, Fridolin Wild, Paola Denaro,<br>Doriana Dhrami and Giuseppe Chiazzese | 70 |

| On cooperative learning and peer tutoring. A decision support system for students'<br>group formation   |
|---|
| Alfonso Guarino, Emiliano del Gobbo, Daniele Schicchi, Luca Grilli, Barbara<br>Cafarelli and Pierpaolo Limone   |
| Special Track 2 - Educational Approaches and Innovative Applications<br>to Counteract Social Media Threats  |
| At cybersecurity school with Nabbovaldo: evaluation of a serious game   |
| <ul> <li>Designing Educational Interventions to Increase Students' Social Media Awareness -</li> <li>Experience From the COURAGE Project</li></ul>  |
| A game based educational experience to increase awareness about the threats of social<br>media filter bubbles and echo chambers inspired by "wisdom of the crowd": preliminary<br>results   |
| <ul> <li>Enhancing Social Media Literacy Skills in Students: Empirically Investigating Virtual</li> <li>Learning Companions</li></ul>   |
| The Courage Virtual Learning Companion: Learning Design and Technical Architecture 90<br>Farbod Aprin, Nils Malzahn, Francesco Lomonaco, Gregor Donabauer, Dimitri<br>Ognibene, Udo Kruschwitz, Davinia Hernández-Leo, Giovanni Fulantelli and H.<br>Ulrich Hoppe |
| Analyzing the intrinsic motivation in narrative scripts to enhance social media awareness. 93<br>René Lobo, Roberto Sánchez-Reina, Emily Theophilou and Davinia Hernandez-Leo   |
| Special Track 3 - Hybrid Learning and Accessibility in higher education   |
| Metaphors and representations of the experience lived in blended synchronous mode<br>learning by students of a university course. A lesson learned for teaching act from a<br>descriptive longitudinal study  |
| Online synchronous communication in a blended learning course: an analysis of Webinars.101<br>Serena Triacca and Federica Pelizzari   |
| Designing for Student-Centered Hybrid Learning Environments: A Framework for<br>Programming Languages Course Design   |

Merja Bauters, Yasin Ortakci, Kasim Ozacar, Ferhat Atasoy, Veselina Jecheva, Angel Toshkov, Daniele Peri and Dominique Persano Adorno

| Accessibility in Blended Learning and Hybrid Solutions at Higher Education Level: A<br>Word from the Students                                 | )7 |
|---|----|
| Now it's your turn: training the engineer of the future   | LO |
| The inclusive design of a learning path with Integrated Digital Teaching in the<br>Education Science Degree Course at the University of Genoa | 13 |
| Perspectives on TLC development and technology-enhanced teaching and learning at<br>the University of Trento                                  | 16 |
| Quality online learning: new perspectives of the Teaching and Learning Center   | 19 |
| Creating Interactive Courses for a Modular Information System   | 22 |

# Special Track 4 - E-learning for providing "augmented" mathematics education at University level

| Do 5W+H commute in Communication of Science?   | 126   |
|--|-------|
| Maurizio Dabbicco, Sandra Lucente, Franco Liuzzi and Massimo Trotta  |       |
| ASYMPTOTE: A tool for teaching and learning mathematics online   | . 129 |
| The role of feedback in a formative assessment path for pre-service Mathematics<br>teachers: the case of rational numbers                                | 132   |
| Online asynchronous interactions on mathematics and mathematics teaching<br>Anna Pierri and Eugenia Taranto  | . 135 |
| Empowerment of in-service teachers through the use of technology at different levels<br>Francesca Alessio, Chiara de Fabritiis and Agnese Ilaria Telloni | 138   |
| Pre-service primary teachers' professional development through an educational path in<br>remote learning designed with an interdisciplinary perspective  | 141   |
| Exploring Affective Outcomes in a Structured Online Problem-solving Learning<br>Experience at University Level   | . 144 |

| Accessible websites as tools for approaching STEM education: a still open challenge 148<br>Sonia Ravera and Francesco Tranfaglia  |
|---|
| Differences in the comprehension of the limit concept and desired "connected knowing" in calculus between prospective mathematics teachers and managerial mathematicians151 Mária Slavíčková and Michaela Vargová |
| STEM education and digital instruments of the scientific museums and botanical gardens. 154 Patrizia Campisi and Nicoletta Bonacasa   |
| Understanding STEM students' difficulties with mathematics  |
| Are you a collaborative e-learning platform?  |
| Digital tools to support interdisciplinary approaches to mathematics in high school 163 Annarosa Serpe  |
| Active Learning Methods in Higher Education in Presence and at a Distance:<br>Theoretical Foundations and Examples from Physics Education Research  |
| A distance learning approach to surface phenomena based on Smoothed-particle<br>hydrodynamics computational method  |
| Non-covalent interactions: an opportunity for AR use in chemistry education   |
| Towards Integrated Digital Learning: prospective challenges in STEM education   |
| A phenomenological study about the effect of Covid-19 pandemic on teachers' use of<br>teaching resources about reasoning & proving in mathematics   |
| Use of mathematics and physics teachers' resources during and post Covid-19 pandemic 180 Jakub Michal and Tünde Kiss  |
| Active blended learning in an undergraduate laboratory of analytical chemistry during pandemic  |

# Special Track 6 - Online Faculty Development: Next Steps for Practice and Future Research

Autoethnography and faculty development: reflections from a co-teaching experience ..... 188 Laura Fedeli and Rosita Deluigi

| HELMeTO 2 | 2022 |
|-----------|------|
|-----------|------|

| Promoting a new Age of the Faculty Development through online initiatives   | 191 |
|---|-----|
| Capability approach and sustainability, a survey for the faculty development  | 194 |
| Co-design and Co-teaching in Higher Education: a research experience  | 197 |
| HOW TO CULTIVATE TRANSFORMATIVE LEARNING IN FACULTY<br>DEVELOPMENT: TOWARDS THE FRAMEWORK OF THE 4S MODEL<br>Alessandra Romano and Loretta Fabbri   | 200 |
| Technology enhanced assessment and feedback practices: findings from a syllabi analysis<br>to inform academic development<br>Federica Picasso, Anna Serbati, Beatrice Doria, Paola Venuti and Valentina Grion | 203 |
| Hybrid mediation to faculty developers: didactic and organisational intersections in the<br>TLC Uniba   | 206 |

# Special Track 7 - Artificial Intelligence and Multimodal Technologies in Education (AI&MTEd '22)

| Effects of a Collaborative Video-Learning-Tool on Flow Perception, Cognitive Load and<br>Usability Evaluation   |
|---|
| Validation of the Relationship among Brain Waves, Heart Rates, and Facial Expressions<br>during Programming Learning  |
| Use of conversational agents in the university environment: First results   |
| An Artificial Intelligence-based system for fast configuration of cultural and learning paths219<br>Yousef Ali Abd El Dayem, Amedeo Cesta, Gabriella Cortellessa, Riccardo De<br>Benedictis, Carlo De Medio, Carla Limongelli and Augusto Palombini |
| Transformer-based Recommender Enabling Automatic Flashcards Generation  |

### Special Track 8 - Experience-based training activities for online higher education

Designing Gamified Learning Activities on Digital Teaching in Higher Education ...... 226 Maria Ranieri, Elena Gabbi and Cristina Gaggioli

| The invented case: an innovative (but not so new) instrument to teach law at distance<br>Alberto Gianola and Domitilla Vanni   | . 232 |
|--|-------|
| Experience-based activities in a blended model Master's degree   | 235   |
| Training teachers' digital skills after pandemic. A study on 'Didactic technologies'<br>laboratory at UniBg  | 238   |
| A visualization software tool used in teaching of scheduling algorithms<br>Peter Sedlacek, Patrik Rusnak and Dusan Novotnak  | . 241 |
| Behind the Scene of the 2022 edition of the Italian Coding League: Experience-based<br>Learning for Computer Science Students<br><i>Giorgio Delzanno, Luca Gelati, Giovanna Guerrini, Angela Sugliano and Daniele</i><br><i>Traversaro</i> | 244   |

### Special Track 9 - Intelligent Analytics for Process-aware Higher Education

| Predicting student's performance using environmental and activity metrics   |
|---|
| Explainable fuzzy models for Learning Analytics   |
| Fuzzy Hoeffding Decision Trees for Incremental and Interpretable Predictions of<br>Students' Outcomes                       |
| Students' dropout predictive models in higher education   |
| An Experience of Integrating Flipped Classroom Strategy in an Academic Course 260<br>Pasquale Ardimento and Michele Scalera |

### Special Track 10 - The digital innovation of university teaching observed through the prism of emotions

| The invisible bridges: the functions of technology and emotions in rehabilitation programs for prisoners  | 272 |
|---|-----|
| The sociological relevance of public emotions in online university education. A nussbaumian intepretation | 274 |
| eLearning, technology as a factor in enhancing the person in higher education and in the world of work    | 277 |

# Special Track 11 - Empowering soft skills and digital competencies in higher education

| UNIVERSITY TEACHERS' TECHNOLOGY ACCEPTANCE AND MOBILE<br>EDUCATION  | . 282 |
|---|-------|
| Observing the effectiveness of a distance remedial course for the key-competences to<br>enroll in the University: the case of PER.S.E.O   | 285   |
| The training potential of collaborative writing mediated by digital technology in times of pandemic: analysis of best practices   | . 288 |
| Development of Communication Skills Using Silent Video Task   | . 291 |
| Self-reflection and digital wisdom development of future teachers   | . 294 |
| Developing teachers' leadership skills with coaching<br>Leonarda Longo, Valeria Di Martino and Federica Martino   | . 296 |
| Coding Maps: A Planetary Journey into Computational Thinking and Digital Skills<br>Giorgio Delzanno, Giovanna Guerrini, Mattia Pusceddu, Giovanni Zanone and<br>Angelo Ferrando | . 299 |
| Blended Learning and New Scenarios<br>Giusi Antonia Toto, Martina Rossi, Piergiorgio Guarini and Alessia Scarinci   | . 302 |
|   |       |

# Special Track $\mathbf{12}$ - Manufacturing Education for a Sustainable fourth industrial revolution

| Manufacturing Education Transformation during Covid-19 Pandemics  | 806 |
|---|-----|
| Tena Žužek, Primož Podržaj and Andreja Malus                      |     |
| How much digital learning is enough? Lesson learned from Covid-19 | 309 |
| Antonio Maffei and Fredrik Enoksson                               |     |

### HELMeTO 2022

| Introducing sustainability themes in STEM education: evidences from some European countries  |
|--|
| Dario Antonelli, Paolo Minetola, Paolo Priarone, Antonio Maffei, Michele Lanzetta,<br>Dorota Stadnicka and Primož Podržaj  |
| An Archetype for Engineering Education Towards Industry 4.0 Enabled Sustainability315<br>Francesco Lupi, Mohammed M. Mabkhot, Pedro Ferreira, Niels Lohse, Dario<br>Antonelli and Michele Lanzetta |
| Additive Manufacturing for Sustainability  |
| Adapting education programs to the requirements of industry and society  |
| A metacognition approach to engineering management education: the Debatethon   |

Antonella Martini, Irene Spada, Vito Giordano, Gualtiero Fantoni and Filippo Chiarello

### Message of the General Chairs of HELMeTO 2022

#### Dear friends,

the 2022 edition of HELMeTO confirmed a growing interest in the topics of higher education learning methodologies and technologies, as well as the relevance of the interdisciplinary approach that characterizes our community. This increased interest, drive us to translate HEL-MeTO event from a workshop to a conference, hosting a higher number of contributions from several countries and bringing a more international perspective on the topics.

Exactly, we received 126 extended abstract submissions from more than 400 authors and 24 countries (Italy, Israel, United States, Japan, Turkey, Slovakia, Germany, Ireland, Spain, Portugal, Morocco, Greece, Algeria, Brazil, Czechia, Malta, India, Estonia, Bulgaria, Netherlands, United Kingdom, Slovenia, Sweden, Poland).

The presentations and the talks highlighted the complex relationship between technologies and pedagogical approaches. These discussions also pointed out new emerging topics such as the potential role of learning analytics, artificial intelligence, augmented and virtual Reality, big data analytics, and the key role of tutorship and learning design in online learning. A great discussion is also taken on the impact of the Covid-19 emergency on the online education through a dedicated session already introduced from HELMeTO 2020.

However, the emergency has forced universities to adopt solutions for distance learning very quickly, often without being able to provide adequate planning or build up specific technical and didactic skills to develop e-learning courses. In the last years, online learning topics escalated in the agendas of all the educational institutions around the world: schools, universities, education ministries, and policy makers and education has changed dramatically, with the distinctive rise of e-learning. It is a common idea that even if several education institutions return in the last month to their traditional learning models, the integration of information technology in education will be further accelerated and online education will eventually become an integral component of education. This extraordinary situation is well represented by most of the accepted contributions explicitly dedicated to the reaction of academic institutions to the Covid-19 impact on their courses.

The 2022 edition of HELMeTO also signed the so-desired return to the on-site since HEL-MeTO 2020 and 2021 were fully online, given the Covid-19 emergency. The event is taken in Palermo at the Department of Mathematics and Computer Science of the University of Palermo and organized in collaboration with the Institute of Educational Technology of the National Research Council of Italy.

September 17, 2022 Palermo The General Chairs: Marta Cimitile Giosuè Lo Bosco

Davide Taibi

### HELMeTO 2022 Editorial: Introduction to the Scientific Contributions

Saida Affouneh<sup>1,[0000-0003-1799-4649]</sup>, Daniel Burgos<sup>1,2[0000-0003-0498-1101]</sup>, Gabriella Casalino<sup>2,[0000-0003-0713-2260]</sup>, Marta Cimitile<sup>3,[0000-0003-2403-8313]</sup>, Giovanni Fulantelli<sup>4,[0000-0002-4098-8311]</sup>, Giosuè Lo Bosco<sup>5,[0000-0002-1602-0693]</sup>, and Davide Taibi<sup>4,[0000-0002-0785-6771]</sup>

<sup>1</sup>An-Najah National University, Palestine <sup>2</sup>Universidad Internacional de La Rioja (UNIR), Logroño, La Rioja, Spain <sup>3</sup>University of Bari, Bari, Italy <sup>4</sup>Unitelma Sapienza University, Rome, Italy <sup>5</sup>CNR – Institute for Education Technology, Palermo, Italy <sup>6</sup>University of Palermo, Palermo, Italy

**Keywords:** Distance Learning, Virtual Learning Environment, Online Learning, eLearning

The 4th International Conference on Higher Education Learning Methodologies and Technologies Online (HELMeTO2022) brings together dozens of highquality contributions distributed in 14 tracks. This book of abstracts binds together all the accepted contributions to the conference, grouped in two general tracks and twelve special tracks. Indeed, the wide broad of theoretical approaches, technologies, and practical cases makes this volume an excellent overview on the current international context of online learning, and it could provide a guideline for scholars and researchers on online learning and the future of education from pedagogical and technological aspects.

This editorial, therefore, does not intent to provide a systematic review of every publication but a general overview of every track so that the reader can better decide what to pursuit further. To this extent, general Track 1 is focused on "Online pedagogy and learning methodologies". It presents how to design a survey, how to implement social learning for professional development, the outcome of using a machine-learning app on peer assessment, or the after-effect of COVID-19 in Higher Education. General Track 2 is focused on "Learning technologies, data analytics and educational big data mining as well as their applications". It presents prediction both, in course quality and in students' success. It also presents analytics on a specific MOOC and on university data cultures, as well as a deep analysis on digital tools and the related roles.

Special Track 1 is focused on "Improving education via XR and AI". It presents the design and use of virtual reality, augmented reality, and mixed reality through a number of cases and topics, such as climate change, didactics, computer science, science, immersive technologies, behaviour, and cooperative learning and peer tutoring. Special Track 2 is focused on *"Educational Approaches and Innovative Applications to Counteract Social Media Threats"*. It presents virtual learning companions, social media filters and awareness, as well as the related narratives, and the use of games.

Special Track 3 is focused on "Hybrid Learning and Accessibility in higher education". It presents blended learning deployed in a number of ways, such as webinars, programming languages, accessibility, specific training, inclusive design, technology-enhanced learning, quality and interaction. It also concentrates on different forms of Blended learning that suit different learners, cultures and institutions.

Special Track 4 is focused on "E-learning for providing "augmented" mathematics education at University level". It presents the use, design, application, and assessment of Maths education through many settings: online tools, feedback and formative assessment, asynchronous interaction, in-service teachers, pre-service teachers, and affective outcomes.

Special Track 5 is focused on "STEAM Education old and new challenges in distance teaching/learning approaches in Higher Education". It presents Science, Technology, Engineering, Arts, and Maths, in diverse settings and approaches, such as accessibility (with a different angle to Special Track 3), calculus, botanical gardens, animal biology, collaborative learning, interdisciplinary approaches, physics, chemistry hydrodynamics, and reasoning. It presents STEAM in different context and its possibilities in online education.

Special Track 6 is focused on "Online Faculty Development: Next Steps for Practice and Future Research". It presents a wide range of topics on the matter, starting with co-teaching and sustainability, and following with transformative learning and technology-enhanced assessment. It also deals with mediation.

Special Track 7 is focused on "Artificial Intelligence and Multimodal Technologies in Education (AIMTEd '22)". It presents significant works on flow perception, cognitive load and usability evaluation; conversational agents, facial recognition, cultural and learning facts, and a recommender.

Special Track 8 is focused on *"Experience-based training activities for online higher education"*. It presents a diverse catalogue of field experiences on how to deal with teaching during the COVID-19 pandemic, gamification, scheduling algorithms, and a specific case of the Italian coding league.

Special Track 9 is focused on "Intelligent Analytics for Process-aware Higher Education". It mainly presents research on Fuzzy logic and models, as well as predictive approaches for academic performance and drop-out. Additionally, a case on flipped classroom strategy.

Special Track 10 is focused on "The digital innovation of university teaching observed through the prism of emotions". It presents socio-affective engagement and scenarios, rehabilitation programmes, public emotions, and self-assessment through gamification, as well as the use of video in perception.

Special Track 11 is focused on "Empowering soft skills and digital competencies in higher education". It presents cognitive and non-cognitive skills, as well as other skills, such as digital, communication and leadership ones. It also deals with self-reflection pre-service Primary school teachers, and future learning scenarios.

Finally, Special Track 12 is focused on "Manufacturing Education for a Sustainable fourth industrial revolution", and it combines up-to-date research on transformation, educational programmes and sustainability, engineering education, and the so-needed connection between society and industry.

All in all, this book of abstracts covers a general approach to online learning methodologies and technologies in Higher Education, which is the core of HEL-MeTO since its inception. The book integrated the theoretical and practical experiences in online technologies and learning.

General Track 1

Online pedagogy and learning methodologies

# The effect of COVID-19 pandemic on online learning. A survey on a sample of Italian undergraduates.

Barbara Caci<sup>[0000-0001-5353-4872]</sup>, Giulia Giordano<sup>[0000-0003-0647-7582]</sup>, and Marianna Alesi<sup>[0000-0002-7372-3205]</sup>

University of Palermo, Palermo 90128, Italy barbara.caci@unipa.it; giulia.giordano@unipa.it; marianna.alesi@unipa.it

#### **1** Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic created a risk to all educational system levels, ranging from primary to university grades, due to social restriction measures of isolation world-wide [1]. Online Learning (OL) was challenging for many undergraduates because of the lack of Internet connectivity or digital devices and a suitable home study environment [2]. Uncertainty, plan modification, and delays in the graduation and post-graduation plans timeline are reported by literature [3] and lower scores in the final examinations, especially in all students with low Internet connectivity or limited access to devices [4,5]. In Italy, university institutions switched to OL in March 2020, in the middle of the semester, with multiple direct consequences for students forced not to attend classes and laboratories physically and limited the traditional face-to-face contact with their teachers and between themselves. The present paper reports a survey to describe the impact of OL during the COVID-19 pandemic on a sample of undergraduates considering their study environment, learning habits and strategies, academic achievement, social interaction, and mental health troubles since these variables have had little attention to date [4; 6].

### 2 Method

A total sample of 1069 undergraduates attending courses for the first-level degree (78.5% female;  $M_{age}$ =21.72; SD = 4.05) participated in the survey after recruiting by a snowballing procedure. The link of the present survey was posted on the online classrooms of the researchers' university courses and social media of students' associations over twelve weeks during the COVID-19 second-wave Italian lockdown phase (March-May 2021). First, all participants were assessed using psychological measures for self-efficacy (i.e., General Self-Efficacy Scale-*Italian adaptation*) [7], academic motivation (i.e., Academic Motivation Scale) [8], and trait anxiety (i.e., Spielberger State-Trait Anxiety Inventory - *Short form*) [9]. Then, they filled out an online questionnaire named COVID-19 Online Learning Scale (COLS-19), developed ad-hoc for the present stud exploring: the study environment, learning habits and strategies before/during the COVID-19 pandemic; academic achievement; social interaction and mental health

problems. All participants completed the survey during their online classrooms with an average of about 30 minutes. Data were collected automatically by MS Forms. According to the Declaration of Helsinki, all participants gave written consent about the anonymity of data handling and were not compensated financially or through additional university credits. The Bioethics Committee of the University of Palermo has approved the current study (n. 38/2021).

### 3 Results

Descriptive statistics were calculated for psychological measures and COLS-19 variables. Then, a series of factorial multivariate analyses of variance were performed on COLS-19 scores using HIGH/LOW scores for psychological measures (i.e., self-efficacy, academic motivation, and trait anxiety) as between-subjects factors and BEFORE/DURING the COVID-19 pandemic as the within-subjects factor. All data analyses applied the IBM SPSS 26.0 software package (IBM Corp. Released 2011, IBM SPSS Statistics for Macintosh, Version 20.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp). Results show a significant effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on most of the study variables related to OL due to individual differences in psychological measures. We found that during the OL activities due to the COVID-19 pandemic, individuals with higher scores on self-efficacy increased the use of taking notes more than those with lower scores (F=3.2; p<.05). Contrarily, undergraduates with low academic motivation less respected their time schedules during their study activities (F=4.01; p<.01) and decreased their learning strategies by taking fewer notes during the OL classrooms (F=4.7; p<.01). Data also showed that people with high trait anxiety used the summarising strategy during the OL classrooms less than before the pandemic (F=3.3; p<,05).

#### 4 Conclusion and Discussion

The present study, in line with literature underscoring the impact of stress appraisals on the mental health of students navigating the COVID-19 pandemic [10], shows a strong interrelation between psychological skills for managing learning habits and strategies, academic achievement, social interaction, and mental health problems during the switching to OL after the COVID-19 pandemic. Psychologists and educators need to deliver autonomy-supportive programs that teach students how to cope with anxiety from attending OL classes, also improving their academic outcomes. Results of the present study need to consider some limitations: 1) the cross-sectional design applied in this work does not allow us to make cause-and-effect inferences. Thus, future research could replicate the study with other methodologies such as longitudinal studies to monitor better the learning strategies applied by undergraduates; 2) the convenience sample, even if it plays a valuable role in social science research [11], is not balanced by gender; still, it is hoped to replicate the work by balancing the male-female ratio; 3) a non-random population sample was applied. Thus, we cannot generalise to the entire general population of university students; so future cross-cultural studies on more representative samples from different universities are needed to corroborate our results.

#### References

- Radu, M. C., Schnakovszky, C., Herghelegiu, E., Ciubotariu, V. A., & Cristea, I. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the quality of educational process: A student survey. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(21), 7770 (2020).
- Alemany-Arrebola, I., Rojas-Ruiz, G., Granda-Vera, J., & Mingorance-Estrada, Á. C. Influence of COVID-19 on the perception of academic self-efficacy, state anxiety, and trait anxiety in college students. Frontiers in Psychology, 2640 (2020).
- Aftab, M., Abadi, A. M., Nahar, S., Ahmed, R. A., Mahmood, S. E., Madaan, M., Ahmad, A. COVID-19 pandemic affects the medical students' learning process and assaults their psychological well-being. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18, 5792 (2021).
- Cao, W., Fang, Z., Hou, G., Han, M., Xu, X., Dong, J., & Zheng, The psychological impact of the COVID-19 epidemic on college students in China. Psychiatry Research, 287, 112934 (2020).
- Mudenda, S., Zulu, A., Phiri, M. N., Ngazimbi, M., Mufwambi, W., Kasanga, M., & Banda, M. Impact of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) on college and university students: A global health and education problem. Aquademia, 4(2), ep20026 (2020).
- Clabaugh, A., Duque, J. F., & Fields, L. J. Academic stress and emotional well-being in united states college students following the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Frontiers in Psychology, 12 (2021).
- Sibilia, L., Schwarzer, R. & Jerusalem, M. Italian Adaptation of the General Self-Efficacy Scale: Self-Efficacy Generalized. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences. Available online at: http://userpage.fu-berlin.de/~health/italian.html (1995).
- Vallerand, R. J., Pelletier, L. G., Blais, M. R., Brière, N. M., Senécal, C., & Vallières, É. F. On the assessment of intrinsic, extrinsic, and amotivation in education: Evidence on the concurrent and construct validity of the Academic Motivation Scale. Educational and psychological measurement, 53(1), 159-172 (1993).
- 9. Zsido A.N., Teleki S.A., Csokasi K., Rozsa S., Bandi S.A. Development of the short version of the Spielberger state-trait anxiety inventory. Psychiatry Research (2020).
- Chu, G. M., Goger, P., Malaktaris, A. & Lang, A. J. The role of threat appraisal and coping style in psychological response to the COVID-19 pandemic among university students. Journal of Affective Disorder, reports 8, 100325 (2022).
- Caci, B., Scrima, F., Tabacchi, M. E., & Cardaci, M. The reciprocal influences among motivation, personality traits, and game habits for playing Pokémon GO. International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction, 35(14), 1303-1311 (2019).

# On line Peer Assessment with Heterogeneous groups of students formed by a Machine-learning-based application

Daniela Amendola<sup>1[0000-0003-3039-260X]</sup>, Giacomo Nalli<sup>1</sup><sup>[0000-0002-5667-3429]</sup>, and Cristina Miceli<sup>1</sup><sup>[0000-0002-7829-8471]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Camerino University, Camerino Via Andrea D'accorso 16-62032, Italy daniela.amendola@unicam.it

#### Abstract

Many Universities promote innovative teaching that allows an improvement of learning in terms of knowledge and soft skills, including the student as an active actor in the training process. Collaborative activities such as peer assessment are effective teaching methodologies since they improve learning outcomes by promoting active learning [1]. They also develop the students' social skills such as decision making, communication, collaborative and critical thinking [2][3].

Peer assessment is a collaborative learning method based on a critical analysis of an exercise assigned by the teacher, previously done by peers [4] and then carried out by the learners. The literature shows how peer assessment supports and improves learning, both for the students who receive the feedback and those who give it, because the activity triggers self-assessment and critical reasoning with a focus on the tasks produced by both [5].

Since the academic year 2017/2018, a collaborative activity of peer assessment, used as an evaluation process with a training function, was included in the online laboratory of Genomics for the master's degree course in Biological Sciences of the University of Camerino, thanks also to the use of digital technologies.

This experimental procedure was entirely conducted online, using the University's Moodle e-learning platform. From the analysis of the students' perceptions related to this collaborative activity carried out in the past editions, some critical issues emerged on the composition of the reviewers' groups that are not always well distributed [6].

Ensuring the heterogeneity of the students in terms of cognitive resources, characteristics and behaviours is essential for maximizing success in group works [7]. In university courses, forming optimal heterogeneous groups of students for collaborative activities is not always easy. Usually, different approaches don't always guarantee the formation of heterogeneous groups, such as random selection, automatic selection, and teacher selection [8]. The last approach could better guarantee the formation of heterogeneous groups. It consists in the selection of students, by the teacher, based on pre-established characteristics, such as knowledge, skills, interests and learning style [9]. However, for the university teachers, the identification of different profiles of students who attend the classroom, influenced by certain characteristics and behaviours, is complicated, not only for the high number of participants, but also for the relatively short duration of the courses that do not always require a mandatory attendance. Different works show how the use of models help teachers to define students' behaviours related to their learning process [10]. Some Machine Learning algorithms, such as Clustering, reveal their usefulness for their ability to group similar student's types through specific behavioural indicators such as "presence coefficient", "study coefficient", and "activity coefficient" [11]. The weakness in the online learning environments is the lack of a specific software that easily allows the creation of these groups automatically, facilitating the teacher's work.

For this purpose, a computer-based application was created to allow the artificialintelligent creation of heterogeneous groups, using unsupervised Machine Learning techniques [12] applied to the Learning Analytics produced by the students during their attendance of an online course in Moodle [13].

The software firstly defines different clusters of students (each cluster includes students with similar behaviours in the online path) and then heterogeneous groups (each group includes students belonging to different clusters). For the first part K-means clustering algorithm was chosen for its effectiveness in grouping students based on online behaviour in e-learning courses [14]. Instead for the realization of heterogeneous groups an algorithm specifically developed was used, that includes in each group at least one student for each cluster, ensuring heterogeneity. This software application was implemented in the academic year 2020/2021 in the Genomics online laboratory (composed by international students from: Africa, India, China, and Italy), in order to automatically create heterogeneous groups of students for the collaborative activity of the peer assessment.

The aim of this work is to check the improvement of the effectiveness of the peer assessment activities using heterogeneous groups (created by the software developed), compared to random groups, answering to the following questions:

1. Does peer assessment based on heterogeneous groups enhance the improvement of students' performance compared to the same activity based on random groups?

2. Does the use of the heterogeneous groups influence an improvement in students' perceptions compared to the same activity that required random groups?

The results obtained from the quantitative and qualitative analysis of the peer assessment process, on two different editions of the Genomics online laboratory (2017/2018, using random groups; 2020/2021, using heterogeneous groups realized by the intelligent software), were compared to reply to research questions. In detail we analysed:

1. The improvements of the grades related to the reports produced by the students after the peer assessment process;

2. The questionnaire on the perception of the students regarding the collaborative activity of the peer assessment.

A uniform and substantial improvement both for the reports (after the feedbacks) both for the students' perceptions (related the quality of the feedback received) was obtained in the Genomics laboratory edition 2020/2021 that used the intelligent software, described in this work, for the creation of heterogeneous groups of students.

### References

- Foote, E.: Collaborative Learning in Community College. ERIC. http://www.ericdigests.org/1998-1/ colleges.htm (2009).
- Smith, B. L., MacGregor, J.: Learning communities and the quest for quality. Quality Assurance in Education, 17(2), 118 139 (2009).
- Stevens, D.D., Levi, A.J.: Introduction to rubrics: An assessment tool to save grading time, convey effective feedback and promote student learning. Sterling, VA, USA: Stylus, (2005).
- Persico, D., Pozzi, F., Sarti, L.: Fostering collaboration in CSCL. In Encyclopedia of Information Communication Technology, 335-340 (2009).
- Kreber, C., Anderson, C., Entwhistle, N., McArthur, J.: Advances and innovations in university assessment and feedback. Edinburgh, UK: Edinburgh University Press (2014).
- Amendola, D., Miceli, C.: Online peer assessment to improve students' learning outcomes and soft skills. Italian Journal of Educational Technology, 26(3), 71-84 (2018).
- Nijstad B.A., De Dreu C. K.W.: Creativity and Group Innovation. Applied Psychology: An International Review, 51 (3), 400-406 (2022).
- Sadeghi H., Kardan A.A.: Toward effective group formation in computer-supported collaborative learning. Interactive Learning Environments, 24(3), 382-395 (2016).
- Jackson S.E., May K.E., Whitney K.: Understanding the dynamics of diversity in decision making teams. In Guzzo & Salas (Eds), 204-261 (1995).
- Kanetaki, Z., Stergiou, C., Bekas, G., Jacques, S., Troussas, C., Sgouropoulou, C., Ouahabi, A. Grade Prediction Modeling in Hybrid, Learning Environments for Sustainable Engineering Education. Sustainability, 14, 1-24 (2022).
- Bovo, A., Sanchez, S., Heguy, O., Duthen, Y.: Clustering Moodle Data as a Tool for Profiling Students. Proceedings of the 2013 Second International Conference on E-Learning and E-Technologies in Education (ICEEE), 121–126 (2013).
- Kotsiantis S.B.: Supervised Machine Learning: A Review of Classification Techniques. Proceedings of the Conference on Emerging Artificial Intelligence Applications in Computer Engineering: Real Word AI Systems with Applications in eHealth, HCI, Information Retrieval and Pervasive Technologies, 3-24 (2007).
- Nalli G, Amendola D, Perali A, Mostarda L.: Comparative Analysis of Clustering Algorithms and Moodle Plugin for Creation of Student Heterogeneous Groups in Online University Courses. Applied Sciences 11(13), 1-21 (2021).
- Dutt A., Ismail M. A., Herawan T.: A systematic review on educational data mining. IEEE Access, 5, 15991-16005 (2017).

### Development of a Remedial Course for Students Who Attend Classes of Circuit Theory

Enrico Perano and Paolo Manfredi<sup>[0000-0002-0574-8945]</sup>

Politecnico di Torino, Turin 10129, Italy paolo.manfredi@polito.it

### 1 Introduction

This paper describes a remedial program that has been designed to help students who attend classes of Circuit Theory. It is an asynchronous self-learning course that contains a number of modules, corresponding to the main topics taught in a standard Bachelor course of 8 ETCS. However, the underlying idea has general validity and can be applied in any discipline. Evidence of its efficacy is reported based on the performance of the students at the final exam.

### 2 Course Organization and Students' Recruitment

The course is implemented on the Moodle platform and is organized in asynchronous weekly modules, dedicated to the topics presented during the class lectures. Each module consists of three main items:

- A "check-in" test that is used to preliminarily assess the student's level of preparation. The test consists of randomized problems, similar to exam tests. It can be attempted only once and, if the result is below a pre-set threshold, the student must attend the remedial learning units covering the topic.
- "Learning units", consisting of one or more short instructional videoclips that briefly summarize the main theoretical concepts, and a set of exercises. Some exercises are solved and discussed in the video clips, whereas additional practice problems are left to the students in the form of quizzes. The access to the learning units is conditional on failing the corresponding check-in test. This is achieved through a dedicated Moodle feature.
- A "check-out" test, having the same structure of the check-in test, that is used to ascertain the student's progress. The test can be attempted only after all lesson activities have been successfully completed, which is tracked using the "activity completion" feature in Moodle, and for a maximum of three times, in order to earn the associated credit, as mentioned later on.

The remedial program was implemented for the courses of Circuit Theory in the Bachelor program of Biomedical Engineering at Polytechnic of Turin, Italy, during academic year 2021-22. Eventually, 13 modules were designed, each covering roughly the material of one week of lectures and made available at the end of it.

The participants were recruited on a voluntary basis at the beginning of the semester. Students who already attended classes in the past years, and failed the exam, were warmly encouraged to enroll. A bonus of up to 4 points on the final exam score, out of a maximum of 30 points according to the Italian grading system for university exams, was introduced to further encourage participation, and could be earned based on the cumulative performance at check-in and check-out tests. Specifically, for each of the 13 modules, a full score of 4/13 points was awarded if the check-in test was passed, whereas 2/3 or 1/3 of the above score was earned by the students who had to follow the remedial program and passed the check-out test on the first attempt or with multiple attempts, respectively. Eventually, 185 students enrolled in the remedial course, out of a total of 406 students enrolled in the regular classes. This was a satisfactory result, which led to two fairly balanced populations and allowed for a comparative assessment.

#### 3 Analysis of Results

The students who attempted the final exam in the first available session were 256. Out of these, 141 completed a significant part of the remedial course. A small number of students, who only took a minimal part of it, were excluded from the following analysis.



Fig. 1. Comparison between the scores obtained by the students who have (green) or have not (red) attended the remedial course.

The histogram in Fig. 1 illustrates the results achieved by the students. The score distribution of the population who followed the remedial course (in green) is shifted towards the highest grades compared to the score distribution of the remaining students (in red). Indeed, as reported in the legend, the average  $\mu$  of the green distribution is 19.1, compared to 14.7 of the red distribution. Therefore, a remarkable average improvement of over 4 points out of 30 was achieved by the students who followed the remedial program. Furthermore, it is interesting to note that the skewness coefficient sk is negative for students who have followed the remedial course, which indicates that their score distribution is biased towards the highest scores, whereas it is close to zero for the remaining students, denoting a symmetric dispersion around the average.

### Externalizing Practical Knowledge Through Online Co-creation in Healthcare Education: A Methodological Study

Fumiya Urushibata<sup>1</sup>, Shogo Ishikawa<sup>1</sup>, Hideki Ueno<sup>2</sup>, Kaoru Sonoda<sup>3</sup>, Yujun Murakami<sup>4</sup>, and Shinya Kiriyama<sup>1</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Shizuoka University, 3-5-1, Johoku, Naka-ku, Hamamatsu, Japan urushibata@kirilab.net
  - <sup>2</sup> Chiba University Hospital, Chiba, Japan
    <sup>3</sup> Taro Clinic, Fukuoka, Japan
  - <sup>4</sup> Orange Cross Foundation, Tokyo, Japan

### 1 Introduction

In learning contexts that involve a practice, such as nursing and caregiving, it is expected that students will acquire skills to integrate and appropriately apply practical knowledge[1]. As a matter of general education, there are challenges in connecting knowledge with practice[2]. Since on-the-job training cannot create a targeted situation, it needs to be designed within the educational environment. Therefore, it is necessary to consider when and how an instructor should intervene. In this study, we constructed an online co-creation environment that allows learners to express their knowledge utilization, and developed a method to externalize practical knowledge.

### 2 Methods

The co-creation environment was designed to encourage the integration of appropriate medical and experiential knowledge (collectively referred to as practical knowledge) through case creation activities. Groups of two to four learners interact with each other for 30-40 min to collaboratively edit a description. One group is assigned a caregiving topic and a short text about the care recipient. The group creates a specific description, relying on its experimental knowledge and incorporating a real-life episode of a care recipient. The other group reads the description created by the creative group and assesses the caregiver's condition based on its medical knowledge.

These learning activities provide a case description together with dialogue data. To indicate whether the creator's intentions were conveyed to the evaluator, in this study, the dialogue data were transcribed using Speech to Text and keywords were extracted based on a medical taxonomy of dementia. Utilizing these keywords, a knowledge graph was manually created using dialogue analysis. The knowledge graph is based on ConceptNet[3] of relationships between nodes, making it possible for us to summarize the conceptual relationships of the learners' dialogue.

#### 3 Result

Fig. 1 shows an example of the "alcoholism" description visualized with a knowledge graph. The left side presents the description of the creation group and the right side that of the assessment group. The gray nodes represent the knowledge expressed in only one group. The assessor is able to associate "drinking more" with "poor appetite" and link it to the effect related to "delirium," thus showing appropriate use of medical knowledge. In contrast, the creator is able to express the image of the condition, but does not clearly link it to alcohol dependence, which can be assessed as a lack of explanation. The creator themself is aware in their reflection that the symptoms are not connected to the episodes, and it is confirmed that the points at which the instructor should intervene are clear.



Fig. 1. Knowledge graph that extracts and conveys terms expressing the state of care, based on creative sentences and dialogue data.

### 4 Conclusion

The results indicate that the co-creation environment is effective for externalizing practical knowledge. The knowledge graphs enable the assessment of the state of association between the medical knowledge and practical knowledge of caregivers, thus possibly allowing instructors to provide more appropriate interventions during learning. Future studies should examine issues such as automating the creation of the graphs and developing appropriate methods for providing advice during interventions.

### References

- 1. Nixon, S., and Murr, A.: Practice Learning and the Development of Professional Practice. Social work in education, 25(8), 798811 (2006)
- Waterhouse, T., McLagan, S., and Murr, A.: From Practitioner to Practice Educator: What Supports and What Hinders the Development of Confidence in Teaching and Assessing Student Social Workers? Practice, 23(2), 95110 (2011)
- Liu, H., and Push, S.: ConceptNeta practical commonsense reasoning tool-kit, BT Technology Journal, Vol.22, No.4, pp.211-226, 2004.

### Boost students' engagement in Higher Education with Peer Teaching

Graziano Cecchinato<sup>1 [0000-0003-3020-4525]</sup> and Romina Papa<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Padua, Italy, <sup>2</sup>Ministry of Education, Rome, Italy

#### 1 Introduction

This study aims to analyse the students' intrinsic motivation in the context of Peer Teaching. Peer Teaching is a long and well-established educational methodology based on socio-constructivism theory [1]. It encompasses various practices joined by the active involvement of students in teaching their classmates [2]. The common goal is to increase students' engagement and make them take a more active role in knowledge acquisition. [3, 4, 5]. The rise of the information society has provided new elements that reinforce this methodology's strengths, potential, and educational relevance. The global interconnection has transformed the ways to acquire knowledge and understanding, amplifying the social dimension of learning [6, 7]. Young generations are more proactive in constructing their knowledge by exploring the huge, unstructured, and hyper-connected Internet content, interacting in virtual and augmented reality environments, and simply meeting and exchanging knowledge with people having the same interests in social networks. This makes increasingly dissonant to silently attend lectures for the students. In addition, also the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic has challenged the transmissive teaching model, highlighting the well-known weaknesses [8, 9, 10, 11] and reinforcing the need to renovate teaching in Higher Education by going beyond the emergency solutions such as "dual teaching".

Moving from this perspective, a teaching innovation process has been carried out involving the undergraduate non-compulsory course of the "Social, Work and Communication Psychology" degree program at the University of Padua, Italy. The students have been divided into groups and involved in designing, managing, and evaluating teaching activities for their classmates. The three traditional elements of the teaching-learning process (lecture, study, exam) have changed by adopting a *Student-Generated Content* approach [12, 13] to define the contents of the course, *Peer Teaching* [14] to carry the course out, and *Peer-and-Self-assessment* [15, 16] for evaluation purposes.

### 2 Course methodology

The course content has been divided into units, each assigned to a group of students. Exploiting Moodle collaborative functionalities, they had to design, hold, and evaluate teaching activities for their classmates, involving them in studying the topic online through digital resources; active- and peer-learning with works production; individual assessment by test, written text, and works evaluation. The final course mark is derived

from a full peer assessment process by adding these grades.

In two papers [17, 18], a more detailed and in-depth analysis of the course methodology is reported. In another study [19], students' perceptions of their improvements in knowledge and skills on the course topics are investigated.

### 3 Study

According to the Self Determination Theory (STD) [20, 21], students have high intrinsic motivation towards learning if they perceive *competence* over the topic, *autonomy* in accomplishing the tasks, and *relatedness* with others as they learn. The research tool was a five items survey [22] with a 5-point Likert scale delivered to the students at the end of every unit (seventeen times). The three motivational components of SDT were investigated with three items. The other two items analysed the feeling of confidence in accomplishing the tasks required by the course, balancing the *challenge* of the tasks and the *support* provided by the learning community (teacher, classmates, learning resources). If students feel high *challenge* and high *support* (3 to 5 in the Likert scale) a high level of engagement and the right conditions to promote learning are supposed. The other three conditions where *challenge* or *support* or both are low (1 or 2 on the Likert scale) highlight that students do not feel a good engagement in the learning process.

Analysing the data provided by the survey unit by unit, it is possible to monitor the ongoing students' engagement. For brevity, Figure 1 shows the overall Challenge/Support matrix of the entire course, indicating a good combination of the two conditions.



Figure 1 Challenge/Support matrix.

With respect to the other three items, the Mean and the Standard deviation were 4.15 and 0.974 for *Competence*, 3.83 and 1.15 for *Relatedness*, 4.23 and 0.931 for *Autonomy*, attesting a good level of the three motivational components.

The course's peer teaching methodology appears to engage and motivate students toward learning. The research tool seems useful and handy to analyse ongoing students' engagement and motivation and provide valuable feedback for the teacher, not only for the presented teaching methodology.

### 4 References

- Vygotsky, L. S., Cole, M.: Mind in society: Development of higher psychological processes. Harvard university press. Boston (1978).
- Stigmar, M.: Peer-to-peer teaching in higher education: A critical literature review. Mentoring & Tutoring: partnership in learning, 24(2), 124-136 (2016).
- Golbeck, S. L., DeLisi, R.: Implications of Piagetian theory for peer learning. Cognitive perspectives on peer learning, 3-37 (1999).
- 4. Topping, K. J.: Trends in peer learning. Educational psychology, 25(6), 631-645 (2005).
- 5. Wadoodi, A., Crosby, J. R.: Twelve tips for peer-assisted learning: a classic concept revisited. Medical teacher, 24(3), 241-244 (2002).
- 6. Jenkins, H.: Confronting the challenges of participatory culture: Media education for the 21st century (p. 145). The MIT Press (2009).
- Biggs, J., Tang, C. Teaching for quality learning at university. McGraw-hill education UK (2011).
- Gibbs, G.: Twenty terrible reasons for lecturing, SCED Occasional Paper No. 8, Birmingham (1981).
- 9. Bligh, D. A.: What's the use of lectures? Exeter, Intellect Books (1998).
- King, A.: From sage on the stage to guide on the side. College teaching, Vol 41, No. 1, pp 30-35 (1993).
- 11. Brophy, J.: Motivating students to learn. (2nd ed.) Routledge (2004).
- Bates, S. P., Galloway, R. K., McBride, K. L.: Student-generated content: Using Peer-Wise to enhance engagement and outcomes in introductory physics courses. In AIP Conference Proceedings (Vol. 1413, No. 1, pp. 123-126). AIP (2012).
- Sener, J.: In search of student-generated content in online education. E-mentor, 4(21), 1-8 (2007).
- Palinscar, A. S., Brown, A. L.: Reciprocal teaching of comprehension-fostering and comprehension-monitoring activities. Cognition and instruction, 1(2), 117-175 (1984).
- Nicol, D., Thomson, A., Breslin, C.: Rethinking feedback practices in higher education: A peer review perspective. Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education, 39(1), 102-122 (2014).
- Panadero, E., Brown, G. T. L., Strijbos, J.: The future of student self-assessment: A review of known unknowns and potential directions. Educational Psychology Review, 28(4), 803-830 (2016).
- Cecchinato, G., Foschi, L. C.: Flipping the Roles: Analysis of a University Course Where Students Become Cocreators of Curricula. Teaching and Learning Together in Higher Education, Vol 1, No. 22, 5 (2017).
- Cecchinato, G., Foschi, L. C.: Involving students in teaching: analysis of an educational innovation pathway at University. Form@re, Vol 18, No. 1, pp 97-110 (2018).
- Cecchinato, G., Foschi, L. C.: Learning-Teaching Innovation of a University E-learning Course. In European Conference on e-Learning (pp. 89-XIII). Academic Conferences International Limited (2020).
- Deci, E. L., Ryan, R. M.: Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. New York, NY: Plenum Press (1985).
- 21. Deci, E. L., Ryan, R. M.: The "what" and "why" of goal pursuits: Human needs and the self-determination of behavior. Psychological Inquiry, 11(4), 227-268 (2000).
- 22. Talbert, R.: Agile student feedback through the Five-Question Summary. https://rtalbert.org/agile-student-feedback-through-the-five-question-summary/ last accessed 2022/05/15.

# The impact of Covid-19 on Italian Higher Education in the context of the European scenario

Paolo Raviolo<sup>1[0000-1111-2222-3333]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Ecampus University (Italy)

paolo.raviolo@uniecampus.it

### 1 Introduction

The Covid-19 emergency led most, if not all, higher education institutions around the world to move towards online learning. While there is a wide literature and a solid theoretical framework for online learning, including the active learning paradigm, the relevance of open learning resources, the key role of the Virtual Learning Environments and of the e-tutoring, most of the higher education institutions had to switch to some sort of emergency online learning suddenly, in many cases without consistent contingency plan [1].

A wide number of research has been published about the impact of covid-19 pandemic on higher education, some were focused on specific experiences of a course, an institution, or a country, whereas others are a reflection on online learning itself in the extraordinary condition of the pandemic lockdown or systematic review of the published papers on the emergency online learning in HE [2, 3].

Even the European Union released a report: "The impact of COVID-19 on higher education: a review of emerging evidence" [4] aimed at providing a synthesis of the emerging evidence on the impact of the pandemic disruption on higher education in Europe, the report focuses three thematic areas: teaching and learning; the social dimension of higher education (inclusion and vulnerable/disadvantaged learners); and student mobility. Based on survey report, paper and publications, the report synthesizes emerging evidence into three levels of impact: (1) immediate impact: how the pandemic affected institutions and learners in 2019/2020; (2) short-term impact: how the pandemic is affecting or is likely to affect the 2020/2021 academic year; (3) medium-term impact: how the effects of the pandemic are likely to affect higher education systems, institutions and students by 2025).

Italian National Agency for the Evaluation of Universities and Research Institutes (ANVUR) has made available the raw data of two questionnaires about the Covid-19 [5] emergency online learning response in Italian universities, published between 14 December 2020 and 8 February 2021, the first to the governance of Italian universities, the second to teachers and researchers involved in university teaching. The present analysis is intended to compare the outcomes from the Anvur questionnaires with the European framework pictured by the EU Report above mentioned.

### 2 Data analysis

Anvur developed two questionnaires: one for the university's governance and one for professors and lecturers. The target for the first questionnaire was the 85 Italian Universities (11 online universities excluded), of which 56 answered (about the 51%,). The target for the second questionnaire was the about 56 thousand academic personnel in service (lecturers on contract not included), of which about 17 thousand answered (about the 29,5%). The EU report is based on 14 rapid-response surveys carried out in 2020 by universities, higher education organizations and single researchers, as well as over 50 papers, reports, and publications.

The results of the Anvur governance questionnaire in the first pandemic emergency lockdown are substantially in line with the data reported in the EU report. All the universities that replied to the questionnaire have activated remote teaching solutions, in most cases these are synchronous lessons respecting the planned schedule totally or in large part (more than 94%). In almost all cases, the solutions for distance learning were arranged centrally by the university (more than 96%). The training was carried out centrally, aimed at everyone and almost always in a way strictly connected to the emergency (more than 80%), with the definition of guidelines always at the university level (about 78%).

On the other hand, the prospect for the future differs, while the EU report highlights an interest in keeping distance teaching at least partly, Italian universities seem more oriented towards maintaining distance teaching solutions as an integration of face-to-face teaching (75% in synchronous mode and 65% in asynchronous mode) but not to activate fully remote courses. The online mode is instead considered as an improvement that will be maintained in the future in relation to teacher / student communication (94.6%) and administrative services for students (87.5%).

#### References

- Crawford, J., Butler-Henderson, K., Rudolph, J., Malkawi, B., Glowatz, M., Burton, R., ... & Lam, S. (2020). COVID-19: 20 countries' higher education intra-period digital pedagogy responses. *Journal of Applied Learning & Teaching*, 3(1), 1-20.
- Adedoyin, O. B., & Soykan, E. (2020). Covid-19 pandemic and online learning: the challenges and opportunities. *Interactive learning environments*, 1-13.
- Raviolo, P. (2019). Online higher education teaching practices. In Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on E-Education, E-Business, E-Management and E-Learning (pp. 79-84).
- Farnell, T., Skledar Matijevic, A., & Šcukanec Schmidt, N. (2021). The Impact of COVID-19 on Higher Education: A Review of Emerging Evidence. Analytical Report. European Commission.
- 5. www.anvur.it/attivita/ava/didattica-a-distanza (Aprile 2022).
## Social Learning for Professional Development. A Inhouse Service Learning experimentation in Initial Teachers Training

Valentina Cautiero<sup>1</sup>, Elena Valgolio<sup>1</sup>, Pier Cesare Rivoltella<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Università Cattolica del S. Cuore, Milano, 20123 Milano, Italy

piercesare.rivoltella@unicatt.it

Service Learning, as a social work practice with whom developing students skills, is a well-known methodology, in Higher Education too [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8].

This paper **aimes** to verify if this methodology could allow to develop professional responsibility of teachers in their Initial Training. Our Hypothesis is that Service Learning could offer to the students the opportunity to perform in advance the very important action and skills of mentoring other colleagues, in the personal and social dimensions of taking care and making the difference.

The **research field** is offered by the first two years of a *Service Learning Program* implemented within the Course degree in Primary Education at the Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore, in Milan. Starting from October 2019, senior students (4<sup>th</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> year) can act as peer tutors to support juniors ones (2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> year). The service is non compulsory: each student, both who is going to become a tutee and a tutor, can applicate to the Program. This was designed to be held through a blended solution; due to Covid-19 emergency, it has been carried out totally online since the pandemic lockdown on March 2020. The *experimentation* involved 132 pairs of students.

The **focus** was on "peer tutors senior" reflections and meanings originated from the experience of providing younger colleagues with competencies developed within the academic context and curricula. The research investigated peer tutor answers from an internal perspective, focusing on a crucial ethic field that is often missed by higher education curricula, as it cannot be explicitly taught, even if it represent the necessary condition to train professional teachers able to manage future challenges and scenarios unknowed in advance.

From a **methodological point of view**, the research was held through a Mixed Methods Design [9], more precisely through a Mixed Methods Case Study Design. We analyzed:

- all peer tutors diaries (132), with notes, comments and metacognitive considerations about their experiences;

- 10 explicitation interviews [10], held with peer tutors who accepted to discuss about the meanings of their experiences, starting from what they already wrote in the diaries;

- materials and artifacts created by peer tutors for sharing comments and suggestions with their colleagues that could be interested to do the same experience in the near future.

The corpus of all these texts and verbatims was analyzed with T-Lab.

Clustering process allowed us to draw a map of the themes characterized by the cooccurrence of the semantic traits present in the diaries. Keywords of each cluster were then analyzed for building up a framework within peer tutors could have exercised their professional responsibility. T-Lab outcomes were discussed by comparing them with the texts extracted from diaries, interviews verbatims and with the artifacts produced.

The **result** of the research, at this time, is: 1) a first map of topics and key-words coming from individual representations and feelings of peer tutors who took part to the experimentation; 2) a firs hypothesis about how this kind of experience could be useful to develop mentoring skills in a professional development perspective.

The research is going on, both on the quantitative side (trying to confirm what this study allowed to argue) and with the comparison of this research results with data coming from 2021 and 2022 editions of Service Learning Program.

- 1. Butin, D. W. (2010). Service-learning in theory and practice: The future of community engagement in higher education. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- 2. Butin, D.W. and Seider, S. (Eds.). (2012). The engaged campus: Certificates, minors, and majors as the new community engagement. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Eyler, J. & Giles, Jr., D.E. (1999). Where's the learning in service-learning? San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- 4. Post, M., Ward, E., Longo, N. and Saltmarsh, J. (Eds). (2016). Publicly engaged scholars: Next-generation engagement and the future of higher education. Sterling, VA.: Stylus.
- Stoecker, R. (2016). Liberating service learning and the rest of higher education civic engagement. Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press.
- Stoecker, R. and Tryon, E.A. with Hilgendorf, A. (Eds.). (2009) The unheard voices: Community organizations and service-learning. Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press.
- Thorton Moore, D. (2013). Engaged learning in the academy: Challenges and possibilities. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Zlotkowski, E., Longo, N. V., and Williams, J.R. (Eds.). (2006). Students as colleagues: Expanding the circle of service-learning leadership. Boston, MA: Campus Compact.
- Creswell, J.W., Plano Clark, V.L. (2018). Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research. Los Angeles, London: Sage.
- 10. Vermesch, P. (2007). The Explicitation Interview. Indipendently Published.

## Online Teaching and Learning for all? Experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic

 $\label{eq:loss} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{Leonard Busuttil}^{1[0000-1111-2222-3333]}, \mbox{Michelle Attard} \\ \mbox{Tonna}^{1[0000-0003-0019-4442]}, \mbox{ and Colin Calleja}^{1[0000-0001-6665-4304]} \end{array}$ 

University of Malta leonard.busuttil@um.edu.mt

#### 1 Introduction and Methodology

The education of nearly 1.6 billion learners in more than 190 countries in all continents was heavily disrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic [1]. In a bid to slow down the progress of the virus, schools were closed and teaching shifted online. Some teachers found themselves in an entirely new territory whilst others who had previously used online learning albeit in a blended approach faced the challenge of interacting with their students in a totally online environment. The closure of schools also removed access to laboratories and tangible resources which the teachers were accustomed to using prior to the pandemic. This paper gives a voice to such teachers and reflects on how the investment in technology might need to change in order to mitigate similar situations in the future.

The investment in educational technology has been increasing year on year throughout the European Union. Most of this investment involved the improvement of internet connectivity in schools [2]. There was also a substantial investment in hardware ranging from tangible user interfaces and interactive toys used in the early year phases of schooling [3, 4], to devices used in the latter years of the primary phase [5]. Robotic kits and codable toys found their ways into most European schools pushed by the stance to improve coding skills of students to foster higher-order thinking and problem solving [6]. In line with Constructivist and Constructionist epistemologies [7, 8], these devices are mostly being used in child-centred activities, with the children taking leading roles in coding the devices and tinkering with the code.

Although research on fully online teaching and learning pre-pandemic is abundant, this research tends to focus on courses with an adult audience. Research on online teaching and learning in the K-12 scenario tends to be based on blended forms of online learning with the exception of some research on virtual schools [9, 10]. Shifting schools to an online modality came with its own set of challenges in the technological, pedagogical and social domains [11–14]. Connectivity to the internet wasn't always reliable, and students also faced access issues to electronic devices. Pedagogically, the teachers' and students' lack of digital skills; the lack of structured content versus the abundance of online resources; learners' lack of interactivity and motivation and teachers' lack of social and cognitive presence also posed significant challenges. The social challenges were related to the lack of human interaction between teachers and students, the lack of physical spaces at home for lessons to take place and the lack of support of parents who are frequently working remotely in the same spaces. The social challenges disproportionally effected the most vulnerable students. Teaching online also resulted in an increase and change in workload for teachers [15]

The purpose of this paper is to respond to calls by scholars [16] to understand how technology was used during the pandemic in K-12 situations and to identify gaps in existing research. The following research questions will be addressed:

RQ1: In what ways did the use of blended learning before the COVID-19 pandemic help teachers and students when shifting to a fully online mode?

RQ2: How did the change to a fully online mode effect teachers of subjects that required access to specialised equipment usually found in laboratories/workshops to conduct lessons?

In order to generate date for this study a series of online focus groups were held with educators in schools, members of the school management and parents. This paper focuses on the data generated by the focus groups attended by teachers teaching in secondary schools (students aged 11 to 16). Recruitment was done through calls for participation posted on teachers' groups in Facebook. The online focus groups allowed us to collect rich, detailed data through a semi structured approach. Since these focus groups were done when the schools were closed, the video communication platform Zoom was used to conduct these focus groups in an online environment. The interviews were transcribed and then thematically analysed using the method outlined by Braun and Clarke [17].

#### 2 A brief overview of findings

The teachers participating in this study taught various subjects in class, ranging from languages to sciences and vocational subjects. Teachers who were already using a blended approach before being forced into emergency remote teaching commented that the experience prior to the pandemic helped them and the students shift to a totally online modality . Notwithstanding this benefit, they commented that before the pandemic, the students viewed the blended approach as something novel and new. This excitement quickly expired once they used this modality for most subjects. All teachers agreed that the students experienced a more extensive workload when all subject areas assigned work to be conducted online. Teachers accustomed to using the laboratories and workshops during their lessons observed that they changed their plans shifting content which required labs and workshops to the time when schools reopened. This meant that inevitably some topics had to be cut short once the length of the school closure increased.

The feedback provided by the teachers and the experiences they narrated are essential to help shape the debate on the type of technological resources needed in schools post-pandemic. Their feedback highlights the importance of further professional continuous development (CPD) in using online methodologies with children. It also highlights the importance of investment in online tools to mitigate the absence of laboratories and workshops when schools are closed.

- 1. United Nations: Policy brief: Education during covid-19 and beyond (2020)
- European Commission: 2nd survey of schools: Ict in education. technical report (2019)
- 3. Newhouse, C.P., Cooper, M., Cordery, Z.: Programmable toys and free play in early childhood classrooms. Australian Educational Computing 32 (2017)
- 4. Janka, P.: Using a programmable toy at preschool age: why and how. . . . , International Conference on Simulation, Modelling and . . . pp. 112–121 (2008), http://www.terecop.eu/downloads/simbar2008/pekarova.pdf
- Major, L., Haßler, B., Hennessy, S.: Handbook on digital learning for k-12 schools. Handbook on Digital Learning for K-12 Schools pp. 115–128 (2017)
- Popat, S., Starkey, L.: Learning to code or coding to learn? a systematic review. Computers and Education 128, 365–376 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2018.10.005
- Ackermann, E., et al.: Constructionism in practice: Designing, thinking, and learning in a digital world. Routledge (1996)
- 8. Resnick, M., Robinson, K.: Lifelong kindergarten: Cultivating creativity through projects, passion, peers, and play. MIT press (2017)
- Barbour, M.K., Reeves, T.C.: The reality of virtual schools: A review of the literature. Computers and Education 52, 402–416 (2009)
- 10. Dipietro, M.: Virtual school pedagogy: The instructional practices of k-12 virtual school teachers. Journal of Educational Computing Research 42, 327–354 (2010)
- 11. Ferri, F., Grifoni, P., Guzzo, T.: Online learning and emergency remote teaching: Opportunities and challenges in emergency situations. Societies 10, 86 (2020)
- Fujita, N.: Transforming online teaching and learning: towards learning design informed by information science and learning sciences. Information and Learning Science 121, 503–511 (2020)
- Zhu, X., Chen, B., Avadhanam, R.M., Shui, H., Zhang, R.Z.: Reading and connecting: using social annotation in online classes. Information and Learning Science 121, 261–271 (2020)
- Busuttil, L., Farrugia, R.C.: Teachers' response to the sudden shift to online learning during covid-19 pandemic: Implications for policy and practice. Malta Review of Educational Research 14, 211–241 (2020)
- Kaden, U.: Covid-19 school closure-related changes to the professional life of a k-12 teacher. Education Sciences 10, 1–13 (2020)
- Crompton, H., Burke, D., Jordan, K., Wilson, S.W.: Learning with technology during emergencies: A systematic review of k-12 education. British Journal of Educational Technology 52, 1554–1575 (2021)
- Braun, V., Clarke, V.: Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative research in psychology 3(2), 77–101 (2006)

# E-tutoring in Higher Education: research and experimentation

Irene Mauro 1[0000-0002-8170-7651] and Marco Rondonotti 2[0000-0003-1579-6737]

eCampus University, Novedrate CO, Italia<sup>1</sup> irene.mauro@uniecampus.it

#### 1 The research

The three-year research aims to study the role of the e-tutor in online teaching in the Higher Education sector and to contribute to the definition of an implementation framework and active methodologies for interactive teaching aimed at improving the activity exercise of the student in the course of study.

In the past year a systematic review of the scientific literature was carried out with the aim of justify the research question, review and structure the research question and offer a systematic view of the scientific literature produced with respect to the specific research question, indispensable for directing the subsequent research path.

These goals can be considered achieved because they have made it possible to under- stand the effective role of the e-tutor in the scientific landscape of Higher Education, in addition to the nature of the practices and tasks of this role.

From a summary of the systematic review of the scientific literature carried out, what can be said about the professional figure of the e-tutor is that it has a supporting role for e-learners, although the range of tasks may differ according to the different organizations of high school education.

The systematic review of the scientific literature has exalted two key concepts for this research:

- the role of the e-tutor in the scientific landscape of Higher Education (2016-2021);

- the lack of papers, case studies and results on the state of the art on the use of e-tivities in the *didattica interattiva*<sup>2</sup> of Higher Education.

About the first concept, in the context of this research, the description of the e-tutor is as a person who supports the online learning processes of their students aiming at inclusion and personalization, as a condition of the possibility of success of the student.

The e-tutor, therefore, is an e-moderation expert who acts as a transversal function of orientation, of support for the use of online tools and of support for remote socialization [1], in addition to interact directly with learners to support their learning process

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The work is developed together by both the authors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Didattica interattiva is the complex of teacher's presence, usually through demonstrations or additional explanations in FAQ, mailing lists or Web forums (demonstrations or operational suggestions on problemsolving, exercises etc.); short interventions by the participants (for example in a discussion or a group: web forums, blogs, wikis); structured e-tivities (individual or in a group) through reports, exercises, case studies, problem-solving, web searches, projects, production of artifacts created by students, with related feedback, evaluation forms such as surveys or tests.

Instead, about the lack of case studies and papers that study the practice of e-tivities in Higher Education online courses, we intend to proceed as follows.

#### 2 Future research and experimentation

The future research plan consists of an experimentation that provides the redesign of *didattica interattiva* proposal of three courses of the eCampus university of the Psychology Faculty, in particular in the course of Education Sciences, according to Bloom's Taxonomy<sup>3</sup> [3] and the Middlesex University of London CeA scheme [4], experienced in 2018.

Above these two schemes, the guide of the etutor will be the G. Salmon scheme for etivities [5].

The goal of this experimentation is to experiment with the intersection of two already validated practices to support the organization of the practical work of the etutor, to create a good practice in the use of e-tivities in online courses in the context of Higher Education.

The experimentation will take place from the end of September 2002 to the end of January 2023, and will be offered in three courses of the eCampus university of the faculty of psychology, in particular in the course of education and training sciences.

We intend to create a practice scheme for the e-tutor that involves crossing the Bloom taxonomy scheme and the CeA scheme experimented by Middlesex University in a mathematics course to promote self-learning amongst the students via e-learning environment where e-lectures/e-tutorials are developed followed by e-assessments.

The e-tutor, therefore, will take care of the supplementary didactic proposal with lecture workshops, seminar workshops and practical workshops that accompany the verbs remember, understand, apply, analyze, evaluate and create the Revised Bloom's Taxonomy.

The evaluation of the effectiveness of the experimentation will be carried out with the UKPSF Professional Standard Framework scheme [6,7] and, as regards student satisfaction, the TAM (Technology Acceptance Model) scheme [8,9] will be used. Both tools are already used and validated in the scientific landscape.

<sup>3</sup> In 2001, the original proposal (1956) created by Benjamin Bloom was slightly modified into the so-called Revised Bloom's Taxonomy (RBT).

[2].

- Triacca, S., Bodega, D., & Rivoltella, P. C. (2018). Blended solution e Higher Education. Il caso dell'Università Cattolica: e-tutoring per la personalizzazione. Education Sciences & Society-Open Access, 9(2).
- Denis, B., Watland, P., Pirotte, S., Verday, N.: Roles and competencies of the e-tutor. In: Proceedings of the Networked Learning Conference (NLC 2004), Lancaster, UK (2004).
- Anderson, L. W., & Krathwohl, D. R. (2001). A taxonomy for learning, teaching, and assessing: A revision of Bloom's taxonomy of educational objectives. Longman.
- Vien, Q. T., & Shah, P. (2018). An efficient constructive e-alignment for onsite-online learning. International Journal of Continuing Engineering Education and Life Long Learning, 28(3-4), 276-292.
- 5. Salmon, G. (2013). E-tivities: The key to active online learning. Routledge.
- Smith, H., Deepwell, F., & Shrives, L. (2013). Measuring the impact of the UK professional standards framework for teaching and supporting learning (UKPSF).
- 7. Van der Sluis, H., Burden, P., & Huet, I. (2016). The evaluation of an institutional UKPSF recognition scheme. Educational developments, 17(1), 5-9.
- Marangunić, N., & Granić, A. (2015). Technology acceptance model: a literature review from 1986 to 2013. Universal access in the information society, 14(1), 81-95.
- Silva, P. (2015). Davis' technology acceptance model (TAM) (1989). Information seeking behavior and technology adoption: Theories and trends, 205-219.

## Audio-visual atelier between media education and teaching

Pier Cesare Rivoltella<sup>1[0000-0002-8802-0107]</sup>, Chiara Panciroli<sup>2[0000-0001-7173-670X]</sup>, Alberto Parola<sup>3 [0000-0003-0639-7777]</sup>, Laura Corazza<sup>4[0000-0002-0351-3771]</sup>, Anita Macauda<sup>5[0000-0003-1522-5440]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Pedagogy, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart in Milan (Italy)
<sup>2</sup> Department of Education Sciences, University of Bologna (Italy)
<sup>3</sup>Department of Philosophy and Education Sciences, University of Turin (Italy)
<sup>4</sup>Department of Industrial Chemistry, University of Bologna (Italy)
<sup>5</sup>Department of Education Sciences, University of Bologna (Italy)

chiara.panciroli@unibo.it

#### 1 Introduction

An extensive scientific debate highlights the functions of the audio-visual in the media-educational and didactic fields, distinguishing some specific cognitive, imaginative, and emotional characterizations. With respect to this debate, this contribution intends to introduce CAVE, a meeting space for three university communities that experiment with the use of audio-visuals in the field of scientific research and teaching. Particular attention is paid to the audio-visual from the point of view of the creative atelier, intended as a training space for observation, design, manipulation and experimentation with a specific reference to higher education.

#### 2 Theoretical framework

In Bettetini's definition [1, p. 7], "the audio-visual is a significant product, aimed at communicative exchanges, normally defined by the human senses directly involved in its use (hearing and sight), rather than by its characteristics and the elements that constitute it". Specifically, he identifies as its main characteristics: the syncretism and heterogeneity of the codes. When he speaks of syncretism, he alludes to the fact that the audio-visual destroys "deep-rooted distinctions between different expressive modes" [1, p. 8] and integrates them "into an articulated and basically homogeneous unity" [1, p. 8]. In reference to Kress [2], the audio-visual could thus be defined as multimodal. Instead, the heterogeneity of the codes refers to the complex textual structure of the audio-visual, to the system of codes that make it a semantic universe to be transferred to the viewer. What qualifies audio-visual is, then, audiovision, the act of looking and listening with everything that determines it. The audio-visual, as a complex and dynamic system [3], part of a large ecosystem, increasingly characterized by a digital nature, meets in the context of education the ideal horizon for a regeneration of its essential functions in post-media society [4]. The educational re-reading therefore leads to analyzing the identity of the media as a gradual process of identification [5], which is established over time, without ever being definitive, through an intersection between discursive, iconic, sound, symbolic and forms of embodiment [6] [7].

#### 3 CAVE Project

The work developed by the CAVE research group is part of the debate on the audiovisual theme, a word that in the English language means "cave", but which also functions as an acronym in the Italian language: Audiovisual Centers for Education. These centers are: CREMIT (Research Center on Media Education, Innovation and Technology) of Catholic University of Milan; CINEDUMEDIA (Interdepartmental Research Center for Cinema, Education and New Media) of University of Turin; MODE (Digital Museum of Education) of University of Bologna. The aim of the project is to promote reflection on some possible models of audiovisual storytelling [8] [9], useful for stimulating learning and practice, while supporting the production of video-prototypes on an experimental basis, shared on YouTube channel of CAVE.

The video assumes first an *observation* function when it allows you to gather data, to read it, to look at it from a certain distance, allowing you to review what has been done. The video, then, becomes particularly significant when it takes on the function of *narration*, as well as *documentation*, becoming part of a widespread practice in educational contexts. Initially a simple recording of data, documentation today takes on an increasingly metacognitive role, through video: it becomes a memory, a trace of what has been done, a reflection on practices. The narrative aspect, on the other hand, recalls the possibility of telling what happened from a subjective point of view. Finally, today, the video enters the teaching process and, according to an *enactive approach* to learning, it is proposed as a challenging material to help build critical thinking [10].

#### 4 Creative atelier from an audiovisual perspective

The idea behind the research work of CAVE is to consider the audio-visual from the point of view of the creative atelier. The objective is to develop a current and coherent Visual Media Education with respect to the education and training needs in the postmedia society [11] [12], with a particular reference to higher education. A creative atelier is a training space intended for observation, design, manipulation, and experimentation. The atelier builds new audio-visual storytelling paths, which can be followed in multiple directions, giving rise to a non-univocal fruition, but rather a reticular and associative type, which opens multiple interpretative possibilities. The different codes of communication and conceptual processing, in close synergy with languages and with corporeality, are functional to an aesthetic experience whose perceptual value is manifested in a new sensorial conjunction between the audio-visual object and the subjects that co-participate in its creation in a collective process. In the case of the online repository of training videos, proposed in the YouTube channel of CAVE, the videos made available act as a stimulus for the atelier intended as an opportunity for the design of new training situations. In this sense, the atelier offers ideas for discussion and metacognitive feedbacks on the experiences regarding the online teaching-learning process and that are made possible by the structural polyvocity of the audio-visual.

- 1. Bettetini, G.: L'audiovisivo. Dal cinema ai nuovi media, Bompiani, Milano (1996).
- Kress, G.: Multimodality, Learning and Communication: A Social Semiotic Frame, Routledge, New York (2015).
- 3. Simonighi, C.: Il sistema audiovisivo, tra estetica e complessità, Meltemi, Milano (2020).
- 4. Eugeni, R.: La condizione postmediale, La Scuola, Brescia (2015).
- Panciroli, C.: Percorsi educativi tra arte, cinema e nuovi media, in Rajadell, N., Gonzalès, M. (ed.): Artes, educacion y cine formativo, Herguè Editorial, Barcellona (2017).
- 6. Varela, F.J., Thompson, E., Rosch, E.: The embodiment mind: Cognitive Mind and Human Experience, MIT Press, Cambridge (1992).
- 7. Varela, F. J., Thompson, E., Rosch, E.: The embodied mind, Revised Edition: Cognitive science and human experience, MIT press, Cambridge (2017).
- Scognamiglio, N.: Narrazione Audiovisive. Ambienti per progettare Episodi di Apprendimento Situati, Scholé, Brescia (2017).
- 9. Scognamiglio, N.: Sulla comunicazione multimodale. Progettare Episodi di Apprendimento Situato in Narrazioni Audiovisive, Biblon, Milano (2021).
- 10. Rossi, P.G.: Didattica enattiva, FrancoAngeli, Milano (2011).
- Rivoltella, P.C.: Nuovi alfabeti. Educazione e culture nella società postmediale. Scholé, Brescia (2020).
- 12. Rivoltella, P.C., Panciroli, C.: Visual Media Education. Audiovisivi e formazione nella società postmediale. Sociologia della comunicazione, 62, 87-104 (2021).

### Performative teaching in higher education: from systematic review to the construction of a survey

Salvatore Messina<sup>1[0000-0003-2591-707X]</sup> and Eleonora Mazzotti<sup>1[0000-0002-4707-2162]1</sup>

<sup>l</sup>eCampus University, Novedrate CO, Italia salvatore.messina@uniecampus.com

#### **1** Framing

Over time, the term "performativity" has been loaded with multiple meanings and nuances; this happened with reference to historical time and the relative culture that made use of it and, even more easily, according to the type of scientific approach with which it was approached: communication sciences starting from the contributions of Austin in 1965 [1] up to Habermas in 1989 [2] or the vision of semiotics that questions the relationship between text and viewer.

The aim of this work will be to show how the term approaches online teaching by asking whether it is still possible to speak of teaching as the "art of life" [9] even when experienced in a repeatable environment such as digital. The paradigm of performativity in the didactic world has a large literature that mostly sees the performing arts under various aspects. First of all, theater is used as a metaphor for training or is studied as a tool for social aggregation, as in the case of the tradition of theater workshops in schools or university courses, or as a community integration

Similarly, in the field of the pedagogy of performance there is a large literature thanks to the numerous researches that implement the theatrical technique in the teaching of a foreign language.

#### 2 Goals, tools and methods of investigation

The goal of this work does not claim to definitively clarify what performativity is, but rather to approach it by trying to define its dimensions in order to present the tool.

The theme of performativity and didactic communication is such a topical and relevant theme also in the light of the Covid-19 pandemic and the consequent adaptation of the way of teaching. We thus enter the scientific debate from a different perspective [3-7] which sees performativity not only as a means, but as a construct that allows the development of didactic action, in which the protagonists act in a contemporary and simultaneous way: students and teachers. Performer and spectators, teacher and student, interactively co-construct the practice, negotiating it pragmatically in its development and the meaning of the practice is never fully defined precisely because it is constantly transformed. We will not refer only to didactic practices based on the active and laboratory participation of the learner, since even in the frontal lesson (as in fact it is a monologue or any performance) there is an interaction consisting of looks, actions, gestures, proxemics; this means you give feedback. In the current

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The authors share the structure of the article. Eleonora Mazzotti wrote paragraph 1 and Salvatore Messina wrote paragraphs 2.

scenarios of pedagogical research, we find studies that "postulate a holistic and protean vision and a complex and biopsychosocial perspective of corporeality" [8, p. 186]

The body, in this context, becomes the premise for interaction with the environment itself, which allows us to consider the relationship as central to the didactic event. It is valued by all the studies on enactivism [9] in which knowledge and learning are not predetermined, but become possible thanks to the co-construction of meaning and interaction between action, environment and subject.

In this framework, "structural matching" [11] in the classroom manifests itself,, between teacher and learner.

The body in action is therefore generative of an unexplored perceptual space, a mechanism that puts into action by "tuning" its own didactic action exactly at the same time in which the lesson is taking place on the basis of a series of micro-reactions perceived on the scene. In the didactic experience this allows the postulation of the paradigm of performativity [7-10] the theatrical event exists in itself, but is built on the basis of an embodied action between teachers and students.

The general goal of the work is to investigate the teacher's representations regarding the performative by studying how this new competence of the teacher can be structured, codified and then learned.

In light of the interdisciplinary literature, in order to study the performative paradigm, and consistently with the general goal, we proceeded with:

- the construction and validation with statistical indices [9, 11] experts [12] of a structured survey with the aim of detecting who, of the sampled teachers, is able to grasp the peculiar aspects of the performative in the didactic field (ob1);
- the construction of a semi-structured questionnaire for interviews to detect elements of depth in the didactic-performative field (ob2);
- video coding of the interactions of teachers with their students during synchronous lessons in an online environment, according to the constructs of Creswell & Clark [13] (ob.3);
- semi-structured interviews with actors who have experienced online performance experiences, during the periods of the Covid-19 pandemic, in order to investigate the strategies implemented to perform in the absence of an on-site audience (ob4).

The mixed methodology (surveys, in-depth interviews and video coding) that we have chosen to use offers a holistic interpretation that allows us to effectively investigate a multiple construct such as that of performativity, in complex contexts such as school at different levels of school.

- 1. Austin J.(1996), Come fare cose con le parole, ed.it., Marietti, Genova. (Ed.orig. How to do things with words, 1962).
- 2. Habermas, J. (1989) The Structural Transformation of the Public Sphere: An Inquiry into a Category of Bourgeois Society (Trans. by Burger T. with the Assistance of Lawrence F.). Polity Press, Cambridge, 161.

- Carlomagno N. (2020) La complessità della progettazione di un percorso formativo fondato sulla relazione tra arti sceniche e didattica in chiave inclusiva, Italian Jurnal of Special Education for Inclusion, Pensa MultiMediaEdictore srl.
- 4. Carlomagno N., Minghelli V. (2021) Interpersonal distance in Distance Learning Workshop Didactics (DLaD) c entered on performativity. The paradigm of space in technology-based dialogues, Long Abstract, Helmeto.
- 5. Rivoltella P.C. (2012), Neurodidattica. Insegnare al cervello ad apprendere, Franco Angeli, Milano.
- Rivoltella P.C. (2017). Corpi in situazione: presupposti neuroscientifici e drammaturgici per una nuova formazione degli insegnanti. In P. Magnoler, A.M. Notti, L. Perla (eds.), La professionalità degli insegnanti. La ricerca e le pratiche (pp. 88-89). Lecce-Brescia: Pensa MultiMedia.
- 7. Rivoltella P.C. (2021), Drammaturgia didattica. Corpo, Pedagogia, Teatro. Orso Blu, Scholé, Brescia.
- Carlomagno, N. (2014). La dimensione assiologica: scopi. Autonomia responsabile e benessere nel curriculo dell'Educazione Motoria. In Lipoma, M. (a cura di). Educazione motoria. Lecce: PensaMultimedia
- 9. Sartori R., & Pasini M. (2007). Quality and quantity in test validity: How can we be sure that psychological tests measure what they have to? Quality & Quantity: International Journal of Methodology, 41(3), 359-374.
- 10. Rossi P.G. (2011), Didattica educativa. Complessità, teorie dell'azione, professionalità docente, FrancoAngeli, Milano
- 11. Cronbach L.J. (1971). Test Validation. In R. Thorndike (Ed.), Educational Measurement (2nd ed., p. 443). Washington DC American Council on Education.
- Escobar-Pérez J., & Cuervo-Martínez Á. (2008). Validez de contenido y juicio de expertos: una aproximación a su utilización. Avances en Medición, 27-36.
- 13. Creswell j., Plano Clark v. (2017), Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research, SAGE Publications Inc.

## How did university students adapt to the "new normal" of teaching and learning during the pandemic? A qualitative study.

Andrea Tinterri<sup>1[0000-0001-5891-505X]</sup>, Maka Eradze<sup>1[0000-0003-0723-1955]</sup>, Delio De Martino<sup>1[0000-0003-3107-1816]</sup>, Manuela Ladogana<sup>1[0000-0002-2674-8952]</sup>, Annalisa Quinto, Angelica Disalvo, Isabella Loiodice<sup>1[0000-0003-1315-8002]</sup>, and Anna Dipace<sup>1[0000-0001-9826-073X]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Humanities, Literature, Cultural Heritage and Education Sciences, The University of Foggia, Via Arpi 176, 71100 Foggia, Italy

andrea.tinterri@unifg.it

#### Abstract

**Context of the study**. The spread of Covid-19, and the consequent sudden transition to online teaching and learning, forever changed the landscape of higher education. There is little doubt that this passage proved very difficult for students, due to many reasons, including organizational, methodological, emotional, and psychological factors. On the one end, they had to adapt to a different mode of interacting with educational content, teachers and fellow students [1-4]; on the other, they had to do so in the context of a worldwide pandemic, whose impact on students' psychological well-being and mental health is only starting to be appreciated [2, 5, 6]. In particular, several studies suggest that students' experience has been strongly influenced by their ability to develop resilient behaviors towards adversities [5–9]. We previously reported [10], through the analysis of a questionnaire administered to more than 600 Italian university students in the spring of 2020, that undertaking online courses helped students cope with the difficulties and the stress of the unprecedented pandemic situation; furthermore, students' opinion of their experience with emergency remote teaching (ERT) was positively associated with several factors, including organization and quality of online content and interaction with teachers, whereas the need to reorganize their study habits was associated negatively. However, this quantitative approach highlighted a strong heterogeneity in students' answers, likely reflecting the great variability of individual experiences, both in reacting to the pandemic situation and in adapting their learning habits and strategies to face the unprecedented challenge. Since this "acute" phase of ERT, however, what was an emergency situation became a "new normality": for an entire cohort of students, their entire experience of higher education mostly consisted in online or blended forms of teaching and learning.

**Rationale and design of the study.** To understand the spectrum of different phenomena/observations/reflections that influenced and determined student's adaptation to this new form of academic life, including strategies that could foster students' resilience and coping mechanisms, we designed a semi-structured interview protocol addressed to a representative subset of students from the University of Foggia (UniFG). We selected students of the 2019-2020 cohort, that is, students whose university career coincided with the pandemic- and post-pandemic shift towards online learning. This study was part of a larger, FISR-funded inter-university project, aimed at investigating the effects that emergency situations, such as the Covid-19 pandemic, can have on the cognitive and emotional states of university students, to develop better university teacher training protocols. To this aim, the project included both quantitative and qualitative methods of investigation. The semi-structured interviews protocol consisted of two parts: the first included questions concerning students' biographical information, overall experience with distance learning, stress management and coping strategies used during the pandemic, general happiness during and after the peak of the pandemic, and reflection on personal development and possible "silver linings" emerging from their pandemic experience. The second part focused on the interviewee academics results, preferred study methods, and learning strategies developed during the pandemic period. Interviewees have been recruited on voluntary basis, through answering an online questionnaire, and selected based on the following criteria: genre, worker/non worker status, living in the urban center/periphery, and familiar income, to ensure that the sample covered as much as possible the heterogeneity of individual situations and experiences for that cohort of students. Interviews were realized at distance through the Skype Web 4 software. 20 semi-structured interviews have been realized from January to March 2022 with students from Area 11 of the Department of Human Studies of the University of Foggia. After recording, the interviews were transcribed manually, with the help of Otranscribe software, to offer a better transcription quality and to allow the insertion of metadata. Preliminary text mining and quali-quantitative linguistic analysis (including frequency and dispersion analysis, collocation analysis and dialogic syntax) have been performed with SketchEngine software to identify the most common elements of the students' discourse concerning distance learning, with a more throughout qualitative analysis of interview content is still ongoing.

**Preliminary results**. As an example of the findings emerged from this in-depth approach toward students' experience is a better understanding of the importance that students attribute to being able to access recordings of online lessons. Students, especially those that were already used to taking notes during lessons in presence, cherished the possibility of watching and re-watching lessons at their own pace as well as the possibility to go over key passages multiple times, developing in the process original strategies to integrate them in their study routine. Overall, a better understanding of students' experience in adapting to this "new normality" of higher education can be an extremely valuable resource not only for reflecting on the factors that influenced students' attitudes and beliefs towards online and blended teaching and learning, but to provide crucial context to inform instructional design for higher education, to orient university teacher training, as well as to inform methodological choices concerning the organization of courses, the balance between in-presence and online learning, the use of learning management systems, etc., with the final goal of designing better opportunities for teacher-student, student-student and student-content interaction in this new

blended environment. Therefore, a better understanding of how university students adapted to the post-pandemic university scenario is instrumental to building the university of the future.

- Cameron, R.B., Rideout, C.A.: 'It's been a challenge finding new ways to learn': first-year students' perceptions of adapting to learning in a university environment. Stud. High. Educ. 47, 668–682 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2020.1783525.
- Al-Maskari, A., Al-Riyami, T., Kunjumuhammed, S.K.: Students academic and social concerns during COVID-19 pandemic. Educ. Inf. Technol. 27, 1–21 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10592-2.
- Baltà-Salvador, R., Olmedo-Torre, N., Peña, M., Renta-Davids, A.-I.: Academic and emotional effects of online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic on engineering students. Educ. Inf. Technol. 26, 7407–7434 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10593-1.
- Choi, J.-J., Robb, C.A., Mifli, M., Zainuddin, Z.: University students' perception to online class delivery methods during the COVID-19 pandemic: A focus on hospitality education in Korea and Malaysia. J. Hosp. Leis. Sport Tour. Educ. 29, 100336 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhlste.2021.100336.
- Ang, W.H.D., Shorey, S., Lopez, V., Chew, H.S.J., Lau, Y.: Generation Z undergraduate students' resilience during the COVID-19 pandemic: a qualitative study. Curr. Psychol. N. B. Nj. 1–15 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-01830-4.
- Wattick, R.A., Hagedorn, R.L., Olfert, M.D.: Impact of resilience on college student mental health during COVID-19. J. Am. Coll. Health J ACH. 1–8 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2021.1965145.
- Bol, L., Garner, J.K.: Challenges in supporting self-regulation in distance education environments. J. Comput. High. Educ. 23, 104–123 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12528-011-9046-7.
- Rapanta, C., Botturi, L., Goodyear, P., Guàrdia, L., Koole, M.: Balancing Technology, Pedagogy and the New Normal: Post-pandemic Challenges for Higher Education. Postdigital Sci. Educ. 3, 715–742 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-021-00249-1.
- Dohaney, J., Róiste, M. de, Salmon, R.A., Sutherland, K.: Benefits, barriers, and incentives for improved resilience to disruption in university teaching. Int. J. Disaster Risk Reduct. 50, 101691 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2020.101691.
- Tinterri, A., Eradze, M., Limone, P., Dipace, A.: Students' Coping and Study Strategies: Did Emergency Remote Teaching Support the Students During the Pandemic? In: Casalino, G., Cimitile, M., Ducange, P., Padilla Zea, N., Pecori, R., Picerno, P., and Raviolo, P. (eds.) Higher Education Learning Methodologies and Technologies Online. pp. 117–128. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-96060-5\_9.

General Track 2

Learning technologies, data analytics and educational big data mining as well as their applications

## Redefining Digital Distance Learning and Roles of Ten Digital Learning Tools in Support of Distance Learning Processes

Sean Eom<sup>1[0000-0002-3375-7525]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Southeast Missouri State University, Cape Girardeau MO 63701, USA sbeom@semo.edu

#### 1 Introduction

Over the past decade, information and communication technologies have radically transformed every aspect of organizational activities in society, including education, from a bricks-and-mortar world to an online world. The adoption of e-learning occurs not only in higher educational institutions in the U.S.A. and in other parts of the world, but also in K-12 educational environments as well as in the corporate environment.

Fig. 1 shows the digital distance learning (DDL) and its components. According to Basak, et al. [1], digital learning is "a term that is increasingly replacing e-learning and it concerns the use of information and communication technology (ICT) in the open and distance learning." The basic building blocks of the DDL are e-learning and m-learning. There are many similarities and differences, and there are also many benefits and disadvantages [1]. A consensus has not been reached yet in defining e-learning, m-learning, and DDL [2-5].

#### 2 Aims

The aims of our paper are twofold. First, we present information technology-driven definitions of e-learning, m-learning, and digital distance learning, since they are understood from many angles and a consensus has not been reached yet in defining them.

Second, we analyze the use of the ten digital technology tools in support of students learning process and outcomes from a systems view of e-learning success [6].

#### **3** Digital Distance Learning

The DDL is conceptualized as a learning mode that consists of (1) e-learning, (2) mlearning, and (3) digital technology tools. A recent literature review of Pinto and Leite [7] identified ten most frequently used digital technologies (see Fig. 1) by students in higher education: learning management systems (LMS), publish and share tools, collaborative systems, social networking tools, interpersonal communication tools, content aggregation tools, 3D virtual world, assessment and feedback tools, mobile tools, and ICTs. The advent of mobile technologies has created opportunities for the delivery of learning via mobile devices [8]. The defining characteristics of digital learning are the use of a wide spectrum of digital technology tools to increase the students' learning outcomes as well as to bolster students' learning experience [1, 9].

We analyze the use of the 10 digital technology tools in support of students learning processes and outcomes from a systems view of e-learning success [6]. Especially, the focus of our analysis is on the roles of each of digital technology tools in the learning/cognitive process, student self-regulated learning processes, and two types of dialogue/interaction processes to increase the learning outcomes and students satisfactions (See Figure 2).



Fig. 1. Digital Distance Learning and Its Components (Source: [10, p.15]



Fig. 2. System's View of E-Learning System (Source: [6])

#### References

1. Basak, S.K., Wotto, M. and Be'langer, P.: E-learning, m-learning and d-learning: Conceptual definition and comparative analysis. E-Learning and Digital Media 15(4), 191–216 (2018).

2. Peters, K.: M-learning: Positioning educators for a mobile, connected future. International Journal of Research in Open and Distance Learning 8(2), 1-17 (2007).

3. Park, Y.: A pedagogical framework for mobile learning: Categorizing educational applications of mobile technologies into four types. International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning 12(2), 78-102 (2011).

4. Grant, M.M.: Difficulties in defining mobile learning: Analysis, design characteristics, and implications. Educational Technology, Research and Development 67(2), 361-388 (2019).

 Moore, J.L., Dickson-Deane, C. and Galyen, K.: E-learning, online learning, and distance learning environments: Are they the same? Internet and Higher Education 14(2), 129–135 (2011).
Eom, S.B. and Ashill, N.: A system's view of e-learning success model. Decision Sciences Journal of Innovative Education 16(1), 42-76 (2018).

7. Pinto, M. and Leite, C.: Digital technologies in support of students learning in higher education: Literature review. Digital Education Review 37(343-360 (2020).

8. Eom, S. and Laouar, M.R.: The emergence of digital distance learning, ICIST '20: the 10th International Conference on Information Systems and Technologies, Association for Computing Machinery (ACM), Online, pp. 1-5(2020).

9. Grand-Clement, S., Devaux, A., Belanger, J. and Manville, C.: Digital learning: Education and skills in digital age, RAND Corporation, Santa Monica, CA, (2017).

10. Eom, S.B.: The effects of the use of mobile devices on the e-learning process and perceived learning outcomes in university online education. E-Learning and Digital Media, (2022).

## A macro-level analytics of MOOC features in a regional platform: course design, scheduling, participation

Annamaria De Santis<sup>1[0000-0001-7680-2956]</sup>, Katia Sannicandro<sup>2[0000-0001-6364-1786]</sup>, Claudia Bellini<sup>1[0000-0001-5220-0694]</sup>, Tommaso Minerva<sup>1[0000-0001-8612-698X]</sup>

> <sup>1</sup> University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Reggio Emilia, Italy annamaria.desantis@unimore.it

A strict connection exists between research on MOOCs and on Learning Analytics because of the great amount of data recorded on MOOCs platforms and analysed through LA methods [1]. Learning at scale (L@S) environments host courses and resources realized by a few experts/tutors for a huge number of learners. The research on these environments used data to answer educational questions, and even if it perhaps did not conduct the hoped disruption in education, it provided pieces of evidence in studies on educational policies, students' behaviours, and social phenomena. Interdisciplinary studies about course design with experimental approaches on more learning platforms contribute to using educational data to offer new directions in learning science [2]. MOOCs platforms are an example of L@S environments where the sequence of learning activities is delivered by teachers and not by algorithms or peers [2]. Researchers discuss the teaching models to make MOOCs not a repository of resources but real and effective courses. At the same time, business models related to MOOCs platforms, level of openness as access to platform and reuse of materials, dropout rates or involvement of weak categories are at the centre of the scientific debate and also public opinion together with the consideration of the great opportunities for learners to attend open courses produced all over the world. Between chances and contradictions, MOOCs were able to make academics react to and experiment with new solutions and ideas for online courses [3].

Italian MOOCs ecosystem seems to be dynamic (about one thousand MOOCs produced by 28 universities till 2021), more open for content licenses and accessibility mechanisms than similar countries, and fragmented, probably for the lack of a national policy [4]. In the Italian scenario, EduOpen platform represents the only network of universities and entities (28) that offers MOOCs in a unique environment. Since 2016, 360 courses were delivered on EduOpen (approximately one-third of all those produced in Italian academic context), attended by more than 110 thousand who acquired about 90.000 attendance certificates. High completion rates (to 68%) were reported since the first years of activities and attributed to the intense use of EduOpen MOOCs in degree courses and teachers' training. This confirms that regional platforms, of course less investigated than international ones, can collect the educational needs, language, and culture of learners/countries and contribute to defining democratizing policies in MOOCs participation [5,6]. According to MOOC and Learning Analytics Cycle (MOLAC) by Hendrik Drachsler and Marco Kalz [1], based on Simon Buckingham Shum's scheme [7], we propose a macro-level analytics of features of EduOpen MOOCs. Starting from interinstitutional practises of course production, it aims to give insights for the whole network using micro-, and meso- elements, just like students' behaviours and course format and design.

What dimensions can we identify in the design features of EduOpen MOOCs? Considering relevant events link platform updates in 2018 and Covid19 pandemic, did the course features change during the years? Given these premises and in-progress development plans, what future can be imagined for the network?

In our analysis, we tried to reply to these questions, using courses (all those produced till now) as statistical units, and not metric variables related to three areas:

- *design*: sector (humanities/sciences), training hours, belonging to a pathway, delivery mode (self-paced/tutored), activities for hours, posts number for students;

- *scheduling*: starting year, opening time, language, multiple editions;

- participation: number of participants, completion rate.

For multivariate analysis, we choose the interdependence technique called multiple correspondences analysis (MCA), where not metric variables are used to define a latent structure in a dataset based on the distances between categories of the variables. MCA is a technique for data reduction that allows to plot points representing categories in a small number of dimensions to produce perceptual maps [8,9]. MCA is used on the whole variables and some subsets referred to specific research questions.

Results related to the mechanism of designing MOOCs and participating in the course during the years will report together with a definition of dimensions that characterize courses with different features (for example, those that have more editions and those that have no end date); future data-driven trends and development for the network will be described.

- Drachsler, H., Kalz, M.: The MOOC and learning analytics innovation cycle (MOLAC): A reflective summary of ongoing research and its challenges. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning, 32(3), 281-290 (2016).
- Reich, J.: Learning Analytics and Learning at Scale. In Lang, C., Siemens, G. Wise, A. F., Gašević, D., Merceron, A., (eds.) Handbook of Learning Analytics, 2nd ed. Vancouver, Canada: SOLAR (2022).
- Nascimbeni, F.: Open Education. OER, MOOC e pratiche didattiche aperte verso l'inclusione digitale educativa. FrancoAngeli, Milano (2020).
- 4. Goglio, V., Nascimbeni, F.: MOOCS in Italy: an open and fragmented landscape. Italian Journal of Educational Technology (2021).
- Ruipérez-Valiente, J. A., Jenner, M., Staubitz, T., Li, X., Rohloff, T., Halawa, S., Turro, C., Cheng, Y., Zhang, J., Despujol, I., Reich, J.: Macro MOOC learning analytics: exploring trends across global and regional providers. In Proceedings of the tenth international conference on Learning Analytics & Knowledge, pp. 518-523 (2020).
- Ruipérez-Valiente, J. A., Staubitz, T., Jenner, M., Halawa, S., Zhang, J., Despujol, I., Maldonado-Mahauad, J., Montoro, G., Peffer, M., Rohloff, Lane, J., Turro, C., Li, X., Perez-Sanagustín, M., Reich, J.: Large scale analytics of global and regional MOOC providers: Differences in learners' demographics, preferences, and perceptions. *Computers & Education*, 180 (2022).
- 7. Buckingham Shum, S.: Learning Analytics. Policy Brief, UNESCO Institute for Information Technologies in Education (2012).
- 8. Bartholomew, D.J., Steele, F., Moustaki, I., Galbraith, J.I.: Analysis of multivariate social science data, 2nd ed.. Boca Raton (FL): CRC press, Taylor & Francis Group (2008).
- 9. Hair, J.F., Black, W.C., Babin, B.J., Anderson, R.E., Tatham, R.L.: Multivariate data analysis, 7th ed.. Edinburgh Gate, Harlow, Essex (GB): Pearson (2014).

## Exploring data cultures in two universities: Contextualised data practices and needed literacies

Juliana Raffaghelli<sup>1</sup> [0000-0002-8753-6478] Valentina Grion<sup>2</sup>[0000-0002-2051-1313]</sup> and Marina de Rossi<sup>2</sup>[0000-0002-5115-8196]

<sup>1,2,3</sup> University of Padua, Via Beato Pellegrino 28 PD 35137 PADOVA [juliana.raffaghelli, valentina.grion, marina.derossi]@unipd.it

Author<sup>1[0000-1111-2222-3333]</sup> and Second Author<sup>2[1111-2222-3333-4444]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Princeton University, Princeton NJ 08544, USA <sup>2</sup> Springer Heidelberg, Tiergartenstr. 17, 69121 Heidelberg, Germany lncs@springer.com

#### 1 Introduction

"Smart technologies", based on the rapid evolution of technological infrastructures that compute digital data and hence improving the systems' capacity to learn from internal and external information processing, have entered into Higher Education [1]. Teachers and students faced with "smart" technologies have different understandings, opinions and concerns regarding smart technologies, and this diversity of stances has been characterised by Sarah Hayes as "postdigital positionings"[2]. Technology cannot be disentangled from human meaning making processes, including who the developers are and which power logics activate through the technological devices; who the users are, their experiences, their needs and their feelings of being oppressed or having degrees of agency. Therefore, disclosing the many meanings and practices assigned to human data interaction in designing "smartness" is key [3,4].

Nonetheless, the complexity and fragmentation in the debates around data practices in Higher Education must be acknowledged. From one hand, data abundance and its enhancement in higher education has been connected to personalised learning experiences, inform teachers' decisions and decrease their workload, improve quality measures, etc [6,7]. The idea of digital data as a source of information shaping systems' outputs that are not interfered by human subjectivities has been a relevant driver of such enthusiastic response [8]. From the other hand, the socio-technical studies raised critical awareness on the downwards of human data interaction and the need of deconstructing the materiality of data as an alleged "objective" entity [9,10]. This entailed an ethical reflection, considering the way data is defined, coded, assembled and reshaped in order to respond to the algorithms adopted to provide the systems' smart (automated, adaptive) responses [11]. Indeed, digital data is categorised, assembled, "polished" and structured through algorithms that are claimed to be "mathematical concepts" [12]. In Higher Education, the idea of addressing better academic government and pedagogical practices through academic and learning analytics (an applied example where human data interaction plays a central role) has been recently a matter of debate [13,14]. What has been contested is the embedded techno-determinist approach towards data mining techniques and the poor exploration data-driven practices adherence to pedagogical constructs and educational values [15,16].

Data-driven practices might also exacerbate the reductionisms embedded in the idea of Higher Education Institutions (HEIs)' "performance", measured through limited quantified indicators ending up in international rankings [17,18]. Moreover, the mentioned data practices vary from one university to another, in the configuration of what has been called "data cultures" in Higher Education institutions [5,19,20]. Exploring and understanding such data cultures might encompass a more contextualised dialogue between the stakeholders, and the detection of needed capabilities to develop fair data cultures from Higher Education to society. In this context, fair means digital ecosystems where designers acknowledge the standpoint of participants, who in turn take active part in defining, developing, testing, and controlling human-data interactions.

#### 2 The Study

The present study explores data practices in teaching and learning as expressions of data cultures in two universities. The study is based on a survey that focuses on data practices concerning four relevant areas of practice: a) Data as an Educational Resource; b) Data Supporting Teaching and Learning; c) Students' Empowerment through Data; d) Promoting Students' Data Literacy. These four areas are built on four scales containing 17 items altogether. The items are based on statements referring to key data practices for several data literacy frameworks and can be considered as a preparation to deal with data in society. Most importantly, some relevant statements refer to critical engagement and interaction with smart learning ecosystems.

The survey was distributed to all the university teaching staff of both universities: nearly 8000 emails were sent, 795 responses were collected, and 601 were finally processed as complete records for the study. Data collected was analysed through descriptive and inferential statistics comparing multivariate sample means (MANOVA) between the two cases.

All the scales produced significant results at the .01 cut-off level, displaying the different data cultures. The items contributing to such a result are explored in relation to the teachers' and students' data literacy present capabilities and learning needs. Furthermore, each of the universities revealed well distinct institutional profiles, which would support the hypothesis that data practices are entangled into the institutional culture or "data cultures".

To conclude, the potential strategies at the institutional level, particularly regarding faculty development, are discussed and contextualised within an integrated system, which can be deemed not only technologically advanced but also effective and ethically sustainable in the usage of data.

- 1. Aoun, J. E. *Robot-proof: higher education in the age of artificial intelligence.* (MIT Press, 2017).
- 2. Hayes, S. Postdigital Positionality: Developing Powerful Inclusive Narratives for Learning, Teaching, Research and Policy in Higher Education. (Brill, 2021).
- Tabuenca, B. et al., "Affordances and Core Functions of Smart Learning Environments: A Systematic Literature Review," in IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 129-145, 1 April 2021, doi: 10.1109/TLT.2021.3067946. (on "smartness)4. Hoel, T. & Mason, J. Standards for smart education – towards a development framework. *Smart Learn. Environ.* 5, 1–25 (2018).
- Raffaghelli, J. E., Manca, S., Stewart, B., Prinsloo, P. & Sangrà, A. Supporting the development of critical data literacies in higher education: building blocks for fair data cultures in society. *Int. J. Educ. Technol. High. Educ.* 17, 58 (2020).
- 6. Daniel, B. Big Data and analytics in higher education: Opportunities and challenges. *Br. J. Educ. Technol.* 46, 904–920 (2015).
- 7. EMC Education Services. *Data Science & Big Data Analytics*. (John Wiley & Sons, Inc, 2015). doi:10.1002/9781119183686.
- 8. Kitchin, R. Big Data, new epistemologies, and paradigm shifts. *Big Data Soc.* 1, (2014).
- 9. Van Dijck, J. Datafication, dataism and dataveillance: Big data between scientific paradigm and ideology. *Surveill. Soc.* 12, 197–208 (2014).
- 10. Milan, S. & van der Velden, L. The Alternative Epistemologies of Data Activism. Preprint at (2016).
- 11. Malik, M. M. A Hierarchy of Limitations in Machine Learning. (2020).
- 12. O'Neil, C. Weapons of math destruction : how big data increases inequality and threatens democracy. (Penguin, 2016).
- Buckingham Shum, S., Ferguson, R., & Martinez-Maldonado, R. (2019). Human-Centred Learning Analytics. Journal of Learning Analytics, 6(2), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.18608/jla.2019.62.1
- Selwyn, N. & Gašević, D. The datafication of higher education: discussing the promises and problems. *Teach. High. Educ.* 25, 527–540 (2020).
- 15. Williamson, B. The hidden architecture of higher education: building a big data infrastructure for the 'smarter university'. *Int. J. Educ. Technol. High. Educ.* 15, 12 (2018).
- 16. Vuorikari, R. et al. Research Evidence on the Use of Learning Analytics. (2016) doi:10.2791/955210.
- 17. Prinsloo, P. A social cartography of analytics in education as performative politics. *Br. J. Educ. Technol.* 50, 2810–2823 (2019).
- 18. Sangrà, A. *et al.* Collecting data for feeding the online dimension of university rankings: a feasibility test. *Ital. J. Educ. Technol.* 27, 241–256 (2019).
- 19. Raffaghelli, J. E. & Sangrà, A. Conclusion: Building Fair Data Cultures in Higher Education. in *Data Cultures in Higher Education: Emergent practices and the challenge ahead* in press (Springer, forthcoming).
- 20. Raffaghelli, J. E., Grion, V. & de Rossi, M. Data practices in quality evaluation and assessment: Two universities at a glance. *High. Educ. Q.* online first, (2021).

## Exploiting Student Participation for Early Prediction of Course Quality in Universities

Gianni Fenu, Roberta Galici, Mirko Marras, and Simone Picciau

Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Cagliari, Italy {fenu, roberta.galici, mirko.marras, simone.picciau}@unica.it

#### 1 Motivation

The role of quality assurance and continuous improvement is essential in supporting higher education systems in responding to emerging needs and challenges, while ensuring student qualifications and experience remain at the forefront of institutional missions [1, 2]. Each university therefore includes periodic evaluation processes aimed to improve the education quality. These processes are often part of a formal quality assurance model planned through internal procedures and often subject to an external verification from third-party agencies.

So far, quality assurance processes for universities tend to survey students' opinions on the delivered courses via questionnaires at the end of the semester. Subsequently, didactic managers collect and analyze the provided answers and discuss the results with individual instructors and the board of instructors. Since this formal evaluation process is performed once the semester is finished, (the board of) instructors receive feedback some months after the courses ended. Unfortunately, this time gap allows to intervene just before starting the next course iteration. To address these limitations, recent processes have injected machine learning into course quality evaluation, but focused on a narrow set of courses and relied on fine-grained student logs not available for all courses [3–5].

### 2 Methodology

In this extended abstract, we investigate whether the way students participate in course lectures is predictive of the quality of that course, according to the indicators originally evaluated by the university through standardized questionnaires. Compared to detailed student behavior logs (e.g., video watching events and quiz solving events), student attendance logs are a transparent, ubiquitous, and general evidence. As our method, we implemented a supervised classification pipeline. We first collected student participation logs and extracted relevant features. We finally trained classifiers on each quality indicator separately.

**Data Collection**. Our study considers over 500 thousand student participation logs coming from a public university with more than 25,000 students, 6 faculties, 89 degree programs, and 1,230 courses. Each lecture of a course has been delivered synchronously in a virtual room. Students enrolled in a course could login to the virtual room and enter the one associated to the lecture to attend. For each

lecture, the date and time of entry and exit of students from the virtual room have been traced, from March to June 2020. A log record included the course id, the lecture id, the student id, the entry timestamp, and the exit timestamp.

We also collected the quality indicators of all courses of that semester, resulting from the students' answers to the university questionnaire. For each individual course, ten quality indicators about the content (*study workload, course material, novelty, syllabus coherence*), instructor (*punctuality, motivation, clarity, availability, tutoring*) and *overall satisfaction* were considered. Each indicator ranged between AA (very positive) and F (extremely bad).

Feature Extraction. For each course, we extracted a range of features. Courselevel features included course properties that might influence the quality perceived by the student (e.g., the time of the day the course lectures were delivered, the kurtosis and skewness of the distribution of the number of students attending the lectures so far). Lecture-level features model the student participation across lectures (e.g., the average time the students spent in that lecture, the average lecture proportion followed by the student, the number of students who attended that lecture). Student-level features are related to student characteristics that can influence their attendance (e.g., the number of courses the student is attending, whether the student tends to join late or leave early a lecture).

**Classification**. For each quality indicator, we trained a separate Random Forest (RF) classifier, passing the extracted features as an input and the corresponding quality indicator as a target. The evaluation process consisted in a nested stratified 10-fold cross validation. We monitored the balanced accuracy as a metric.

#### **3** Results and Discussion

In a first analysis, we investigated whether the student participation features extracted from the full sequences of attendance records can be used to predict the aggregated quality indicators of a degree program. Our results showed that not all indicators could be predicted with a reasonably good accuracy. The obtained balanced accuracy ranged between 62% (for motivation) to 82% (for study workload). In general, participation features were predictive of the quality related to content indicators, such as study workload, course material, and overall satisfaction, but not to instructor indicators, such as punctuality and motivation.

In a second analysis, we analyzed whether the same student participation features are predictive of the aggregated quality indicators of a degree program early. Our results highlighted that, even after just six lectures, models' performance was close to that of models trained on the full sequence. Specifically, the obtained balanced accuracy of models trained with features until the forth and the sixth lecture was the lowest for *motivation* (54%; 60%) and the highest for *study workload* (75%; 82%). Based on the results, our pipeline could enable an early intervention to improve the quality of the provided university education.

Future work will embrace our findings to analyze predictiveness at course level and across faculties, study level, and teaching modalities. We also plan to embed predictions into dashboards for supporting the interested stakeholders.

- Al-Imarah, A.A., Shields, R.: Moocs, disruptive innovation and the future of higher education: A conceptual analysis. Innovations in Education and Teaching International 56(3), 258–269 (2019)
- 2. Beerkens, M.: Evidence-based policy and higher education quality assurance: progress, pitfalls and promise. Eur. J. of Higher Education 8(3), 272–287 (2018)
- Chen, J., Li, H., Wang, W., Ding, W., Huang, G.Y., Liu, Z.: A multimodal alerting system for online class quality assurance. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Artificial Intelligence in Education. pp. 381–385. Springer (2019)
- 4. Jiang, L., Wang, X.: Optimization of online teaching quality evaluation model based on hierarchical pso-bp neural network. Complexity **2020** (2020)
- Xu, M., Wang, N., Gong, S., Zhang, H., Zhang, Z., Liu, S.: Course quality evaluation based on deep neural network. In: Proceedings of the International Conference in Communications, Signal Processing, and Systems. pp. 56–62. Springer (2022)

## Predicting students' academic success: the role of students' social-relational skills and synchronous activities

Giorgio Cecchi<sup>1</sup> [0000-0001-6020-0547] and Sara Mori<sup>1</sup>[0000-0002-9255-4224]

<sup>1</sup> Università Telematica degli Studi – IUL, Via M. Buonarroti 10 – 50122 Firenze, Italy

Focused and accurate information can help to build models to prevent school drop-out and improve the educational success of students [1]. Factors determining academic success can relate to aspects of teaching and the educational model as well as to students' characteristics. Study skills, motivation and self-efficacy can affect time management skills and educational success itself [2]. Luppi and Benini (2017) have shown on a sample of students of the nursing course that the socio-cultural factors of the students, detected through the "Learning Strategies Questionnaire QSA", are crucial to determine the working attitudes of the students and are essential to evaluate their learning experience. [3].

In the literature, there are several uses of multiple regression models [4] and logistic regression models [5] in order to predict the academic performance of students in a university course or the probability of drop out by observing their behavior in online learning environments. Indeed, it has already been shown that as the participation of students in online course platforms increases, exam grades tend to increase on average and the probability of dropping out tends to decrease on average.

The study of students' behavior is particularly favored in virtual contexts. In these, in fact, a whole series of data from platform tracking can be collected. Learning Management System (LMS) is the online platform that students access to follow the lessons, download the teaching material and to communicate with each other and with the teacher. It automatically collects a large amount of data. These data are called logfiles and they can be used to understand learning behaviors and to predict students' academic results [6].

The present study takes place within the Telematics University of Studies (IUL). Among the many open source platforms available, IUL has chosen to use Moodle. Because of its characteristics [7], Moodle is one of the most widely used e-learning platforms in the university sector, widely disseminated, offers excellent technical support, and offers users the possibility of customizing its offerings.

The university provides a learning environment designed to promote a networked approach to knowledge and to foster the construction of knowledge through collaboration and sharing between participants [8]. This model is inspired by the Communities of Inquiry, which identify three areas of action for virtual communities: social presence, cognitive presence and teaching presence [9]. A previous study by researchers [10], through the study of students' log files it has been shown that the academic performance of students improves as participation on the online platform increases, both in synchronous and asynchronous mode

The aim of this study is to understand which factors can predict the educational success of

students within an online university setting. In order to make the most of IUL's social construction of knowledge model, the use of a standardized test was introduced to measure students' social-relational competences as characteristics capable of influencing educational success. The Turning Potentials into Capacities (TPC) [11] is a multidimensional questionnaire that explores dimensions such as agenticity, i.e. the tendency to play an active role in contexts; sociability, which includes aspects such as pro-sociality and friendliness, trust; personal organization, which concerns knowing how to manage oneself in order to achieve goals, thus in relation to commitment, coherence with roles in social contexts; and openness, i.e. propensity for change and innovation.

This study aims to predict TPC test results on students' personal characteristics through some demographic variables and two variables representing students' participation on the Moodle online platform. The statistical units considered are the students of the first year of the academic year 2020/2021 in the teaching of 'General Psychology' of the degree course in Human Resources Psychological Science and Technique. The sample is formed by (n=46) students out of the total (N=131) enrolled in the course, who, chosen through a simple random sample, have completed the TPC questionnaire. To make the above predictions, a multiple linear regression model was implemented. The five TPC questionnaire dimensions were considered as dependent variables (prosociality, assertiveness, accuracy, commitment and reliability); some demographic information such as gender, age and geographical origin and the two variables of participation on the platform: the number of synchronous activities and the number of asynchronous activities carried out on the Moodle platform were considered as independent variables. For synchronous activities it is intended to participate in live lessons with the teacher. Information on the number of activities carried out by students on Moodle is obtained through the collection of the log files of the course.

The final dataset was obtained by aggregating three datasets. The first is the one provided by the analysis of the TPC questionnaires implemented in Moodle. The second is the one containing the demographic information of the students, obtained from GOMP, a portal that contains all the students' information necessary for the enrollment in the IUL University. The third is the dataset that contains log files that count the synchronous and asynchronous activities carried out by students on the Moodle platform. It is obtained via the Moodle "Log" form.

From the most relevant results of the analysis, it emerged that among all the dimensions of the TPC there is a positive correlation, especially between assertiveness and commitment with a Pearson correlation coefficient  $\rho = 0.61$  and between reliability and commitment with a Pearson correlation coefficient  $\rho = 0.58$ .

The regression model showed statistically significant dependence between all TPC dimensions and the number of synchronous activities carried out on Moodle. The relation between the five dimensions of the TPC and the number of synchronous activities is positive; this means that on average as the number of synchronous activities carried out increases, the score in the various dimensions also increases. With regard to assertiveness, two other statistically significant dependencies were found; the one with gender and the one with age. With regard to gender, it was found that for males the assertiveness score is on average higher than for females; as far as age is concerned, a positive dependence has been found, so as the age increases, on average, the assertiveness score also increases.

The university can be the context in which you can experiment innovative teaching methods [12], especially in online contexts where the learning environment lends itself to be particularly flexible. This study aims to consider a more holistic model for predicting educational success that takes into account both personal and learning environment information.

- Mezzini, M., Bonavolontà, G., Agrusti, F.: Utilizzo delle reti neurali convolutive per la predizione dell'abbandono universitario. Una ricerca quantitativa sui corsi di laurea del Dipartimento di Scienze della Formazione dell'Università «Roma Tre». Italian Journal of Special Education for Inclusion, 7(2), 443-462 (2019).
- Bison, I., Civilleri, A., Fraccaroli, F.: Ritardo negli studi accademici: il ruolo della procrastinazione irrazionale e delle capacità di pianificazione ed or-ganizzazione dello studio. Giornale italiano di psicologia, 48(1), 273-283 (2021).
- Luppi, E., Benini, S.: Valutare le strategie di apprendimento negli studenti universitari: primi risultati di una ricerca valutativa condotta all'Università di Bologna, Journal of Educational, Cultural and Psychological Studies, 16, 99-127 (2017).
- Chen, R., Xie, F.J.: Research on the Influencing Factors of College Students' Labor Education. Open Access Library Journal, 7, 1-6 (2020).
- Von Hippel, P. T., Hofflinger, A.: The data revolution comes to higher education: identifying students at risk of dropout in Chile. Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management. 4(1), 2-23 (2020).
- Agasisti, T.: Learning Analytics for improving educational policies and practices: principles and examples. In: V Seminar "I dati INVALSI: uno strumento per la ricerca e la didattica" on INVALSI Conference, pp. 1-22. Roma. (2021).
- 7. Marconato, G.: Usare Moodle. Manuale di didattica. 1st edn. Guaraldi, Rimini (2011).
- Benedetti, F.: Designing an effective and scientifically grounded e-learning environment for Initial Teacher Education: the Italian University Line Model. Journal of e-Learning and Knowledge Society, 14(2), 97-109 (2018).
- 9. Garrison, D. R.: (2017). E-Learning in the 21st Century: A community of inquiry framework for research and practice. 3rd edn. Taylor & Francis, London (2017).
- Cecchi, G, Nencioni, P., Giunti, C., Mori, S.:The use of data for the educational success of students in online universities, Proceedings on the 2nd International Conference of the Journal Scuola Democratica: Learning with New Technologies, Equality and Inclusion, pp.291-305, Associazione per Scuola Democratica, Roma (2021).
- 11. Caprara, G.V., Barbaranelli, C., Vecchione, M., Alessandri, G., Pacifico, M., Cinque, L.: (2016). TPC (Turning Potentials into Capacities). 1st edn. Hogrefe Editore, Firenze (2016).
- 12. Dipace, A., Tamborra, V.: Insegnare in Università Metodi e strumenti per una didattica efficiente. 1st edn. Franco Angeli, Milano (2019).

## Special Track 1

## Improving education via XR and AI

Organizers: Marco Arrigo, CNR Institute for Educational Technology Daniele Schicchi, University of Palermo Mariella Farella, University of Palermo, CNR Institute for Educational Technology

### Investigating Mixed Reality's Influence on Climate Change in an Undergraduate Science Education Course

Len Annetta <sup>1[0000-0003-0426-8832]</sup> and Mark Newton <sup>2[0000-0002-3616-319x]</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> East Carolina University, Greenville, NC, 27828, USA annettal16@ecu.edu
<sup>2</sup> East Carolina University, Greenville, NC, 27828, USA newtonM19@ecu.edu

#### 1 Rationale

Climate change is a nuanced global issue with a scope that is often difficult to fully appreciate. This study compared two undergraduate courses focused on climate change on the Outer Banks of the North Carolina, USA coast. The purpose of this course was to examine global climate change in a local context that allowed for a deeper understanding of inequitable impacts on humans and the environment. Investigating the challenges facing North Carolina barrier islands, the class took a 6-day field trip to the Outer Banks of North Carolina and visited five sites where they used augmented reality (AR) to learn about the impact on climate change at those respected locations. Four weeks later, the class immersed in virtual reality (VR) of the five sites using the same information provided in the AR. To this end, our research questions became: How does using both AR and VR influence climate change understanding?

#### 1.1 Relevant Literature

Socioscientific Issues (SSI) is not a new paradigm. SSI scholarship describes a plethora of instructional interventions that develop reasoning skills requisite for resolving complex issues. These interventions differ to the degree in which they capitalize on students' feelings and connections towards the people and places impacted by a given issue (e.g., climate change on the North Carolina Outer Banks in this study). The effectiveness of place-based SSI experiences appears to hinge on the immersive nature of the experiences [1] [2].

Integrating a technological innovation to a place-based SSI scenario has not yet been investigated. AR is relevant for this type of integration. AR is not a new topic but the recent advances in smartphone hardware and software make for a timely study on its efficacy toward SSI learning [3]. When comparing AR to VR, physiological responses showed that AR condition produced more individual excitement and activation than VR [4]. Krichenbauer et al. [5], showed faster task completion time in AR over VR. However, using a 3D input device, a purely VR environment increased task completion time by 22.5 percent on average compared to AR.

#### 2 Methodology

#### 2.1 Setting

The setting of the study was done with an honors science education course that focused on climate change and its local impact to the North Carolina coastline. Eight students participated in the study that first used a mobile AR app (*ActionBound*) with embedded events (images, videos, etc.) to teach about specific climate change impact on five distinct locations. A month later those same students immersed in a VR app (*VRProTour*) to review their location-based experience. The VR scenarios were created using 360degree images with the same events embedded at the same five locations.

#### 2.2 Data Collection & Analysis

Seven online questions were presented to the students immediately following the AR experience and five more questions were presented to those students after the VR experience. We conducted a constant comparative and inductive analysis [6] using keywords in context [7] on the responses. Inter-rate reliability was done and resulted in 100 percent agreement.

#### 3 Results

Qualitative results suggest using AR and VR to learn about climate change enhanced the learning experiences. Themes unpacked from the responses suggest students liked the embedded videos, figures, diagrams, and accompanying text in both experiences. Statements such as, "Seeing it just helped me visualize things more instead of just talking or reading about it" and "The technology used allows for better understanding of the area because it shows a 360-degree view rather than just looking at one spot."

While most comments were positive, there were a few comments that spoke to the technology being a distraction. In the AR trial, one student stated the AR took from the real world because they were looking at the phone the whole time. A student in the VR trial indicated that although the embedded events were informative, you cannot get the same experience in VR as being at the location in person.

#### 4 Discussion & Future Research

While the small sample in the study saw some flaws in using technology to learn about climate change, the responses was overwhelmingly positive. A place-based and technology enhanced SSI has real possibilities for future research. First, mixed reality (AR and VR) needs to be user friendly and ubiquitous. The apps used in this study did not have the features needed to completely immerse the students in the content as originally intended. That said, new applications released in recent months show promise for how we might find global cooperation in conductive similar studies.
- Zeidler, D. L., Herman, B. C., & Sadler, T. D. (2019). New directions in socioscientific issues research. *Disciplinary and Interdisciplinary Science Education Research*, 1(1), 1– 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s43031-019-0008-7</u>
- Herman, B.C., Owens, D.C., Oertli, R.T., Zangori, L.A., Newton, M.H. (2019). Exploring the complexity of students' scientific explanations and associated nature of science views within a place-based socioscientific issues context. *Science &* Education, 1-38
- Bisht, L., & Kumar, A. (2017). A review on status, opportunities and future scope of Augmented Reality. *International Conference on Recent Trends in Engineering, Science and Management.*
- Chicchi Giglioli, I. A., Bermejo Vidal, C., & Alcañiz Raya, M. (2019). A Virtual Versus an Augmented Reality Cooking Task Based-Tools: A Behavioral and Physiological Study on the Assessment of Executive Functions. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02529
- Krichenbauer, M., Yamamoto, G., Taketom, T., Sandor, C., & Kato, H. (2018). Augmented Reality versus Virtual Reality for 3D Object Manipulation. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 24(2). https://doi.org/10.1109/TVCG.2017.2658570
- 6. Glaser, B. (1965). The constant comparative method of qualitative analysis. *Social Problems*, *12*(4), 436-445.
- Leech, N., & Onwuegbuzie, A. (2007). An array of qualitative data analysis tools: A call for data analysis triangulation. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 22(4), 557-584.

## LOs within Moodle platform: IEEE-LOM and OAI-PMH integration

Georgia Psyrra<sup>1 [0000-0001-6503-279X]</sup> and Eleni Mangina<sup>2 [0000-0003-3374-0307]</sup>

<sup>1, 2</sup> University College Dublin, Belfield, Dublin 4, Ireland

### 1 Introduction

The current work was composed within ARETE project [1] aiming to support discoverability and reusability of Augmented Reality (AR) and the other types of learning content included in its Moodle digital repository [2]. AR technology has been presented as a valuable tool for enhancing student learning by many studies [3] [4]. ARETE project aims to support AR teaching and training applications by contributing to the development and evaluation of MirageXR platform: an authoring toolkit for creating XReality (XR) [5] learning content, compliant with the IEEE standard for Augmented Reality Learning Experience Model (ARLEM) [6] [7].

Although several initiatives in the past dealt with Learning Objects (LOs) and their reusability and interoperability failed because of the limited demand of the community due to the gap issue through the lack of a middleware application to facilitate the movement of the LOs' usability from the Learning Management Systems (LMSs). Therefore, MirageXR will be incorporated within ARETE's digital repository to establish the communication between the authoring tool and the Moodle server. Moreover, ARETE plans to address the limited demand from the community through the implementation of an open source marketplace for XR educational content.

Within this project, interoperability of XR objects is not referred to the exchange between LMSs, but the upload and shared content through MirageXR and ARETE's marketplace. Aiming at linking up content from various digital repositories in a way that a global search for learning resources becomes feasible, this paper presents the integration of IEEE-1484.12.1-2020 standard for Learning Object Metadata (IEEE-LOM) [8] and Open Archives Initiative Protocol for Metadata Harvesting (OAI-PMH) [9] within ARETE's Moodle repository as harvesting solution for a federated network of ARLEM and other educational content repositories.

### 2 LOM and OAI-PMH Moodle integration plugins

LOM is a widely used data model for the description of LOs and similar digital resources [10]. The conceptual schema of the standard describes the structure of a metadata instance for a LO, while taking into account the diversity of cultural and lingual contexts in which the LOs and their metadata will be exploited [8]. As storage becomes cheaper, more and more resources are stored in repositories, making search for them more difficult. One way to facilitate object discovery is to create a union list (aggregations of metadata) thus allowing stakeholders to search locally. OAI-PMH protocol provides an application-independent interoperability framework based on metadata harvesting [9], thus allowing the creation of the said union list.

Considering that digital repositories can make their content more accessible through the availability of shared information, previous work on creating and exposing LO's metadata was enriched for the development of two plugins: the "LOM Moodle"; and the "OAI-PMH Moodle". The first one aims to facilitate the processes of creating LOMbased metadata for the description of the ARETE's LOs while the second one was developed to enhance the discoverability of resources by exposing and making public their metadata via the OAI-PMH framework. It is worth to be noted that both plugins have not yet been finalized and are based on previous work that targets on LOM metadata editing, generation and exposure via the OAI-PMH protocol. The two plugins are linked with each other in a way that "OAI-PMH Moodle" plugin requires the installation of "LOM Moodle" plugin.

**Fig. 1**. presents a draft architecture of the plugins installed in the ARETE's Moodle repository so far, concerning those that handle/create data and metadata for an AR activity and its exposure via OAI-PMH. "LOM Moodle" plugin aids on metadata editing and the automatic generation of LOM XML files, capable to describe AR experiences and other types of modules. LOM and OAI-PMH plugins give the opportunity to users (teachers or administrators), after initiating a course, an activity or a resource, to edit the respective metadata descriptor file and then to export it via the OAI-PMH protocol.



Fig. 1. Components of ARETE's Moodle repository

### **3** Conclusions and Future work

The integration of IEEE-LOM and OAI-PMH standards to ARETE Moodle repository is a feasible way to enhance the development of learning content by using relevant already existing resources that can be easily found and retrieved. However, the difficulty on finding service providers that could support harvesting of the resources' metadata and build search algorithms based on IEEE-LOM points to considering different approaches.

- 1. ARETE project Homepage, https://arete.ucd.ie/, last accessed 2022/05/12.
- 2. ARETE Moodle Digital Repository Homepage, https://arete.ucd.ie/, last accessed 2022/05/12.
- Dede, C.: Immersive interfaces for engagement and learning. Science, 323(5910), 66–69 (2009).
- Parmaxi, A., Demetriou, A.A.: Augmented reality in language learning: A state-of-the-art review of 2014–2019. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning, 36(6), 861-875 (2020).
- Rauschnabel, P.A., Felix, R., Hinsch, C., Shahab, H., & Alt, F.: What is XR? Towards a framework for augmented and virtual reality. Computers in Human Behavior, 133, p.107289 (2022).
- 6. WEKIT ECS MirageXR, https://wekit-ecs.com/documents/miragexr, last accessed 2022/07/20.
- IEEE-LTSC: IEEE Standard for Augmented Reality Learning Experience Model. In IEEE Std 1589-2020, pp. 1–48. IEEE(2020). DOI: 10.1109/IEEESTD.2020.9069498
- IEEE-LTSC: IEEE Standard for Learning Object Metadata. In: IEEE Std 1484.12.1-2020, pp. 1-50. IEEE (2020). DOI: 10.1109/IEEESTD.2020.9262118
- 9. Lagoze, C., Van de Sompel, H., Nelson, M., & Warner, S.: Open archives initiative-protocol for metadata harvesting v.2.0. Open archives initiative (2002).
- 10. Wikipedia The Free Encyclopedia Learning object metadata, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Learning\_object\_metadata, last accessed 2021/02/12.

## Development of experiential learning, modelling and repetition processes in Virtual Reality applications. Theoretical analysis and didactic implications

Ilaria Terrenghi<sup>1[0000-0003-3037-6087]</sup> and Andrea Garavaglia<sup>2[0000-0003-1408-2492]</sup>

<sup>1.2</sup> Università degli Studi di Milano andrea.garavaglia@unimi.it ilaria.terrenghi@unimi.it

### **1** Modeling, repetition and experience in the learning process

Teaching and learning are extremely complex and interconnected processes that may be influenced by many cognitive factors, such as perception, memory, attention, focalization, language, and emotions. Cognitive neuroscience studies highlighted that it is extremely necessary to be aware of this implication, in order to support the learning process and to improve the teaching efficacy [1].

Due to the evolution of neuroscience, we know much about the structure, development and functioning of the human brain [2] and it is possible for all the actors in the educational field to understand the most important evidence about the brain, memory and learning process.

According to this idea and thanks to the progress in neuroscience and brain research in the last decades, a new interdisciplinary research field, neurodidactics [3; 4], was developed. Considering the different denominations present in the literature ('neuroeducation' proposed by Breuer, 'educational neuroscience' by Geake, 'brain-based education' by Caine, ...) this perspective, despite some critical remarks [5], is useful for concentrating on practical suggestions aimed at the didactic process.

Although neurodidactics analyses many areas of the learning context, we believe the following is worth considering. Several studies confirm that the learning process is mainly supported by at least three scenarios, through which our brain works: modeling, repetition and experience [6].

The first scenario deals with the idea that students can learn how to behave by observing a professional working on an artefact or a teacher using a precise didactic method. Mainly this is the case of apprenticeships or modern school internships, and it is based on the identification of the mirror neurons and the comprehension of their functioning [7].

Repetition has a great impact on the memorisation process: when students consistently repeat a notion or a movement, the synaptic relations assigned to this work increase and the information that has to be learned moves from the short term memory to the long term one [8]. This idea is based on neuronal plasticity and supports lifelong learning theory in a neuroscientific perspective.

Finally, we know the essential contribution of the experience for the learning process. Kolb [9] defined experiential learning as the process in which knowledge is created through the transformation of the experience and it helps learners to develop new skills, attitudes or ways of thinking. Kolb based this idea on several models, including Dewey and Piaget that referred to "learning by doing" or "learning from experience".

### 2 Immersive technology

According to the premises, several evidence could be considered to support teachers in improving their didactic efficacy, but it is only a partial point of view. On one hand the scientific studies provide several neurodidactic references suggesting practical advice; on the other hand, the research on new technology and the didactic devices add a further significant contribution. This is the case of the research on the application of Head-Mounted Display (HMD) technology and the Immersive Virtual Reality (I-VR) which is progressively spreading in our contemporary society, becoming more and more used. The implementation of technology-aided education as a pedagogical method is not a recent phenomenon, and the studies about its efficacy have been carried out for almost half a century. As far back as the 1970s, Ellinger and Frankland [10] found that the use of early computers to teach economic principles produced comparative learning outcomes with traditional didactic methods (such as what is called chalk and talk).

Nowadays, despite the researchers focus on learning outcomes, intervention characteristics, design, and assessment measures associated with I-VR use has been sparse, the adoption of it (I-VR) as a pedagogical method is challenging and seems to be useful and effective. Jensen and Konradsen [11] confirmed that learners who used an immersive HMD were more engaged, spent more time on the learning tasks, and acquired better cognitive, psychomotor, and affective skills. Jang [12] confirmed the hypothesis that an immersive learning experience can promote self-confidence and make the task relevant to the user, driving engagement and motivation to learn. In addition, high fidelity graphics and immersive content using HMD have allowed students to explore complex subjects in a way that traditional teaching methods cannot [13].

### **3** Rationale and research questions

Neurodidacts and I-VR studies must be designed in a combined way, in order to increase the potential of the teaching and learning process, especially considering the contributions of the latest scientific research.

It is essential to complete an analysis in which to make a synthesis of the didactic concepts of modeling, repetition and experience with the potential of immersive reality in the context of higher education, trying to bring out the meaning of this proposal.

The analysis is proposed with the intent to improve the understanding of how I-VR can be used to facilitate the learning process by imitating a model, as well as the understanding of how virtual reality can be developed to support repetition or how to create an "authentic experience" referred to an immersive environment.

It is also essential to investigate what kind of decision-making [14] occurs in these learning situations

The analysis is still ongoing and will address both the feasibility of this topic and the weaknesses still inherent in VR technologies, in order to support the implementation of these scenarios and the design phase of an educational path.

- 1. Privitera, A. J., A scoping review of research on neuroscience training for teachers. Trends in Neuroscience and Education, 24, 100157 (2021).
- 2. Dehaene, S., *Imparare: Il talento del cervello, la sfida delle macchine*. Raffaello Cortina Editore (2020).
- 3. Preiss, G. (a cura di), *Neurodidaktik. Theoretische und Praktishe Beiträge*. Centaurus Verlag: Herbolzheim (1998).
- 4. Rosati, L., *Il metodo della didattica. L'apporto delle Neuroscienze*. La Scuola, Brescia (2005).
- Navarro Rincón, A., Carrillo López, M. J., Solano Galvis, C. A., & Isla Navarro, L., Neurodidactics of Languages: Neuromyths in Multilingual Learners. *Mathematics*, 10(2), 196 (2022).
- 6. Rivoltella, P.C., *Neurodidattica. Insegnare al cervello che apprende*, Raffaello Cortina, Milano (2012).
- 7. Rizzolatti, G., Sinigaglia, C., So quel che fai. Raffaello Cortina, Milano (2006).
- 8. Kandel, E., Alla ricerca della memoria, Codice, Torino (2010).
- 9. Kolb, D. A., *Experience as the source of learning and development*. Prentice Hall, Upper Sadle River (1984).
- Ellinger, R. S., & Frankland, P., Computer-assisted and lecture instruction: A comparative experiment. *Journal of Geography*, 75, 109–120 (1976).
- 11. Jensen, L., & Konradsen, F., A review of the use of virtual reality head-mounted displays in education and training. *Education and Information Technologies*, 23, 1515–1529 (2018).
- 12. Jang, H., Supporting students' motivation, engagement, and learning during an uninteresting activity. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 100(4), 798-811 (2008).
- Hamilton, D., McKechnie, J., Edgerton, E., & C. Wilson, C., Immersive virtual reality as a pedagogical tool in education: a systematic literature review of quantitative learning outcomes and experimental design. *Journal of Computers in Education*, 8 (1), 1-32 (2021).
- 14. Goldberg, E., La sinfonia del cervello, Tr. it. Ponte delle Grazie, Milano, 2010 (2009).

# Augmented and Virtual Reality Experiences in Computer Science Education

Gaetano Francesco Anastasi<sup>1</sup> and Enzo Giuseppe Munna<sup>2</sup>

 ITET G. Garibaldi, Marsala (TP), Italy gaetanofrancesco.anastasi@posta.istruzione.it
 ITET G. Caruso, Alcamo (TP), Italy enzomunna@gmail.com

### 1 Introduction

In the field of learning innovation, there is a wide discussion on the use of Augmented Reality (AR) and Virtual Reality (VR) for creating immersive learning environments in educational settings. Some authors [1] [2] emphasize the advantages of using such technologies in education, for instance by explaining the opportunity of representing abstract concepts in a "tangible" way. Other researchers are less enthusiastic [3], emphasizing that, rather than focusing on the physical verisimilitude of a virtual scenario, it is more important to focus on the *cognitive realism* of an immersive learning scenario because learning environments and tasks create conditions for immersion, not technologies themselves. The authors believe that AR and VR must surely claim their space in school education: such technologies are interdisciplinaries and can be very motivating, from the point of view of both students and teachers.

This paper reports some educational experiences related to the process of creating, developing and testing AR and VR applications at the high school level. Such projects have been carried out in a three-year time frame during extracurricular activities in an Italian High School for technicians, called "Girolamo Caruso" and located at Alcamo, Sicily. The paper presentation has two main objectives: (a) sharing our experiences and reflecting on the possibility of integrating them into curricular teaching; (b) analyzing the perception that students have about AR and VR as a vehicle for increasing awareness of their own knowledge and the perceived relationship with their own education.

### 2 Experiences and Discussion

This section presents the most significant projects made by students and supervised by the authors. Such projects have been mainly realized by using the Unity (www.unity3d.com) platform and the Oculus Rift viewer.

*Market exhibition.* In the context of a market exhibition hold by local agrofood producers, we created an AR project that permits to see 3D reproductions of food by framing the product marker. The application also permits to access an interactive menu containing information on the product itself (e.g., historical notes, characteristics, ingredients).

 Table 1. Opinions of students who have never used virtual reality technologies

| Questions   | Answers |
|---|---------|
| Do you believe that working with VR technologies<br>can be useful in improving your programming skills? | 4.19    |
| Do you think knowing how to use VR technologies<br>can be useful for finding work in the future?        | 4.03    |
| Would you like VR technologies to be introduced<br>in your training curriculum?                         | 4.19    |

Academic Museum of Technology. This project aimed at creating an interactive and immersive exhibition that can completely involve visitors, providing information in real time without the need for additional personnel and leaving the visitor free to deepen their knowledge on displayed objects by interacting with them. A physical and virtual location was created by showing vintage typewriters, electronic typewriters, first-generation cell phones and so on. A brief video is available at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LDm9\_QuW4Bc.

Arduino Day. Using previous experiences as a starting point, a virtual scenario was created, allowing users to play a treasure hunt whose purpose was to recover doubloons and release them inside a chest. The game was enhanced with the possibility of interacting with an Arduino [4] board, in order to obtain a so-called "sensory virtual reality", being a virtual reality that can be modified when living the experience, by means of stimuli coming from realworld sensors. As a *proof-of-concept*, the VR project leveraged a brightness sensor that was used for reflecting the luminous changes of the real environment inside the virtual one, modifying the brightness of the virtual scenario in real-time during the experience. A brief video is available at the following link https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=7ALZ9ConVK4.

In order to analyze the perception that students have about their school education and in particular regarding the possibility of using AR and VR as a vehicle for increasing awareness of their knowledge, a questionnaire was proposed to involved students. Table 1 shows the answers given in Likert scale (1 = not at all, 5 = very much) by students who have never used technologies related to AR and VR (31 out of 64). Opinions provided by students are very clear regarding their desire to introduce/deepen VR technologies during their educational path.

### 3 Conclusion

This paper shares some of the most significant school experiences that have been carried out in relation to the production of AR/VR applications. These experiences have been mostly conducted as extracurricular activities. However, AR/VR and the newest technologies in general [5] excite students, by having a strong motivational impact on their training path. We therefore believe that one of the next challenge to be faced for computer science teaching (and not only) is that of being able to bring AR and VR into the frame of a curricular design.

- 1. Fernandez, M.: Augmented virtual reality: How to improve education systems. Higher Learning Research Communications 7(1), 1–15 (2017)
- 2. Seo, J.H., Bruner, M., Payne, A., Gober, N., Chakravorty, D.K.: Using virtual reality to enforce principles of cybersecurity. J. Comput. Sci **10**(1) (2019)
- Herrington, J., Reeves, T.C., Oliver, R.: Immersive learning technologies: Realism and online authentic learning. Journal of Computing in Higher Education 19(1), 80–99 (2007)
- 4. Banzi, M., Shiloh, M.: Getting started with Arduino: the open source electronics prototyping platform. Maker Media, Inc. (2014)
- Anastasi, G.F., Musmarra, P.: Teaching IoT in the Classroom and Remotely. In: Casalino, G., Cimitile, M., Ducange, P., Padilla Zea, N., Pecori, R., Picerno, P., Raviolo, P. (eds.) Higher Education Learning Methodologies and Technologies Online. pp. 87–99. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2022)

### Teaching Science Concepts via Augmented Reality in the Fairy Tale Science Augmented (FAnTASIA) Project

Giuseppe Chiazzese<sup>1[0000-0002-0228-6204]</sup>, Eleni Mangina<sup>2[0000-0003-3374-0307]</sup>, Crispino Tosto<sup>1[0000-0002-0389-2804]</sup>, Luciano Seta<sup>1[0000-0003-3223-0997]</sup>, Antonella Chifari<sup>1[0000-0001-9141-<sup>007X]</sup>, Paola Denaro<sup>1[0000-0002-9742-6096]</sup>, Doriana Dhrami<sup>1</sup>, Marco Arrigo<sup>1[0000-0003-2545-2049]</sup>, Mariella Farella<sup>1[0000-0003-2626-0997]</sup>, Christos Ioannides<sup>3[0000-0003-4146-4875]</sup>, Konstantinos Tsolakidis<sup>3</sup>, and Darya Yegorina<sup>4[0000-0002-1426-9911</sup></sup>

<sup>1</sup> Istituto per le Tecnologie Didattiche, Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, 90146 Palermo, Italy

chrioang@gmail.com, tsolak@aegean.gr <sup>4</sup> CleverBooks Limited, Dublin, Ireland

dasha.jegorina@gmail.com

# **1** The Fairy Tale Science Augmented (FAnTASIA) Project and the educational package

The use of storytelling has long been covering a wide variety of subjects across different levels of education, from preschool and K12 to professional training [1]. While most of the research addressing this topic in K12, especially in primary education, has focused on the teaching of literacy skills and language acquisition [2], some attempts have been done to exploit the opportunities the use of storybook and tales has to offer for the teaching of STEM subjects [e.g., 3, 4]. Regardless of the specific content being delivered, storytelling methods are assumed to catch students' attention and involve both their cognitive and affective skills [1]. Educational literature has also collected evidence for effectiveness of the use of augmented reality (AR) technology in promoting greater academic achievement and engagement among students, compared with traditional and other digital media-related lessons [5, 6]. Primary education resulted to benefit most from the use of AR solutions and natural sciences, mathematics, and statistics were the most widely subjects taught using AR. Moreover, research has identified in situ interactive visualization as a common learning benefit coming from AR that seem to help students learn spatial relationships, such as astronomy configurations or spatial configuration of human organs [7].

Based on research findings, the main aim of the Fairy Tale Science Augmented (FAnTASIA) project [8] was to design a multi-lingual (i.e., English, Italian, and Greek) educational package that would integrate storytelling and AR technology to support the teaching of science concepts and skills in children aged from 5 to 12 years. The package

is intended to promote children acquisition of the concept of spherical earth, the concept of the sun, the day/night cycle and the explanation of floating and sinking of solid objects. The use of the FAnTASIA package also supports children in learning of proper application of the scientific method to evaluate their hypothesis about real-world phenomena.

Children can use the educational package in class or at home, with the support of an adult. The package includes a fairy tale, a mobile application powered by Augmented Reality content, and a user manual created to guide adults in effectively using all educational materials. The fairy tale tells the story of an illiterate young shepherd who, during his adventures, will find the answers to many questions concerning the physical world; in this regard, children's acquisition of scientific concepts and skills through storytelling and project-based learning. The augmented reality content, supported by the FAnTASIA mobile app, allow children to visualize an additional realistic environment to test and adjust their hypotheses about the studied phenomena. In this regard, three augmented reality scenarios have been developed to support children's learning of the proposed scientific concepts (i.e., shape of the earth, day/night cycle, and floating and sinking).

### 2 Evaluation of the FAnTASIA educational package

The assumption guiding the development of the FAnTASIA educational package is that combining storytelling, as a long-standing effective pedagogical method, with new technological solutions represented by AR content can positively impact learners' acquisition of scientific concepts and skills and their motivation towards science learning, regardless of educational settings. The present paper describes the research design implemented to evaluate the effectiveness of the FAnTASIA package in promoting children's knowledge and cognitive skills and their development of a positive attitude towards science learning. To this aim, a pre-test/post-test quasi-experimental research design was used [9]; a sample of about 200 fourth-grade school students were enrolled and divided into two groups which used the educational package with and without support of augmented reality content, respectively. Students' performance was measured with three different questionnaires in terms of: 1) acquisition of scientific knowledge, scientific reasoning skills, and 3) attitude towards science learning.

The present paper focuses on teachers' evaluation of their experience with the use of the FAnTASIA educational packages (with and without the support of AR technology, respectively). Before any activities related to the research began, participating teachers first underwent a training session on the use of the educational package and the theoretical framework behind its implementation. At the end of the intervention, they were asked to complete a final questionnaire consisting of a set of questions, rated on a Likert-type scale, assessing 1) their overall experiences with and 2) the perceived learning impact of the FAnTASIA educational packages (with and without the support of AR technology). A total of 13 questionnaires were completed by teachers (7 for the AR e 6 for the non-AR conditions); findings from teachers' perspective are presented and discussed. The teachers' feedback described in this paper may be relevant for the design of effective training interventions targeting students attending master degrees, pre-service teachers, and teachers in training for professional development programs.

- McNett, G.: Using Stories to Facilitate Learning, Coll. Teach. 64, 184–193 (2016). doi: 10.1080/87567555.2016.1189389
- Lucarevschi, C.R.: The role of storytelling on language learning: A literature review. WPLC. 26, 24–44 (2016).
- Matamit, H.N.H., Roslan, R., Shahrill, M., Said, H.M.:: Teaching Challenges on the Use of Storytelling in Elementary Science Lessons. Int. J. Eval. Res. Educ. 9, 716–722 (2020).
- Lemonidis, C., Kaiafa, I.: The Effect of Using Storytelling Strategy on Students' Performance in Fractions. EduLearn. 8, 165–175 (2019). doi: 10.5539/jel.v8n2p165
- Ozdemir, M., Sahin, C., Arcagok, S., Demir, M.K.: The effect of augmented reality applications in the learning process: A meta-analysis study. Eurasian J. Educ. Res. 18, 165–186 (2018). doi: 10.14689/ejer.2018.74.9
- Garzón, J., Pavón, J., Baldiris, S.: Systematic review and meta-analysis of augmented reality in educational settings. Virtual Real. 23, 447–459 (2019). doi: 10.1007/s10055-019-00379-9
- Radu, I.: Augmented reality in education: a meta-review and cross-media analysis. Pers. Ubiquitous Comput. 18, 1533–1543 (2014). doi: 10.1007/s00779-013-0747-y
- 8. FAnTASIA Project Homepage, https://fantasia.ucd.ie, last accessed 2022/06/03.
- Kazdin, A.E.: Research design in clinical psychology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom (2021)

# A framework for improving Higher Education experiences by Deep Learning and Immersive Technologies

 $\begin{array}{c} {\rm Marco\ Arrigo^{2[0000-0003-2545-2049]},\ Mariella\ Farella^{1,2[0000-0003-2626-0997]},}\\ {\rm Giosué\ Lo\ Bosco^{1[0000-0002-1602-0693]},\ Daniele\ Schicchi^{1[0000-0003-0154-2736]},}\\ {\rm Davide\ Taibi^{2[0000-0002-3210-3990]}} \end{array}$ 

<sup>1</sup> Dipartimento di Matematica e Informatica, University of Palermo, Italy {daniele.schicchi,giosue.lobosco}@unipa.it

<sup>2</sup> Institute for Educational Technology, National Research Council, Italy davide.taibi@itd.cnr.it

### 1 Introduction

The last decade was characterized by the advent of many innovations that have been exploited for helping people from several perspectives. In particular, Artificial Intelligence (AI), Virtual Reality (VR), and Augmented Reality (AR) have brought outstanding benefits in many different fields.

Education can take advantage of the digital transformation to improve the students' learning experience. Correct use of the new technologies can foster the acquisition of new knowledge and the development of skills and competencies. In the same way, teachers can use innovative tools to increment the efficiency of the teaching process.

The state of the art shows several contributions that have investigated the use of Artificial Intelligence, and immersive technologies in learning environments, underlying both positive and negative aspects of their usage [1]. In this paper, we focus our attention on a particular AI field known as Deep Learning (DL), and on AR and VR. Our goal is to propose a framework that aims at defining a common structure to integrate DL with immersive technologies, and thus make clear how such innovations can be mixed to exploit their potentialities.

### 2 Literature Review

The literature shows several examples of successful applications of VR and AR systems in higher education contexts [2][3][4]. In particular, these technologies can facilitate user engagement, motivation, and concentration through the use of interactive features [5]. According to [6], the use of AR in maintenance training can help to reduce the time and errors of conservation activities. In anatomy, Argo et al. [7] developed an AR system that allows medical students to analyze human organs through the usage of a mobile device that displays the information of a 3D printed organ by framing it via the camera. Moreover, in the education

environment, the students' data contain much information representative of the student behavior that can be extracted through DL. The application of DL to students' data is not limited to information extraction but it concerns several research areas. For instance, it is possible to develop an Intelligent Tutor to support students during a learning activity [8][9], to create Virtual Assistants to guide the experience of the students by using natural language [10][11], to predict the students' performance via Graph Neural Networks to avoid dropout and facilitating intervention strategies [12], with the integration in Learning Analytics tools.

### 3 Framework

The framework here presented defines a structure that combines cutting edge Artificial Intelligence techniques and immersive technologies. The framework provides a view of 3 different dimensions for an effective immersive smart learning experience. The first dimension regards the smart learning environment, that is the selection as well as the creation of DL-based systems to support the student. The framework helps to identify the benefits that the student achieves from the usage of specific intelligent systems, and at the same time correlated problems. Some of them concern the methodology to gather data, implementing natural language human-computer interfaces, automatic skill detection, question answering, and intelligent tutoring [13][14]. The second dimension regards the visualization of the learning experience via immersive technologies. Aspects such as motion sickness, the duration of the experience, the choice of the 3D contents, the evaluation of the trade-off associated with AR/VR devices, and the effects of the VR/AR on the student, especially if he/she has special needs (e.g. autism syndrome, Specific Learning Disorders), should be identified and tackled. Finally, the third dimension is related to the interaction between DL systems and immersive technologies. Data that come from the student experience should be integrated into the smart systems to allow real-time feedback to the student, and thus improve his/her skills, as well as technical details should be taken into account to implement an enhanced experience.

### 4 Use cases

The framework is suitable to be applied in several educational contexts. The potentialities of AR/VR allow achieving advanced training experiences especially when the training could not be made physically because of the critical level of the process (e.g. surgical operations). We deeply describe a design of a use case according to the guidelines suggested by the framework in order to implement a learning experiences that focus on AI and AR/VR environment.

Acknowledgements Daniele Schicchi acknowledges funding from the European Union PON project Ricerca e Innovazione 2014-2020, DM 1062/2021.

- 1. Liu, D., Dede, C., Huang, R., Richards, J.: Virtual, augmented, and mixed realities in education. Springer (2017)
- Freina, L., Ott, M.: A literature review on immersive virtual reality in education: state of the art and perspectives. In: The international scientific conference elearning and software for education. vol. 1, pp. 10–1007 (2015)
- Jantjies, M., Moodley, T., Maart, R.: Experiential learning through virtual and augmented reality in higher education. In: Proceedings of the 2018 international conference on education technology management. pp. 42–45 (2018)
- Taran, V.N.: Use of elements of augmented reality in the educational process in higher educational institutions. In: CEUR Workshop Proceedings. In 2019 International Conference on Innovative approaches to the application of digital technologies in education and research SLET-2019. vol. 2494 (2019)
- Papanastasiou, G., Drigas, A., Skianis, C., Lytras, M., Papanastasiou, E.: Virtual and augmented reality effects on k-12, higher and tertiary education students' twenty-first century skills. Virtual Reality 23(4), 425–436 (2019)
- Marengo, A., Pagano, A., Ladisa, L.: Towards a mobile augmented reality prototype for corporate training: A new perspective. International Association for Development of the Information Society (2018)
- Argo, A., Arrigo, M., Bucchieri, F., Cappello, F., Di Paola, F., Farella, M., Fucarino, A., Lanzarone, A., Lo Bosco, G., Saguto, D., et al.: Augmented reality gamification for human anatomy. In: International Conference on Games and Learning Alliance. pp. 409–413. Springer (2018)
- 8. Rus, V., Niraula, N., Banjade, R.: Deeptutor: An effective, online intelligent tutoring system that promotes deep learning. In: Twenty-ninth aaai conference on artificial intelligence (2015)
- Rus, V., D'Mello, S., Hu, X., Graesser, A.: Recent advances in conversational intelligent tutoring systems. AI Magazine 34(3), 42–54 (2013)
- Cobos-Guzman, S., Nuere, S., De Miguel, L., König, C.: Design of a virtual assistant to improve interaction between the audience and the presenter. International Journal of Interactive Multimedia & Artificial Intelligence 7(2) (2021)
- Farella, M., Chiazzese, G., Lo Bosco, G.: Question answering with bert: Designing a 3d virtual avatar for cultural heritage exploration. In: 2022 IEEE 21st Mediterranean Electrotechnical Conference (MELECON). pp. 770–774
- Karimi, H., Derr, T., Huang, J., Tang, J.: Online academic course performance prediction using relational graph convolutional neural network. International Educational Data Mining Society (2020)
- Song, B., Li, X.M.: Research on intelligent question answering system based on college enrollment. In: Journal of Physics: Conference Series. vol. 1948, p. 012062. IOP Publishing (2021)
- Anderson, J.R., Boyle, C.F., Reiser, B.J.: Intelligent tutoring systems. Science 228(4698), 456–462 (1985)

# An innovative example of using Augmented Reality into behavioral lessons

Mariella Farella<sup>1[0000-0003-2626-0997]</sup>, Marco Arrigo<sup>1</sup>, Davide Taibi<sup>1</sup>, Crispino Tosto<sup>1</sup>, Luciano Seta<sup>1</sup>, Antonella Chifari<sup>1</sup>, Sui Lin Goei<sup>2</sup>, Eleni Mangina<sup>3</sup>, Fridolin Wild<sup>4</sup>, Paola Denaro<sup>1</sup>, Doriana Dhrami<sup>1</sup>, and Giuseppe Chiazzese<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute for Educational Technology - National Research Council of Italy, Palermo, Italy

mariella.farella@itd.cnr.it

 $^2\,$  Faculty of Behavioural and Movement Sciences, Vrije Universite<br/>it Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

<sup>3</sup> School of Computer Science, University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland

<sup>4</sup> Institute of Educational Technology - The Open University, Milton Keynes, UK

### 1 Introduction

Augmented Reality (AR) [1] is rapidly emerging as an increasingly useful technology in educational contexts, since it provides techniques and tools that facilitate students' engagement and facilitate the learning of new concepts. In the literature, recent studies ([2], [3], [4]) show that AR is suitable for enhancing student motivation through an attractive and functional learning environment and, in addition, it is able to make learning a more engaging activity. When AR is applied in the context of behavioral education, which is concerned with the study of how the environment influences changes in students' behavior, the expected behaviors to be performed in specific scenarios can be shown directly in a real context. In the ARETE<sup>5</sup> (Augmented Reality Interactive Educational System) H2020 project, consortium members designed and implemented an ecosystem aimed at supporting teachers with the construction of a collaborative learning environment through the use of AR in order to improve educational experiences. In particular, one of the designed pilots aims to introduce AR for the first time [5] into the behavioral lessons of schools by leveraging the PBIS (Positive Behaviour Intervention and Support) methodology[6]. In these schools, in fact, positive behavior is taught to the students in the same way as any other subject. According to PBIS, the combination of the designing, teaching, and reinforcing expected behavior phases constitutes a more effective way to guarantee that all students understand behavioral expectations. A positive environment is then created in which students are taught to be respectful, responsible, and safe.

### 2 The AR Ecosystem for PBIS lessons

The architecture proposed within the ARETE project, incorporates AR technology into the behavioral lesson learning process to support teaching, practice,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> https://www.areteproject.eu/

and reinforcement phases of expected behaviors, thus creating an augmented environment called AR Behavioural Learning Space (AR-BLS) enriched with AR Behavioural Learning Resources (AR-BLR). Within this learning space, teachers create their own behavioral learning resources that will be stored in the ARETE Moodle repository $^{6}$  and can be reused through an application designed for students. Teachers are provided with the MirageXR authoring system<sup>7</sup> that allows them to create AR-BLRs contextualized in a real-world environment. This environment gives students a more realistic learning experience concerning their learning context (i.e. classroom, corridor, hallway...). A set of 3D characters, specifically designed for PBIS, are available within MirageXR. These characters have been designed by taking into account the needs highlighted by PBIS teachers during focus groups and interviews. Once these AR-BLRs have been created, they can be stored on the ARETE 3D digital repository as their creation follows the ARLEM standard<sup>8</sup> to support the reuse of the learning content. In fact, ARLEM provides the description of AR content in terms of the interaction between the physical world, the user and the created information, the context for learning assisted by AR, and other parameters of the environment. Students are provided with a system, the PBIS-AR application, that allows them to visualize AR-BLRs created by teachers through MirageXR directly in real-world school contexts by using AR technology. In this case, the AR technology does not use markers but is based, instead, on environment mapping through, for example, plane and feature point tracking. Using such a system, students are able to access reflective games to practice and reinforce expected behavior through the use of AR markers required to activate the augmented content. The various markers will be placed within the school, and the students, by framing the markers can access AR-based learning activities that will allow them to earn points and badges according to a reward system provided by PBIS. In addition, the application provides a multi-user, interactive and collaborative learning section to practice some of the expected behaviors. To monitoring and recording learners' interaction with the PBIS-AR application and particularly with AR-BLRs, the ExperienceAPI (xAPI) standard is used [7], by integrating a cloud-based learning record storage repository and PBIS analysis tools. This will provide objective feedback on the learning process. The combination of these technologies and systems creates an example of a technological and innovative ecosystem designed for creating behavioral lessons in AR.

### Acknowledgment

The following paper has been supported by European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme, ARETE project under grant agreement No 856533.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> https://arete.ucd.ie

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> https://dev.xr4all.eu/product/mirage·xr/

 $<sup>^8</sup>$  ARLEM Augmented Reality Learning Experience Model standard https://standards.ieee.org/ieee/1589/6073/

- 1. Azuma, R.T.: A survey of augmented reality. Presence: teleoperators & virtual environments 6(4), 355–385 (1997)
- Khan, T., Johnston, K., Ophoff, J.: The impact of an augmented reality application on learning motivation of students. Advances in Human-Computer Interaction 2019 (2019)
- 3. Ibáñez, M.B., Uriarte Portillo, A., Zatarain Cabada, R., Barrón, M.L.: Impact of augmented reality technology on academic achievement and motivation of students from public and private mexican schools. a case study in a middle-school geometry course. Computers & Education 145, 103734 (2020), https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0360131519302878
- Farella, M., Taibi, D., Arrigo, M., Todaro, G., Fulantelli, G., Chiazzese, G.: An augmented reality mobile learning experience based on treasure hunt serious game. In: ECEL 2021 20th European Conference on e-Learning. p. 148. Academic Conferences International limited (2021)
- Tosto, C., Matin, F., Seta, L., Chiazzese, G., Chifari, A., Arrigo, M., Taibi, D., Farella, M., Mangina, E.: The potential of ar solutions for behavioral learning: A scoping review. Computers 11(6) (2022), https://www.mdpi.com/2073-431X/11/6/ 87
- Sugai, G., Sprague, J.R., Horner, R.H., Walker, H.M.: Preventing school violence: The use of office discipline referrals to assess and monitor school-wide discipline interventions. Journal of emotional and behavioral disorders 8(2), 94–101 (2000)
- Farella, M., Arrigo, M., Chiazzese, G., Tosto, C., Seta, L., Taibi, D.: Integrating xapi in ar applications for positive behaviour intervention and support. In: 2021 International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT). pp. 406– 408. IEEE (2021)

# On cooperative learning and peer tutoring. A decision support system for students' group formation.

 $\begin{array}{c} \label{eq:Gobbos} Alfonso \ Guarino^{1[0000-0002-9055-9689]}, \ Emiliano \ del \\ Gobbo^{2[0000-0003-1088-7306]}, \ Daniele \ Schicchi^{3[0000-0003-0154-2736]}, \ Luca \\ Grilli^{2[0000-0003-0931-2054]}, \ Barbara \ Cafarelli^{2[0000-0002-7385-4213]}, \ and \\ Pierpaolo \ Limone^{1[0000-0003-3852-4005]} \end{array}$ 

<sup>1</sup> Department of Humanities, University of Foggia

{alfonso.guarino,pierpaolo.limone}@unifg.it <sup>2</sup> Department of Economics, Management and Territory, University of Foggia

{emiliano.delgobbo,barbara.cafarelli}@unifg.it

<sup>3</sup> Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, University of Palermo daniele.schicchi@unipa.it

### 1 Introduction

Managing classrooms and implementing effective teaching activities is a though task, especially in Higher Education where classrooms with hundreds of students are the norm. Although universities try to acquire ever more students every year, such populated classrooms become ever harder to manage for teachers and instructors. This is more true when group activities – and team-based learning [1] strategies – are (strongly) recommended for an effective learning.

We know, from the literature, that active learning such as cooperative learning and peer tutoring are teaching approaches with a long history of use that have made powerful comebacks to the academic arena [2]. Both are based on social psychological theories, and both are considered successful strategies for promoting student social skills and increasing student academic achievement [3– 6]. Both cooperative learning and peer tutoring are believed to facilitate learning through the powerful influence of peers not only sharing answers but also engaging in the process of finding those answers [7–9]. Further, cooperative groupings offer social advantages as students learn and exercise collaborative skills such as expressing appreciation and encouragement, learning to disagree constructively, decision making, communicating, and managing conflicts [2].

The main issue rising in Higher Education is how to form 'adequate' groups, in large classrooms, for such team-based learning [1].

In the light of the above, in this paper, we propose the prototype of a decision support system for students' group formation. It employs a hybrid approach involving Non-Negative Matrix Factorization (NMF) [10] and clustering algorithms (see Section 2), and is based on the analysis of students' answers to closed-ended questionnaires. Its outcomes unfold on different levels: (i) highlighting students hidden skills; (ii) highlighting students with similar skills (useful for implementing ad-hoc teaching approaches and measuring the effectiveness of teaching); (iii) finding weaker students which needs specific teaching support (useful for peer tutoring); *(iv)* identifying and forming groups of students with a diverse set of skills (useful for team-based learning).

### 2 Materials and methods

The main source material for this research are the evaluation questionnaires for the admission to the faculty of Economics at University of Foggia, Italy. These questionnaires contain 40 questions for the assessment of students' initial knowledge and are answered by around 400 students every year. In particular, the questions measure three main student's traits: logic, mathematics, reading and understanding. To analyze them and develop our decision support system for students' group formation, we resorted to a hybrid approach that involves Nonnegative Matrix Factorization (NMF) [11] and clustering algorithms [12].

NMF represents a useful method to approximate data with lower rank matrices. It has been shown that, if it is applied to students' data, the method extracts latent factors that are ascribable to the students' hidden skills [10]. The system we are going to introduce, represent the students in terms of the student's skills, then, leveraging the student's representation, suggests a way of grouping students for team-based learning activities (e.g. forming students' groups with mixed skills). The grouping procedure involves the usage of a range of clustering algorithms, e.g., K-means [13]. In Table 1, we show the best configurations obtained by applying our hybrid method. It comprises the representation of students questionnaires responses through NMF method applied with different initialization methods, optimizers and with two hidden factors, and k-means algorithm with k varying from 2 to 15. The parameters shown result from a tuning phase with a *Grid Search* method. For space reasons, we only offer the configurations leading to the higher *silhouette* score.

| #Hidden Fact. | Initialization  | Factorization alg. | k  (#clusters) | silhouette |
|---------------|-----------------|--------------------|----------------|------------|
| 2             | Random          | Frobenius          | 2              | 0.435      |
| 2             | Random          | Sparse NMF         | 2              | 0.462      |
| 2             | Random          | NMF divergence     | 2              | 0.433      |
| 2             | Nonnegative SVD | NMF divergence     | 15             | 0.4198     |
| 2             | Nonnegative SVD | Frobenius          | 15             | 0.4198     |

Table 1. Best configurations of our decision support system.

In conclusion, the system offers a support tool for the teacher that will be able to forming groups according to the teaching strategies and activities, e.g. grouping students with similar or heterogeneous skills.

**Acknowledgements** This research was financially supported by University of Foggia within the project "TILD (Teaching and Learning Development)". Daniele Schicchi and Emiliano del Gobbo acknowledge funding from the European Union PON project Ricerca e Innovazione 2014-2020, DM 1062/2021.

- 1. Johnson, D.W., Johnson, R.T.: Cooperative learning: The foundation for active learning. Active learning—Beyond the future (2018)
- Johnson, D.W., Johnson, R.T., Dudley, B.: Effects of peer mediation training on elementary school students. Mediation quarterly 10(1), 89–99 (1992)
- Cohen, P.A., Kulik, J.A., Kulik, C.L.C.: Educational outcomes of tutoring: A metaanalysis of findings. American educational research journal 19(2), 237–248 (1982)
- 4. Jenkins, J., Jenkins, L.: Peer tutoring in elementary and secondary programs. Focus on Exceptional Children 17(6) (1985)
- Slavin, R.E.: Synthesis of research on grouping in elementary and secondary schools. Educational leadership 46(1), 67–77 (1988)
- Munley, V.G., Garvey, E., McConnell, M.J.: The effectiveness of peer tutoring on student achievement at the university level. American Economic Review 100(2), 277–82 (2010)
- Webb, M., Schwartz, W.: Children teaching children: A good way to learn. PTA Today 14(1), 16–17 (1988)
- Slavin, R.E.: Synthesis of research of cooperative learning. Educational leadership 48(5), 71–82 (1991)
- Thurston, A., Burns, V., Topping, K.J., Thurston, M.J.: Social effects of peer tutoring in elementary schools. In: 2012 AERA Annual Meeting: Non Satis Scire: To Know Is Not Enough (2012)
- Casalino, G., Grilli, L., Guarino, A., Schicchi, D., Taibi, D.: Intelligent knowledge understanding from students questionnaires: a case study. In: International Workshop on Higher Education Learning Methodologies and Technologies Online. pp. 74–86. Springer (2021)
- 11. Gillis, N.: Nonnegative Matrix Factorization. SIAM (2020)
- Xu, D., Tian, Y.: A comprehensive survey of clustering algorithms. Annals of Data Science 2(2), 165–193 (2015)
- 13. Hamerly, G., Elkan, C.: Learning the k in k-means. Advances in neural information processing systems 16 (2003)

# Special Track 2

# Educational Approaches and Innovative Applications to Counteract Social Media Threats

Organizers: Sabrina Eimler, University of Applied Sciences Ruhr West Udo Kruschwitz, University of Regensburg Dimitri Ognibene, Università Milano Bicocca Ulrich Hoppe, Rhein-Ruhr Institute (RIAS) Davinia Hernández-Leo, Universitat Pompeu Fabra

# At cybersecurity school with Nabbovaldo: evaluation of a serious game

Bassi Giorgia<sup>1</sup>, Fabbri Stefania<sup>1</sup> and Franceschi Angela<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Istituto di Informatica e Telematica (IIT), Pisa – Italy
<sup>2</sup> Università degli Studi di Firenze, Dipartimento di Scienze della Formazione e Psicologia (FORLILPSI), Firenze – Italy
Corresponding author: angela.franceschi@iit.cnr.it

### **1** Introduction

A recent survey by EUKids online (Smahel et al., 2020), conducted on 25101 children aged 9-16, from 19 European countries, reveals that 11% of participants reported data abuse. These results tell us that most children are unaware of cybersecurity problems. In recent years, interventions to raise awareness and promote cyber security behaviors have become widespread, but much still needs to be done to spread this knowledge on a large scale (Coenraad et al., 2020). While many intervention and prevention programs for risky online behaviors such as cyberbullying and online sexual exploitation have been developed, few frameworks have focused on issues such as online fraud, hacking, and identity theft (Finkelhor et al., 2021). Video games (i.e. serious games), can represent an effective mode of building digital skills because are effective in improving learning through active involvement and by motivating and inspiring emotional connections to content (Connolly et al., 2012; Clark et al., 2016: Ranieri, 2015). For this reason, the Ludoteca del Registro. it, a body of the Institute of Informatics and Telematics (IIT) - CNR of Pisa that has been working for years to promote safe behavior on the Internet, has conceived and developed a serious game called "Nabbovaldo and blackmail from cyberspace". The videogame has as its protagonist Nabbovaldo, a boy who is passionate about the online world but naive and has little awareness of the possible risks, who moves within the city of Internetopoli, helping the inhabitants to solve small IT problems and learning new terminologies and concepts of IT security. The game provides a hybrid structure between a fixed path and an open world: you can move freely on the Map, talk to the characters and solve the mini-games in the order you prefer, even if the game's plot develops in four main "chapters", plus an epilogue.

### 2 Aims and Methods

The aim of this work is twofold: first of all, to evaluate the video game in terms of satisfaction and usability by the students of the lower secondary schools, moreover, to understand to what extent the video game is effective to improving cyber security knowledge. The evaluation of an online training course is the starting point for monitoring the progress of the students' knowledge, assessing the effectiveness of the training courses proposed, and highlighting the strengths and potential gaps that may emerge. 270 students (mean age=12.66, SD=.70) of four schools of Tuscany participated in the project promoted by the Ludoteca del Registro. it, which included two

meetings for the presentation and explanation of the video game conducted by the Staff: one aimed at teachers, and one aimed at the participating classes. The teachers then had the opportunity to organize training sessions using the video game and the material available by the Staff, moving within the topics addressed in the video game: computer security, Internet of Thing, Dark Web, etc. To evaluate the videogame, self-report questionnaires were prepared and administered at the beginning and at the end of the project. The questionnaires investigated the use of the Internet and videogames by the children (both in terms of frequency and type), knowledge relating to IT security aspects (both general, cybersecurity specific and technical-practical), and surfing habits on the Net. In addition, questions relating to the liking of the video game were included.

### 3 Results and Conclusion

The results were analyzed by comparing the level of incoming knowledge (ex-ante) with that of outgoing knowledge (ex-post). Any differences related to gender, age, and the average number of hours that children spend using video games were also checked. The average level of specific cybersecurity knowledge (es. "I know what ransomware is") is lower than general knowledge (es. "I know what cybersecurity is"), already in the ex-ante survey. After playing the videogame the average level both in terms of general knowledge and specific cybersecurity knowledge increase (Figure 1 -  $F_{(1, 204)} = 109.327$ ; p = <.001;  $\eta p^2 = .35$ ;  $F_{(1, 204)} = 112.625$ ; p = <.001;  $\eta p^2 = .35$ ). Moreover, the improvement is greater in students who claim to have actually played the video game. The knowledge that improves the most concerns many technical aspects of the Net, i.e.: "I know what spyware is", "I know what ransomware is", "I know what a denial of service attack is". As for satisfaction and usability, the video game was rated by the children as useful, with mechanism and game operation easy to understand, and original graphics. The video game was being interesting, as well as the themes addressed, with an engaging story and quite fun mini-games.



Fig. 1. Pre-post level of general knowledge and specific cybersecurity knowledge

This study represents a useful starting point for expanding knowledge on the subject. Video games represent an extremely important educational tool, to be exploited and integrated more and more within the training courses of our schools.

- Smahel, D., Machackova, H., Mascheroni, G., Dedkova, L., Staksrud, E., Ólafsson, K., Livingstone, S., & Hasebrink, U. (2020). EU Kids Online 2020: Survey results from 19 countries. EU Kids Online. doi: 10.21953/lse.47fdeqj01ofo.
- Coenraad, M., Pellicone, A., Ketelhut, D. J., Cukier, M., Plane, J. & Weintrop, D. (2020). Experiencing Cybersecurity One Game at a Time: A Systematic Review of Cybersecurity Digital Games. Simulation & Gaming, 51(5), 586–611. doi: 10.1177/1046878120933312
- Finkelhor, D., Walsh, K., Jones, L., Mitchell, K., & Collier, A. (2021). Youth Internet Safety Education: Aligning Programs with the Evidence Base. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 22(5), 1233–1247. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838020916257
- Connolly, T. M., Boyle, E. A., MacArthur, E., Hainey, T. & Boyle, J. M. (2012). A systematic literature review of empirical evidence on computer games and serious games. Computers & Education, 59(2), 661–686. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2012.03.004
- Clark, D., Tanner-Smith, E. & Killingsworth, S. (2016). Digital Games, design, and learning: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Review of Educational Research, 86(1), 79– 122. doi: 10.3102/0034654315582065
- Ranieri, M. (2015). Linee di ricerca emergenti nell'educational technology. Form@ re-Open Journal per la formazione in rete, 15(3), 67-83.

## Designing Educational Interventions to Increase Students' Social Media Awareness - Experience From the COURAGE Project

Davide Taibi<sup>1[0000-0002-0785-6771]</sup>, Johanna Schäwel<sup>2[000-0002-2038-2443]</sup>, Ulrich Hoppe<sup>3[0000-</sup>0003-3240-5785]</sup>, Dimitri Ognibene<sup>5[0000-0003-3240-5785]</sup>, Davinia Hernández-Leo<sup>4[0000-0003-0548-7455]</sup>, Sabrina C. Eimler<sup>2[0000-0001-8944-2814]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute for Educational Technology, National Research Council of Italy, Palermo, Italy
 <sup>2</sup> University of Applied Sciences Ruhr West, Germany
 <sup>3</sup> Rhein-Ruhr Institut für Angew. Systeminnovation, Duisburg, Germany
 <sup>4</sup> Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Barcelona, Spain
 <sup>5</sup> University of Milan Bicocca, Italy
 davide.taibi@itd.cnr.it

### 1 Introduction

Social media, defined as "computer-mediated communication channels that allow users to engage in social interaction with broad and narrow audiences in real time or asynchronously" [1], are an integral part of our everyday lives offering new opportunities for communication and interaction way beyond what was possible only a few years ago. 98% of young people between 15 to 24 years use the Internet daily [2]. Most of them (96%) use social media, where they share experiences, opinions, and news on prominent platforms such as Facebook, Instagram, or Twitter. The ubiquity and usage intensity causes the situation that even children and adolescents are confronted with very heterogeneous, and sometimes harmful content. Algorithms, network, and content factors of social media may also represent threats for (young) users, ranging from digital addiction, discrimination, hate speech, misinformation, and polarization to manipulative influences of algorithms as well as body stereotyping or cyberbullying. Since users do not know how to protect themselves from harm transmitted through social media or how to help other users, educators are challenged to help students mitigate risks by developing critical skills. Teachers are being given an increasing responsibility in providing learning activities that stimulate reflection on the mechanisms behind the use of social media (e.g., toxic dynamics driven by other users or algorithms providing toxic content). However, educators are not adequately prepared to face these challenges, and, consequently, there is an increasing need to provide them with new methodologies and tools specifically designed for these purposes. Teachers as well as students would benefit from critical social media literacy since social media spaces are not neutral and students need strategies and tools to leverage the opportunities emerging in these spaces [3].

### 2 The COURAGE Project

In this perspective, the multinational and multidisciplinary team of the COURAGE project aims at providing educators with new tools and learning methodologies that can be adopted within higher education learning paths to train the educators in facing the social media threats and supporting their students accordingly. In particular, novel approaches leveraging most recent advances in the fields of artificial intelligence and in the educational domain paired with social and media psychological insights are proposed. One of the outcomes of the project COURAGE is a virtual learning companion (VLC) that can be applied by educators for empowering adolescents regarding the threats of social media by developing social media competences and self-protection skills. A particular emphasis was put on the role that experts and educators play in the management of the companion by driving and moderating the use of the companion in classroom-based educational activities as well as providing learning strategies, objectives and activities implemented in the companion [4][5][6]. Gamification strategies based on the concept of interactive counter-narrative Narrative Scripts, have been implemented to support learning scenarios in which students are immersed in social media stories that expose them to counter-narratives and conversations about counter-narratives, about biases, discrimination, or attitudes and behaviors in what (and how) is spread online [7]. These components drive content recommendations and educational interventions such as triggering specific validation tests that improve the accuracy of the system (e.g., user state estimation) as well as advancement in Narrative Scripts, which are gamified educational activities based on the concept of interactive counter-narrative. The efficiency of more advanced, multi-step and user specific, algorithmic interventions, e.g. content and connection recommendations, to counter network and algorithmic threats as well as support the achievement of educational targets and improve the collective well-being of the user community is currently supported by simulations based on collected data and validated user models [6]. Common AI algorithms of social media platforms do not directly counter threats for teenagers but may actually worsen them, because they rather aim at providing highly clicked content or advertisements in order to generate as much traffic as possible. In contrast, our companion is powered by an AI system that counters these threats and platform-specific algorithmic hazards. The companion AI system design comprises adaptive detectors of content and network threats, user models to support personalized interventions as well as content and educational activity recommendations. The current version of the COURAGE eco-system has been experimented in several studies with teachers and secondary school students. The aims of these studies were and still are: a) to investigate the effects of training activities about social media mechanisms (algorithms and social influence), b) to support understanding and dealing with different types of threats, c) to encourage a constructive use of social media, d) to assess procedures aimed at analyzing psychological characteristics of adolescents in correlation with social media use such as mental well-being, emotional intelligence, critical thinking, life satisfaction and resilience, and e) to implement scenarios of educational interventions through narrative scripts and minigames, educational content design. Overall, the technical environments and empirical studies demonstrate the feasibility and encouraging positive impact of the approach.

- Bayer, J. B., Triệu, P., & Ellison, N. B. (2020). Social media elements, ecologies, and effects. Annual Review of Psychology, 71, 471–497. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevpsych-010419-050944
- 2. European Commission, (2019), Digital economy and society. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/digital-economy-and-society
- Nagle J. Twitter, cyber-violence, and the need for a critical social media literacy in teacher education: A review of the literature. Teaching and Teacher Education, 76, 2018, 86-94. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.08.014
- Malzahn, N., Aprin, F., Hoppe, H. U., Eimler, S. C., & Moder, S. (2021): Measuring disagreement in learning groups as a basis for identifying and discussing controversial judgements. In C. Hmelo-Silver, B. De Wever, & J. Oshima (Eds.), Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning - CSCL 2021 (pp. 233–236). International Society of the Learning Sciences, 2021.
- Aprin, F., Manske, S., Chounta, I.-A., Hoppe, H.U.: Is This Fake or Credible? A Virtual Learning Companion Supporting the Judgment of Young Learners Facing Social Media Content. In: International Conference on Web-Based Learning. pp. 52–60. Springer (2021).
- Ognibene, D., Taibi, D., Kruschwitz, U., Wilkens, R.S., Hernandez-Leo, D., Theophilou, E., Scifo, L., Lobo, R.A., Lomonaco, F., Eimler, S., others: Challenging social media threats using collective well-being aware recommendation algorithms and an educational virtual companion. ArXiv Prepr. ArXiv210204211. (2021).
- Hernández-Leo, D., Theophilou, E., Lobo, R., Sánchez-Reina, R., Ognibene, D.: Narrative scripts embedded in social media towards empowering digital and self-protection skills. In: European Conference on Technology Enhanced Learning. pp. 394–398. Springer (2021).

# A game-based educational experience to increase awareness about the threats of social media filter bubbles and echo chambers inspired by "wisdom of the crowd": preliminary results

Francesco Lomonaco<sup>1</sup>[0000-0002-2295-1443]</sup>, Davide Taibi<sup>2</sup>[0000-0002-0785-6771], Vito Trianni<sup>3</sup>[0000-0002-6068-1229], and Dimitri Ognibene<sup>1,4</sup>[0000-0002-2295-1443]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Università degli Studi di Milano Bicocca, Milano, 20126, Italy

f.lomonaco5@campus.unimib.it, dimitri.ognibene@unimib.it

 $^2\,$ Istituto per le Tecnologie Didattiche - CNR-ITD, Italy

davide.taibi@itd.cnr.it

<sup>3</sup> Institute of Cognitive Sciences and Technologies - ISTC-CNR, Italy

vito.trianni@istc.cnr.it

<sup>4</sup> University of Essex, Colchester, UK

### 1 Introduction

Social media are a game changer in the communication arena in terms of quantity, quality and origin of information users are exposed to. Yet, it's not clear the outcome of multiple and continued interactions between users and information personalisation systems. These systems may skew the distribution of content and contacts presented to the users. If users are unaware of such mechanisms their perception of reality especially may be distorted [1–3].

Digital citizenship, intended as the proper and responsible use of digital technologies [4], and media literacy could enable users to critically approach social media and deal with its threats [5–9].

We propose that a preliminary training with respect to social media threats is needed for students and that merging educational activities with a guided, direct, and game-oriented experience of some social media threats [10–13] could be an effective method to raise students' awareness of the impact of complex phenomena, such as information personalisation, social influence, filter bubbles, and echo chambers [14, 15]. Our intuition is that through direct exposition of one of the most impacting echo-chamber and filter bubbles consequences, i.e. when biased sampling distorts users' unbiased opinions, and its explanation, the students will become more aware of these mechanisms and their effects.

### 2 Experiment description

The proposed experiment entails a game oriented social estimation task inspired by the "wisdom of the crowd" (WOC) [16] inside an educational activity aimed at rising awareness about social media influence and information personalization effects [16, 17]. The main components of the experiment are:

- Questionnaires participants answer multiple questionnaires before and after the experiment. They measure the impact of the WOC game through the change of participants' perception of social media influence using a 6-points Likert scale (2 items). The questionnaires also estimate if users believe that privacy is protected on social media, how much time they spend on it, and their 'Fear of missing out' [18].
- Digital media literacy talk: It covers the differences between traditional media and social media with their complexity and pervasivity, the impact of cognitive biases, and, finally, their interplay with information personalisation algorithms, highlighting the concepts of echo chambers and filter bubbles.
- WOC educational game: It reproduces an experience of social media-like influence by repeating the following steps: i. an image showing a number of red points are presented to participants who answer with an estimation of the number of points; ii. social information is introduced showing an aggregated metric of all the answers[16, 17]; iii. participants give then a second estimation. In half the trials the social input is biased and magnifies the participants error, similarly to the effect of an echo chamber. After both conditions, we show and explain the expected results: unbiased social information improves performance [16], biased information affects performance.
- Baseline: Where results are not shown or explained to single out the effects of the WOC game.

Baseline and full activities were performed with two different high school classes respectively of 32 and 19 students.

### 3 Results

In the baseline condition, students did not show increased perceived social media influence between initial and final survey responses. Instead, when the full experiment is performed, i.e. performance in biased and unbiased conditions are compared and explained, there was an increase in the perceived social media influence (see table below).

| Perceived Social Media Influence (Number of Responders) |          |          |          |          |  |  |
|---|----------|----------|----------|----------|--|--|
| Target  | Self     |          | Other    |          |  |  |
| Phase   | Initial  | Final    | Initial  | Final    |  |  |
| Full  | 2.89(19) | 3(18)    | 3.74(19) | 3.89(18) |  |  |
| Baseline  | 3.08(32) | 2.66(32) | 3.86(32) | 3.69(32) |  |  |

### 4 Limits and future work

Due to COVID restrictions the experiment were performed through remote connection, limiting engagement and number of trials. Predicted outcomes, consistent with the preliminary trials and established results [16], were used to deal with the noise affecting the WOC protocol with few participants [16].

- A. Stoica, C. Riederer, and et al. Algorithmic glass ceiling in social networks: The effects of social recommendations on network diversity. In *Proceedings of the 2018* World Wide Web Conference, pages 923–932, 2018.
- J. Möller, D. Trilling, and et al. Do not blame it on the algorithm: an empirical assessment of multiple recommender systems and their impact on content diversity. *Information, Communication & Society*, 21(7), 2018.
- D. Ognibene, D. Taibi, and al. Challenging social media threats using collective well-being aware recommendation algorithms and an educational virtual companion. arXiv preprint arXiv:2102.04211, 2021.
- 4. M. Ribble. *Digital citizenship in schools: Nine elements all students should know.* International Society for Technology in Education, 2015.
- W J. Potter. The state of media literacy. Journal of broadcasting & electronic media, 54(4):675–696, 2010.
- S. McGrew and V. L Byrne. Who is behind this? preparing high school students to evaluate online content. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 53(4):457–475, 2020.
- J. Nagle. Twitter, cyber-violence, and the need for a critical social media literacy in teacher education: A review of the literature. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 76:86–94, 2018.
- D. Taibi, G. Fulantelli, and et al. An innovative platform to promote social media literacy in school contexts. In *ECEL 2021 20th European Conference on e-Learning*. Academic Conferences International limited, 2021.
- B. Gleason and S. Von Gillern. Digital citizenship with social media: Participatory practices of teaching and learning in secondary education. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 21(1):200–212, 2018.
- A. Torres-Toukoumidis and M. Mäeots. Implementation of gamification strategies for the enhancement of digital competences. In 13th International Technology, Education and Development Conference, pages 9510–9518, 2019.
- S. A. McLean, E. H Wertheim, and et al. A pilot evaluation of a social media literacy intervention to reduce risk factors for eating disorders. *International Journal* of *Eating Disorders*, 50(7):847–851, 2017.
- M. Basol, J. Roozenbeek, and et al. Good news about bad news: Gamified inoculation boosts confidence and cognitive immunity against fake news. *Journal of* cognition, 3(1), 2020.
- A. De Gloria, F. Bellotti, and et al. Serious games for education and training. International Journal of Serious Games, 1(1), 2014.
- 14. D. Hernández-Leo, E. Theophilou, and et al. Narrative scripts embedded in social media towards empowering digital and self-protection skills. In *European Conference on Technology Enhanced Learning*. Springer, 2021.
- N. Gillani, A. Yuan, and et al. Me, my echo chamber, and i: introspection on social media polarization. In *Proceedings of the 2018 World Wide Web Conference*, pages 823–831, 2018.
- 16. J. Lorenz, H. Rauhut, and et al. How social influence can undermine the wisdom of crowd effect. *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences*, 108(22), 2011.
- 17. J. Becker, D. Brackbill, and et al. Network dynamics of social influence in the wisdom of crowds. *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences*, 114(26), 2017.
- S. Casale and G. Fioravanti. Factor structure and psychometric properties of the italian version of the fear of missing out scale in emerging adults and adolescents. *Addictive behaviors*, 102, 2020.

### Enhancing Social Media Literacy Skills in Students: Empirically Investigating Virtual Learning Companions

Emily Theophilou<sup>1[0000-0001-8290-9944]</sup>, Veronica Schwarze<sup>2[0000-0002-5973-6114]</sup>, Johanna Schäwel<sup>2[0000-0002-2038-2443]</sup>, Roberto Sánchez-Reina<sup>1[0000-0002-6068-1229]</sup>, Lidia

 $\begin{array}{l} Scifo^{3[0000-0002-0876-668X]}, \ Francesco \ Lomonaco^{4[0000-0002-2295-1443]}, \ Davide \\ Taibi^{3[0000-0002-0785-6771]}, \ and \ Sabrina \ Eimler \\ \end{array}$ 

<sup>1</sup> Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Spain

<sup>2</sup> Hochschule Ruhr West University of Applied Sciences, Germany <sup>3</sup> Istituto per le Tecnologie Didattiche - CNR-ITD, Italy <sup>4</sup> Università degli Studi Milano-Bicocca, Italy emily.theophilou@upf.edu

### 1 Introduction

In a digitally led society, where social media consumption is constantly increasing, users are confronted not only with positive, but also with toxic content and dynamics like cyberbullying, racism, hate speech, or fake news [1,2,3]. Oftentimes, users are not aware of the severity (e.g., racist or homophobic comments) or level of manipulation (e.g., ideal body image which can be linked to eating disorders, feeding disorders, vigorexia) of specific postings [4,5], or do not know how to protect themselves against cyberbullying, discrimination or hate speech. On occasions, victims of cyber aggression even become perpetrators themselves, as they do not find another way out. This is highly problematic as it can initiate a severe circle expanding the dissemination of toxic behavior and content. This emphasizes the need to design and develop social media literacy interventions to raise awareness of the dangers and threats that are hidden within. To this date, a variety of media literacy initiatives have taken place to promote digital literacy skills and raise awareness around social media use [6,7]. However, most current approaches are limited in enabling deep reflection as they provide detached learning situations, or tend to be centered on more traditional methods [7].

COURAGE [8] introduces a new perspective on social media literacy by proposing the integration of educational opportunities within a simulated social media platform (SMP) addressed to adolescents. To successfully achieve this, we propose the use of virtual learning companions (VLC) that can provide opportunities for users to learn (e.g., empathy training or information transfer) whilst they naturally explore social media. VLCs can support this notion as they transfer learning with the help of computersimulated characters [9] through interactive chat interfaces. Incorporating this in an SMP has the potential to allow users to directly interact with social media scenarios and receive instant support instead of teaching them detached from hazardous situations.

Therefore, rather than using external censorship or restriction, we aim to strengthen learners' social media self-protection skills through practices targeting their critical and analytical as well as socio-emotional skills, such as empathy, self-awareness, social awareness, responsible decision-making, and the enhancement of emotional intelligence mediated by a VLC within a SMP.

### 2 VLC for Social Media Literacy

This contribution presents the empirical approaches that have been designed as part of the COURAGE project to investigate the use of a VLC to enhance learners' social media self-protection skills. In particular, six empirical studies with diverse methodologies have been designed and partially conducted in Spain, Italy, and Germany as international collaborations between interdisciplinary research groups. Each of these studies explored a distinct aspect of social media literacy and explored how a VLC can support it; (i) Fake News. This approach sees the implementation of a browser plugin to assist learners to find facts and credible content on social media faster. The aim of this work is to raise awareness of fake content and increase the learner's critical thinking skills, guided by a VLC [10]. (ii) With scientific literature [11] highlighting that adolescents with high levels of emotional intelligence are more likely to recognize fake news, a further study was designed to explore this aspect. Specifically, the research focused on the promotion of social media literacy through the enhancement of emotional intelligence levels in adolescents. (iii) Racist content. A similar approach sees the use of a VLC to inform users about racism in social media postings. This approach specifically aims to increase factual knowledge regarding everyday racism with the end goal to decrease the distribution of racist content. (iv) Social media self-protection skills. The use of narrative scripts [12] to empower the digital and self-protection skills of learners with computer-supported collaborative learning activities. In this approach, a virtual companion delivers learning materials and activities to learners through an educational platform and provides adaptive learning opportunities with the use of counter-narratives. (v) Cyberbullying. An extension of the narrative scripts to explore empathy training guided by a virtual companion with the aim of raising awareness of cyberbullying incidents. The empathy training will be conducted by presenting a self-created video on empathy (containing a definition of empathy along with a concrete example) as well as a conversation with the VLC, referring to a cyberbullying scenario presented via social media postings and triggering empathic reactions. (vi) Image Manipulation. The implementation of a VLC feature to enhance learners' critical thinking skills with the use of AI-generated image decorators. This work aims to first understand the learners' attitudes and trust in AI, determine the effectiveness of image decorators for raising awareness of image manipulation [13], and then propose the implementation of machine learning-based models to provide additional information (decorations) regarding manipulated images in an SMP.

With an immediate need for social media literacy initiatives to educate about social media dangers through innovative educational methods, the use of VLC could be proven an effective way to provide learning through interactive and implicit ways. This contribution presented five empirical studies that implemented VLCs in educational SMPs with the common goal of investigating the use of VLCs to promote social media literacies.

### Acknowledgements

This work has been partially funded by the National Research Agency of the Spanish Ministry (PID2020-112584RB-C33/MICIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033, MDM-2015-0502) and the Volkswagen Stiftung (Courage, ref. 95 566).

- Mladenovic, M., Ošmjanski, V., Stankovic, S.V.: Cyber-aggression, Cyberbullying, and Cyber-grooming. In: ACM Computing Surveys, vol. 54, pp. 1–42. (2022).
- Mathew, B., Dutt, R., Goyal, P., Mukherjee, A.: Spread of Hate Speech in Online Social Media. Proceedings of the 10th ACM Conference on Web Science. (2019).
- 3. Zhou, X., Zafarani, R.: A Survey of Fake News. ACM Computing Surveys. 53, 1-40 (2020).
- Katz, J., Grant, C., Merrilees, C.: Just Joking? White College Students' Responses to Different Types of Racist Comments. Journal of Diversity in Higher Education. 12, 341-350 (2019).
- Farid, H., Bravo, M.: Image Forensic Analysis that Elude the Human Visual System. SPIE Proceedings. (2010).
- McLean, S., Wertheim, E., Masters, J., Paxton, S.: A Pilot Evaluation of a Social Media Literacy Intervention to Reduce Risk Factors for Eating Disorders. International Journal of Eating Disorders. 50, 847-851 (2017).
- Krutka, D., Manca, S., Galvin, S., Greenhow, C., Koehler, M., Askari, E.: Teaching "Against" Social Media: Confronting Problems of Profit in the Curriculum. Teachers College Record: The Voice of Scholarship in Education. 121, 1-42 (2019).
- Ognibene, D., Taibi, D., Kruschwitz, U., Wilkens, R.S., Hernandez-Leo, D., Theophilou, E., Scifo, L., Lobo, R.A., Lomonaco, F., Eimler, S., others: Challenging Social Media Threats Using Collective Well-being Aware Recommendation Algorithms and an Educational Virtual Companion. ArXiv Prepr. ArXiv210204211. (2021).
- Chou, C., Chan, T., Lin, C.: Redefining the learning companion: the past, present, and future of educational agents. Computers & amp; Education. 40, 255-269 (2003).
- Aprin, F., Manske, S., Chounta, I.-A., Hoppe, H.U.: Is This Fake or Credible? A Virtual Learning Companion Supporting the Judgment of Young Learners Facing Social Media Content. In: International Conference on Web-Based Learning. pp. 52–60. Springer (2021).
- 11. Preston, S., Anderson, A., Robertson, D.J., Shephard, M.P., Huhe, N. Detecting fake news on Facebook: The role of emotional intelligence. PLOS ONE 16(10): e0258719. (2021)
- Hernández-Leo, D., Theophilou, E., Lobo, R., Sánchez-Reina, R., Ognibene, D.: Narrative Scripts Embedded in Social Media Towards Empowering Digital and Self-protection Skills. In: European Conference on Technology Enhanced Learning. pp. 394–398. Springer (2021).
- Rodríguez-Rementería, A., Sánchez-Reina, J., Theophilou, E., Hernández-Leo, D.: Actitudes sobre la edición de imágenes en redes sociales y su etiquetado: un posible método preventivo. (2022) XXV Congreso Internacional EDUTEC. Educación Transformadora en un mundo digital. [In press]
## The Courage Virtual Learning Companion: Learning Design and Technical Architecture

Farbod Aprin<sup>1[10000-0002-8602-426X]</sup>, Nils Malzahn<sup>1[0000-0002-9672-6230]</sup>, Francesco Lomonaco<sup>2[0000-0002-2295-1443]</sup>, Gregor Donabauer<sup>2,3</sup>, Dimitri Ognibene<sup>2[0000-0002-9454-680X]</sup>, Udo Kruschwitz<sup>3[0000-0002-5503-0341]</sup>, Davinia Hernández-Leo<sup>4[0000-0003-0548-7455]</sup>, Giovanni Fulantelli<sup>5[0000-0002-4098-8311]</sup>, and H. Ulrich Hoppe<sup>1[0000-0003-3240-5785]</sup>

<sup>1</sup>RIAS Institute, Duisburg, Germany, <sup>2</sup>University of Milano Bicocca, Italy, <sup>3</sup>University of Regensburg, Germany, <sup>4</sup>Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Barcelona, Spain, <sup>5</sup>National Research Council (CNR), Italy fa@rias-institute.eu

Misinformation, toxic content, and cyber-bullying have become serious problems in current online media. It has been proposed to address these issues by filtering and blocking supposedly noxious information spread through these channels. In an ongoing project consortium, we develop an alternative approach that aims at empowering adolescents (from secondary school to higher education) to confidently interact and utilize information on the internet and especially in social media [1]. We take a multi-faceted and multi-disciplinary approach rooted in psychological and pedagogical theories combined with AI-driven techniques. Building on the tradition of Intelligent Tutoring Systems, we are developing a technical framework based on a "Virtual Learning Companion" (VLC) enabling educational and interaction support for raising awareness and resilience of the learners.

The companion implements playful adaptive educational strategies to engage and scaffold adolescents interacting with a social media environment under restrictions of pedagogical responsibility, e. g. via narrative scripts [2], such as the "Pyramid app" that implements a collaborative learning flow pattern combined with counternarratives to raise learners' awareness through the externalization and sharing, empathy, and perspective-taking.

This paper illustrates how these goals are materialized in a web-based learning environment comprising a controlled social media platform and the VLC [3]. It is supported by an AI backbone using transformer-based models for robust classification of media content according to risks and considering related educational needs.

The basic version of the VLC environment provides an Instagram-like social media platform as a closed world with controlled content. We have chosen PixelFed as an open-source framework to simulate the social media environment. While PixelFed holds the content, the virtual learning companion (VLC) is implemented as a plugin for the Chrome browser. As depicted in Fig. 1, the learner can interact with both environments and get prompt feedback from VLC during the scripted chat dialogue. Learners are guided through tasks that require judgements and comments on the displayed information items typical of the image based social media format (images with

short textual captions). A specific feature of the VLC is based on using "reverse image search" (RIS) engines, which retrieve the same or highly similar images published by different sources, to ask the learners to judge if a posted image and its caption are credible or fake information by comparing with corresponding content and keywords retrieved by RIS from different sources.



Fig. 1. Conceptual architecture of the Virtual Learning Companion system

To enable the analysis of learner activities, all user actions are captured in a learning record store (Learning Locker) based on the xAPI description format. This includes interactions with the VLC as well as certain actions in the PixelFed space (e.g., selecting images). This architecture allows for aggregating action logs from different sources. A dashboard allows for analyzing and visualizing the logged actions.

The current version of the VLC environment provides learner guidance through scripted interaction and contextual information prepared for the closed environment.

To create an "open" version of the VLC, which will enable interacting with real social media environments, we are currently adding intelligent components for detecting toxic content and for analyzing learner comments. To be of actual practical use it is paramount that any such classifiers perform well enough. To achieve this, we incorporate state-of-the-art approaches that we have developed as part of the project and which have been demonstrated to be robust and competitive across classification tasks (e.g., toxic comment and fake news detection) and languages (Italian, German, English), e.g., [4, 5]. We are also actively pursuing the possibility to use GCN based detectors which should allow us to flexibly integrate contextual information from different sources [6].

- Ognibene, D., Taibi, D., Kruschwitz, U., Wilkens, R.S., Hernandez-Leo, D., Theophilou, E., Scifo, L., Lobo, R.A., Lomonaco, F., Eimler, S., others: Challenging social media threats using collective well-being aware recommendation algorithms and an educational virtual companion. ArXiv Prepr. ArXiv210204211. (2021).
- Hernández-Leo, D., Theophilou, E., Lobo, R., Sánchez-Reina, R., Ognibene, D.: Narrative scripts embedded in social media towards empowering digital and self-protection skills. In: European Conference on Technology Enhanced Learning. pp. 394–398. Springer (2021).
- Aprin, F., Manske, S., Chounta, I.-A., Hoppe, H.U.: Is This Fake or Credible? A Virtual Learning Companion Supporting the Judgment of Young Learners Facing Social Media Content. In: International Conference on Web-Based Learning. pp. 52–60. Springer (2021).
- Tran, H.N., Kruschwitz, U.: ur-iw-hnt at GermEval 2021: An Ensembling Strategy with Multiple BERT Models. In: Proceedings of the GermEval 2021 Shared Task on the Identification of Toxic, Engaging, and Fact-Claiming Comments. pp. 83–87 (2021).
- Hartl, P., Kruschwitz, U.: University of Regensburg at CheckThat! 2021: Exploring Text Summarization for Fake News Detection. In: CLEF (Working Notes) (2021).
- Lomonaco, F., Donabauer, G., Siino, M.: COURAGE@CLEF2022 CheckThat! Lab: Harmful Tweet Detection using Graph Neural Networks and ELECTRA. In: Proceedings of the 13th Conference and Labs of the Evaluation Forum (CLEF2022), CEUR Workshop Proceedings (CEUR-WS.org), Bologna, Italy.

## Analyzing the intrinsic motivation in narrative scripts to enhance social media awareness

René Alejandro Lobo Quintero 10000-003-2999-53571, J. Roberto Sánchez-Reina 10000-0002-6408-12291, Emily Theophilou 10000-0001-8290-99411, Davinia Hernández-Leo 40000-0003-0548-74551

<sup>1</sup> Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Spain {renealejandro.lobo; roberto.sanchez; emily.theophilou; davinia.hernandez-leo}@upf.edu

#### 1 Introduction

Motivation is described as an internal process that can help maintain goal-oriented behavior, making it an essential element in the learning process. The inclusion of motivational aspects in education is a stimulating factor to increase curiosity, reflection, and critical thinking [1][2]. Literature has addressed the study of motivation in learning from different perspectives and approaches [3][4]. Self-determination theory (SDT) is a motivation theory that provides a way to understand human motivation in people's learning [5]. Applying the SDT to educational activities has the potential to improve the experience of learners [6], by increasing the levels of satisfaction, attention, and interest.

The integration of such elements in motivational learning designs is not an easy task. Activities need to be engaging to get learners' attention and deliver all the important concepts. Researching the effectiveness of this implementation is therefore necessary.

The concept of narrative scripts (NS) [7] describes a novel approach in educational methodologies that aims to enhance social media awareness among youngsters within a simulated social media platform. The NSs consist of educational activities that combine mechanisms from computer-supported collaborative learning scripts and storytelling elements. The use of NSs has been described to provide students with motivating, engaging, and authentic scenarios to reflect on social media experiences. Their design takes into consideration several motivational facets; for instance, the storytelling element, the users' implication in the story, and the sense of collaboration to solve the prescripted problem. Likewise, NS immerses students in conversations with characters and exposes them to counter-narratives; allowing them to observe and analyze different/alternative scenarios (story development). By providing these elements NS supported a motivating pedagogical framework to teach about social media toxicity and inoculate both self-protection and self-regulation mechanisms.

This paper aims to analyze the motivational properties of the Narrative Scripts. Specifically, we will evaluate the students' intrinsic motivation components (Interest/Enjoyment, Perceived Competence, Perceived Choice, Pressure/Tension) inside the narrative scripts.

#### 2 Methodology

This study utilizes data from a social media literacy workshop conducted in schools in Barcelona from early October 2021 to early May 2022. To test the motivation component of the narrative scripts we analyzed the data from 125 high school students. As part of the protocol, participants enrolled in the workshop (6 sessions) and learned about topics related to SM social phenomena such as the digital footprint, social media addiction, and manipulated images. The learning materials were presented to the students through different activities inside an educational social media platform. These activities included collaborative activities using the Pyramid, Jigsaw patterns, and missions assisted by a virtual companion (chatbot) [7]. To measure the motivation levels of the students, we applied the intrinsic motivation inventory (IMI) [8] at the end of the 5th session. A Likert scale questionnaire (1 = not at all true - 7 = very true) was designed to measure participants' interest/enjoyment, perceived competence, felt pressure and tension, and perceived choice while performing a given activity. As part of the data analysis, we conducted a descriptive statistical analysis. We computed the percentage, scores, and mean values for each of the measured variables. We also conducted a qualitative analysis of feedback responses. We coded the answers under eight contextual categories, added sub-coding, and analyzed results with the support of memos and network clusters in the software Atlas.ti.

#### 3 Results

Results show that narrative scripts generate intrinsic motivation in the students, especially in the component of interest/enjoyment (4.4 over 7) and good scores in the components of perceived competence (4.06 over 7) and perceived choice (3.98 over 7) while at the same time present a low score in the component of pressure/tension (2.52 over 7) additionally we performed a qualitative analysis of the feedback provided by the students. Based on their comments, the participants reported having enjoyed the tasks assigned on the platform as a way of putting into practice what they had seen before or after the workshop sessions. For the most part, participants mentioned being satisfied with the format of the activities and would not change anything. The teaching instruction was well rated and qualified as "well developed" while the collaborative activity among classmates was of interest given the context of the subject matter. In general terms, the workshop was qualitatively valued by the participants as a comfortable space for sharing points of view, since it allowed the participants to freely express their opinions. Likewise, the participants felt motivated by the continuous evolution of the workshops; and they describe this evolution as the transition from "heavy and tedious" lectures to more dynamic and entertaining activities that generated greater interest and enjoyment. In summary, the participants describe the NS as a good educational tool. In terms of demotivating aspects, it was mentioned that the topic was not very novel. That there should be more freedom in responding to the virtual companion. Other participants felt that the activities should be more dynamic and less repetitive.

#### Acknowledgments

This work has been partially funded by the National Research Agency of the Spanish Ministry (PID2020-112584RB-C33/MICIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033) and the Volkswagen Stiftung (Courage, ref. 95 566). D. Hernández-Leo acknowledges the support by ICREA under the ICREA Academia program.

- Aluja-Banet, T., Sancho, M. R., & Vukic, I. (2019). Measuring motivation from the Virtual Learning Environment in secondary education. Journal of Computational Science, 36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocs.2017.03.007
- Chen, K. C. (2007). Self-determination theory: Implications for motivation in online learning. In E-Learn: World Conference on E-Learning in Corporate, Government, Healthcare, and Higher Education (pp. 6745-6750). Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE).
- Mekler, E. D., Brühlmann, F., Tuch, A. N., & Opwis, K. (2017). Towards understanding the effects of individual gamification elements on intrinsic motivation and performance. Computers in Human Behavior, 71, 525–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.08.048
- Hammerschall, U. (2019). A gamification framework for long-term engagement in education based on self determination theory and the transtheoretical model of change. IEEE Global Engineering Education Conference, EDUCON, April-2019, 95–101. https://doi.org/10.1109/EDUCON.2019.8725251
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. In American Psychologist (Vol. 55, Issue 1, pp. 68–78). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68
- Deterding, S. (2015). The lens of intrinsic skill atoms: A method for gameful design. Human-Computer Interaction, 30(3–4), 294–335. https://doi.org/10.1080/07370024.2014.993471
- Hernández-Leo, D., Theophilou, E., Lobo, R., Sánchez-Reina, R., Ognibene, D.: Narrative Scripts Embedded in Social Media Towards Empowering Digital and Self-protection Skills. In: European Conference on Technology Enhanced Learning. pp. 394–398. Springer (2021).
- Ryan, R. M. (1982), "Control and information in the intrapersonal sphere: An extension of cognitive evaluation theory", Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, Vol. 43, pp. 450-461

## Special Track 3

# Hybrid Learning and Accessibility in higher education

Organizers:

Ottavia Trevisan, University of Padova Marina De Rossi, University of Padova Giusi Antonia Toto, University of Foggia Pierpaolo Limone, University of Foggia

## Metaphors and representations of the experience lived in blended synchronous mode learning by students of a university course. A lesson learned for teaching act from a descriptive longitudinal study

Salvatore Patera<sup>1[0000-0002-1201-5328]</sup>, Ezio Del Gottardo<sup>2[0000-0002-5214-7755]</sup>, and Andrea Tarantino<sup>3[0000-0002-7719-3344]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of International Studies of Rome, Rome, ITALY salvatore.patera@unint.eu <sup>2</sup> University of Studies of Foggia, Foggia, ITALY ezio.delgottardo@unifg.it <sup>3</sup> University of Macerata, Macerata, ITALY andrea.tarantino@unimc.it

#### 1 Introduction<sup>1</sup>

Both the documents produced by the main international organizations [1] [2] and the thematic scientific literature [3] [4] highlight the impact of distance learning and blended synchronous learning, introduced following the COVID-19 pandemic. Two years after the introduction of distance learning and blended synchronous learning, what seemed to be an exceptional initiative is turning into an educational opportunity for students and teachers provided that reflection on these impacts and results helps to inform some changes in the teaching-learning act as a "lesson learned". The research question refers to which teaching-learning act claims can be provided in view of main results of a discourse analysis on students' metaphors and representations on their biennial experience in distance learning and blended synchronous learning in a university course. We present the results of a descriptive longitudinal case study on metaphors and representations of the didactic experience lived in these two years by students of a university course. In line with the findings of similar studies, possible hints are given for improving learning-teaching relationship due to coexistence with distance and blended synchronous mode learning for the future as a challenging opportunity.

#### 2 Background<sup>1</sup>

In the last two years, we have witnessed a vast production of both documents produced by international organizations and scientific literature on the topics "pandemic - distance learning - teaching learning relationship" [1] [2] [3] [4]. In this sense, some research works return, on a global scale, the fact that by virtue of the "way of doing school" experienced in the last two years, children expressed anxieties about their ability to partake in class activities producing large pockets of learning losses. In this regard, the data produced on an international level confirmed in the national trend, for the Italian case, highlighted: Learning losses and lack of motivation; Lack of participation; Feeling of tiredness, uncertainty, worry; Increase of explicit and implicit dispersion [5] [6] [7]. In any case, in the continuum of the teaching-learning relationship, from the point of view of the students, a problematic image has given back on the educational impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. On the teachers' side, it is recorded: Most teachers teach in the same way as if they were in the classroom; Worsening of teaching quality; Prevalence of frontal video lesson. This synthetic outline from both international and national organizations and evidence-based research allows a reflection. Most of the weakness and difficulties occurred in the last two years were, in fact, already present in the educational systems and the pandemic has only intensified them by relegating the introduction of distance learning to a "missed opportunity". The abovementioned results agree on the need to rethink the teaching acting also improving research their reflexivity on classroom daily practices and on their representations about them [8].

#### **3** Materials and methods<sup>1</sup>

This paper aims to answer the following research question: which teaching-learning act claims can be provided, as lessons learned, in view of main results of a discourse analysis on students' metaphors [9] [10] and representations on their biennial experience in distance and blended synchronous mode learning in a university course. The research design is based on a descriptive longitudinal case study that involved 26 university students attending the academic year 2020-2021 (T0) and 2021-2022 (T1) two courses of pedagogical disciplines in UNINT. The guiding question is: *With which metaphor would you represent your didactic experience in the university courses of this academic year? What motivation is behind the choice of your metaphor?* Self-report with its textual corpus analysis of representations and metaphor was analyzed through a qualitative methodology with exploratory research strategy and inductive analysis strategy [11]. In order to develop an inter-rater agreement for data reliability, all data has been analyzed by 2 blind coders as follows: Coder1: Analysis technique: "Thematic Coding", MAX-QDA; Coder2: Analysis technique: "Content analysis" T-Lab [12].

#### 4 Results<sup>2</sup>

Main results highlight how the students' metaphors and motivations have qualitatively changed with respect to the way they experienced distance learning.

#### 5 Discussion and conclusion<sup>3</sup>

In line with similar studies, possible hints for improving learning-teaching relationship regard the coexistence with distance learning as a challenging opportunity [12].

- Education Development Trust, UNESCO: Learning Loss, Learning gains and Wellbeing: A Rapid Evidence, 2021. https://www.educationdevelopmenttrust.com/EducationDevelopmentTrust/files/20/201258b4-98ab-415ab0daf33d5cf8688d.pdf last accessed 2022/01/11.
- Mascheroni, G., Saeed, M., Valenza, M., Cino, D., Dreesen, T., Zaffaroni, L. G., Kardefelt-Winther, D.: Learning at a Distance: Children's remote learning experiences in Italy during the COVID-19 pandemic, UNICEF Office of Research. Innocenti, Florence (2021).
- Azevedo, J.P., Gutierrez, M., De Hoyos, R., Saavedra, J.: The Unequal Impacts of COVID-19 on Student Learning." In Primary and Secondary Education During Covid-19. In: Reimers, F. M. (eds.) Disruptions to Educational Opportunity During a Pandemic. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2021).
- Camargo, C. P., Tempski, P. Z., Busnardo, F.F., Martins, M. A., Gemperli, R.: Online learning and COVID-19: a meta-synthesis analysis. Clinics, (75)e:2286 (2020).
- Batini, F., Sposetti, P., Szpunar, G.: La parola alle e agli insegnanti. Prima analisi di categorie e sottocategorie delle risposte qualitative al questionario SIRD. In: AA.VV. (eds.) La DaD in emergenza: vissuti e valutazioni degli insegnanti italiani. Scelte metodologiche e primi risultati nazionali. Pensa MultiMedia, Lecce (2021).
- INDIRE: Indagine tra i docenti italiani. Pratiche didattiche durante il lockdown, Report preliminare, 20 luglio 2020, Roma. https://bit.ly/2H7xfR7, last accessed 2022/01/11.
- INVALSI: I risultati delle prove INVALSI 2021, https://www.invalsiopen.it/risultati/risultati-prove-invalsi-2021 last accessed 2022/01/11.
- 8. Rivoltella, P. C., Rossi, P. G.: L'agire didattico. Manuale per l'insegnante. La Scuola, Brescia, (2017).
- 9. Lakoff, G., Johnson, M.: Metaphors we live by. University of Chicago Press, Chicago (1980).
- Craig, C. J.: Metaphors of knowing, doing and being: Capturing experience in teaching and teacher education. Teaching and Teacher Education, (69), 300-311 (2018).
- 11. Denzin, N. K., Lincoln, Y. S.: Handbook of Qualitative Research. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks (1994).
- 12. Creswell, J. W: 30 Essential Skills for the Qualitative Researcher. Sage Publications, London (2016).
- Caena, F., Redecker, C.: Aligning teacher competence frameworks to 21st century challenges: The case for the European Digital Competence Framework for Educators, European journal of education, 54(3), 356-369 (2019).

## Online synchronous communication in a blended learning course: an analysis of Webinars

Serena Triacca<sup>[0000-0001-8854-5117]</sup> and Federica Pelizzari<sup>[0000-0003-2223-7212]</sup>

Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Milan, Italy {serena.triacca, federica.pelizzari}@unicatt.it

#### 1 Introduction

In this contribution, we intend to investigate synchronous online communication within a blended master's degree course activated since the academic year 2016/17. Specifically, we want to highlight how the functionalities of the online video conferencing systems (OVS) have been adopted in order to promote active learning.

We refer to a specific definition of blended learning, according to which the introduction of technologies in teaching allows a differentiation of supports to offer information and contents, teaching strategies, online and face-to-face moments which must be wisely harmonized [1].

To overcome the emergency and the mendacious dichotomy between distance learning and face-to-face teaching, in the following academic year, blended learning was extensively adopted as a functional way to support the teaching and learning processes. As Limone argues, the balance of hybridization between face-to-face and distance teaching is the fundamental issue [2].

As formerly highlighted [3], in an online and blended environment one of the keyfactors is the design activity, especially in its architectural dimension [4] that refers to the planning of the teaching actions, the choice of methods, tools, student's activities and e-tivities [5].

The macro-design, generally made visible in the syllabus [6], allows the students to have a significant orientation on the activities to be performed and the opportunity of situating oneself with respect to the overall path.

The importance of designing the microstructure of the courses in higher education has been recognized as one of the crucial factors that impacts on student achievement [7]. Moreover, the micro-design of an online session, reified in the lesson plan [8], responds to the need to clarify learning goals, teaching phases, strategies, tools in order to consider the cognitive load and the fluctuations in attention due to the online situation.

#### 2 Webinars in a blended learning course

The research context is the blended master's degree in *Business management and con*sulting of the Faculty of Economics at the Catholic University of the Sacred Heart of Milan, launched in the academic year 2016/17 to better support working students. There are some distinctive features characterizing the designed blended model [9]:

- 6 modules per semester, spread over 13 weeks;

- balance between classroom and online activities (50%-50%):
  - intensive classroom activities (biweekly), with lectures, case studies, testimonials, simulations, group works;
  - webinar sessions, in the evening hours, for insights and troubleshooting;
  - video lessons;
  - forums;
- individual and group assessment and frequent feedback, in the logic of assessment for learning and as learning [10];
- e-tutors and e-teachers, which support guidance in the course and the learning process [11].

In a blended learning course, a strategic element to punctuate the progress of learning is synchronous communication, made possible by increasingly efficient and userfriendly online video conferencing systems (OVS). Researchers have founded that students generally perceive synchronous interactions positively, because of instantaneous feedback and because they feel more engaged in the online experience [12].

The main objective of the research is to focus the online synchronous teaching practices and students' activation: as provided by the blended model, synchronous interactions have been made possible within webinars, "a nearly face-to-face environment that increases participants' social presence and facilitates multi-level interaction" [13].

#### 3 Method

Between the 2016/17 and 2019/20 academic years, synchronous online sessions delivered by Blackboard Collaborate Ultra were monitored by e-teachers and e-tutors.

About 700 online synchronous sessions of 27 courses of the master's degree carried out in four academic years were analyzed in order to focus on the teaching practices. The analysis was conducted on the data collected through an observation grid that includes a brief description of the session, technical quality of the video and audio transmission, adopted functionalities of the online video conferencing system, teaching formats, interaction [14].

A descriptive analysis will be carried out on the different items, supported by the framework outlined by Lieser et alii. to promote the 4Es Learning Cycle (engagement, exploration, explanation, and extension) through webinars, highlighting which OVS functionalities can support the learning experience dimensions [15].

- Graham, C. R., Allen, S., Ure, D.: Benefits and Challenges of Blended Learning Environments. In M. Khosrow-Pour (ed.) Encyclopedia of information science and technology, pp. 153-259. Idea Group, Hershey, PA (2005).
- 2. Limone, P., Toto, G.A., Sansone, N. (eds.): Didattica universitaria a distanza. Tra emergenze e futuro. Progedit, Bari (2020).
- Triacca, S., Pelizzari, F., Scott Flavia, M., Rivoltella, P. C.: Planning the "New Normality" to Address the Pandemic in Higher Education: Blended Scenarios at the Catholic University of the Sacred Heart. In Casalino, G., Cimitile, M., Ducange, P., Padilla Zea, N., Pecori, R., Picerno, P., Raviolo, P. (eds.), Higher Education Learning Methodologies and Technologies Online. HELMeTO 2021, pp. 248- 263. Springer, Cham, Switzerland AG (2022).
- 4. Rivoltella, P.C. (ed.): Apprendere a distanza. Teorie e metodi. Raffaello Cortina, Milano (2021).
- 5. Salmon, G.: E-tivities: the key to active online learning. Routledge, London-New York (2002).
- 6. Grunert O'Brien, J., Millis, B. J., Cohen, M. W.: The Course Syllabus: A Learning-Centered Approach. John Wiley & Sons, San Francisco, CA (2008).
- Schneider M, Preckel F.: Variables associated with achievement in higher education: A systematic review of meta-analyses. Psychological Bulletin, 143(6), 565-600 (2017).
- 8. Mishra, R.C.: Lesson Planning. APH Publishing Corporation, New Delhi (2009).
- Triacca, S., Bodega, D., De Cani, L., Lo Jacono, S., Rivoltella, P. C.: Un modello Blended Learning per l'Higher Education. In Panciroli, C. (ed.) Animazione digitale per la didattica, pp. 141-154. FrancoAngeli, Milano (2020).
- Earl, L. M.: Assessment as learning: using classroom assessment to maximize student learning. 2nd edn. Hawker Brownlow Education, Moorabbin (2014).
- Triacca, S., Bodega, D., Rivoltella, P. C.: Blended solution and Higher Education. The case of the Catholic University: e-tutoring for personalization. Education Sciences & Society 9(2), 198-210 (2019).
- 12. Watts, L.: Synchronous and asynchronous communication in distance learning: A review of the literature. Quarterly Review of Distance Education, 17(1), 23-32 (2016).
- Wang, S. K., Hsu, H.: Use of the webinar tool (Elluminate) to support training: The effects of webinar-learning implementation from student-trainers' perspective. Journal of Interactive Online Learning 7(3), 175-194 (2008).
- 14. Rivoltella, P. C. (ed.): E-tutor. Profilo, metodi, strumenti. Carocci, Roma (2006).
- Lieser, P., Taff, S.D., Murphy-Hagan, A.: The Webinar Integration Tool: A Framework for Promoting Active Learning in Blended Environments. Journal of Interactive Media in Education (1)7, 1–8 (2018).

### Designing for Student-Centered Hybrid Learning Environments: A Framework for Programming Languages Course Design

Hüseyin Uvet<sup>1[0000-0003-0392-982X]</sup> Tuba Ugras<sup>1[0000-0001-8241-5696]</sup> James Sunney Quaicoe<sup>2[0000-0003-0287-6594]</sup> Abiodun Afolayan Ogunyemi<sup>2[0000-0002-1851-0442]</sup> Merja Bauters<sup>2[0000-0001-8501-5751]</sup> Veselina Jecheva<sup>3[0000-0002-3431-9269]</sup> Angel Toshkov<sup>3[0000-0003-3798-6283]</sup> Dominique Persano Adorno<sup>4[0000-0001-7655-1114]</sup> Daniele Peri<sup>4[0000-0002-8763-7199]</sup> Yasin Ortakci<sup>5[0000-0002-0683-2049]</sup> Kasim Ozacar<sup>5[0000-0001-7637-0620]</sup> Ferhat Atasoy<sup>5[0000-0002-1672-0593]</sup> Slavko Kocijancic<sup>6[0000-0003-4597-9729]</sup> David Rihtaršič<sup>6[0000-0003-3877-1137]</sup> and Špela Cerar<sup>6[0000-0003-0229-9539]</sup>

> <sup>1</sup> Yildiz Technical University, Istanbul, Turkey
> <sup>2</sup> Tallinn University, Tallinn, Estonia
> <sup>3</sup> Burgas Free University, Burgas 8001, Bulgaria
> <sup>4</sup> University of Palermo, Palermo 90128, Italy
> <sup>5</sup> Karabuk University, Karabuk, Turkey
> <sup>6</sup> University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia dominique.persanoadorno@unipa.it

#### 1 Introduction

Hybrid learning environments are a means of delivering instructional content in that online educational materials and opportunities for interaction were combined with traditional classroom methods. Hybrid learning environments give students the opportunity to work in an environment enriched with digital learning tools, and to support student-based learning approach. Student-based learning approach promotes engagement to make students active learners via various ways such as interactivity, feedback, etc. Researchers identified feedback as an activity for promoting effective online learning and more so creating the environment for teacher-student teaching and learning interaction [1]. Besides, some instructional strategies, like gamification and flipping the classroom, have an important role in supporting active learning. In well-designed gamified environments, students tend to dedicate more meaningful interactions with the learning process, as their efforts are promptly and effectively recognized [2]. Students, in flipped classrooms, are transformed from passive listeners into active learners [3].

In this study, we aim to propose a useful course design framework for undergraduate programming languages in hybrid learning environments.

#### 2 Methods and Processes

We followed the Kemp Instructional Design Model [4] to design the course, as explained in the following. First, we defined the instructional problems. Second, we worked on the learning styles and needs of both students and teachers by utilizing questionnaires. The study used a questionnaire to elicit information from Bachelor level engineering students and from teachers. In all, 372 students sampled from 19 European countries participated in the data collection; whereas, 47 teachers from five European countries participated. Results from the questionnaire analysis showcased the major benefit of online programming language classes was the variety of learning materials, for both teachers and students. Whereas, the major challenge was providing not enough feedback. They preferred simulations, video tutorials, and external resources as the educational elements that support lessons. Furthermore, teachers also stated they would mostly like to employ gamification, flipped classroom, and project-based learning activities in their classes. We also analyzed the existing course plans from five European countries. According to the course plan analysis, we have identified the weekly topics, learning objectives, and the related pedagogical approaches.

Third, based on the data from the questionnaires and the course plan analysis, we made content analysis to determine the instructional objectives. Then, we sequenced the content, determined the instructional strategies, and designed the messages, by utilizing the content analysis. As a result of these steps, we developed a course plan template (see Fig. 1).

|   |  |                    |    |                      | and the second se |            |             |                   |                  |       |                |       |         |
|---|--|--------------------|----|----------------------|---|------------|-------------|-------------------|------------------|-------|----------------|-------|---------|
| - | -  | while .            | 44 |                      |   | Selection. | 10000       | And Post in Links | fast i fremanti. |       | brack research | dist. | Arrent. |
| - | *  | MARIA              | -  | Printer and a second | ALCOHOL:  |            | -           |                   | eletter          | anti- |                | -     | anner.  |
|   | AND 1  | -                  |    | Second Second        | 14.1  | 100 C      | <u>&gt;</u> |                   |                  |       |                |       |         |
|   | where  | (100 T )           |    | farmer a             | PR 0  | 194        | 200         |                   |                  |       |                |       |         |
| - | and the second s | Carrier of Carrier | -  | -                    |   | -          | -           | -                 |                  | -     | _              | -     |         |
| - |  | -                  |    |                      | A.A.  |            |             |                   |                  |       | -              |       |         |
|   | -  | -                  |    |                      |   |            |             |                   |                  |       | -              |       |         |
|   |  | -                  |    |                      |   |            |             |                   |                  |       |                |       |         |
|   |  |                    |    |                      |   |            |             | _                 |                  |       |                | _     |         |
| - |  | and the second     |    |                      |   |            |             |                   |                  | _     | -              | _     | _       |
|   |  |                    |    |                      |   |            | _           |                   |                  |       |                |       |         |
|   |  |                    |    |                      |   |            | _           |                   |                  |       |                |       | _       |

Fig. 1. The course plan template.

The template has features especially in terms of instructional strategy issues which are closely related to student-based learning approach such as feedback, gamification, and flipping the classroom. In this framework, conscious efforts are made to put the teacher as a facilitator and active student learning. This framework clusters the dimensions of the pedagogical competence of the teacher into three main dimensions:

- **Pre-Instructional Activities**: Topic and/or subtopics, specific objectives, the environment for the learning, and resources/material for the lesson.
- **Instructional Sessions**: The lesson delivery, specific teacher roles, formative assessment, motivation techniques, and lesson conclusion.
- **Post-Instructional Activities**: Summative assessment, remedial plan for students, and preparing students for the next lesson.

The other subsequent steps of the Kemp Model have not been completed yet. Therefore, the future works for us to deliver the course using this course template and evaluate it.

#### **3 Results and Conclusion**

As a result, we developed a course plan template and a course design. The course design was developed for undergraduate programming languages in hybrid learning environments. The template has features especially in terms of instructional strategy issues which are closely related to student-based learning approach such as feedback, gamification, and flipping the classroom. Based on the insights throughout the design and development process of the course plan template, we discussed implications in terms of hybrid learning environments and programming languages courses.

**Acknowledgement**: The study has been conducted with the support of the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union, Project ID 2020-1-TR01-KA226-HE-098258.

- Hu, Y., Sang, S., & Meng, C.: Reviewing the Interactions Between Instructors and Students in Online Education. In: Proceedings of the 2021 International Conference on Modern Educational Technology and Social Sciences, pp.88–93. (2021).
- Rincon-Flores, E. G., & Santos-Guevara, B. N.: Gamification during Covid-19: Promoting active learning and motivation in higher education. Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, 37(5), 43-60 (2021).
- Davies, R.S., Dean, D.L. & Ball, N.: Flipping the classroom and instructional technology integration in a college-level information systems spreadsheet course. Education Tech Research Dev 61, 563–580 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-013-9305-6
- Morrison, G. R., Ross, S. M., Kemp, J. E., & Kalman, H.: Designing effective instruction. John Wiley & Sons.(2010).

## Accessibility in Blended Learning and Hybrid Solutions at Higher Education Level: A Word from the Students

Ottavia Trevisan<sup>1[0000-0003-0522-935X]</sup> and Marina De Rossi<sup>2[0000-0002-5115-8196]</sup> <sup>1</sup> University of Padova, 35122 Padova, Italy ottavia.trevisan@unipd.it <sup>2</sup> University of Padova, 35122 Padova, Italy marina.derossi@unipd.it

#### **1** Introduction and literature background

Hybrid instructional solutions redefine the ways of teaching, educational time-space boundaries, the ways of relating to knowledge and the ways in which students and teachers interact [1];[2]. It does so by combining technology with face-to-face instruction in a fluid dynamic [3], integrating multiple instructional methods, tools and formats (e.g. blended learning) [1];[4]. The educational quality of hybrid solutions relies upon their capabilities to foster meaningful learning and support collaborative and learner-centred instruction [5];[7]. As a hybrid instructional format, blended learning refers to a variety of different approaches to course organization, ranging from adding online activities to a traditional face-to-face course to building a blended learning course from scratch [8]. Higher education has long embraced blended learning as it can well realize flexible and personalized curricula [6];[9];[10]; address student diversity by using differentiated instruction [11]; and improve students' engagement with learning materials [12]. However, teachers' and institutions' preparedness for delivering hybrid/blended instruction is crucial and it has not always passed the test for quality education in the past few years, especially when the Covid-19 pandemic forced the online transition [13]:[15]:[16]. Worrisome issues arose on a global scale: sub-optimal quality of the educational offer and inequality in access to education caused by infrastructural, personal, and contextual factors [14];[16]. In order to maximize the benefits of hybrid/blended learning solutions (HBLS), four main challenges must be addressed [17]: embedding flexibility and access, facilitating interaction, fostering autonomous/collaborative learning processes, and creating an affective learning environment [6]. This study focuses on the educational quality and accessibility provided by hybrid/blended learning solutions (HBLS) at the university level, as perceived by the primary protagonists of education: the students.

#### 2 The present study

This study investigates a HBLS initiative in a master's degree course for teacher education, involving 680 student-teachers who participated to a total of 21 HBLS courses and 112 HBLS group-based workshops (10% of total academic hours was online – [18]), over the past 6 months (2021-2022). The research questions are: *How do higher education students perceive HBLS to foster accessibility in education? How do they perceive HBLS to foster quality in education?* An online survey was administered to the student-teachers, gathering 294 responses. The respondents were mostly female (95%), 26 years old on average and at their 2<sup>nd</sup> year at university (32%).

#### 2.1 Methodology

The survey comprised four sections: demographics; ICT integration at university (13 Likert scale items); HBLS courses/lectures (12 Likert scale items and 2 open ended questions); HBLS workshops (11 Likert scale items and 2 open ended questions). The sections were tested for reliability and were found excellent (Chronbach's alpha >.91). Exploratory factor analysis was carried out on the questionnaire to observe possible underpinnings for perceived quality and accessibility of HBLS in higher education. Three factors were identified: *quality in HBLS workshops* (10 items, alpha = .95); *quality in HBLS courses/lectures* (11 items, alpha = .94); *accessibility of HBLS in Higher ed.* (14 items, alpha = .94). First, descriptive statistics were run on the three constructs for the whole population (Table 1). Then, a two-step cluster analysis was performed in SPSS to explore patterns of responses among the participants. Further details will be provided in the longer paper.

#### 3 Findings

Overall, participants appreciated the *quality of HBLS in workshops*, with a mean of 3.70 on the 5-point Likert scale. The most appreciated aspect relates to the coherence between face-to-face and digital activities (item 33, mean 3.88, st.d. 1.03). Moreover, participants fairly valued the quality of HBLS in lectures/courses, with a mean of 3.49. The most appreciated aspect concerned the use of HBLS to foster collaboration (item 5, mean 3.73, st.d. 1.14). Access to HBLS in higher ed. scored quite high on the scale, with a mean at 3.83. The highest scoring item within this factor was number 14, on the flexibility of study time (mean 3.90, st.d. 1.18). A cluster analysis on the participants revealed three patterns of response across the sections of the questionnaire. A first pattern related to those who expressed an enthusiastic appreciation of the quality and accessibility of HBLS in HE, grouping 82 of the respondents. Another 125 demonstrated a good appreciation of HBLS in HE, while 77 were dismissive of the quality and accessibility experienced. Variables such as gender, age, year of attendance, or degree of participation in HBLS activities did not determine the cluster affiliation (p < .05). In contrast, the highest title held and being a student or a working student influenced cluster membership (p < .05).

#### 4 Discussion and conclusions

This study investigated higher education students' perceptions of HBLS quality and accessibility. Overall, HBLS activities were appreciated in terms of both quality and accessibility (as in other studies, such as [15]). In a deeper analysis, three profiles of students were identified, who evaluated HBLS quality and accessibility differently based on their education and role as students or student workers rather than gender, age or participation. Universities can utilize these findings to gain insights into how to improve their educational offers to benefit and support diverse students [10]. Understanding the specific needs and evaluation criteria of their students, universities might set clear expectations for the courses, developing guidelines on how to support teachers and students through HBLS practices [15].

- De Rossi, M., Ferranti, C.: Integrare le ICT nella didattica universitaria. Padova University Press, Padova (2017).
- Rizvi, F.: Reimagining recovery for a more robust internationalization. Higher Education Research & Development, 1-4 (2020).
- Trentin, G.: Orientating pedagogy towards Hybrid spaces. In Nata, R. V. (Ed.), Progress in education, Vol. 35, pp. 105–124. Nova Science Publisher Inc, Hauppauge (2015).
- Millichap, N., Vogt, K.: Building blocks for college completion: Blended Learning. EDUCAUSE Review, 1–20, (December 2012).
- 5. Trentin, G., Bocconi, S.: The effectiveness of hybrid solutions in higher education: A call for hybrid-teaching instructional design. Educational Technology, 54(5), 12–21 (2014).
- Bruggeman, B., Tondeur, J., Struyven, K., Pynoo, B., Garone, A., Vanslambrouck, S.: Experts speaking: Crucial teacher attributes for implementing blended learning in higher education. The Internet and Higher Education, 48, 100772 (2021).
- Philipsen, B., Tondeur, J., Pareja Roblin, N., Vanslambrouck, S., Zhu, C.: Improving teacher professional development for online and blended learning: A systematic meta-aggregative review. Educational Technology Research and Development, 67(5), 1145–1174 (2019).
- Alammary, A., Sheard, J., & Carbone, A. (2014). Blended learning in higher education: Three different design approaches. Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, 30(4). https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.693
- Jonker, H., März, V., Voogt, J.: Teacher educators' professional identity under construction: The transition from teaching face-to-face to a blended curriculum. Teaching and Teacher Education, 71, 120–133 (2018).
- Vanslambrouck, S., Zhu, C., Lombaerts, K., Philipsen, B., Tondeur, J.: Students' motivation and subjective task value of participating in online and blended learning environments. The Internet and Higher Education, 36, 33–40 (2018).
- Boelens, R., Voet, M., De Wever, B.: The design of blended learning in response to student diversity in higher education: Instructors' views and use of differentiated instruction in blended learning. Computers & Education, 120, 197–212 (2018).
- Mestan, K.: Create a fine blend: An examination of institutional transition to blended learning. Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, 35(1), 70-84 (2019).
- 13. Farnell, T., Skledar Matijević, A., Šćukanec Schmidt, N.: The impact of COVID-19 on higher education: A review of emerging evidence. European Publications Office (2021).
- Manca, S., Persico, D., Raffaghelli, J. E.: Emergency remote education: Methodological, technological, organizational and policy issues. Italian Journal of Educational Technology, 29(2), 3–9 (2021).
- Zucchermaglio, C., Alby, F., Marino, F.: Teaching and learning during the Covid-19 pandemic: University students' perspective on phase 3. Qwerty. Open and Interdisciplinary Journal of Technology
- Beaunoyer, E., Dupéeré, S., Guitton, M. J.: COVID-19 and digital inequalities: Reciprocal impacts and mitigation strategies. Computers in Human Behavior, 111, 106424 (2020).
- Boelens, R., De Wever, B., Voet, M.: Four key challenges to the design of blended learning: A systematic literature review. Educational Research Review, 22, 1–18 (2017).
- Decreto Ministeriale n. 289.: Linee generali d'indirizzo della programmazione delle università 2021-2023 e indicatori per la valutazione periodica dei risultati (25-03-2021).

#### Now it's your turn: training the engineer of the future

Cristina Soguero-Ruiz<sup>2[0000-0001-5817-989X]</sup> and Vanesa Trivino<sup>1[0000-0002-2529-184X]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Signal Theory and Communications, Telematics and Computing Systems, Rey Juan Carlos University, 28942, Fuenlabrada, Spain <sup>2</sup> Department of History of Science, Rey Juan Carlos University, Madrid, Spain

In today's society, in which access to information is practically unlimited, a change in the student's attitude towards the classic master class can be observed [1]. This teaching-learning methodology is being increasingly rejected by students who consider it to be obsolete because it does not really connect to their current needs. This attitude is accentuated in the case of engineering students who favor practical over theoretical knowledge. Engineering students consider they can acquire information in a much more entertaining and dynamic way through the different resources that are available to them due to the Information and Communication Technologies (ICT): attending classes and listening to the teacher, therefore, is not necessary.

In this presentation, we address the problem of the reluctant attitude of engineering students towards humanities subjects, proposing a new teaching-learning methodology that we have called Now it's your turn, and that have been developed in the subjects of "Humanities: History of Biomedical Engineering" (Degree on Biomedical Engineering) and "Evolution and Future of Robotics" (Degree on Robotics) at the Rey Juan Carlos University. The goal of this methodology is twofold, on the one hand, to reduce the negative attitude of the engineering students to humanity subjects, showing them that there can be a synergic interaction between humanities and engineering. And, on the other, to show the students that humanities refer to something more than the mere acquisition of information regarding historical facts. There are a series of skills, such as critical thinking, that are necessary today and that need to be learned. The humanities subject is the ideal place to transmit this type of skills: given its contents, it is easier for the students to be able to intervene and participate in it while obtaining knowledge and developing skills such as creativity, group work capacity, dialogue, reasoning, communication...

Talking about critical thinking is a constant in different disciplines such as philosophy and psychology [2] and education [3,4]. This type of thinking is developed through a series of activities such as: analysis, synthesis, dialectical vision, inferences (inductive, deductive, or abductive), or development of value judgments, among others [3]. There are, precisely, all these activities that must be taught to the students. The key to all these activities is that they teach the student how to reflect and justify their ideas in an accurate and better way, allowing them to: (1) make decisions in his day-to-day

life; (2) be a good citizen, adapted to the current society in which he lives; and (3) be a good scientist, able to listen, express their ideas correctly and justify their positions.

Regarding critical thinking, there are authors who consider that this is an innate ability that only a few people have. This consideration, however, is changing. Thus, it is currently recognized that, although developing critical thinking is a complex task that requires effort, persistence, and motivation [2, 5, 6], it is also a human disposition, which implies that everyone has this ability and that it can be taught and developed. This is precisely the position that is sustained in this presentation. To encourage the development of critical thinking and the acquisition of knowledge, we propose a methodology in which it is intended that the student knows the necessary and relevant information of his discipline, while turning it into knowledge through the continuous use and application of it in a critical and rational way. This methodology does not refer to a single activity or method that the teacher can use in the classroom, but to a set of activities that, although oriented towards specific goals, contribute to the promotion of the critical thought of the future engineer.

Thus, it is intended that the student knows, understands, and critically reflects on the different periods that mark the evolution of their discipline, while guiding and helping her to form a useful historical and conceptual framework applicable to the main problems, advances, debates... that occur in it. The proposal Now it's your turn is made up of a series of activities such as (1) the formation of team's work; (2) conducting discussion seminars; (3) collaboration with upper classmates; (4) the analysis of current news; (5) conducting guided visits to places of interest; and (6) the preparation of a research paper. Each activity has a specific dynamic and methodology. Yet, they are all related to each other, since they all prioritize the active role of students in the teachinglearning process, and therefore contribute to the holistic and comprehensive training of students.

In this presentation, we will develop each of the activities that are part of the proposal *Now it's your turn.* The aim is to illustrate how these activities have been applied to in the classroom, the way in which the students have carried them out and the advantages that engineering students have obtained given the skills and knowledge acquired through these activities. The structure of the presentation is as follows: first, we address the change that the introduction and development of ICT has generated in the teaching-learning process, clarifying that there is a distinction between the transmission of information and the obtaining of knowledge, something that is key to understand teaching as something more than the mere transmission of information. Next, we present the methodological proposal Now it's your turn, focusing on the different activities that comprise it and showing their relevance for the training of the engineer of the future. Finally, conclusions and a general discussion are presented.

- 1. Calvo, J. Educación y filosofía en el aula. Barcelona: Paidós; 1994.
- 2. Lewis A, Smith D. Defining higher order thinking. 32(3). Theory into Practice; 1993.
- Bloom B S. Taxonomy of educational objectives: the classification of educational goals. New York: David McKay Company; 1965.
- 4. Sternberg R J. Critical thinking: Its nature, measurement, and improvement. National Institute of Education; 1986.
- 5. Halpern D F. Teaching critical thinking for transfer across domains: dispositions, skills, structure training, and metacognitive monitoring. 53(4). American Psychologists; 1998.
- 6. Paul R W, Elder L. Critical thinking: The nature of critical and creative thought. 39(2). Journal of Developmental Education; 2006.

## The inclusive design of a learning path with Integrated Digital Teaching in the Education Science Degree Course at the University of Genoa

Valentina Pennazio<sup>1[0000-0002-3915-1880]</sup> and Samantha Armani<sup>2[0000-0001-6737-8022]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Genoa, Genoa, ITALY

#### 1 Introduction

Following the provisions on the methods of delivery of university courses issued at the Ministerial level to gradually restore a return in the presence of lectures, the University of Genoa, like many other universities, has established, up to the persistence of the state of emergency linked to the pandemic, the activation of Integrated digital teaching. The application of the integrated digital teaching has offered teachers the opportunity to experiment whit the potential of technologies by favoring, during the delivery of their course, the active participation of all students, the development of theirself-regulatory capacity, the use of diversified methodologies of active didactic and innovative forms with which to propose self-assessment courses to students from a training perspective. These aspects are fundamental in an inclusive perspective that focuses on the importance of structuring personalized learning paths aimed at self-regulation, in order to ensure easy access to knowledge content even for students with a special educational need (SEN). In fact, in inclusive training courses, personalization is fundamental because it allows each student to choose the path of acquiring knowledge starting from their own set of skills. The use of tools and technological applications amplifies the perception in students of a greater possibility of choosing the learning path to follow, a fundamental element for starting the self-regulation process [1] [2] understood as a metacognitive dimension in which the student independently manages his / her own learning path from a motivational and behavioral point of view [3] [4] [5]. Also, in this case, the use of technological devices and applications solicits the dimensions connected to self-regulation [6] [2] and offers students the possibility to control these dimensions by adapting their skills and abilities to the learning environment and to experiment success in performance [6] [2]. However, to increase the processes of personalization and selfregulation in learning, it is not enough to introduce technology or use a technological learning environment, but an effective didactic design is essential. The teacher must know how to combine the technology (tools, applications, and environments); the methodologies and strategies (cooperative learning, problem-based learning, flipped lessons); the critical reflection (sharing of points of view, comparison of ideas); the content and evaluation (feedback, self-evaluation) [7]. Furthermore, to ensure a quality training experience, it is essential to constantly issue adequate feedback from teachers and learning companions [8] [9] [7] which refers to the formative dimension of evaluation.

#### 2 Methodology, Data Analysis, Tools and Results

Starting from these observations, the paper presents the results of an exploratory survey conducted with 135 students attending the courses of Special Education (92 students) and Inclusive Didactics (43 students) in the Degree Course in Educational Sciences of the University of Genoa in the academic year 2021-2022. The objective of the survey was to detect how the inclusive design of the learning paths of the two courses, through the application of digital teaching, has influenced (a) the personalization of the students' learning path and (b) it has increased the process of self-regulation and self-efficacy in student allowing for better reworking of learning content. Three types of integrated learning environments were used: (1) Environments in presence (ie the physical environment); (2) Interactive and synchronous environment (i.e. the Teams platform), connected with the presence environment thanks to the use of applications such as Wooclap for the management of formative assessment processes, the brainstorming and shared analysis (of videos, for example) and Kahoot in which the anonymity of the answers motivated the extended participation of the students [10] [7]; (3) Asynchronous interactive environment (i.e. the Moodle platform) a Learning Management System (LMS) necessary to insert the lesson modules, propose activities, request the resolution of authentic tasks even in asynchronous collaborative mode (for example through the use of wiki); manage formative evaluation paths (through the provision of feedback, for example through forums); connect to virtual message boards such as Padlet (for the collaborative construction of knowledge, the personalization of learning, the braistorming and online tutoring). Regarding the organization of the course contents, the partition of the course in modules and not by a single lesson [7] was chosen, to ensure greater personalization and self-regulation of learning. Each module has been implemented in the Moodle platform and organized internally with the indication of the expected objectives, the contents, and the activities to be carried out (in Moodle), the required prerequisites, necessary to support the understanding of what the student could expect from each module allowing him a correct attribution of any successes or failures he would have obtained [2] [3]. Each module has provided the same time frame and different materials within it, such as preliminary documents for the meeting with the teacher, "task sections" with diversified activities chosen by the student, links to videos, links to Padlet to structure personalized paths, wiki for collaborative writing, audio of the lessons downloaded from the Teams plat- form, interaction forum between classmates and teacher.

At the end of each module, two questionnaires were administered: (a) the Self-regulated Knowledge Scale (SRKS-U) [11] [12] in order to measure the frequency with which students have implemented different cognitive strategies in relation to different tasks and technological applications; (b) the perceived school self-efficacy scale [13] to analyze the students' beliefs about their ability to regulate their motivation to study according to the different requests.

The data analysis highlighted the positions expressed by the students (also students with SEN) in relation to the experience undertaken which demonstrate a positive opinion regarding the usability and accessibility of the organization of the courses presented.

- Boekaerts, M.: Self-regulated learning: where we are today. International Journal of Educa-tional Research, 31, pp. 445-45 (1999).
- Giannetti, T.: Autoregolazione dell'apprendimento e tecnologie didattiche. TD, 37 (1), pp.51-56 (2006).
- Zimmerman, B.J.: A social cognitive view of self-regulated academic learning. Journal of Educational Psychology, 81, pp. 329 – 339 (1989).
- Zimmerman, B.J.: From Cognitive Modeling to Self-Regulation: A Social Cognitive CareerPath. Educational Psychology, 48, pp. 135–147 (2013).
- Bylieva, D., Hong, J.-C., Lobatyuk, V., Nam T.: Self-Regulation in E-Learning Environment. Education Sciences, 11, p. 785 (2021).
- Zhao, N., Wardeska, J. G., McGuire, S.Y., Cook, E.: Metacognition: an effective tool to promote success in college science learning. Journal of College Science Teaching, 43, pp. 48-54 (2014).
- Bevilacqua, A.: Promuovere l'autoregolazione dell'apprendimento in una classe numerosa.Una ricerca quanti-qualitativa. Italian Journal of Educational Research, XII, 23, pp. 142-160(2019).
- Kramarski, B., Zeichner, O.: Using technology to enhance mathematical reasoning: effects of feedback and self regulation learning. Educational Media International, 38 (2-3), pp. 77-82 (2001).
- Nicol, D.J., Macfarlane-Dick, D.: Formative assessment and selfregulated learning: A modeland seven principles of good feedback practice. Studies in Higher Education, 31(2), pp. 199-218 (2006).
- Aricò, F.R., Lancaster, S.J.: Facilitating active learning and enhancing student self-assessment skills. International Review of Economics Education, 29, pp. 6-13 (2018).
- Pintrich, P. R.: A conceptual framework for assessing motivation and self-regulated learning in college students. Educational psychology review, 16(4), pp385-407 (2004).
- Manganelli S., Alivernini F., Mallia L., Biasi V.: The development and psychometric properties of the "Self-Regulates Knowledge Scale – University" (SRKS-U) / Sviluppo e proprietà psicometriche della "Scala di Auto-Regolazione degli Apprendimenti – Università" (SARA-U). Journal of Educational, Cultural and Psychological Studies, 12, pp. 235-254 (2015).
- Pastorelli C., Picconi L.: Scala di Autoefficacia Scolastica Percepita. In G.V. Caprara (a cura di), La valutazione dell'autoefficacia. Trento: Erickson (2001).

### Perspectives on TLC development and technology enhanced teaching and learning at the University of Trento

Anna Serbati, Paola Venuti, Sabrina Maniero, Federica Picasso<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup> University of Trento, Trento, Italy anna.serbati@unitn.it

#### **1** Introduction and theoretical framework

Teaching and learning centres (TLCs) are called to scaffold academics' professional development to enhance their teaching practices using innovative approaches, methodologies, and technologies. The contribution describes the development of University of Trento TLC (FormID - Centro di competenza per la FORmazione e l'Innovazione Didattica) and the role played by technologies, intended both as an aim in terms of enhancement of teachers' digital competences as well as a powerful means for academic development initiatives. The Centre FormID was born in 2018 and implemented a series of initiatives to help professors improving their teaching practices, before and during the pandemic. The paper presents the reflections developed by FormID Scientific Committee members and Coordinator regarding the Centre's directions of growth with specific reference to the role played by technologies for learning, to the problems and opportunities and, more importantly, to strategies to scaffold pedagogical skills referred to hybrid learning settings. In fact, digital technologies in our social-cultural context are modifying the knowledge building processes and the professional practices; therefore, a rethinking of university education is required [1]. One of the Centre's missions is to promote transformative reflection to innovate teaching practices and to understand how the teachers' role could influence the context and students' outcomes [2]. In connection with this aim, information and communication technologies cover an important role on the creation of teaching settings for active learning, but this highlights the need to go beyond linear-sequential teaching design logics and, instead, set up challenging learning environments that foster an integrated approach to knowledge and forms of collaboration among peers in the discovery of knowledge [3]. Literature demonstrated that in the use of (synchronous and asynchronous) technology in the classroom, tools are not directly connected to positive or negative results; to guarantee positive results, it is necessary for teachers to understand technology and integrate them in a consistent teaching and learning design [4]. Thanks to the rich pedagogical reflection in recent decades [5, 6, 4], it is possible to identify models and strategies to make the best use of the media in learning and teaching. Two years of pandemic raised awareness about the new opportunities to develop and support active learning through digital resources, but it is now necessary to make these lessons learnt more structured in a new integrated framework for technology-enhanced learning.

#### 2 Methods

Employing collaborative ethnography [7], FormID Scientific Committee members engaged in a collaborative reflection about TLC perspectives, sharing objectives and priorities connected to the use of quality digital resources and strategies. Individual autobiographical narratives (chronological and critical events) were collected and then analysed through content analysis using the software Atlas.Ti 22. For each theme, results offer a picture of main elements mentioned by respondents. The coding was followed by a collective reflection on codes emerged in order to collegially interpret emerging themes, develop identity, strategies and perspectives.

#### **3** Results

The initial results show strengths and weaknesses and the need to develop a full integration of current resources and structures. Coded emerged are interpreted using the "8P" model: purpose, practice, people, place, profile, politics, professional development and publications [8]. The purpose of FormID was identified in developing teaching excellence as well as individual and collegial professional development of academics to promote students' learning and success. Practices emerged and planned for the near future are: disciplinary and interdisciplinary communities of practices [9]; online resources for self-directed learning; support and help in implementing and monitoring technology-enhanced teaching innovation in class; scholarship and digital scholarship actions [10]; internationalisation of university teaching and learning; students' engagement in planning educational development and training actions for life skills development. People involved are FormID Scientific Committe members, but also representatives from each department that can connect the Centre with the needs of local units as well as pedagogical and technological experts/developers. The Centre operates in strong connection with the e-learning centre [11] to value all the technology-enhanced teaching and learning practices already in place within a common framework. As for place emerged the need of a physical one (with rooms for meetings, activities, seminars, workshops) as well as virtual environments such as Moodle and the TLC website which will be integrated with new resources aimed at sharing the Centre's activities but also scaffolding self-directed learning through videos, guidelines, glossary, articles. Regarding politics, all the narratives highlight the importance of having a permanent center for teaching and learning, not only based on casual projects but as a structure to enhance teaching and digital competences. As for the profile, staff development programs are in place both for new faculty and for all academics, with specific modules aimed at enhancing teachers' digital competences. However, the TLC is not only a training center, but also a research center, which aims to invests in educational research as well as scholarship on teaching and learning innovation in face-to-face, blended and hybrid contexts. The last two Ps, professional development and publications are really connected to the last point and to the aim to increase networking opportunities, scholarship and scientific outputs of the academic development activities.

#### 4 Conclusions

The collective ethnography guided FormID Scientific Committee members towards a growing process: from awareness of the past to empowerment, motivation, perception as a group, to identification of the identity of our TLC, to finally new perspectives and trajectories to scaffold a culture of excellence in a new hybrid and digital world. The presenters will engage the audience in sharing and discussing together strategies identified, problems emerged and challenges for the future.

- Rossi, P.G.: L'ambiente digitale come terzo spazio nella didattica universitaria, in Digital Scholarship tra ricerca e didattica (a cura di Federighi, Ranieri, Bandini). Franco Angeli, Milano (2019).
- Toto, G. A.: Expertise docente. Teorie, modelli didattici e strumenti innovativi. Franco-Angeli, Milano (2019).
- Falcinelli, F.: Le tecnologie dell'educazione. In Rossi, P. G., & Rivoltella, P. C. (a cura di), L'agire didattico. Manuale per l'insegnante. La Scuola, Brescia (2012).
- 4. Bonaiuti, G., & Dipace, A.: Insegnare e apprendere in aula e in rete. Per una didattica blended efficace. Carocci, Roma (2021).
- 5. Galliani, L.: Tecnologie informatiche e telematiche per la Facoltà di Scienze della Formazione. Pensa Multimedia, Lecce (2002).
- 6. Rivoltella, P.: Media education. Idea, metodo, ricerca. Morcelliana Scholè, Brescia (2019).
- Lassiter, L.E.: The Chicago Guide to Collaborative Ethnography. Chicago University Press, Chicago (2005).
- 8. Le-May Sheffield, S.: Developing a University Teaching & Learning Centre, paper presented at *Teaching learning center e faculty development: orientamenti e prospettive* conference, July 2022 (2022).
- 9. Cox, M. D. & Richlin, L.: Building faculty learning communities. New Directions for Teaching and Learning, No. 97. (Vol. 15). John Wiley & Sons, San Francisco (2004).
- 10. Boyer, E.: *Scholarship reconsidered: Priorities of the professor*iate. The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching, San Francisco (1990).
- Limone, P.: Teaching learning center e centri e-learning di ateneo: due strutture in dialogo per la costruzione delle competenze del docente universitario in Limone, P., Toto, G.A., & Sansone, N. (a cura di), Didattica universitaria a distanza-Tra emergenze e futuro. Progedit, Bari (2020).

## Quality online learning: new perspectives of the Teaching and Learning Center

Guendalina Peconio 1 [0000-0003-2858-6923] Marco di Furia 1 [0000-0003-4772-4383] Pierpaolo Limone 1 [0000-0003-3852-4005] Alberto Fornasari 2 [0000-0003-0553-8945]

> <sup>1</sup> University of Foggia, Via Arpi 176, 71122 Foggia, Italy <sup>2</sup> University of Bari, Via Scipione Crisanzio 42, 70122 Bari, Italy lncs@springer.com

#### **1** Theoretical background

The last two years have been characterized by important and rapid changes in teaching models and strategies, given the repercussions of Covid-19 pandemic on international societies. The effects of the pandemic have visibly translated into an almost total paralysis of educational institutions all around the world, involving every level and every subject in the system. It is estimated that this phenomenon has affected more than 1.5 billion students worldwide [1], corresponding to 91% of the entire student population. In such a scenario, according to the research needs that have emerged, EDUCAUSE has developed a specific survey concerning the new challenges of higher education. EDUCAUSE is a global non-profit organization whose members include international higher education organizations, companies and K-12 institutions [2]. Last year, its research team drafted and presented the Horizon report, adding, as subheading, Teaching and Learning Edition. It includes quality online learning among its various topics, since one of the emerging challenges that higher education has to face is involving all stakeholders of academic institutions in the quality assurance processes. In order for us to assess the quality that effects and perspectives of the new teaching practices have, it is necessary to define the very idea that is conjoined with this paradigm. The term "quality" refers to a multidimensional concept involving different aspects. Within the academia, in particular, it can refer to the different, fundamental elements that define processes and outcomes. We refer to "quality" in different situations: teaching and learning activities, delivery and evaluation processes, etc.. The concept "quality" is a real process that is controlled and monitored taking into account specific standards and performance parameters. The purpose of quality assurance is to make it known, both internally and externally, that the academic organization, through its services and structures, takes care of every single member: students, teachers, technicians and administrative staff [3]. In order to be effective, this system must ensure that the educational environment is characterized by participation and transparency in teaching and learning processes. The quality perceived by users during online teaching is a critical factor in assessing the quality of distance learning. The same mechanism for supplying and assessing quality has, like the entire education body, undergone a series of sudden changes, taking on the consequences of the emergency period and the difficulties of a forced digitization of work.

#### 2 Purpose of the study

The present study therefore develops an exploratory survey for the identification and comparison of good practices and development models of Teaching and Learning Centers (TLCs) [4], with particular reference to online learning environments and teachers' digital skills. It has been noted indeed that among the projects recently triggered with respect to quality online learning, many of these have concerned the setting up of TLCs online. Consequently, in the second part of the article, some reference models about TLCs will be presented, developing a critical description of them, highlighting strategies, tools and services involved.

#### 3 Main Results

Essential assumptions were considered, collecting significant study experiences - see, for example, Coman [5] - in order to draw as clear a picture as possible of quality online learning. In general, the lack of digital skills with online teaching was found to have a negative impact on the overall qualitative perception of teaching experiences. Teachers' competences in the use of technology turns out to be fundamental for high quality teaching [6, 7]. These considerations appear useful in reconfiguring and redesigning the training of teachers of the future, considering the increasingly substantial weight that technology will hold in everyone's daily life.Some reflections are proposed on the role that TLCs can play in the future of training, based on previous experiences and sensitive data collected on the subject. The contribution aims to provide research ideas and possible study and improvement paths, for the benefit of the quality assurance systems, teachers, students and anyone else who participates in the cultural and administrative life of higher education institutions, with a particular focus on achieving the collective well-being of the learning community.

- 1. Datta, P., Graves, D. M.: Micro-Compass quality assurance short programme: Designing effective quality assurance systems in HE Institutions in Bangladesh. International Journal of Higher Education Management, 8(1), 57-68 (2021).
- Pelletier, K., Brown, M., Brooks, D. C., McCormack, M., Reeves, J., Arbino, N., ... & Mondelli, V. Pragholapati A., Covid-19: impact on students, 2020. URL: https://edarxiv.org/895ed/. (2021). 2021 EDUCAUSE Horizon Report Teaching and Learning Edition.
- Tadesse, T., Manathunga, C. E., Gillies, R. M.: Making sense of quality teaching and learning in higher education in Ethiopia: Unfolding existing realities for future promises. Journal of University Teaching & Learning Practice, 15(1), 120 (2018).
- 4. Steinert, Y.: Faculty Development in the Health Professions, Springer Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-76128 (2020)
- Coman, C., Ţîru, L. G., Meseşan-Schmitz, L., Stanciu, C., Bularca, M. C.: Online teaching and learning in higher education during the coronavirus pandemic: Students' perspective. Sustainability, 12(24), 10367 (2020).
- Lei, S. I., So, A. S. I.. Online teaching and learning experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic–A comparison of teacher and student perceptions. Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Education, 33(3), 148-162 (2021).
- 7. Bolliger, D. U., Wasilik, O.: Factors influencing faculty satisfaction with online teaching and learning in higher education. Distance Education, 30(1), 103–116 (2009).

## Creating Interactive Courses for a Modular Information System

Jozef Kostolny<sup>[0000-0003-4729-7932]</sup> and Veronika Karcolova

Faculty of Management Science and Informatic, University of Zilina, Zilina, Slovakia jozef.kostolny@fri.uniza.sk

#### 1 Introduction

Today, online courses are a prevalent way to acquire new skills, knowledge, and information, and their popularity continues to grow. Compared to ordinary education, they have many advantages, such as price, comfort, interactivity, or proceed according to one's possibilities and pace. More and more mainstream schools also provide their curricula online to enable distance learning, mainly due to the situation in recent years, when full-time teaching has been severely limited, and schools have had to adapt to these conditions. In addition, online courses are a great way to provide students with more materials to deepen and practice their knowledge beyond the curriculum or beyond.

Today, many online services provide online courses, their creation, and sharing. It can also share its knowledge in various forms on several web applications, either with a particular group of students or random Internet users. Coursera is one of the world's most popular sites focused on online education. The most popular course categories here include information and data technology and business or personal development [1], [2]. Another well-known site for online learning is Udemy. The service is especially suitable for students who want to acquire specific practical skills but are not looking for a university degree. Udemy also issues various certificates, but unlike Courser, these certificates are not officially recognized by universities [3], [4]. The Moodle educational platform is a simple, integrated and adaptable solution for online education for administrators, teachers, and students, often used in Slovak universities. At present, it is the most used system of education management, the so-called LMS, which are generally teaching administration and administration applications that provide communication between students and tutors [5], [6], [7]. After examining possible platforms for publishing training courses, we agreed that none of the existing solutions for creating interactive courses from our university curricula is suitable for adapting to its system.

#### 2 Solution design

In this paper, we present the design of a module for creating interactive courses as one of the micro-services of a modular information system. This module will be divided into administrative and user parts. In addition, it will serve as a place for students to gather study materials and enable teachers to create and publish online courses with these relevant materials easily. It should be focused mainly on the needs of informatics subjects, but our intention is also to make it universal to use in general for the entire faculty.

The module for creating interactive courses is designed as a part of a modular information system, which contains several functions, and therefore it is not a simple monolithic model. Monolithic architecture unifies all its components, business logic, and modules. It is easy to develop, debug, and deploy, but it is only suitable for non-demanding applications due to its firm consistency. Only a tiny change causes significant adjustments throughout the project, and one problem can cause the whole system to crash [8].

Therefore, such more complex module systems use a micro-service architecture, where each module or service can operate independently of the others as a stand-alone application. If a problem occurs in one of the services, it is elementary to find the problem, and the other parts of the system can continue to work without problems [8].

The separate modules will be grouped using a single interface, representing another independent module. Through this system interface, the user will be able to access the requested service (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Microservice architecture diagram

In this article, we propose and implement a module for creating interactive courses as part of a modular information system [9] that increases the entire system's reliability with the use of microservices [10], [11]. The work results in a module with defined functionalities for three types of end users: administrator, teacher, and student. A course assigned to a specific subject consists of lessons and chapters, and all parts of the system can be edited or deleted, published, or hidden from students. In the future, we can expand the module to include the creation of various educational activities, such as quizzes, assignments, or an online compiler.

#### Acknowledgement

This work was supported by the Ministry of Education, Science, Research, and Sport of the Slovak Republic under grant "Creation of methodological and learning materials for Biomedical Informatics – a new engineering program at the UNIZA" (reg.no. KEGA 009ŽU-4/2020) and the Slovak Research and Development Agency (APVV) under grant "Risk assessment of environmental disturbance using Earth observation data" (reg.no. SK-UA-21-0037).

- Chris, A., "20 Best Websites To Find Online Courses,", https://www.reliablesoft.net/bestonline-courses/, last accessed 2022/05/31.
- 2. Coursera, "About,", https://about.coursera.org., last accessed 2022/05/31.
- 3. Udemy, "Our origins,", https://about.udemy.com/company/., last accessed 2022/05/31
- Denis, M., "U.S. News,", https://www.usnews.com/education/udemy-overview., last accessed 2022/05/31.
- StudyPortals, "What is MOODLE? What are Online Learning Managements Systems?,", https://www.distancelearningportal.com/articles/161/what-is-moodle-what-are-onlinelearning-managements-systems.html., last accessed 2022/05/31
- Moodle, "About Moodle,", https://docs.moodle.org/311/en/About\_Moodle#All-inone\_learning\_platform, last accessed 2022/05/31.
- 7. Moodle, "History,", https://docs.moodle.org/311/en/History., last accessed 2022/05/31.
- Rathouský, J., Analýza moderních softwarových architektur., Praha: České vysoké učení technické v Praze, (2021).
- Kromka M., Fidek P., Kostolny J., Developing Modular Information System with Microservice Technology (2020) ICETA 2020 - 18th IEEE International Conference on Emerging eLearning Technologies and Applications, pp. 358 - 363.
- Zaitseva, E., Levashenko, V., Construction of a reliability structure function based on uncertain data, IEEE Tran on Reliability, 65(4), pp.1710 1723, 2016, DOI: 10.1109/TR.2016.2578948
- Zaitseva, E., Levashenko, V., Reliability analysis of Multi-State System and Multiple-Valued Logic, International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, 34(6), 2017, pp. 862-878

## Special Track 4

# E-learning for providing "augmented" mathematics education at University level

*Organizers:* Antonella Montone, University of Bari Albano Giovannina, University of Salerno Fiorentino michele, University of Bari Anna Pierri, University of Salerno
#### Do 5W+H commute in Communication of Science?

Maurizio Dabbicco<sup>1 [3-0571-1517]</sup>, Sandra Lucente<sup>1[2-1095-8402]</sup>, Franco Liuzzi<sup>2</sup> and Massimo Trotta<sup>3[2-8220-4597]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Università degli Studi di Bari « Aldo Moro », Dipartimento Interateneo di Fisica « Michelangelo Merlin », via Giorgio Amendola 173, 70126 Bari, Italy
<sup>2</sup> The Factory S.r.l., via Emanuele Mola 54a, 70121 Bari, Italy

<sup>3</sup> Istituto per i Processi Chimico Fisici - Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche, Via Orabona 4 -70125 Bari, Italy

maurizio.dabbicco@uniba.it

#### **1** The commutative property

We have been taught two non-trivial things since primary school: the commutative property of addition in math and the 5W + H rule in telling.

The commutative property of addition depends on the meaning we attribute to the noun "addition". Implicitly, we immediately focus our attention on numbers whose addition is commutative 5 + 3 = 8 = 3 + 5. Yet, moving beyond the implicit reference to numbers, non-commutative relations become frequent. The classic example comes with the use of letters where their addition means arranging the letters one after the other. It immediately pops up that  $\mathbf{o} + \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{on}$  is different from  $\mathbf{n} + \mathbf{o} = \mathbf{no}$ . This beautiful example is often proposed to primary school students to emphasize the commutative property of the addition between numbers and that nothing must be implicitly assumed. The example is taken from the book written by Giorgio Parisi to popularize his studies that led him to the Nobel Prize in 2021 [1]. The commutative property is trivial also for the multiplication among numbers, but it is violated by the multiplication among matrices and operators in general. How rich is the non-commutativity of operators in quantum mechanics? The Heisenberg uncertainty principle itself depends on this failure. Here, starting from Pietro Greco's intuition of extending the Heisenberg uncertainty principle to the communication realm [2]. Let **r**=rigour and **c**=communicability one has  $\Delta \mathbf{r} \Delta \mathbf{c} \ge$ k>0. Hence popularization of science cannot reach the maximum of the rigor ( $\Delta r = 0$ ) or the maximum of the communicability ( $\Delta c = 0$ ) without losing the complementary quality. Greater communicability means less rigor and, conversely, greater rigor leads to loss of communicability. The 5W + H narrative structure is very easy to explain and, nonetheless, very profound. Note that the 5W + H structure also contains the arithmetic operation of addition and, hence, attention should be paid to its commutative property. Every time we use this narrative structure, we should ask ourselves what it is best to start with. Should we begin with What or should Where come first? Or is When? Who? Perhaps Why or How? What comes next? Which one should play the role of the third in the row, and last, even if not the least. This narrative is used also to structure the programs of many teaching courses. In a history teaching course where and when are swapped the result changes from synchronicity to diachronicity. Similarly, the order is relevant in an starting Mathematics course if the set theory (what) is taught ahead of the algebraic inequality (how) or the opposite.

#### 2 Science communication at the University of Bari

In 2020, after the outbreak of Covid-19 pandemic, the University of Bari "Aldo Moro" launched its first course **Science Communication** that now reached its third edition enrolling roughly 100 students. Following the analysis of the first [3] and the second [4] editions, we here present the analysis of the online course structure that has been adapted over the years, comparing the three editions against the order chosen in the **5W** + **H** structure. In Table 1, "**Why**" is the motivation that leads to communicate the scientific results and knowledge; "**What**" corresponds to the contents of the science communication; "**Who**" means to have in mind public and communicator, especially in public speaking contests; "**Where**" identifies the different communication channels, social media, blogs, newspapers, scientific journals; "**When**" refers to the different timing of the communication and also to the editorial plan; "**How**" considers the communication strategies (visual identity, brand protection, marketing) and also the technical skills of image creation and video making.

| Table 1. | Ordering of the | program | sections  | identified | by the 5W  | and | H in the | three e | editions | of |
|----------|-----------------|---------|-----------|------------|------------|-----|----------|---------|----------|----|
|          |                 | the Sc  | cience Co | ommunica   | tion cours | е   |          |         |          |    |

| 2020  | 2021  | 2022  |  |
|-------|-------|-------|--|
| Why   | Why   | Why   |  |
| Where | When  | How   |  |
| What  | Where | Where |  |
| Who   | Who   | When  |  |
| When  | How   | Who   |  |
| How   | What  | What  |  |

Measurable qualitive parameters and subjective experiences will be used to assess the three science communication courses. Qualitive parameters include student satisfaction, teaching and studying payload, and acquired technical skills while the personal experiences account for the level of confidence among the participants, the empathy felt during the courses, and the involvement during class discussions.

#### 3 Conclusions

The analysis will bring to yet another, possibly more effective, organization of the 5W + H for the program of future editions. Nevertheless, back to Pietro Greco's uncertainty principle, we are gaining awareness that the optimal balance between communicability and rigor is quite a thin red line.

The project Pandora - Polymath Agora and New Dimensional Observatory on Research in Aerospace - Università di Bari is acknowledged for financial support.

- 1. Parisi, G.: In un volo di storni. Le meraviglie dei sistemi complessi. Rizzoli, Milano (2021).
- Greco, P.: Quale comunicazione della scienza per i paesi emergenti. J. Science Comm. 4(3), 1-6 (2005).
- Dabbicco, M., Lucente, S., Liuzzi, F.: Outcome of a pilot course in science communication highlights the relevance of student motivation. In: 2<sup>nd</sup> HELMeTO International Workshop on Higher Education Learning Methodologies and Technologies Online, BoA, pp.93-96 (2020). ISBN 978-88-99978-22-8.
- Dabbicco, M., Liuzzi, F., Lucente, S., Trotta, M.: I corsi di comunicazione scientifica per studenti universitari. Analisi di una esperienza che esprime una necessità. Quaderni di Comunicazione Scientifica 1, 195-202 (2021). ISBN: 9791259930682 - ISSN: 2785-3918.

# ASYMPTOTE: A tool for teaching and learning mathematics online

Maria Flavia Mammana<sup>1</sup>, Eugenia Taranto<sup>1</sup>, Despoina Koutsomanoli Filippaki<sup>2</sup>, Georgios Fesakis<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Catania, Via Santa Sofia 64, 95123 Catania, Italy
<sup>2</sup> University of the Aegean, Dimokratias 1, 851 32 Rhodes, Greece mariaflavia.mammana@unict.it

#### 1 Extended Abstract

Due to Corona pandemic in March 2020, the need to develop new learning environments that also guide the learner remotely was evident [1, 2]. In this context, the Erasmus+ ASYMPTOTE project was developed. ASYMPTOTE is an acronym for *Adaptive Synchronous Mathematics Learning Paths for Online Teaching in Europe*. This project is carried out by seven institutions from five European countries (Germany, Greece, Italy, Portugal and Spain). The project aims to develop an adaptive, synchronous and mobile system for online mathematics education in Europe.

ASYMPTOTE therefore intends to provide a system for the teaching and learning of mathematics from lower secondary school to university, i.e. a system that is not limited to a specific topic, but provides learning tasks and learning graphs (LG) for a wide range of mathematical topics. A LG is defined as a directed graph, where each vertex represents a learning task, based on a learning trajectory as the intended and expected way of learning [3]. ASYMPTOTE's LG includes further tasks to deepen students' understanding of the mathematical topic (challenge tasks) or support tasks on a more basic level. Therefore, it is possible to define three general states of tasks that constitute a LG:

- Main tasks are compulsory tasks. Thus, a student who has solved all the main tasks has met and learnt the minimum requirements of the topic on which the LG was constructed. This implies that students should solve as many main tasks as possible.
- Supporting tasks are linked on the right side to the corresponding main task. They are related to the same topic but in a lower level and they are provided in order to help on the solution of the main task. This may be a simpler version of the task or the repetition of a topic needed to solve the main task. Several supporting tasks can be linked to the same main task.
- Challenge tasks are linked on the left side to the corresponding main task. They are designed to be more difficult, challenging students who finish faster or who are willing to go deeper into the topic. The challenge tasks are unlocked after solving the respective main task or previous challenge tasks, as several challenge tasks can be associated with one main task.

Through the combination of compulsory main tasks, optional challenge tasks and individually selected support tasks, the architecture of such a LG guarantees two fundamental concepts. Firstly, the main tasks aim to cover the most important concepts of the mathematical topic that, for example, were taught in the previous lesson at school. In this way, by solving as many main tasks as possible and using support tasks if necessary, students can practise the basic topic and achieve a deeper understanding of it. Secondly, the entire learning process is self-guided and autonomous according to Deci & Ryan's self-determination theory [4]. Therefore, each learner can choose a personal path through their LG, having the opportunity to work autonomously on tasks that meet their own level of performance.

ASYMPTOTE is a system consisting of two components, taking into account the teacher's and the student's side. On the one hand, students are provided with a smartphone application that can support them in completing the assigned mathematical tasks. On the other hand, teachers can create tasks and LGs through the system's web portal. In the web portal, teachers can share the tasks they create adding them to the already existing repository of tasks and more importantly, they can assign LGs to their students while monitoring their learning process through the digital classroom functions.

These possibilities allow teachers to provide individualized learning and support to their students. Within the Digital Classroom, teachers can monitor student's individual working progress, track student's engagement and directly contact students via chat. Simultaneously, the "Teamwork" mode involves setting up a group chat for synchronous and text-based interactions to support collaborative task processing, discussion, and reflection [3]. Meanwhile, the reward-based system applied, facilitates students' engagement, and puts the app in the gamification spectrum of education.

All said places the system into the general framework of Garrison's Community of Inquiry [5], designed for e-learning. This model envisages a number of collaborative interactions that contribute to generating a remote presence that fosters the development of such a community. The teacher plays the role of mediator and facilitator in the creation of such as community [5]. Indeed, teachers are called upon to create the organisational and didactical conditions for quality collaboration between learners to take place. Therefore, especially in an online learning environment where learners can be easily distracted, become passive or feel isolated and disconnected from their peers and the teacher, it is important to establish connections that are able to create and maintain an active, interactive, collaborative and engaging online learning environment.

A beta version of the ASYMPTOTE system was delivered in May 2022. Both the web portal and the app are free of charge and GDPR-compliant. The ASYMPTOTE app is compatible with both Android and iOS devices.

During this presentation, the potential of the new system and any results that will be collected in the meantime will be highlighted.

#### References

 Flores, M.A., Swennen, A.: The COVID-19 pandemic and its effects on teacher education. European Journal of Teacher Education 43, 453–456 (2020).

- Hall, T., Connolly, C., Ó Grádaigh, S., Burden, K., Kearney, M., Schuck, S., Bottema, J., Cazemier, G., Hustinx, W., Evens, M., Koenraad, T., Makridou, E., Kosmas, P.: Education in precarious times: a comparative study across six countries to identify design priorities for mobile learning in a pandemic. ILS 121, 433–442 (2020).
- Barlovits, S., Caldeira, A., Fesakis, G., Jablonski, S., Koutsomanoli Filippaki, D., Lázaro, C., Ludwig, M., Mammana, M.F., Moura, A., Oehler, D.-X.K., Recio, T., Taranto, E., & Volika, S.: Adaptive, Synchronous, and Mobile Online Education: Developing the ASYMPTOTE Learning Environment. Mathematics 10, 1628 (2022). DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/math10101628
- Deci, E.L.; Ryan, R.M.: Self-determination theory: A macrotheory of human motivation, development, and health. Canadian psychology/Psychologie canadienne 49, 182 (2008).
- 5. Garrison, D.R.: E-learning in the 21st century: A community of inquiry framework for research and practice. 3rd edn. Routledge, London, United Kingdom (2017).

### The role of feedback in a formative assessment path for pre-service Mathematics teachers: the case of rational numbers

Michele Giuliano Fiorentino<sup>1[0000-0003-1557-4878]</sup> and Antonella Montone<sup>1[0000-0002-4450-1590]</sup>
<sup>1</sup> University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy
michele.fiorentino@uniba.it
antonella.montone@uniba.it

#### 1 Introduction

The workshop concerns a formative assessment activity that has been implemented in the Primary Education Sciences and Mathematics Degree Courses, specifically in Mathematics Education subjects for Mathematics pre-service teachers, of which the authors are lecturers of the courses. The workshop activities follow a structure divided into various phases in which the students worked in small groups: solving a problem concerning rational numbers, peer assessment of the course participants' solutions and sending an improvement feedback, subsequent modification of the solution proposal to the problem after the feedback received from peers and finally a feedback from the course teachers on the solutions' evolution. The role of technology is fundamental, as the workshop is online. It plays an important role in peer assessment, ensuring the random distribution of the tasks to be reviewed and the monitoring and sharing of feedback from teachers. One of the difficulties that the student, future mathematics' teacher, manifests in solving a problem is taking for granted and obvious the reasons behind the choices of problem-solving strategies.

The aim of the work is to analyze how the communicative aspect related to solving processes of a mathematics problem by students, improves through the assessment of problem's solution produced by peers.

#### 2 Theoretical framework

The formative assessment processes allow students to verify their learning levels and plan and implement the necessary strategies to achieve the pre-established learning objectives [1]. This occurs through interactions with the teacher and classmates. These activities also support the professional training of teachers allowing collaboration between them [2]. In the Formative Assessment practices, the feedback referred to, concerns the information that each student provides on the activity produced by other students and receives on his own activity and, according to Ramaprasad [3], becomes formative only if it allows the student to evolve his own performance. Therefore, it is necessary that the feedback highlights errors, inaccuracies and possible deficiencies. Hattie and Timperley [4] identify four types of feedback: feedback on the task, feedback on the execution of the task, feedback for self-regulation, feedback on the individual as a person. The feedback must follow some specific criteria [5][6] defined by the teacher:

correctness, completeness and clarity. Technology also plays a major role [2], as it allows to support the formative assessment processes in its three main functions: sending and viewing; processing and analysis of the data collected during the lessons; provide an interactive environment, where students can interact to work individually or in groups on a task or to explore mathematical / scientific content.

In this paper we focus on two types of feedback: feedback on the execution of the task and feedback for self-regulation. The research questions we try to answer are: 1. How does providing and receiving feedback on problem solving help improve communication and problem-solving strategies? 2. How does feedback make the future teacher more aware of their knowledge?"

#### **3** Research methodology: the workshop

The designed workshop was developed in the following four phases with the relative requests to the students:

Phase I: resolution of the arithmetic problem concerning rational numbers

Phase II: review of the solutions provided by peers, answering the following questions relating to the criteria of correctness, completeness and clarity [6]: Are there any mistakes in the result or in the resolution process? Are all the answers given? Is the theoretical reference, if any, correct? Are the mathematical symbols used correctly? Are there parts or leaps of reasoning missing? Or unwarranted conclusions? Can you find all the necessary steps in the reasoning? Is the reasoning expressed clearly and unambiguously? Are the sentences understandable?

Phase III: request to eventually modify their solutions based on the feedback made and received.

Phase IV: Feedback from the lecturers of the course on the evolution of solutions.

All the phases were carried out through a technological platform that allowed interactions among students in the working group, the immediate sending of feedback and the processing and analysis of the data collected during the lessons and of the protocols delivered by the students after the three phases.

#### 4 Discussion and results

The review carried out by the students was revealed to be an adequate tool for the workshop. The feedback's analysis sent by each group of peer students and the analysis of the changes made after receiving the feedback highlighted that this type of activity has favored an improvement in communication and in problem solving strategies. It is interesting to observe how the revision had a double value: on the one hand receiving the feedback improve the solution of the problem, on the other hand the revision phase itself allowed to have a greater awareness of the mathematical concepts involved and to improve own proposal both from a communicative point of view and for the mathematical contents. This work has allowed future teachers to gain greater awareness of their mathematical knowledge and the importance of communication.

- Cusi, A., Morselli, F. & Sabena, C. Promoting formative assessment in a connected classroom environment: design and implementation of digital resources. ZDM Mathematics Education, 49(5), 755–767 (2017).
- Albano, G., Dello Iacono, U., & Pierri, A. Structured online teachers' collaboration for fostering professional development. In H. Norko & D. Potari (eds): Teachers of Mathematics Working and Learning in Collaborative Groups, ICMI-25 Study Conference Proc. (pp. 573-580) February 3-7, 2020 Lisbon, Portugal. Disponibile al link: http://icmistudy25.ie.ulisboa.pt/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/1.6.2020ICMIPreProceedings.pdf (2020).
- 3. Ramaprasad, A. On the definition of feedback. Behavioural Science, 28(1), 4-13 (1983).
- Hattie, J., & Temperley, H. The power of feedback. Review of Educational Research, 77(1), 81–112 (2007).
- Aldon, G., Cusi, A., Morselli, F., Panero, M., & Sabena, C. Formative assessment and technology: reflections developed through the collaboration between teachers and researchers In G. Aldon, F. Hitt, L. Bazzini & U. Gellert, Mathematics and technology: a CIEAEM source book. Series 'Advances in Mathematics Education'. Springer International Publishing (2017).
- 6. Sabena, C., Albano, G., & Pierri, A. Formative assessment workshops as a tool to support pre-service teacher education on argumentation (2017).

# Online asynchronous interactions on mathematics and mathematics teaching

Anna Pierri<sup>1</sup> [0000-0002-9612-7879] and Eugenia Taranto<sup>2</sup>[0000-0001-6093-6618]

<sup>1</sup> University of Salerno, Fisciano (SA), Italy <sup>2</sup> University of Catania, Catania (CT), Italy

Borba and Llinares (2012) report "Interest in online distance education has grown exponentially in the mathematics education community and specifically in mathematics teacher education" (p.697). Indeed, the most recent developments in technology have offered new communication interfaces, such as learning management systems and elearning platforms used both for hybrid training courses and for totally online courses, such as MOOCs. The potential of online environments, such as the use of e-learning platforms, is especially evident also in helping students counteract the mathematical difficulties they encounter in the transition from secondary school to university. In such a contest, the technology can play a key role in affecting the relationship between students and mathematics, although the literature in this direction is not very exhaustive.

Gueudet (2008), indeed, underlines the need for more research on the role of technology in the secondary-tertiary transition: "The question of the effective and possible uses of technology in the secondary-tertiary transition has not been researched yet (...) Could technology be helpful to foster novice students' autonomy, for example by using appropriate online resources?" (p. 252). Also Llinares and Olivero (2008) underline that the use of new communication tools (forums, chats, ...) plays a central role in the generation of communities of learning, which are formed by people who engage in a process of collective learning. These studies were taken up by Bardelle and Di Martino (2012) whose conducted a theoretical exploration of the potential of online environments in helping students to overcome the mathematical difficulties in the transition from secondary school to university.

With the aim of trying to further investigate how the use of online resources could improve university students' learning, the authors of this abstract have designed online resources that provided for asynchronous interaction between students (Albano et al., 2020, Pierri, 2020). Students thus have the opportunity to check their learning levels, plan and implement, in interaction with the teacher and classmates, the strategies necessary to achieve the given learning objectives. Just as an example, we have submitted a simple mathematical task related to calculating the inverse of a matrix. The teacher, through the forum, shows two different resolutions of the exercise and asks students "what is the difference between the two ways of working?"

S1: [...To reduce to reduced steps in the first method we first normalized the pivots by making them 1, then canceled the elements above them. In the second method we first canceled the elements above the pivots and then normalized them. The result remains unchanged...]

S2: [...With reference to the second resolution, there are calculation errors...]

We can thus see how student S1 refers to appropriate theoretical recalls, S2's observation is purely computational.

One of the authors of this abstract (Taranto, 2020) has been involved since 2015 in the design, development, and conduction of both national and international MOOCs for mathematics teacher training. Two qualities emerged in this context. On the one hand, we have what Taranto et al. (2017) define as plasticity, that is, the desire to establish interactions transpires in the online community of the MOOC, even if it is neither simple nor immediate for these to take shape in a broad and articulated way. The sharing processes (of materials, thoughts, ideas, experiences) then take place using various technologies (from web 1.0 onwards) that coexist and complement each other and are used by the teachers in training. This aspect is interesting and little highlighted in the literature. It is something similar to the multimodal interactions that occur in the class-room thanks to the activation of different registers. Taranto et al. (2017) called this a technological multimodality.

In this paper, we are interested in investigating whether such qualities also emerge when students interact online using digital resources. Therefore, the research question guiding the study is the following: to what extent and how is it possible to delineate the presence of plasticity and technological multi-modality in asynchronous learning by university students?

In the seminar, we will explore online asynchronous interaction realized by using specific resources of a Moodle e-learning platform, such as Forum and the Workshop modules, highlighting if and how the two qualities have emerged.

- Borba, M. D. C., & Llinares, S. (2012). Online mathematics teacher education: overview of an emergent field of research. ZDM, 44(6), 697-704.
- Gueudet, G. (2008). Investigating the secondary-tertiary transition. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, 67, 237–254.
- Llinares, S., & Olivero, F. (2008). Virtual communities and networks of prospective mathematics teachers. In K. Krainer & T. Wood (Eds.), *Participants in Mathematics Teacher Education* (pp. 155–179). Sense Publisher.
- Bardelle, C., & Di Martino, P. (2012). E-learning in secondary-tertiary transition in mathematics: for what purpose? *ZDM*, *44*(6), 787-800.Albano G., Pierri A., Sabena C. (2020). Enhancing formative assessment practices in undergraduate courses by means of online workshops. In: Barzel, B.; Bebernik, R.; Göbel, L.; Pohl, M.; Ruchniewicz, H.; Schacht, F.; Thurm, D. Proceedings of the 14th International Conference on Technology in Mathematics Teaching ICTMT 14. p. 155-162, Essen, Germany, 22-25 July ,2019, doi: 10.17185/duepublico/70753
- Pierri A (2020). Formative peer-review practices in online environment to promote the undergraduate students' mathematical thinking. *Quaderni di ricerca in didattica*, vol. 8, pp. 53-60.
- Taranto, E., Arzarello, F., Robutti, O., Alberti, V., Labasin, S. & Gaido, S. (2017). Analyzing MOOCs in terms of their potential for teacher collaboration: The Italian experience. In Dooley, T. & Gueudet, G. (Eds.). *Proceedings of the Tenth Congress of European Society*

for Research in Mathematics Education (CERME10, February 1 - 5, 2017), pp. 2478-2485. Dublin, Ireland: DCU Institute of Education and ERME, ISBN: 978-1-873769-73-7.

7. Taranto, E., & Arzarello, F. (2020). Math MOOC UniTo: An Italian project on MOOCs for mathematics teacher education, and the development of a new theoretical framework. *ZDM – The International Journal on Mathematics Education*, 52(5), 843-858. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11858-019-01116-x

# Empowerment of in-service teachers through the use of technology at different levels

Francesca Alessio<sup>1[0000-0002-4460-6501]</sup>, Chiara de Fabritiis<sup>1[[0000-0001-8496-1834]</sup> and Agnese Ilaria Telloni<sup>1[0000-0001-8159-8144]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Università Politecnica delle Marche, 60131 Ancona, Italy f.g.alessio@univpm.it, fabritiis@dipmat.univpm.it, a.i.tellomi@univpm.it

#### 1 Introduction

The paper describes a project concerning the design and implementation of an educational path devoted to in-service lower secondary school teachers (ISTs). The aim of the project is to increase the teachers' technological skills as well as their awareness, by involving them in designing digital educational resources for their students.

The educational program, funded by the Regional School Office of Marche (Italy) and promoted by Università Politecnica delle Marche (Ancona, Italy), has been fully carried out in remote learning.

Recent studies in mathematics education have been focused on the teachers' engagement in digital resource design and the effectiveness of the designed instructional materials [1], [2]. This paper sets in that stream and should contribute to investigate the perceived effects of the design resource process for the teachers' professional development in terms of metacognitive practices [3]. In particular, the educational path aimed at improving the participants' *awareness in counsel* (i.e. the awareness needed to be a "real teacher" [4], p. 243) about the potentialities of the integration of technological tools in their teaching to foster students' learning.

In the laboratory part of the program, the ISTs worked in groups, according to the idea that the methodological aspects and the benefits of cooperative learning are better understood by direct experience and demonstration [5].

#### 2 The project

The educational program involved 114 ISTs of lower secondary school and was carried out through the conference platform Zoom. The participants were exposed to:

- 4 sessions of two hours and half plenary lectures concerning the following themes: difficulties in Mathematics; the potential of the software GeoGebra and its community; Euclidean geometry of plane and space with GeoGebra;
- 4 two-hours laboratory sessions, during which they worked in breakout rooms to design and implement GeoGebra applets.

The educational path also envisaged 12 hours of groups' autonomous practice devoted to the elaboration of a final project work.

The plenary lectures aimed to show the opportunities offered by the software Geo-Gebra and its functionalities (drag and drop, check boxes, input fields, ...) to support the students' overcoming of common difficulties and misconceptions in Mathematics. During the laboratory sessions, the ISTs remotely worked in groups of 4-5 people and were asked: to construct their first GeoGebra applet by following some accurate guiding instructions, so that they become familiar with the software; then to discuss the students' typical difficulties concerning a specific mathematical topic; and, finally, to design and implement digital resources aiming to foster the overcoming of these hardships. The ISTs jointly wrote a design sheet and, after the implementation of the applets, a sheet containing a metacognitive analysis about the resources they created, guided by stimulus questions. The tutors, among them there were all the authors of this paper, were available to support the ISTs during and between the sessions.

In the first laboratory meetings, the ISTs' activity has been scaffolded by worksheets guiding the participants to the implementation of GeoGebra applets focused on different mathematical topics and with different educational goals (visualization, exploration, remediation, self-assessment,...). In the subsequent meetings the scaffolding gradually faded [6, 7], so that the teachers were involved both in decision-making processes and in metacognitive reflections.

In this study, within the research framework concerning the different levels of awareness needed to be a "real teacher" [4], we address the following explicit research questions: (1) Does the designed educational path improve the participants' awareness in counsel? (2) What is the ISTs' perception of the educational path for their professional development?

#### 3 Results

To give an answer to our research questions, we used a case study methodology [8] and collected different kinds of data: the design sheet written by the groups of ISTs; the GeoGebra applet created by the groups of ISTs as a final project work; the sheet containing the metacognitive analysis of that GeoGebra applet and its educational potentialities; the individual answers of the ISTs to a final questionnaire.

The three researchers separately carried out the analysis of the productions of each group. They compared the design and the metacognitive reflection with the produced applet, identified and coded the excerpts of the ISTs' individual answers to the questionnaire referred to the perceived impact of the educational path. Finally, the main emerging themes have been discussed to reach an agreement.

The analysis allowed us to highlight a change of perspective of most the ISTs. They shifted from an occasional use of simple GeoGebra files (mainly created by others) to show some basic geometrical properties to the potential plan to autonomously producing GeoGebra applets with different and more complex educational goals, including inducing *shifts of attention* [5] in the students. This suggested that the ISTs' awareness in counsel about the potentiality of a careful use of technology increased.

Moreover, most ISTs perceived an improvement of their professional development in terms of technological and didactical skills, mainly fostered by their engagement and communication within the cooperative activities carried out in remote learning.

- 1. Jones, K., Pepin, B.: Research on mathematics teachers as partners in task design. Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education 19(2-3), 105–122 (2016).
- Kynigos, C., Kolovou, A.: Teachers as Designers of Digital Educational Resources for Creative Mathematical Thinking. In: Fan, L. et al. (eds) Research on Mathematics Textbooks and Teachers' Resources. ICME-13 2018, Monographs. Springer, Cham (2018).
- 3. Jaworski, B.: Theory and Practice in Mathematics Teaching Development: Critical Inquiry as a Mode of Learning in Teaching. Journal of Mathematics Teacher Educ 9, 187–211 (2006).
- 4. Mason, J.: Enabling teachers to be real teachers: Necessary levels of awareness and structure of attention. Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education, 1(3), 243–267 (1998).
- Ghaith, G.M. Shaaban, K.A.: Cooperative learning and in-service teacher training: a suggested approach. TESL Reporter, 28(1), 25-31 (1995).
- Collins, A., Brown, J.S., Newman, S.E.: Cognitive apprenticeship: Teaching the crafts of reading, writing, and mathematics. In: Resnick, L.B. (ed.) Knowing, Learning, and Instruction: Essays in Honor of Robert Glaser (pp. 453–494). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum (1989).
- Bakker, A., Smit, J. & Wegerif, R.: Scaffolding and dialogic teaching in mathematics education: introduction and review. ZDM Mathematics Education 47, 1047–1065 (2015).
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K.: Research methods in education. Routledge, London and New York (2002).

# Pre-service primary teachers' professional development through an educational path in remote learning designed with an interdisciplinary perspective

Michele Giuliano Fiorentino<sup>1[0000-0003-1557-4878]</sup>, Antonella Montone<sup>1[0000-0002-4450-1590]</sup>, Pier Giuseppe Rossi<sup>2[0000-0001-9801-6307]</sup> and Agnese Ilaria Telloni<sup>2[0000-0001-8159-8144]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy <sup>2</sup> University of Macerata, Italy michele.fiorentino@uniba.it, antonella.montone@uniba.it, agnese.telloni@unimc.it, piergiuseppe.rossi@unimc.it

#### 1 Introduction

Recently interdisciplinarity and teachers' professional development have been indicated as two of the major challenges for Mathematics Education [1]. Moreover, the need of deepening affordances and limitations of remote teacher education has been highlighted and more experimental studies on this approach should be carried out [2].

In this paper we present an experimental study carried out within an interdisciplinary perspective [3] and fully conducted in remote learning by three researchers in Mathematics Education and a researcher in Teacher Education. The research involved preservice primary teachers (PTs) from two different Italian universities who were asked to collaboratively work online to solve an arithmetic-algebraic task.

The study pursues two intertwined goals: from an educational point of view, it aims at fostering PTs' professional development through a pedagogical device [4] involving a careful use of communication technology fostering the peer-discussion; from the research point of view, we are interested in investigating to what extent the use of a pedagogical concept like the Core Concept (CC) could support the achievement of a key mathematical goal, such as the generalization of the concept of relation [5].

The CCs are essential concepts recurring along a disciplinary curriculum and having an organizing value for the construction of knowledge; they mirror the structure of a discipline, encompassing epistemological and pedagogical aspects [6]. Some examples of CCs in Mathematics are "spaces and figures", "measurement", "number", "proof", "relations and functions" [7].

#### 2 The project and the structure of the educational path

The project involved 330 PTs from the Italian universities of Macerata and Bari. The PTs of the university of Macerata attended the course of Teacher Education in their third year of study, while the PTs of the university of Bari attended the course of Mathematics Education, in their fourth year. Along the educational path, the PTs were parted in small groups of people of the same university and required to solve an arithmetic-

algebraic task working online. Then, they were exposed to two one-hour lectures on the CC in general terms and on the CC in Mathematics and, after having worked together with a group of the other univesity, they have had the possibility to rework their first solution. In the next phase, the PTs were required to reflect metacognitively on the whole experience. Finally, the teachers of the courses taught an online lecture, in order to analyze the PTs' productions and give a joint feedback. The PTs provided their solutions and metacognitive reflections through three online open-ended questionnaires.

Each component of the pedagogical device [4] had a specific function within the educational path: 1) the arithmetic-algebraic task, designed according to the Radford's model on the level of generalizations [8], should have brought out a cognitive conflict and induced the generalization of the concept of relation; 2) the peer discussion, completely carried out at distance through different communication channels, should have fostered the comparison of different viewpoints and supported either the improvement of communication skills and the evolution of the collective solutions and metacognitive reflections; 3) the CC as underlying theoretical element, should have favored an easier access to the mathematical content by the PTs, supporting the overcoming of the cognitive conflict, and fostered the PTs' transition from the student-perspective to the teacher-perspective.

#### 3 Results

To investigate the research goal, we collected and analyzed the answers to the openended online questionnaires, where the PTs shared their solutions to the arithmeticalgebraic tasks, their reworked solutions and their metacognitive reflections.

The PTs' solutions to the task have been analyzed according to Radford's model on levels of generalization [8]. Our analysis allowed us to highlight a significant transition of PTs from the lower level of generalization, namely the factual level, to higher ones, namely the contextual and symbolic levels [8], which testifies the evolution of their cognitive processes towards the generalization of the concept of relation. Moreover, the PTs' reflections highlighted that the CC played a crucial role in this evolution. The CC revealed its value as a structuring and structured element, in a mutual interplay with the mathematical goal. It gave structure to the educational path, promoting the PTs professional development and favouring their access to the mathematical content; conversely, it turned out to be structured by its instrumental use within the mathematical task, which favoured the PTs' understanding of the value of the CC for the design for learning. Further, the metacognitive reflections shared by the PTs allowed us to highlight the key role of the peer discussion, fully carried out at distance by different communication technology channels. Indeed, the PTs declared that the peer discussion fostered the comparison between different viewpoints (students from different universities, attending different courses), and their progressive assumption of the teacher-perspective.

- Bakker, A., Cai, J. & Zenger, L. Future themes of mathematics education research: an international survey before and during the pandemic. Educational Studies Mathematics 107, 1– 24 (2021).
- Perry, T., Findon, M. & Cordingley, P. Remote and Blended Teacher Education. A Rapid Review. Education Sciences, 11(8), 453 (2021).
- 3. Choi, S & Richards, K Interdisciplinary Discourse, Palgrave Macmilan (2017).
- Berten A. Dispositif, médiation, créativité: petite généalogie. Dans Hermès, La Revue 1999/3 (25), 31-47 (1999).
- Montone, A., Rossi, P.G. & Telloni, A.I. Promoting pre-service teachers' evolution in Radford's levels of generalization through the Core Concepts. In M. Inprasitha, N. Changsri & N. Boonsena, (Eds.), Proceedings of PME 44 (p. 167, Vol.1). Khon Kaen, Thailand: PME (2021).
- Crosswhite, P.L., Anderson L.C. Physiology core concepts in the classroom: reflections from faculty. Advances in Physiology Education, 44(4), 640-645 (2020).
- Robutti, O. Lavorare per nuclei fondanti e competenze: il caso della matematica", in "Una filosofia per i nuovi curricoli. Annali della Pubblica Istruzione, vol. XLVI n.1-2; p. 243-248 (2000).
- Radford, L. Factual, Contextual and Symbolic Generalizations in Algebra. In M. van den Hueuvel-Panhuizen (Ed.), Proceedings of PME 25 (Vol.4, pp.81-88). The Netherlands: Freudenthal Institute, Utrecht University (2001).

# Exploring Affective Outcomes in a Structured Online Problem-solving Learning Experience at University Level

Annamaria Miranda [0000-0003-3210-7964]

Università di Salerno, Fisciano SA 84084, Italy amiranda@unisa.it

#### 1 Theoretical Background and research context

Problem solving has a central role in mathematics education as it provides experience of those key processes that are involved in exploring, conjecturing, proving, representing, monitoring [1], [2]. A problem-solving process develops at different synergistic levels each related to multifaceted competencies: metacognitive [3], cognitive, affective. In this context, inspired by a national research project [4], the key idea of personifying by cognitive roles the problem-solving process [5] represents the engine of an ongoing research on the construction of problem-solving undergraduate student's competencies, begun with an analysis of some metacognitive aspects that students experienced by playing the roles [6]. Each role corresponds to a cognitive function coming into play when a mathematician faces a problem: Boss, Promoter, Critical mind, Blogger. On this strand, we proceed the study with a magnifying lens on the affective level, based on beliefs, emotions, attitudes, values, motivations, and all other emotional aspects influencing student's decisions and actions, all dealing with affective competencies. According to Goldin's idea, affective competencies "refer to the capabilities of an individual to make effective use of affect" [7]. We focus on the analysis of student's perception of affective outcomes at the end of a problem-solving online experience.

#### 2 Methodology

The experience, designed in four problem-solving activities, involved fifty Mathematics undergraduate students, attending a Topology course [8], working in three groups of 16-20, each divided into 4 subgroups engaged at different levels. One, the *Solver group*, devoted to collectively solve the problem, while the remaining three, the *Onlooker groups*, critically observing the first one. Each student also acted according to one of the cognitive roles, so she has been associated with a role-pair, varying along the activities. Groups had at their disposal a digital environment, consisting of various tools: a) TEAMS Microsoft platform to communicate online; b) a collaborative board MIRO [9], enabling to collectively brainstorm, by adding post-it, importing images, drawing and connecting ideas, exchanging comments by chat, according to [10]; c) two Word Google-doc, one personal and the other one shared with the subgroup, to report the reflections concerning the individual role played and the collective mathematical process and product, respectively. At the end of all the activities students were also required to answer a questionnaire related to the personal experiences they lived. In this paper we focus on a qualitative analysis of the first affective outcomes, looking at the students' answers in: - the personal Logbook: *Describe how you played your role and what your contribution was*. *Do you think that the interventions related to your role were useful to achieve the goal? Why? Would you have done something differently? Why?* - the questionnaire: *What sensations did you feel during the activities? Have they changed over time? How? Beyond the exam, what do you have left of this experience? Would you recommend a friend of yours to have a similar experience? Why? Tell us*.

#### **3** Preliminary findings

To shed light on the affect impact of the problem-solving activities, we analyzed the Logbook and the questionnaires of 24 students. The experience's meta-affective potentialities came out. The activities helped students to overcome some affective obstacles.

As an example, concerning the passage from fear to satisfaction, and from stuck to *fluidity* the students St.1 and St.12 say, respectively:

**St.1**: Initially I admit that I found a bit of difficulty. Fortunately, however, I am not a person who gives up easily, so I rolled up my sleeves and tried my best to understand and apply all the concepts. In the end, I think I succeeded, and fear has given way to *satisfaction and a sense of fulfillment* for all the work done.

**St.12:** ...when I tried to solve the proposed problems I found it difficult and tended *to get stuck* in some phases of the resolution. During the activities this problem has improved a lot, I have learned to think about alternative solutions and to reflect thoroughly on the concepts studied without stopping on the surface.

The following excerpt seems to highlight the experience's meta-affective potentialities say. Student transforms positively the fear to make mistakes.

**St.17:** Before starting *I was very anxious* I didn't know what to expect. I didn't know any of the guys enrolled in the course, and the idea to have this kind of experience with strangers scared me a bit. During the first activity we were all very silent, we did not interact much, I think that in these circumstances there is always the *fear of making mistakes* and being "unable" and this slows down a bit. Afterwards all this has changed, we already knew what awaited us, we compared each other, we realized that *we necessarily had to make mistakes to get the solution*, and this also allowed us to create a more serene environment, making the work more *enjoyable and fun*.

#### 4 Conclusions

Our preliminary analysis seems to confirm that the structured cooperative problemsolving online experience, according to Albano et al.' model [5], joined with Thinking Classroom model [10], fosters the development of processes oriented to achieve affective and meta-affective competencies [7], in addition to those already outlined in our research path [6]. We hypothesize that this practice could also allow students to implement self-strategies oriented to achieve well-being goals and fostering performance goals and learning goals, in their self-regulated learning [11] [12] [13] [14] [15] [16].

- 1. Polya, G.: How to solve it: A new aspect of mathematical method. Princeton university press (1995).
- Carlson, M.P., Bloom, L.: The Cyclic Nature of Problem Solving: An Emergent Multidimensional Problem-Solving Framework. Educational Studies in Mathematics, 58(1), 45-75 (2005).
- Schoenfeld, A. H.: Learning to think mathematically: Problem solving, metacognition, and sense-making in mathematics. In: D. Grouws (eds.) Handbook for Research on Mathematics Teaching and Learning, pp. 334-370. MacMillan, New York (1992).
- PRIN 2015 "Digital Interactive Storytelling in Mathematics: a competence-based social approach", Prot. 20155NPRA5, national project funded by the Italian Ministry of Education, University and Research, Homepage, https://sites.google.com/unisa.it/dist-m
- Albano, G., Coppola, C., Dello Iacono, U.: What does 'Inside Out' mean in problem solving?. For the Learning of Mathematics, 41(2), 32-36 (2021).
- Albano, G., Antonini, S., Miranda, A.: Cognitive roles in cooperative problem solving at university level. In: Proceedings of 12th Congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education, to appear (2022).
- Brown, L., Evans, J., Hannula, M. S., Goldin, G.A., Malmivuori, M. L., Op 't Eynde, P., Philippou, G., Reid, D.A., Rodd, M., Vinner, S., & Zan, R." RF01: Affect in mathematics education exploring theoretical frameworks". In: M. J. Høines, & A. B. Fuglestad (eds.) Proceedings of the 28th Conference of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education. vol.1, pp. 107-136 (2004).
- Gallagher, K., Engelke Infante, N.: A possible framework for students' proving in introductory topology. 22nd Annual Conference on Research in Undergraduate Mathematics Education, Oklahoma City, OK (2019).
- 9. MIRO Homepage, https://www.miro.com/.
- Liljedahl, P.: Building thinking classrooms: Conditions for problem solving. In: P. Felmer, J. Kilpatrick, & E. Pekhonen (eds.) Posing and Solving Mathematical Problems: Advances and New Perspectives. Springer, New York, NY (2016).
- Wilkerson-Jerde, M. H., Wilensky, U. J.: How do mathematicians learn math? Resources and acts for constructing and understanding mathematics. Educational Studies in Mathematics, 78(1), 21–43 (2011).
- Lahdenperä, J., Postareff, L., Rämö.J.: Supporting Quality of Learning in University Mathematics: A Comparison of Two Instructional Designs. International Journal of Research in Undergraduate Mathematics Education, 5(1), 75–96, (2019).
- Kiely K.M.: Cognitive Function. In: Michalos A.C. (eds.) Encyclopedia of Quality of Life and Well-Being Research. Springer, Dordrecht (2014).
- Hascher, T.: Well-Being and Learning in School. In: Seel N.M. (eds) Encyclopedia of the Sciences of Learning, pp. 3453-3456. Springer, Boston, MA (2012).
- Pintrich, P. R. The Role of Goal Orientation in Self-Regulated Learning. In: Handbook of Self-Regulation, pp. 451–502. Elsevier (2000).
- Boekaerts, M.: Emotions, emotion regulation, and self-regulation of learning. In: B. J. Zimmerman & D. H. Schunk (eds.) Handbook of self-regulation of learning and performance, pp. 408– 425. Routledge (2011).

# Special Track 5

# STEAM Education old and new challenges in distance teaching/learning approaches in Higher Education

Organizers:

Benedetto Di Paola, University of Palermo Patrizia Campisi, University of Palermo Claudio Fazio, University of Palermo Renato Lombardo, University of Palermo Daniela Parrinello, University of Palermo Mária Slavickova, University in Bratislava

### Accessible websites as tools for approaching STEM education: a still open challenge

Sonia Ravera<sup>1,2</sup> [0000-0001-5223-7964] and Francesco Tranfaglia<sup>3</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Dipartimento di Scienze e Tecnologie Biologiche Chimiche e Farmaceutiche (STEBICEF), Università degli Studi di Palermo, via Archirafi 38, 90123 Palermo, Italy
 <sup>2</sup> Società Lichenologica Italiana, c/o Museo Regionale di Scienze Naturali, Via Giolitti 36, 10123 Torino, Italy
 <sup>3</sup> MobileSoft, via della Bufalotta 374, 00139 Roma, Italy

sonia.ravera@unipa.it

#### **1** The role of scientific societies in higher education

Associations, councils, scientific national and international societies (hereinafter "scientific societies") are dedicated to the dissemination and advancement of studies within their relevant topics. Scientific societies play a fundamental role in the representation of the discipline, with the aim of promoting research, training, definition of professional standards and verification of the quality of services. They are elements of value for the whole of society because they are able to offer an intellectual contribution regardless by governments, research committees, universities, industry, and they are capable of identifying the objectives and means of maximum effectiveness and added value [1].

The main aim of this research is to investigate the possibility of access to these tools by people with disabilities, in particular with visual impairments, through the choice of a case study that highlights a wide spectrum of access problems.

#### 2 Web accessibility as fundamental human right

The first contact between users and the scientific societies are their websites which also represent the showcase of their activities. From this point of view, web accessibility is a current issue and not to be underestimated. It is becoming increasingly easy to reach thanks to new technologies and the implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) which establish the access to information and communication technologies as a fundamental human right [2].

People with disabilities can greatly benefit from interacting with digital technologies and the Internet. For example, if up to thirty years ago a blind person who wanted to consult a book had to have recourse to a Braille printer or a cassette tape recording made by a voice donor, today the same person is faced with the potential possibility of finding it directly in digital format from an online library and read it immediately using the computer on his desk, equipped with the appropriate assistive technologies, speech synthesis or braille display. But this immense potential does not come about automatically. Software, websites, digital materials must be able to communicate with assistive technologies and adapt to the specific needs of people with disabilities.

The World Wide Web Consortium (W3C) defines the standards for the web. Since its inception, it has been involved with establishing technical standards and virtuous processes that can be referred to create content that results accessible even to people with disabilities. The Web Accessibility Initiative (WAI) of the W3C [3] is aimed at both Information and Communication Technology (ICT) operators and content producers. It provides indications and tools to open the web to an audience of potential users including people blind, partially sighted, with hearing, cognitive and motor disabilities. The W3C directives have constituted the fundamental technical reference for international [4] and national legislation [e.g. 5, 6] aimed at achieving the digital inclusion of people with disabilities.

#### 3 The "Società Lichenologica Italiana" as case study

Although there is a social sensitivity, a technical possibility, and a political will, we have the impression that people with disabilities still find many obstacles to participating in STEM training and education initiatives even if they have also been developed online. In the last years, for example, the Italian Lichenological Society (Società Lichenologica Italiana, hereafter S.L.I.) has organized courses attended by dozens of people [7], but none of them with visual disabilities. We therefore thought as a first step to check the accessibility of the first contact tool with potential users, the website.

S.L.I. is a scientific association founded in Italy in 1987 and devoted to the dissemination and progress of lichenological studies [8]. The society organizes an annual congress, introductory and advanced courses, educational events, and field excursions. Members are also organized into voluntary working groups dedicated to specific interests. The choice of this specific scientific society lies in the fact that an extremely specialized discipline such as lichenology, in Italy in recent years has encountered an everincreasing interest, both from institutions (especially for conservation purposes, i.e. in the application of the Habitats Directive) and from amateurs of any age. Despite this, its website is quite dated, so supposed to be representative of most of the access problems encountered in similar sites.

A technical analysis was carried out in order to verify the adherence of the S.L.I. web pages to the Web Content Accessibility Guidelines of the WAI project of the W3C [9]. A first report was automatically generated with the tool Multiguideline Accessibility and Usability Validation Environment (MAUVE) [10] which highlighted the critical issues. Afterwards, we deepened and refined the analysis by letting navigate the site by blind and visually impaired people who give us their feedback. From this process, a series of suggestions have emerged. Solutions and implementation strategies, to make the website accessible to blind or visually impaired people (such as visually impaired or color blind) will also be indicated and made available both to create the contents of the site (e.g. structure of documents, adaptability of contents to special needs) and to provide for its technical integration (e.g. adherence to standards, separation of content from presentation).

- 1. Cappelletti, P.: Il futuro delle Società Scientifiche e la Società Italiana di Medicina di Laboratorio. Riv Ital Med Lab 7, 127–139 (2011).
- CRPD Homepage, https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/convention-on-therights-of-persons-with-disabilities.html, last accessed 2022/05/08.
- 3. Web accessibility Initiative Homepage, https://www.w3.org/WAI/, last accessed 2022/05/08.
- Directive (EU) 2016/2102 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 October 2016 on the accessibility of the websites and mobile applications of public sector bodies, available on http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2016/2102/oj.
- Legge 9 gennaio 2004, n. 4. Disposizioni per favorire e semplificare l'accesso degli utenti e, in particolare, delle persone con disabilità agli strumenti informatici. Gazzetta Ufficiale 13 (17-01-2004).
- Decreto Legislativo 10 agosto 2018, n. 106. Attuazione della direttiva (UE) 2016/2102 relativa all'accessibilità dei siti web e delle applicazioni mobili degli enti pubblici. Gazzetta Ufficiale 211 (11-09-2018).
- 7. Munzi, S., Giovanetti, M.: Wanted: virtual or live! How lichens are becoming part of mass internet culture. Symbiosis 84, 285–293 (2021).
- 8. S.L.I. Homepage, http://www.lichenologia.eu/, last accessed 2022/05/08.
- Kirkpatrick A., O Connor J., Campbell A., Cooper M. (eds.). Web Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG) 2.1. (2018) available on https://www.w3.org/TR/WCAG21/.
- 10. MAUVE Homepage, https://mauve.isti.cnr.it, last accessed 2022/05/08.

# Differences in the comprehension of the limit concept and desired "connected knowing" in calculus between prospective mathematics teachers and managerial mathematicians

Mária Slavíčková<sup>1[0000-0002-3357-2502]</sup> and Michaela Vargová<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Mathematics, Physics and Informatics, Comenius University in Bratislava, Slovakia; slavickova@fmph.unba.sk

#### 1 Introduction

Calculus (at least on the basic level) is intertwined through all STEM-oriented university studies. It is a critical milestone in various transition processes from secondary school to university mathematics. For many students it is "the necessary evil" to pass through, and many of them struggle in their courses. One reason of this struggling could be the huge difficulty of linking between the knowledge of mathematics learned at university and the knowledge acquired in secondary school. This gap between mathematical levels and institutional cultures can lead to several study problems of freshmen. As Pinkernell [1] summarizes, students meet different level of rigour in communication or reasoning, and institutional differences, e.g. concerning the didactic of teaching and learning mathematics. The other problem could be that situation at some study programmes is almost the same as one of the interviewees said in research made by Bosch et al [2], "...the exercises is a list that comes from father to son. It's the same list that has been there for the past 10 years. [...] the key for 60% or 70 % of the students to pass is to do an exam that is not essentially different from previous one". Critical reason could be also that many students are only passive listener and users of calculus. The algorithmic characteristic of the tasks solved in the lessons and tests can lead to passing through exams without deeper understanding on subject matter. In terminology of Boaler and Andrew-Larson [3], most of our students have "received knowing", which means, they believe that doing mathematics means to memorize and quickly recall information needed.

#### 2 Methods and chosen tasks

We observed the lessons and tested two groups of students at Faculty of Mathematics, Physics and Informatics, Comenius University in Bratislava (Slovakia) on comprehension of the definition of sequence limit (how can small changes, e.g., order in quantifiers, in definition of specific concept influence the meaning of the definition). The first group comprised 24 pre-service mathematics teachers (PMTs), the second group comprised 28 managerial mathematics students (MNGs). Based on our previous research, [4], freshmen are struggling with basic properties of functions (mostly goniometric and logarithmic), have no experiences with formal mathematical notation and therefore are not able to follow the lectures. Moreover, they have problems with logical structure of statements containing several quantifiers and lack experience with rigor in reasoning. Due to COVID-19 we had to shift into online environment. We were looking for the answer for our research question: *How the ways of reasoning in the groups of PMTs and MNGs differ when teaching/learning in online environment?* 

In students' solutions, we looked at the type of argument elicited (in terms of Bieda et al [5]). The test asked students to provide an argument in any form (empirical argument, provide counterexample, formal proof, etc.) using different representations (e.g. graphical, symbolical, verbal, etc.).

The tasks we gave them were similar to the examples below:

- Let real number L be the limit of sequence {a<sub>n</sub>}<sub>n=1</sub><sup>∞</sup>. Can the number L be one of the terms of this sequence?
- Considering the following statements decide how is the correct definition of limit of sequence violated. For every provided statement show an example of a sequence types, which will be convergent within it.
  - a. Real number L is called the limit of a sequence  $\{a_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  if for every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exist an  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $|a_n L| < \varepsilon$  for infinitely many  $n > n_0$ .
  - b. Real number L is called the limit of a sequence  $\{a_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  if for every  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  there exist an  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $|a_n L| < \varepsilon$  for all  $n > n_0$ .

We discussed our results with relevant literature concerning teaching and purposes of calculus at universities (like [6, 7]).

#### 3 Results

Even though two studied groups of students had different backgrounds and mathematical training at the university, there are no significant qualitative differences between these groups when answering our questions. On the other hand, we observed higher effort to reason and prove the answers in the group of MNGs.

The most common argument in both groups was by providing a counterexample. Even though students during the semester encountered several different representations of sequences and their limit (graphical, algebraical, numerical, topological), the most popular way of solving the tasks was graphical, by using epsilon stripes.

Several misconceptions were identified. The most common were epistemological obstacles, when students applied properties of finite sets to the infinite ones (as described in [8]), problems caused by fundamental linguistic flaws in the standard presentation of limit (as identified in [9]) and misunderstanding of the quantifier logic in mathematical statements.

- Pinkernell, G.: Conceptualising knowledge of mathematical concepts or procedures for diagnostic and supporting measures at university entry level. In: Eleventh Congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education, Feb 2019. Utrecht University, Utrecht (hal-02422666)
- Bosch, M., Hausberger, T., Hochmuth, R., Wilsløw, C.: External Didactic Transposition in Undergraduate Mathematics. In: Eleventh Congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education, Feb 2019. Utrecht University, Utrecht. (hal-02422580)
- Boaler, J., Andrews-Larson, C.: Identity, agency, and knowing in mathematics worlds. In. J. Boaler (ed.) Multiple perspectives on mathematics teaching and learning, pp. 171-200. Ablex, Westport (2000)
- Vargová, M., Slavíčková, M.: Students' misconceptions in definition of a limit of sequence. In. 19th Conference on Applied Mathematics, pp. 1089-1097. Spektrum STU, Bratislava (2020).
- Bieda, K. N., Ji, X., Drwencke, J., Picard, A.: Reasoning-and-proving opportunities in elementary mathematics textbooks. International Journal of Educational Research 64, 71– 80, (2014)
- Herrera, G., Rivera, A. F., Aguirre-de la Luz, K.: Calculus students' difficulties with logical reasoning. In: Eleventh Congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education, Feb 2019. Utrecht University, Utrecht. (hal-02422637)
- Voigt, M., Rasmussen, C., Martinez, A.: Calculus variations as figured worlds for math indentity development. In: Eleventh Congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education, Feb 2019. Utrecht University, Utrecht. (hal-02459946)
- Davis, R. B., Vinner, S.: The notion of limit: Some seemingly unavoidable misconception stages. The Journal of Mathematical Behavior, 5(3), 281–303. (1986)
- Swenton, F. J.: Limits and the system of near-numbers. International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology, 37(6), 643-663, (2006)

# STEM education and digital instruments of the scientific museums and botanical gardens.

Patrizia Campisi and Nicoletta Bonacasa

University of Palermo 90100 Palermo, Italy

patrizia.campisi@unipa.it

#### 1. Abstract

Some observations, as well as first data of an analysis inspired by personal experience of the authors during the online teaching of "Botany for primary and infant school" and "Museology and management of museum assets" in the courses of Science of the primary education and Tourism Science of the University of Palermo, are below reported.

As is well known, in general in the teaching of any discipline communicative skills are also required by the teacher, including syntactic and methodological skills (relating for example to semantics), as well as those of "empathic" type, thus contributing to make effective the transmission of knowledge and the teaching/learning relationship.

In online teaching, the risk of a loss of the emotional component is very high, as well as that linked to interpersonal interactions, including those between teacher and learner. In addition to this aspect, for disciplines such as botany and museology, which also provide for direct observation of plant specimens or parts of them and artefacts, as well as various types of museum spaces, distance learning can be decidedly penalized with respect to the traditional one. To reduce this gap, digital content provided online by museums, scientific but not only, and botanical gardens, such as virtual tours, videos and educational resources of various kinds, could be useful [1-3]. These are highly effective communication tools which some museums have been using for some time and which have seen a strong diffusion during the pandemic. For example, the digital cataloge of collections is one of the most popular systems for disseminating museum contents through institutional sites. This tool allows not only to know the consistency and type of the collections host in the museum, but also to carry out targeted research based on specific needs and educational objectives. In this way, for example, a virtual visitor of the National Museum of Science and Technology Leonardo da Vinci can choose to carry out advanced searches, even of an interdisciplinary feature, using the various search fields of the museum database (for example search by collection or period). As for the botanical gardens, for example the site of the Botanical garden of Pisa, offers the possibility to obtaining information on plant collections through the "U-plant discover", a database that includes botanical families of plants cultivated in museum as well as other research fields such as the floristic kingdom or, of course, the location in the various museum sectors. Thanks to this database it is therefore possible to carry out "transversal" searches which, for example, allow to extrapolate all the plants natives of a specific geographical region cultivated in this Botanical garden. In this way, the virtual visitor is given the opportunity to acquire general knowledge on some plants species and not only related to the museum site.

The didactic strength of these tools, which certainly make the exploration of museum sites fascinating, thanks also to very detailed images, lies in the possibility of personalizing and "building" the visit based on the specific educational needs, obviously set by the teacher, or the simple curiosities of individual visitors.

Virtual tours of the exhibition rooms, as well as those of the various sectors of a botanical garden, are also quite common and allow remote visitors to wander around the digital reconstructions of the museum spaces, often using sensitive maps that also give access to insights as well as allowing them to identify the location of the collections or plants [4].

For dissemination of educational programs based on the use of informal languages via video, platforms such as Youtube or social networks such as Facebook and Instagram are preferred. These are projects that have had a significant increase during the Pandemic, have as protagonists the curators and specialists who illustrate specific topics related to the collections, are characterized by short duration, musical accompaniment, recognizable formats, simple language and in some cases by translation LIS [5]. There are also educational tutorials that explain how to replicate scientific experiments with commonly used materials and objects [6]. Sometimes the educational contents produced by museums are disseminated through podcasts, audio files specially designed for different types of public [7]. In this case the interactivity is not yet very developed, essentially limited to projects that involve the user only in the selection of content to be explored in the form of written or audio text. A separate consideration must be reserved for didactic games and quizzes. Generally, these are rather simple applications that repropose models known as Memory® or the puzzle [8], but which in perspective present themselves as the area in which there will certainly be great development. In fact, based on the principles of edutainment, these projects effectively exploit the familiarity that the public, not just the little ones, has with videogames [9].

Overall, the difference between the various museums, Italian or even foreign, is still quite marked, with reference to the quantity and diversification of the digital contents offered. It must be clear that these tools are auxiliary and a completion or a preparation, and therefore not an alternative, to a site visit but they certainly represent a valid support tool in online teaching of scientific disciplines, making it possible to actively involve the student Certainly they requires by scientific museums synergistic work between different figures and skills, as well as specific economic investments.

- 1. Parry, R. : Recoding the Museum: Digital Heritage and the Technologies of Change. Abingdon (2007).
- 2. Bonacasa, N. : Il Museo on line. Nuove prospettive per la museologia. Palermo (2011).
- 3. Bonacini, E. : Nuove tecnologie per la fruizione e valorizzazione del patrimonio culturale. Roma (2011).
- https://virtualtour.deutsches-museum.de/?vlon=3.57&vlat=-0.09&fov=100.0&image=4797; https://naturalhistory2.si.edu/vt3/NMNH/z\_tour-022.html.
- 5. https://www.youtube.com/watch? v=Q7Yx0DFB8VU&list=PLS5GAt5gHhUlPvxNb1g2FWwEjfdTTvJt&index=3
- https://www.exploratorium.edu/snacks/bicycle-wheel-gyro; https://www.nemosciencemuseum.nl/en/explore/doe-het-zelf/egg-in-thebottle/
- 7. https://www.spreaker.com/show/setteminuti; https://www.spreaker.com/show/la-compagnia-degli-alberi-e-delle-piante.
- 8. https://www.ortobotanicopd.it/it/gioca-con-lorto
- 9. https://www.sciencemuseum.org.uk/games-and-apps

## Understanding STEM students' difficulties with mathematics

Chiara Andrà<sup>1</sup>, Domenico Brunetto<sup>2</sup>, Caterina Bassi<sup>2</sup> and Alessia Pini<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Eastern Piedmont, 13100 Vercelli, Italy

<sup>2</sup> Polytechnic of Milan, 20133 Milan, Italy caterina.bassi@polimi.it

<sup>3</sup> Catholic University of Holy Hearth, 20123 Milan, Italy

Among the thousands of freshmen enrolled at STEM university courses all over the world at the beginning of the semester, around 40% of them would dropout in a few weeks. The phenomenon of STEM-related dropout has received increasing attention in literature. Tinto (2010) has proposed a theory of academic persistence that is of inspiration for subsequent studies, since students' persistence is affected by a number of factors, as skills, abilities, and prior schooling, as well as by experiences at university. Interestingly, it seems possible to predict students' academic success by looking at their first days at university. To this respect, Larose et al. (2019) stress that students should adjust to a new context, a new program, new teaching practices, and a new institution, and they list a number of variables that should be considered to understand students' adjustment in the school-university transition. Among them, gender, students' expectations, coping strategies and school of provenience are the most relevant. University mathematics, specifically, causes difficulties to students with STEM majors in general and to Engineering students in particular (Gomez-Chacon et al., 2015).

The main goal of our research is, thus, to investigate whether different approaches to mathematics at school are related to different performances in mathematics. To that end, we measure success at first impact with university with high scores in math tests and we collect data about students' views about mathematics to identify different communities of students. Our presentation focuses on a Bridge Course (i.e., a course offered to freshmen to recap the essential mathematics), held at Polytechnic of Milan in 2017. The Bridge Course is hybrid: in the online part, the students recap essential mathematics using the Massive Open Online Course (MOOC), produced by Polytechnic of Milan and hosted on www.pok.polimi.it; in the in-presence part, students are involved in group activities focused on problem solving. Students are invited to attend the MOOC before the in-presence course. The data for this study come from a questionnaire (administered on the first day), which investigates personal-level features such as gender and high school provenience, attitude towards the use of digital resources, and affective dimensions, such as the mathematical views. Moreover, four close-end tests were administered (during the in-presence part), which measure cognitive factors, assessing students' mathematical knowledge.

The heterogeneous data were analysed resorting to nonparametric methods that do not rely on strong assumptions on the structure of data, nor on linearity of connections. To understand the interplay of personal-level features and test performance, and to identify how students clusterize according to their views of mathematics, we resort to the community detection, as described by Kock et al. (2020), combined with the classification trees to investigate the interplay between personal-level features, the belonging to a community and the mathematical test performances.

Community analysis identifies 3 clusters. The first cluster is populated by students (majority of males) with a strong mathematical curriculum in high school, and who have a rather procedural view of mathematics. Their math performance in tests is good, but they declare to seek for the teacher's help when facing difficult problems, instead of employing more self-directed modalities. We expect that these students will face difficulties in the first semester, as also observed in Andrà et al. (2011). A second cluster is as well populated by students with a strong curriculum in mathematics, but they are used to a more conceptual approach. These students have partly attended the MOOC. Our interpretation is that they selected the contents they actually felt useful, being able to not lose time and showing self-regulation. Finally, students in the third cluster are aware that their mathematical knowledge is not enough to attend the first year, and they start to work hard to bridge the gap: thus, they attend both the MOOC and the in-presence course. According to Andrà et al. (2011), these students have a probability of getting the degree on time that is comparable to the one of the students in the second community. The results confirm that the mathematical background plays a key role in determining the success of a student in mathematics, and a strong mathematical curriculum predicts success (Andrà et al., 2011; Roesken et al., 2011). However, also students' beliefs are worth of consideration (Daskalogianni and Simpson, 2001). Moreover, our findings have two elements of novelty: the first consists in taking into account students' attitudes towards online learning, the second is the idea of clustering students with respect to both personal-level characteristics and their views of mathematics, to explain their performances. To conclude, we have a first indication that mathematical knowledge is important, but students' awareness about their weaknesses is also crucial for success in undergraduate STEM studies. We are further planning, in the next future, to analyze the interplay between personal level features, performance in mathematics and mathematical views using more advanced machine learning techniques.

- Andrà, C., Magnano, G., and Morselli, F.: Dropout undergraduate students in mathematics: an exploratory course. In: Roesken, B., Casper, M. (eds.) Current state of research on mathematical beliefs XVII Proceedings of the MAVI-17 conference, pp. 13–22. Professional School of Education, Ruhr-Universität Bochum (2017).
- Daskalogianni, K., and Simpson, A.: Beliefs overhang: The transition from school to university. In: Proceedings of the British Society for Research into Learning Mathematics, pp. 97–108 (2001).

- Gómez-Chacón, I. M., Griese, B., Rösken-Winter, B., & Gónzalez-Guillén, C. (2015, February). Engineering students in Spain and Germany–varying and uniform learning strategies. In CERME 9-Ninth Congress of the European Society for Research in Mathematics Education (pp. 2117-2123).
- Kock, Z. J., Brunetto, D., & Pepin, B. (2020). Students'choice and perceived importance of resources in first-year university calculus and linear algebra. In *The 14th International Conference on Technology in Mathematics Teaching–ICTMT 14 (pp. 91-98).*
- Larose, S., Duchesne, S., Litalien D, Denault A., and Boivin M.: Adjustment Trajectories During the College Transition: Types, Personal and Family Antecedents, and Academic Outcomes. Research in Higher Education 60, 684–710 (2019).
- Roesken, B., Hannula, M., and Pehkonen E.: Dimensions of students' views of themselves as learners of mathematics. ZDM 43(4), 497–506 (2011).
- Tinto, V.: From Theory to Action: Exploring the Institutional Conditions for Student Retention. In: Smart, J. (eds.) Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research., vol. 25. Springer, Dordrecht. (2010).

### Are you a collaborative e-learning platform?

Tetiana Tolmachova<br/>  $^{1[0000-0002-0751-6806]}$  and Eleni Ilkou<br/>  $^{1,2[0000-0002-4847-6177]}$ 

<sup>1</sup> L3S Research Center, Appelstrasse 9a, 30167 Hannover, Germany
<sup>2</sup> Leibniz University of Hannover, Welfengarten 1, 30167 Hannover, Germany lastname@l3s.de

#### 1 Introduction

Collaborative online learning is an essential aspect of higher and STEAM education which has gained more attention in the last years. Collaboration brings main benefits to collaborators; it can increase the social skills of the participants of the group [1], develop trust and support among them [2], gain greater confidence in themselves and their skills [3], and learn how to distribute tasks [4] and gain new information from each other [2]. Collaborative e-learning platforms, such as Learnweb [5], are platforms which are designed by nature to support online collaboration in an e-learning environment. However, there are multiple nonclassical collaborative e-learning platforms, which can promote collaboration, but their potential remains unrevealed as the required elements for a platform to support online collaborative learning are unexplored.

#### 2 Methodology

Although the an increased interest in online collaborative learning, based on our knowledge, there is no technical description of the requirements which an online platform should fulfil to promote collaborative learning in higher education. We explore this gap by investigating the required features in online collaborative learning platforms and proposing a framework to classify a platform as a collaborative e-learning platform.

Our methodology consists of the examination of state-of-the-art related to e-learning and collaborative learning frameworks, their adaptation in online settings, the analysis of collaborative learning platforms and their technical features. Finally, after the creation of the framework, we gather collaborative e-learning platforms via keyword search in Google Scholar and social media pages, which we then compare against non-classical collaborative platforms.

Our related work is formulated around research and technical reports regarding e-learning and collaborative e-learning platforms and frameworks. By investigating the literature, we found various types and descriptions of e-learning and collaborative e-learning frameworks.

#### 3 The Framework

From the subsequent analysis of existing collaborative e-learning platforms and the state-of-the-art findings [6–8], we identified the crucial elements for online collaboration in our framework (Fig. 1). We aim to help in further analysis of collaborative elements in e-learning platforms and assist in developing new features to support collaborative e-learning platforms in higher education.

We identify three main elements that are essential for collaborative online learning: 1. Learning, 2. Communication, and 3. Collaboration. The learning element happens in a platform in different ways, such as by providing active learning processes via MOOCs, such as edX [9], or learning via question-answering like Stack Overflow [10]. The communication element occurs if users on the collaborative platform can communicate with each other on one to one basis or in a group. The collaboration or social element is divided into the sub-categories of user's actions, environment, community and feedback characteristics.

We analyse the categories and sub-categories into sub-items, which are the technical features a platform can offer. Each item then can assist group work, either fully or partially. For example, the item "messaging" can support collaboration fully if a person can send a group message or partially if it can only text individuals. We identify a total of 12 technical feature items.



Fig. 1. The presented framework.

#### 4 Discussion and Future Work

Our contributions lay on two factors. At first, this paper serves as a technical guide that reveals the necessary characteristics of collaborative e-learning platforms. This guide proposes a framework which identifies three main categories and their sub-items. We argue that an e-learning platform needs at least one feature in each category to assist even partially online collaborative learning. Further, based on our framework, we provide a comparison of well-known collaborative e-learning platforms. We show that non-classical collaborative e-learning platforms can support online collaboration as well.

In the future work of collaborative e-learning platforms features, we identify some potential directions for improving current available features, like enhancing communication with messaging reactions, and additionally towards the exploration of new features, such as graph summary visualisations [11].
- Anne Nevgi, Päivi Virtanen, and Hannele Niemi. Supporting students to develop collaborative learning skills in technology-based environments. *British journal of* educational technology, 37(6):937–947, 2006.
- Marjan Laal and Mozhgan Laal. Collaborative learning: what is it? Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 31:491–495, 2012.
- Kenneth A Bruffee. Collaborative learning: Some practical models. College English, 34(5):634–643, 1973.
- Kenneth A Bruffee, Parker J Palmer, Margaret M Gullette, Diane Gillespie, et al. The art of collaborative learning: Making the most of knowledgeable peers. *Change*, 26(3):38, 1994.
- 5. Tetiana Tolmachova, Eleni Ilkou, and Luyan Xu. Working towards the ideal search history interface. In *CIKM (Workshops)*, 2020.
- Long Le, Hao Tran, and Axel Hunger. Developing active collaborative e-learning framework for vietnam's higher education context. In *Proceedings of the Interna*tional Conference on e-Learning, pages 240–249, 2013.
- 7. Donatella Persico, Francesca Pozzi, and Luigi Sarti. Monitoring collaborative activities in computer supported collaborative learning. *Distance Education*, 31(1):5–22, 2010.
- 8. Margaret Tan, Neha Tripathi, Steven John Zuiker, and Seah Hock Soon. Building an online collaborative platform to advance creativity. In 4th IEEE International Conference on Digital Ecosystems and Technologies, pages 421–426. IEEE, 2010.
- 9. ed X. Free online courses by harvard, mit,  $\,$  more  $\mid$  ed x, 2022.
- 10. Stack Overflow. Where developers learn, share, build, 2022.
- 11. Eleni Ilkou, Tetiana Tolmachova, Marco Fisichella, and Davide Taibi. Collabgraph: A graph-based collaborative search summary visualisation. 2022.

# Digital tools to support interdisciplinary approaches to mathematics in high school

Annarosa Serpe<sup>[0000-0003-4820-1760]</sup>

University of Calabria, Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, 87036 Rende (CS), ITALY annarosa.serpe@unical.it

## 1 Introduction

STEM education plays a crucial part in preparing the workforce for the future global economy. As the economic development relies further on science and technology, there will be an increasing need for STEM professionals. San et al. (2018) suggest that problem-based STEM has significantly increased students' interest in STEM disciplines and careers. In addition, STEM education also equips students with the knowledge and skills needed not only in STEM-related jobs but also for working in other fields (e.g., Committee on STEM Education 2018).

Mathematics is a gateway to many scientific and technological fields. It is important to prepare students for the continuously increasing demand for quantitative and computational literacy over the twenty-first century. Students can acquire an understanding of concepts, methods, and tools of the different scientific disciplines in a more meaningful way through a teaching aimed at favouring the connection of these with real life. In order to interconnect disciplinary knowledge, guaranteeing balance in curricular learning, it is desirable to promote integrated digital teaching practices.

For example, Mathematics and Physics are disciplines that with their own specificities and without distorting them converge on common educational objectives as they favour interconnections of knowledge that normally lead to a deeper understanding. Failure to recognize this link within the classroom is the root of some learning difficulties, so much so that students consider mathematics and physics to be two very difficult, boring and disconnected subjects. Current teaching struggles to counter this trend, also because it continues to use registers and communication styles that are very distant from those of the students.

The result of this contributes to the shattering of that world and reality that the developing mind intends to know, understand, interpret in its entirety (Marra Barone, 2006). A paradigm shift in teaching practice - which exploits the educational value of the subjects in the operational form of learning environments deriving from the real world constitutes a good starting point for overcoming the focus on individual disciplinary contents in function of the development of learning for skills.

Integrated digital teaching (IDT), adapted to contextual conditions and characteristics even in pandemic times, favours a synergy between disciplines by virtue of the fact that it integrates physical and virtual realitie. This allows students to build competencies through experiences based on conceptual themes in which mathematical and scientific thinking take place.

#### 1.1 Research question

Alongside the importance of disciplinary knowledge, attention to interdisciplinary relationships is constantly reiterated.

According to Morin (2000), interdisciplinarity plays a pivotal role in the educational process. In fact, for Morin (1994) interdisciplinarity is part of a broader concept that goes by the name of complexity: a complete vision of reality, and of knowledge, is possible only by connecting all the parts that make it up.

Teachers can improve their teaching practice by seeking connections both within a single discipline and between other disciplines on various levels of knowledge. In the educational process, interdisciplinary connections support a thorough comprehension of concepts and their meaning just because understanding is rooted in those associations and, thus, 'closed compartments' (Brooks, 1999) can be avoided. Among the connections and integrations required for the creation of integrated teaching practices between Mathematics and Physics, it is important to highlight the role of the construction model as the representation of a given phenomenon as a true knowledge experience.

The purpose of this work is to show a format of interdisciplinary teaching practice - which integrates Mathematics and Physics - aimed at recognizing the unity of the cognitive processes underlying the understanding of some concepts and 'related' structures of the two disciplines with the use of digital tools.

- Sarı, Uğur, Mısra Alıcı, and Ömer Faruk Şen: The effect of STEM instruction on attitude, career perception and career interest in a problem-based learning environment and student opinions. The Electronic Journal for Research in Science & Mathematics Education 22.1 (2018).
- A Report by the Committee on STEM Education of the National Science & Technology Council. Charting a course for success: America's strategy for STEM education. Washington, DC. (2018). Homepage, https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2019/05/f62/STEM-Education-Strategic-Plan-2018.pdf, last accessed 2022/05/09.
- Marra Barone A.: Interdisciplinarità. Convergenza dei saperi sull'uomo e per l'uomo, (2006), Homepage, http://www.rivistadidattica.com/fondamenti/fondamenti2.html, last accessed 2022/05/09.
- 4. Morin, E.: La testa ben fatta. Riforma dell'insegnamento e riforma del pensiero. Raffaello Cortina Editore, Milano, 2000.
- Morin, E.: Sur l'interdisciplinarité. Bulletin interactif du Centre international de recherches et études transdisciplinaires 2.2 (1994). Homepage, http://ciret-transdisciplinarity.org/, last accesed 2022/05/09.
- Brooks, J. Grennon, Brooks M.G.: In search of understanding: The case for constructivist classrooms. ASCD, (1999).

# Active Learning Methods in Higher Education in Presence and at a Distance: Theoretical Foundations and Examples from Physics Education Research

Claudio Fazio<sup>[0000-0002-3031-1665]</sup> and Onofrio Rosario Battaglia<sup>[0000-0002-0250-0514]</sup>

Università degli Studi di Palermo, Palermo, Italy claudio.fazio@unipa.it

## 1 Abstract

Over the last several decades, active learning methods have received attention from the educational research community. Today, they are credited with improving student conceptual understanding in many fields, including physics [e.g., 1-2], improving student self-confidence and self-reliance [e.g., 3] and helping them to develop attitudes toward scientific inquiry and higher-order thinking skills [e.g., 4-6].

The scientific literature commonly presents active learning methods as credible solutions to the reported lack of efficacy of traditional educative approaches [7], often based on lecture formats, based on mono-directional transmission from the teacher to the learner of facts, laws, and concepts. A possible cause of the lack of efficacy of traditional education can be identified in its decontextualized and abstract nature, which often underestimate the interdependence of situation and cognition. Conversely, the strongly contextualized nature of active learning situations can help students to see knowledge as a tool to face and dynamically solve problems, rather than seeing it as the final product of education [8].

The general idea of active learning is deeply rooted on the constructivist models of human learning, that led to the development of the theory of cognitive apprenticeship [9]. Cognitive apprenticeships are designed, among other things, to bring the implicit processes involved in carrying out complex skills into the open, where students can observe, enact, build representations of the world and practice them solving problems with help from the teacher. Part of the effectiveness of the cognitive apprenticeship model comes from learning in context and is based on theories of situated cognition [10]. Cognitive researchers argue that cognitive apprenticeships are more effective when skills and concepts are taught in strict connection to their real-world context and situation. Learning and cognition are fundamentally situated.

As we noted, active learning methods are credited with improving students' confidence in self-directed knowledge acquisition from their experiences. This means students can be fostered in developing a Growth Mindset (e.g., Dweck [11]). According to Dweck's idea, Growth Mindset students are generally aware of how their learning may happen, and they believe that extra focused effort and motivation may improve their capabilities [12], acquiring expert skills from experience. So, the Growth Mindset prepares the students to assume responsibility for knowledge acquisition. Deliberate Practice is the process found by Ericsson [13] as the most effective in acquiring expert skills from experience. This is a particular type of practice that is purposeful, systematic, and performed at progressively more challenging levels [14]. While regular practice might include mindless repetitions, deliberate practice requires focused attention and is conducted with the specific goal of improving performance. A fundamental aspect of this process is that the student can develop self-awareness of his/her points of strength and weakness. This also allows the teacher to help focus practice that can be repeated at different levels of difficulty to improve a skill that is found as weak by both him/her and the student him/herself. Emphasis on self-awareness in Deliberate Practice is likely to play a role in the effectiveness of the Growth Mindset, and, more generally, in the effectiveness of active learning methods.

While the adoption and use of active learning methods are becoming more and more common in primary and secondary education, their acceptance in higher education is still limited. Some remain skeptical about its real efficacy at an education level where theoretical deepening is strongly required and see it as one more in a long line of educational fads [8]. Many also express doubts about what active learning actually is and how it can be considered different from traditional education. Especially, they claim that their teaching methods can already be considered "active", as classroom exercises, homework assignments and laboratories are part of them. Adding to the confusion, many faculties do not always understand how the most common forms of active learning differ from each other, and in some cases, they are not inclined to comb through the educational literature for answers. The difficulty in effectively implementing active learning strategies in distance teaching makes the acceptance of these methodologies even more difficult.

In this talk, I will introduce and distinguish some different types of active learning strategies that can be profitably used in the field of science education, with particular relevance to strategies more or less fitted to presence or distance teaching. Then, I will discuss some of the pedagogical and psychological foundations of these strategies and some results of researches on the effectiveness of active learning in actually improving student knowledge, conceptual understanding, and self-confidence. Considerations on possible moderators of the effect of active learning at both teacher and student levels will conclude the talk.

- Georgiou, H. Sharma, M.D.: Does using active learning in thermodynamics lectures improve students' conceptual understanding and learning experiences? Eur. J. Phys. 36 015020 (2015).
- Sharma, M.D., Johnston, I.D., Johnston, H.M., Varvell, K.E., Robertson, G., Hopkins, A.M., Thornton, R.: Use of interactive lecture demonstrations: a ten year study Phys. Rev. Spec. Top. Phys. Educ. Res. 6 020119 (2010).

- O'Flaherty, J., Costabile, M. (2020). Using a science simulation-based learning tool to develop students' active learning, self-confidence and critical thinking in academic writing. Nurse Education in Practice 47, 102839.
- Asok, D., Abirami, A.M., Angeline, N., Lavanya, R.: Active Learning Environment for Achieving Higher-Order Thinking Skills in Engineering Education. 2016 IEEE 4th International Conference on MOOCs, Innovation and Technology in Education (MITE), pp. 47-53 (2016).
- Malanog, S.D., Aliazas, J.C.V.: Active Learning Strategies and Higher Order Thinking Skills of Grade 10 Students. Ioer International Multidisciplinary Research Journal 3(3), 241 – 249 (2021).
- Limbach, B., Waugh, W.: Developing Higher Level Thinking. Journal of Instructional Pedagogies, 1-9 (2010).
- Cummings, K.: A community-based report of the developmental history of PER. Paper presented at the American Association of Physics Teachers, Portland, Oregon (2013).
- Prince, M.: Does active learning work? A Review of the Research. J. Eng. Educ. 93(3), 223-31(2004).
- Collins, A., Brown, J.S., Newman, S.E.: Cognitive apprenticeship: Teaching the craft of reading, writing and mathematics (Technical Report No. 403). BBN Laboratories, Cambridge, MA. Centre for the Study of Reading, University of Illinois (1987).
- [10] Brown, J.S., Collins, A., Duguid P.: Situated cognition and the culture of learning. Educational Researcher 18, 32-42 (1989).
- 11. Dweck, C.: Mindset: the new psychology of success. Random House, New York (2006).
- 12. Atkinson, J.W., Feather, N.T.: A theory of achievement motivation. Robert E. Krieger Publishing Company, Huntington (1966).
- 13. Ericsson, K.A.: Deliberate practice and the acquisition and maintenance of expert performance in medicine and related domains. Acad. Med. 79(10 Suppl) S70–81 (2004).
- 14. Mayer, R.E.: Learning and Instruction. Pearson Education, Inc., Upper Saddle River (2008).

# A distance learning approach to surface phenomena based on Smoothed-particle hydrodynamics computational method

Onofrio Rosario Battaglia [0000-0002-0250-0514] and Claudio Fazio [0000-0002-3031-1665]

Università degli Studi di Palermo, Palermo, Italy onofriorosario.battaglia@unipa.it

## 1 Introduction

Foundations and applications of fluid mechanics are relevant in many scientific and technical fields, like physics, engineering, medicine, and environmental sciences. Particularly, surface phenomena, like capillarity, are fascinating topics since their understanding involves thermodynamics, statistical mechanics, fluid mechanics, and other science subjects.

In many textbooks aiming at introducing surface tension, there are often unclear points and sometimes errors. This one is perhaps the main reason why this topic often does not enjoy great popularity in teaching, even at universities [1,2,3].

The origin of surface tension lies in molecular interactions and thermal effects.

This microscopic model is in principle satisfactory from a didactic point of view. However, it cannot be easily used when one wants to develop computer-based simulations for a distance learning approach to surface phenomena especially when large portions of liquid are to be simulated. This model would require huge computing resources.

In the literature, it is possible to find models called "mesoscopic", in which the liquid is made of particles with a radius equal to a tenth or hundredth of a millimeter [4-6]. The size of these particles depends on the spatial resolution and the calculation efficiency.

The interaction forces between these particles are similar to those present at the microscopic level. This model has the advantages of the microscopic one and also allows the user to simulate large portions of liquids even with low-cost computers, readily available, for instance, in schools.

In the literature are described several simulation results based on mesoscopic models and Smoothed-Particle Hydrodynamics (SPH) computational methods in often complex experimental situations and the engineering field [4-6]. However, very few examples exist of basic phenomena such as the formation of a liquid drop or the formation of menisci [7].

Models and modelling can be taken into account to foster an integrated and authentic STEM education and STEM literacy. Models and modelling processes can bridge the gap between STEM disciplines through authentic practices [8].

The study here described aims to fill this gap by introducing new ways to didactically approach the surface phenomena by using a mesoscopic model of liquids. We implemented this model through numerical simulations to make this approach more efficient in a distance learning context. We show and discuss some simulation results for basic behaviors of surface phenomena.

## 2 Model and simulation results

We consider a liquid made of mesoscopic particles. The equations of motion (Navier Stokes equation) of the discretized liquid are solved through the well-known computational method called Smoothed Particles Hydrodynamics (SPH) [6].

On a qualitative level, our approach allows teachers/students to investigate various basic phenomena. The formation of a liquid drop with and without gravity and the formation of menisci. The sessile drop and a solid resting on a liquid.

The simulation can allow students/teachers to observe the physical system at the equilibrium and also its evolution over time through the creation of short movies. For instance, when the solid-liquid force is slightly bigger than the liquid-liquid one we observe a convex meniscus and the rise of the liquid inside the capillary. It is also possible to investigate the behavior of the principal forces applied to the mesoscopic particles of liquid.

Quantitatively, the approach presented here consists of the possibility of simulating the behavior of different liquids by setting those fundamental quantities on which the behavior itself depends (for instance, the density, the viscosity, the intensity of the interaction forces). As an output of the simulation, it is possible to obtain the value of the surface tension in a given configuration or the verification of a law.

The simulated value of the surface tension is obtained in the context of capillarity phenomena. We consider a liquid contained in a tray with a capillary tube inside. At the equilibrium, we observe the formation of the menisci as a function of the liquidliquid and solid-liquid interaction intensity and calculate the value of the surface tension.

A possible way to verify the Young-Laplace law is obtained through the simulation of a two-dimensional liquid droplet in mechanical equilibrium without the action of gravity. The pressure inside the droplet is calculated as a function of its radius by using the virial theorem [9].

# **3** Discussion and conclusions

The approach here described can allow teachers and students to highlight some relevant properties of liquids related to surface tension.

We think that this method could prove to be a very useful tool for both high school and undergraduate students in physics and many other scientific fields. It allows teachers and students to build/use computer simulations that allow them to easily control relevant parameters for understanding the mechanism of functioning at the basis of the surface phenomena. Further studies are necessary to better correlate the typical quantities of the model with the macroscopic one.

- 1. Berry, M. V.: The molecular mechanism of surface tension. Physics Education, 6, 79-84 (1971).
- 2. Marchand, A., Weijs, H., Snoeijer, H. J., & Andreotti, B.: Why is surface tension a force parallel to the interface? American Journal of Physics, 79, 999-1008 (2011).
- Roura, P.: Thermodynamic derivations of the mechanical equilibrium conditions for fluid surfaces: Young's and Laplace's equations. American Journal of Physics, 73, 1139-1147 (2005).
- 4. Nair P., Pöschel T.: Dynamic capillary phenomena using Incompressible SPH, Chemical Engineering Science 176 192–204 (2018).
- Tartakovsky A. M., Panchenko A.: Pairwise Force Smoothed Particle Hydrodynamics model for multiphase flow: Surface tension and contact line dynamics, Journal of Computational Physics 305 1119–1146 (2016).
- Monaghan, J. J.: Smoothed particle hydrodynamics. Reports on Progress in Physics, 68, 1703 – 1759 (2005).
- Battaglia O. R. Gallitto A.A., Fazio C.: Computer simulations to approach surface tension by means of a simple mesoscopic mechanical model, Comput Appl Eng Educ. 27:1333– 1342 (2019).
- 8. Hallström J. and Schönborn K.J.: Models and modelling for authentic STEM education: reinforcing the argument, International Journal of STEM Education 6:22 (2019).
- 9. Gray, C. G. and Gubbins K. E.: Theory of Molecular Fluids (vol. 1). Oxford University Press., Oxford (1984).

# Non-covalent interactions: an opportunity for AR use in chemistry education

Maria Costa<sup>[0000-0003-4299-9652]</sup>, Delia Francesca Chillura Martino<sup>[0000-0001-5141-7285]</sup>, Antonella Maria Maggio<sup>[0000-0002-0861-626X]</sup>, Renato Lombardo<sup>\*[0000-0002-3401-7180]</sup>

Università degli Studi di Palermo, Dipartimento di Scienze Biologiche, Chimiche e Farmacutiche, Viale delle Scienze, ed. 17, 90128, Palermo, Italy renato.lombardo@unipa.it

## **1** Spatial skills and molecular models

#### 1.1 The domains of chemistry education

In a seminal paper of 1991, Johnstone argued that the difficulties that many students of scientific subjects encounter are connected to what he called 'multilevel thought' [1]. Chemistry students are required to move incessantly between the macroscopic domain (macrophenomena such as solubility, equilibrium, etc.), the sub-microscopic domain (atomic and molecular structures and interactions) and the symbolic domain (chemical formulas, equations, etc.).

Translating ideas and representations between symbolic and sub-microscopic may be particularly challenging. Many students lack sufficient spatial and visual skills that play a crucial role due to the molecules' tridimensional nature and the importance of graphic imagery in understanding molecular interactions [2]. However, it has been shown that spatial abilities are essential for problem-solving tasks in chemistry and are intrinsic to the acquisition of representational competence [3].

#### 1.2 Molecular models

One way to improve representational competence is using "concrete" (plastic or metal) models for the molecules. Computer-generated 3D models have improved students' visual and spatial skills like "ball and stick" models [4,5]. At the same time, they allow overcoming some of the limits that physical models present, i.e., the versatility of representation, ease of access and use, and the possibility to build extensive and complex models (such as proteins, nucleic acid, polysaccharides, etc.) that would be very time consuming or even unattainable with physical models.

#### 1.3 Models in augmented reality

Conventional computer-generated models exist in virtual reality (VR) "inside" the screen resulting in a 2D projection (non-immersive VR). Manipulation of such models is typically performed via mouse-driven operations that often result in an unintuitive interaction that can severely limit the development of the visual and spatial skills

required. On the other hand, interactions with concrete models are more fluid and immediate. Comparison between different structures is also easier because the user can independently rotate two different molecules, one with each hand.

Technologies that use augmented reality, AR (or extended reality, XR) may help overcome the limitations of both the physical and virtual models. Their purpose is to blend the physical space around the users with the simulated molecules. The main advantage of AR tools is the complete control of the visualization allowing the user to keep in view their hands while interacting with the simulated objects, effectively facilitating interaction, compared to VR [6] and promoting engagement [7]. They have been demonstrated to be very effective in higher education in understanding structural aspects of the sub-microscopic domain, such as VSEPR and stereochemistry [8,9]. The same approach could be beneficial also in many other areas of chemical education.

## 2 Teaching non-covalent interactions

#### 2.1 importance of non-covalent interactions

Non-covalent interactions are a significant portion of any higher education introductory chemistry course. They vary significantly in nature and effects, influencing to a large extent many properties of matter from the sub-microscopic to the macroscopic domain, such as phase behaviour or self-assembly and adducts formation. They also play a crucial role in living systems, determining molecular recognition, catalysis, signal transduction, information storage, plasticity, etc.

Causes and effects of non-covalent interaction present many spatial and symmetryrelated characteristics that involve orientation in the space of the units participating in the interaction, structure of the resulting entity, etc. Therefore, visual and spatial skills are essential in understanding their nature and predicting their outcomes.

#### 2.2 Aim and scope of the learning module

We present a development of a learning module about non-covalent interactions that uses MoleculARweb [10, 11], a platform for interactive AR-based molecular visualization running in web browsers. The platform is open source and freely available without registration. Users can load any .pdb file and show it superimposed to an external environment, interacting with any digital object using printed visualization markers or using mouse or touch gestures on a screen

The learning module aims to cover all the different types and effects of non-covalent interactions, taking the student from elementary examples from inorganic chemistry, such as ionic compound lattices or solvation, to complex and articulated ones from biochemistry, such as protein/ligand interactions, lipid bilayers, nucleic acids structures and so on.

All the units in the module are designed to be easily used in the distance and/or asynchronous learning settings where the students may autonomously experiment with the provided model using an inquired based learning and flipped classroom approaches. In addition, all the units are sufficiently independent of each other so that the module can be easily adapted to specific courses.

- Johnstone, A.H.: Why is science difficult to learn? Things are seldom what they seem. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning. 7, 75–83 (1991). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2729.1991.tb00230.x.
- Stull, A.T., Gainer, M., Padalkar, S., Hegarty, M.: Promoting Representational Competence with Molecular Models in Organic Chemistry. J. Chem. Educ. 93, 994–1001 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.6b00194.
- Bodner, G.M., Herron, J.D.: Problem-Solving in Chemistry. In: Gilbert, J.K., De Jong, O., Justi, R., Treagust, D.F., and Van Driel, J.H. (eds.) Chemical Education: Towards Research-based Practice. pp. 235–266. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht (2003). https:// doi.org/10.1007/0-306-47977-X\_11.
- Terrell, C.R., Listenberger, L.L.: Using molecular visualization to explore protein structure and function and enhance student facility with computational tools. Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Education. 45, 318–328 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1002/bmb.21040.
- Jaswal, S.S., O'Hara, P.B., Williamson, P.L., Springer, A.L.: Teaching structure: Student use of software tools for understanding macromolecular structure in an undergraduate biochemistry course. Biochemistry and Molecular Biology Education. 41, 351–359 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1002/bmb.20718.
- Krichenbauer, M., Yamamoto, G., Taketom, T., Sandor, C., Kato, H.: Augmented Reality versus Virtual Reality for 3D Object Manipulation. IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics. 24, 1038–1048 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1109/ TVCG.2017.2658570.
- Fombona-Pascual, A., Fombona, J., Vicente, R.: Augmented Reality, a Review of a Way to Represent and Manipulate 3D Chemical Structures. J. Chem. Inf. Model. 62, 1863–1872 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jcim.1c01255.
- Patron, E., Wikman, S., Edfors, I., Johansson-Cederblad, B., Linder, C.: Teachers' reasoning: Classroom visual representational practices in the context of introductory chemical bonding. Sci. Educ. 101, 887–906 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21298.
- Stull, A.T., Gainer, M., Padalkar, S., Hegarty, M.: Promoting Representational Competence with Molecular Models in Organic Chemistry. J. Chem. Educ. 93, 994–1001 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.6b00194.
- Rodríguez, F.C., Frattini, G., Krapp, L.F., Martinez-Hung, H., Moreno, D.M., Roldán, M., Salomón, J., Stemkoski, L., Traeger, S., Dal Peraro, M., Abriata, L.A.: MoleculARweb: A Web Site for Chemistry and Structural Biology Education through Interactive Augmented Reality out of the Box in Commodity Devices. J. Chem. Educ. 98, 2243–2255 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.1c00179.
- Rodriguez, F.C., Krapp, L., Peraro, M.D., Abriata, L.: Visualization, Interactive Handling and Simulation of Molecules in Commodity Augmented Reality in Web Browsers Using moleculARweb's Virtual Modeling Kits. CHIMIA. 76, 145–145 (2022). https://doi.org/ 10.2533/chimia.2022.145.

# Towards Integrated Digital Learning: prospective challenges in STEM education

Roberto Capone<sup>1</sup> and Mario Lepore<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Bari Aldo Moro, Orabona street, Bari, Italy <sup>2</sup> University of Salerno, G. Paolo II Street, Fisciano (SA), Italy

## **1** Introduction and motivations

This paper is in line with the authors' research on innovative teaching methodologies in STEM courses in Mathematics and Physics. Previous works highlighted the importance of using information technologies in the educational dialogue to prevent dropout by improving students' engagement, motivation, and participation linked to the Situation Awareness (SA) model. In particular, in 2016/17, a blended teaching model was tested with half-flipped teaching in the SCALE-UP learning environment [1]. In 2017/18, blended teaching was tested using the Just in Time Teaching and Peer-Led Team Learning methodologies integrated with a social platform [2],[3]. In the academic year 2018/19, the experimentation used Augmented Reality to address some crucial topics of the mathematics course and evaluate student interaction and participation with Fuzzy Cognitive Maps [4] as a systemic structure model for analyzing critical success factors of the learning system [5]. Augmented Reality has overcome some students' difficulties with various calculus topics. Moreover, some technological tools (3D glasses, computers, tablets) and innovative methodologies have experimented. In the same year, studies were conducted on how the situation-aware e-learning platform and its feedback generation system influenced students' Situation Awareness.

We wonder if engagement, motivation, and participation in mathematics class change with fully distance learning extended for a second year in an emergency; if the updates made to the e-learning platform help maintain an adequate level of SA for the students in a long-term emergency. Moreover, we wonder what elements of full distance education can be useful for effective teaching of mathematics and physics in STEM courses and can be integrated with more traditional teaching.

# 2 Conceptual Framework

The teacher's educational activities and the students' reactions are analyzed in the light of the theory of transformative pedagogy [6], trying to understand if the transformations in didactic can give rise to new teaching-learning methods able to survive the duration of the crisis, or if they are only transient manifestations dictated by contingent needs and destined to decline.

Many research findings can be read through the lens of Vygotsky's Zone of Proximal Development (ZPD) theory. Vygotsky [7] defined ZPD as "the distance between the actual developmental level determined by independent problem solving and the level of potential development determined through problem-solving under adult guidance or

in collaboration with more capable peers." This seems to be linked to the student's motivation, participation, and engagement.

Situation Awareness [8] helps us analyze how the students' perception, comprehension, and status projection have been affected in this emergency period.

Finally, the Fuzzy Cognitive Map theory has been used as a tool to describe and model complex systems/environments symbolically, highlighting events, processes, and states.

### **3** Teaching experiment

The study was conducted with first-year engineering students attending the calculus II course and physics II on 2018/19, 19/20, and 20/21. It involved two tutors in addition to the course lecturer. This work uses a mixed-methods methodology to integrate highlevel extension studies (typical of the quantitative paradigm) and specific, in-depth studies (typical of the qualitative paradigm). The quantitative data include the students' interactions on the e-learning platform, the results of the tests, and a semi-structured questionnaire according to the Likert scale. In addition, the questionnaire anonymously proposed to students also included open-ended questions from which to infer the student's motivational state through qualitative analysis. Finally, a Fuzzy Cognitive Map (FCM) was built from the qualitative and quantitative data to derive the students' engagement, motivation, and participation parameters. The quantitative approach suggests the instructional, educational, and training strategies that might work under conditions. The qualitative approach provides information regarding why specific systems work, i.e., under what dynamics and how. To sum up, the main findings of this research are that, in the long run, distance learning and other social factors harm students' motivation, engagement, and participation, despite the countless teaching strategies implemented and a situation-aware e-learning platform. This has also had negative consequences on the level of mathematical competence and Situation Awareness of the students and has accentuated the drop-out phenomenon; the authors' efforts to model the didactics according to the students' status in an emergency, together with the use of the updated platform able to follow the students in their needs, were useful to limit the negative results achieving an acceptable level of Situation Awareness and success in the results obtained; some positive aspects of distance learning highly appreciated by the students can be integrated with traditional teaching and enhance a blended modality of didactic action. Technologies are a tool to support teaching action but cannot completely replace the social action of face-to-face teaching. Although teaching activities have been remodeled and technologies have been used adaptively to optimize education, cognitive processes have been influenced by external factors that have partly compromised the effectiveness of the educational activity. The authors hope that some aspects the students appreciate can be integrated with traditional face-to-face teaching. We will highlight how some aspects of distance education can be integrated with more traditional teaching. For example, include lecture recording, an adaptive e-learning platform to track students' skills constantly, and software to understand certain topics better. We will also show the differences between distance education in a physics course and a mathematics course for undergraduate students.

- Branchetti, L., Capone, R., & Tortoriello, F. S. Un'esperienza didattica half-flipped in un ambiente di apprendimento SCALE-UP. Annali online della Didattica e della Formazione Docente, 9(14), 355–371. Ferrara (2018).
- Capone, R. Blended Learning and Student-centered Active Learning Environment: a Case Study with STEM Undergraduate Students. Canadian Journal of Science, Mathematics and Technology Education, 1-27. (2022)
- Capone, R., & Lepore, M. From Distance Learning to Integrated Digital Learning: A Fuzzy Cognitive Analysis Focused on Engagement, Motivation, and Participation During COVID-19 Pandemic. *Technology, Knowledge and Learning*, 1-31. (2021).
- 4. Kosko, B. (1986). Fuzzy cognitive maps. *International Journal of Man-Machine Studies*, 24(1), 65–75.
- Capone, R., & Lepore, M. Augmented Reality to increase interaction and participation: A case study of undergraduate students in mathematics class. In: International Conference on Augmented Reality, Virtual Reality and Computer Graphics (pp. 185–204). Springer, Cham (2020).
- 6. Mezirow, J. Transformative learning: Theory to practice. *New directions for adult and continuing education*, 1997(74), 5-12. (1997).
- 7. Vygotsky, L. S. *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press. (1978).
- M. Endsley, "Designing for situation awareness: An approach to user- centered design", CRC press, 2016.

# A phenomenological study about the effect of Covid-19 pandemic on teachers' use of teaching resources about reasoning & proving in mathematics

Benedetto Di Paola<sup>1</sup>, Claudio Fazio<sup>2</sup>, Onofrio Rosario Battaglia<sup>2</sup>, Maria Slavickova<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Dipartimento di Matematica e Informatica, Università degli Studi di Palermo, 90100 Palermo, Italy

benedetto.dipaola@unipa.it

<sup>2</sup> Dipartimento di Fisica e Chimica, Emilio Segré, Università degli Studi di Palermo, 90100 Palermo, Italy

claudio.fazio@unipa.it, onofriorosario.battaglia@unipa.it

<sup>3</sup> Department of Didactics in Mathematics, Physics and Informatics, Faculty of Mathematics, Physics and Informatics, Comenius University in Bratislava, 842 48 Bratislava, Slovakia maria.slavickova@fmph.uniba.sk

# 1 Introduction

If we study the history of societies, we can find several pandemic events such as smallpox, cholera, plague, and SARS [1, 2]. Each one of these pandemics events affected human life in many aspects from health to the economic sphere [3], education is one of these aspects. The SARS-CoV-2 pandemic (Covid-19) has had a massive impact on Education: many students of different countries have been affected by school and university closures due to the Covid-19. Italy was the first Western country to suffer a coronavirus emergency. On March 4, 2020, the Italian Prime Minister announced a strict lockdown and the immediate closure of all schools and universities to contain the spread of the virus. This phenomenon then extends to other countries as well all over the world. In response to school closures, UNESCO recommended the use of distance learning programs and opened educational applications and platforms that schools and teachers can use to reach learners remotely and limit the disruption of Education. These proposed "solutions" had involved all levels of Education [4, 5]. According to [6] the Covid-19 has shown different everyday situations and different related emerging problems around the world; new pedagogical and didactic perspectives about competencies are needed [7, 8].

# 2 The *MaTeK* research framework

In the last two years several researchers investigated teaching practice and their own response to the crisis [7, 8]. Steed and Leech [9], discussed the US teachers' difficulties in personal interactions with students and their inadequate resources. Hu et al. [10], painting the Hong Kong Covid teaching scenario, provided evidence of barriers

including difficulty engaging students in online activities and highlighted inadequate support from several parents for learning activities. Nikolopoulou [11] highlighted teachers' negative feelings in particular, at the beginning of online education in Greece. Brunetto et al. [12] proposed a new teaching model for describing and analysing a new teaching system in Covid 19 Time. Several Researchers in [5] put in evidence as pandemic was for many teachers and students an opportunity to re-examine their teaching/learning. Very few of these works look to the effect of Covid-19 pandemic on teachers' use of resources. Since January 2021, the MaTeK (Enhancement of Research Excellence in Mathematics Teacher Knowledge) Horizon 2020 project Consortium is investigating these phenomena. The Consortium is, in fact, conducting an international research focused into the use of resources by 8th grade mathematics teachers from different countries to prepare and implement their lessons and conceptions, particularly about Reasoning & Proving in Mathematics. With the aim to study the "repercussions" of the Covid-19 about these themes a pilot study defined by an open-ended questionnaire was deigned. The research was carried out during the 2020-21 academic year, and it involved 110 voluntary teachers from several different school institutions of all five MaTek countries. The questionnaire is made up of Twenty-three items aimed to focus on some key aspects in studying teachers use of resources in mathematics, for refreshing or improving their personal knowledge in mathematics, for inspiration or ideas for teaching mathematics, for preparing assessments, for finding materials to be used with your students in class. Six more question were dedicated to particularly analyse teacher's conceptions about Reasoning & Proving and the related of teaching resources. The last part of the questionnaire was dedicated to collect demographic data such as age, experience, etc. The survey was quantitatively (e.g. by cluster analysis [13, 14]) and qualitatively analysed. In this paper we refer only to the data interpretation by the K-means clustering.

# **3** First conclusion

According to our results not all teacher seemed to be aware about the important of the use of teaching resources in Reasoning & Proving. Interesting correlation was found between their culture, their teaching experience and the declared school teaching grades. We think that these data can be useful to highlight in Higher education (such as in in-service and pre-service teacher training programs) interesting international comparison on some potentialities, critical aspects and challenges about future research on educational methodologies, use of teaching resources and assessment activities in digital learning environments.

#### Acknowledgment

This abstract was supported by the H2020 project no. 951822, MaTeK. https://www.projectmatek.eu/. We would like to express our special thanks to our colleagues in the project: Işıl İşler Baykal, Erdinç Çakıroğlu, Iveta Kohanová and Jakub Michal

- Yıldırım B. Preschool Education in Turkey During the Covid-19 Pandemic: A Phenomenological Study. Early childhood education journal, 2021, 1–17. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-021-01153-w
- Gostin LO, Friedman EA. A retrospective and prospective analysis of the west African Ebola virus disease epidemic: Robust national health systems at the foundation and an empowered WHO at the apex. The Lancet; 2015, 385(9980):1902–1909. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60644-4
- Davies SE. National security and pandemics. UN Chronicle; 2013, 50(2):20–24. doi: 10.18356/0dfec716-en.
- Stoiljković, Č. The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the educational work of kindergarten teachers, International Journal of Cognitive Research in Science, Engineering and Education (IJCRSEE), 2020, 8(3), 123-133.
- Chan, M. C. E., Sabena, C., & Wagner, D. Mathematics education in a time of crisis—a viral pandemic. Educational Studies in Mathematics, 2021, 108(1), 1-13.
- Krause, C. M., Di Martino, P., & Moschkovich, J. N., *Tales from three countries: reflections during COVID-19 for mathematical education in the future*. Educational Studies in Mathematics, 2021, 108(1), 87-104.
- Mellone, M., Ramploud, A., Di Paola, B., & Martignone, F., Cultural transposition: Italian didactic experiences inspired by Chinese and Russian perspectives on whole number arithmetic. ZDM, 2019, 51(1), 199-212.
- Maciejewski, W., *Teaching math in real time*. Educational Studies in Mathematics, 2021, 108(1), 143-159.
- Steed, E.A.; Leech, N., Shifting to Remote Learning during COVID-19: Differences for Early Childhood and Early Childhood Special Education Teachers. Early Child. Educ. J. 2021, 49, 789–798.
- Hu, X.; Chiu, M.M.; Leung, W.M.V.; Yelland, N. Technology integration for young children during COVID-19: Towards future online teaching. Br. J. Educ. Technol. 2021, 52, 1513–1537.
- 11. Nikolopoulou, K. Online Education in Early Primary Years: Teachers' Practices and Experiences during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Education Sciences, 2022, 12(2), 76.
- 12. Brunetto, D., Bernardi, G., Andrà, C., & Liljedahl, P, *Teaching as a system: COVID-19 as a lens into teacher change*. Educational Studies in Mathematics, 2022, *110*(1), 65-81.
- Di Paola, B., Battaglia, O. R., & Fazio, C. (2016). Non-hierarchical clustering as a method to analyse an open-ended questionnaire on algebraic thinking. *South African Journal of Education*, 36(1).
- 14. Battaglia, O. R., Di Paola, B., & Fazio, C. (2019). Unsupervised quantitative methods to analyze student reasoning lines: Theoretical aspects and examples. *Physical Review Physics Education Research*, 15(2), 020112.

# Use of mathematics and physics teachers' resources during and post Covid-19 pandemic

Jakub Michal<sup>1</sup> and Tünde Kiss<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Charles University, Faculty of Education, Prague, Czech Republic cjakub@email.cz
<sup>2</sup> Comenius University in Bratislava, Faculty of Mathematics, Physics and Informatics, Bratislava, Slovakia tunde.kiss@fmph.uniba.sk

# 1 Introduction

During the global pandemic an approach to teaching, lesson planning and classroom preparation had to be adjusted. On one hand online teaching made it impossible to use conventional methods teachers were used to employ in their math and physics classes. On the other hand, the online environment offered several new and exciting opportunities to explore. Lots of previously not that frequently used online, or offline applications and websites started to get recognized and used. Many new materials of all kinds were created by teachers and shared online (e.g. in teacher groups on Facebook, online libraries, websites for teachers, etc.). The amount of online videos (YouTube, Khan Academy, etc.) surged and views of instructional or educational videos for all grades increased as well.

This unexpected and sudden appearance of new resources caught our attention. We were interested in ways in which mathematics and physics teachers' use of resources has changed due to the Covid-19 outbreak. In accordance with Winter et al. (2021) we expected increase in the use of technology and new software environments during the pandemic. However, we were also interested if teachers still use some of these resources post Covid-19 as several studies (such as Chinnathambi et al. (2021)) suggest positive impact of online resources on learning and recommend using these practices even post Covid-19.

# 2 Methodology

We conducted a research among primary, lower and upper secondary school mathematics teachers from different countries participating in the Horizon 2020 project MaTeK. In a research one of the questions asked the teachers if there are any changes in their use of resources caused by Covid-19. Countries involved in that project are as follows: Slovakia, Czech Republic, Italy, Norway, and Turkey. We have also conducted several interviews with participating teachers. Most teachers agreed that their usage of resources was greatly influenced by lockdown and offered several examples. These

preliminary results served us as a basis for a new questionnaire we developed as we wanted to deeper analyse impacts of Covid-19 on the use of resources in both – math and physics classes. This new questionnaire was developed with specifics of Slovak and Czech school systems in mind. We decided to focus on these two countries as our school systems are close to each other as we share common history and the results might be compatible (see Slavíčková and Novotná, 2022). Purpose of this questionnaire is to find answers to the following research questions:

- RQ1: Which methods did teachers find useful and working for pupils during the lockdown?
- RQ2: What changed in teachers' use of resources during and after the lockdown?
- RQ3: Do teachers still use new methods or approaches from RQ1 now? If so when, why and for what?

Questionnaire comprised two parts: First, teachers indicated what subjects they teach and based on that they answered questions about mathematics, physics, or both. These questions were either open, semi-open or closed. Teachers were asked about their use of resources pre-, during and post-lockdown. They were to select which resources they used when and state what for and why. Second part consisted of demographic questions.

# **3** Results and conclusions

From the preliminary results of questionnaires and the interviews with several teachers of mathematics or physics we observed many similar trends among teachers of the same country and some differences among teachers from different countries.

For instance, the most used resources before lockdown in both countries and subjects were *textbooks*, *discussions with colleagues* and *other books about the subject*. On the other hand, teachers did not usually use *online resources* or *journals*. During the lockdown all the teachers frequently used *digital applications* (*such as GeoGebra*, *WolframAlpha*, *etc.*). The greatest surge in comparison to pre-lockdown situation was present in *online video resources* (*such as YouTube*). There was also increase in the use of *general information websites* and *professional online platforms / libraries for teachers* as expected. Other use of resources remained similar to pre-lockdown situation. Several teachers responded that they only tried these online resources but did not use them frequently during the lockdown and do still use them nowadays. Results suggest that teachers still use *digital applications*, *online video resources* and *website where teachers can share their materials with others*.

Interviews with teachers should help us to better understand their preferences in the resources used and reasons why they either do or do not use given resources after the lockdown ended. Results of this study are to be shared and discussed with pre-service teachers of mathematics and physics as part of their university preparation.

- 1. Winter, E., Costello, A., O'Brien, M., & Hickey, G. (2021). Teachers' use of technology and the impact of Covid-19. *Irish Educational Studies*, 40(2), 235-246.
- Chinnathambi, D. K., Anandan, M. L., & Bharathi, D. B. T. (2021). Teachers' Perception of Online Teaching during Covid-19: A study at UTAS-Ibra, Oman. *Journal of University of Shanghai for Science and Technology*, 23(06), 91-107.
- Slavíčková, M., & Novotná, J. (2022). Possible approaches for the pre-service mathematics teacher's preparation to apply the digital technology in their own teaching, Proceeding of CERME 12 [accepted]

# Active blended learning in an undergraduate laboratory of analytical chemistry during pandemic

Sergio Zappoli and Erika Scavetta

Department of Industrial Chemistry, University of Bologna, Viale del Risorgimento 4, 40133 Bologna sergio.zappoli@unibo.it

**Theoretical framework.** Conductometry appears increasingly neglected in undergraduate textbooks. A rapid survey of the literature points out this fact. For example, both of two well-known textbooks of the eighties of the past century ([1] and [2]) have a complete chapter dedicated to conductimetry with an extended discussion of both theoretical and practical aspects, even if mainly acid-base titrations are fully described. In a more recent book [3] there are only eight pages discussing conductometry citing only acid base titration, while in [4] and [5] one can find only short notes on the argument. Quite surprisingly, in some of the most popular textbooks ([6], [7], [8]) the technique is not even mentioned.

In our opinion, conductimetry is an inexpensive instrumental technique, unproblematic from a practical point of view and remarkably versatile in its applications. In fact, in addition to the classic determination of the salinity of an aqueous solution, it allows to carry out several common types of volumetric titrations (acid-base, complexation and precipitation). It is also effective in some special applications ([9] [10]).

**Pandemic and teaching approach**. Considering such features, conductometric titrations have for years been an integral part of the techniques offered in the teaching of Instrumental Analytical Chemistry in the BSc Industrial Chemistry course at the University of Bologna. The laboratory activities related to this technique, like all the others, have been always organized with a first design phase conducted by the students in working groups (typically in the classroom) followed by the practical realization of student's projects and a subsequent revision phase (again in the classroom).

The pandemic emergency prompted us to revise and reformulate the educational approach followed in the past exploiting the technique as a tool for a better understanding of the nature of electrolyte solutions and for predicting and interpreting trends in titration curves, even those of a certain complexity.

**Pandemic and course organization**. The pandemic has made it necessary to reshape the entire cycle of teaching activities, mainly due to the limited access to the laboratories (a maximum of 20 people per shift) which would have resulted in an unacceptable reduction in teaching hours for each student. It was therefore decided to divide the students into four macro-groups (MG A to D) each made up of 4/5 working groups of 5 people each. In each group there was also one person who would only follow remotely (Figure 1).

The teaching sequence. The planning and execution of the experiments was carried out individually by each working group of one of the four MGs (a total of 16 to 20 students at a time), working remotely using the Microsoft Team® channel mode.

During this phase, the teacher was able to visit the discussion rooms, also at the request of the students. At regular intervals, the plenary was then reconstituted, where one member of each group (in turn) reported to everyone on the progress of his group project. During the didactic break that each MG had, the groups had the task of processing

|        | LESSON   | PROJECT<br>ACTIVITY                               | LAB<br>ACTIVITY        | HOME<br>ACTIVITY                     |
|--------|--|---|------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| week 1 | Conductometry<br>theoretical basis<br>MG: A, B, C, D |   |                        |                                      |
| week 2 |  | (MG_A e MG_B)<br>strong acid, MIX of<br>two bases |                        |                                      |
| week 3 |  | (MG_C e MG_D)<br>strong base, MIX of<br>two acids | Work in lab<br>(MG_A ) |                                      |
| week 4 |  | (MG_C e MG_D)<br>New problem                      | Work in lab<br>(MG_B)  | Elaboration / reporting<br>(MG_A )   |
| week 5 |  |   | Work in lab<br>(MG_C)  | Elaboration / reporting<br>(MG_B)    |
| week 6 |  |   | Work in lab<br>(MG_D)  | Elaboration / reporting<br>(MG_C ) … |
|        |  |   |                        |                                      |

Fig. 1. Scheme of working group organisation

the data collected and drafting a short report on the work done. The laboratory activities of each group were followed by the student remotely, but sometimes it was possible to "virtually enter" into the laboratory even for the teacher involved in the design activity. **The problems to be solved**. As shown in Figure 1, the outline of the didactic intervention scheme involved a first exposition by the teacher of the basic principles of conductimetry. In the planning phase, the MG were presented with two problems, the first quite binding (*A method must be developed to determine hydrochloric acid (for MG A) and sodium hydroxide (for MG B) in an unknown solution at a concentration ranging between 0.1 and 0.01 mol L^1) and the second quite open (<i>Develop a method to determine the quantitative composition of a mixture of a strong and a weak base*). Groups were free to choose the mixture to analyze. Finally, one of the goals was to make an estimate of the conductivity at the ending points and during the titration to assess the goodness of the prediction on the basis of the experimental work.

**Results**. The reports presented by the groups got an average score (we used an evaluation grid) of 70/100. Three groups out of 14 got an insufficient score <50. More than half of the groups elaborated a theoretical prediction (using a spreadsheet) of their titration and compared it with their own experimental results (elaborations were reported in the final reports and in the attached spreadsheet). This goal was achieved for the relative facility to treat conductivity data and to produce reliable plot with easy calculation. Despite the difficulties of distance teaching, a positive aspect to report is that such a modality has helped the students with some impair in relating in public to speak in the plenary sessions. At the end of the course all the students had at least once exposed the results of the group. Such think has never happened in traditional teaching mode. It was also observed by some students that the project and numerical exercise part of the teaching was more profitable on-line essentially for logistical reasons: inadequate classrooms, noise, distractions. This last point should be taken in account also in a non-pandemic situation.

- Bauer, H. H., Christian, G. D., O'Reilly, J. E., Eds.; Instrumental Analysis; Allyn and Bacon: Boston, 1978.
- Vogel, A. I.; Jeffery, G. H. Vogel's Textbook of Quantitative Chemical Analysis, 5 ed., reprint.; Longman Scientific & Technical: Harlow, 1991. [Italian edition: Vogel, A. I.; Cariati, F.; Jeffery, G. H.; Zanderighi, G. Analisi chimica quantitativa; CEA: Milano, 1995.
- Robinson, J. W.; Frame, E. M. S.; Frame, G. M. Undergraduate Instrumental Analysis.; M. Dekker: New York, 2005.
- 4. Rubinson, K. A.; Rubinson, J. F. Chimica analitica strumentale; Zanichelli: Bologna, 2002.
- 5. Fifield, F. W.; Kealey, D. Chimica analitica: teoria e pratica; Zanichelli: Bologna, 1999.
- 6. Christian, G. D. Analytical Chemistry, 6. ed.; Wiley: Hoboken, NJ, 2004.
- Skoog, D. A.; Holler, J. F.; Crouch, S. R.; Sabbatini, L. Chimica analitica strumentale; Edises: Napoli, 2009.
- 8. Harris, D. C. Chimica analitica quantitativa; Zanichelli: Bologna, 2017.
- MacInnes, D. A.; Shedlovsky, T. The Determination of the Ionization Constant of Acetic Acid, at 25°, from Conductance Measurements. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1932, 54 (4), 1429–1438. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01343a021.
- Wu, S.; Liang, F.; Hu, D.; Li, H.; Yang, W.; Zhu, Q. Determining the Critical Micelle Concentration of Surfactants by a Simple and Fast Titration Method. Anal. Chem. 2020, 92 (6), 4259–4265. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.9b04638.

Special Track 6

# Online Faculty Development: Next Steps for Practice and Future Research

*Organizers:* Loredana Perla, University of Bari Viviana Vinci, University of Reggio Calabria

# Autoethnography and faculty development: reflections from a co-teaching experience

Laura Fedeli<sup>1[0000-0002-1509-0323]</sup> and Rosita Deluigi<sup>1[0000-0002-1549-1346]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Macerata, Macerata, ITALY

# 1 Introduction

Autoethnography is a widely used approach in qualitative educational research that focuses on the process of teacher professional identity formation and development [1] [2] [3]. Authoetnography extends beyond self study, but it applies to "the space between the self and practice" [2, p.2]; besides it is not limited to self-narrative in terms of data gathering and analysis techniques giving the right value to the self (e.g. to the teacher reflections) and others (e.g. to any other actors within the situatedness of the teacher in relation to them). Austin and Hickey [4] see autoethnography as "a very powerful 'method' of provoking the type of *conscientisation* necessary for authentic community engagement and commitment espoused by critical pedagogues" [4, p.371] which reveals of paramount importance to allow "the social transformative potential of teachers to actuality" (ivi).

Actuality, in nowadays teaching, cannot ignore the changes which affected the context and the actors of the teaching/learning process due to the emergency period experienced in the last two years where the "climate of layered and complex diversity" [2, p.2], which normally characterize students and the group class, has become even more demanding in terms of class management and learning needs. The present contribution explores how a co-teaching workshop took advantage of autoethnography as a reflective method to enrich the interdisciplinary relationship between the two involved professors and their mutual growing nurturing in terms of instructional design and teaching practices.

# 2 Co/autoethnography in a blended context

A co/autoetnography enables an enhanced reflection process due to the needed active negotiation of design models and teaching practices that allow the enaction of a "cultural" experience which clearly expresses in the generation of discourses between the different actors: the two professors and the students in the educational/didactical relationship they develop in a blended setting (partly online and in face-to-face contexts).

In the last two academic years a joint workshop was organized within the courses of "Educational Technology" and "Intercultural Pedagogy", run in the first semester of the third year of the degree course in the professional socio-pedagogical educator curriculum (University of Macerata, Italy) [5]. The project-based workshop had a hands-on approach and is to be meant as a "cluster" within the two different parallel courses [6]. It was developed with the objective to engage students (both online and in the face-to-face teaching context) in an interdisciplinary group-work whose core tasks and performance required a reflection on both subject-matters and the connotation of their entanglement on a theoretical and practical dimension.

Even though the workshop was integral part of the course was not mandatory and students had the chance to shift from online and face-to-face environments and interaction modalities.

Source (table 1) were teachers, students (2020/2021: no.36; 2021/2022: no.38) and pedagogic data (e.g. students' artefacts) [7] and were analysed with the aim of disclosing trajectories of faculty development triggered in the different outcomes of the reflective practice. Among the final results there is a specific focus on the importance of teaching as a way of activating possibilities for students and teachers to exist as subjects [8] in the framework of a critical pedagogical practice [9].

| Timing  | Туре                   | Description   |  |
|---|------------------------|---|--|
| Data collected during<br>the first and second co-<br>teaching workshop            | Students' artefacts    | Teaching plan<br>Grid of analysis<br>presentation   |  |
| (November-December<br>2020 and November-  |                        |   |  |
| December 2021)  | Field notes            | Teachers' observations during the workshop<br>and the final student presentations;  |  |
|   | Trace data             | Students' requests via email and online<br>written interactions in collaborative envi-<br>ronments as part of the workshop activity;<br>Students' comments and peer assessment<br>during the final presentation (audio and/or<br>video recorded). |  |
| Data collected after the<br>first co-teaching work-<br>shop (March-April<br>2021) | Academic writing       | Published academic paper about the co-<br>teaching experience in terms of methods<br>applied.   |  |
| Data collected after the<br>second co-teaching<br>workshop (April-May<br>2022)    | Academic writing       | In-progress academic writing about the co-<br>teaching experience in terms of faculty de-<br>velopment.   |  |
|   | Semi-structured inter- | Video recorded interviews with a sample of  |  |
|   | Faculty reflections    | Written notes and comments on the inter-<br>views.  |  |

Table 1. Overview of data types and collection.

- 1. Rice, B.M.: Opportunities for Inclusive Practice. The Stories Our Students Tell. In: Inclusive Education Is a Right, Right?, pp. 132–144, Brill, Leiden, Boston (2020).
- Starr, L.J.: The Use of Autoethnography in Educational Research: Locating Who We Are in What We Do. Canadian Journal for New Scholars in Education/Revue canadienne des jeunes chercheures et chercheurs en éducation 3(1), 1-9 (2010).
- White, J. Dixon, M., Hay, T., Ferguson, P. and Moss, J. 2004, Ethnographies and identities: the transformation of pre-service teachers, In: ICET 2004 International Council on Education for Teaching (ICET) World Assembly, Hong Kong (2004).
- 4. Austin, J., Hickey, A.: Autoethnography and Teacher Development. The International Journal of Interdisciplinary Social Sciences: Annual Review 2 (2), 369-378 (2007).
- 5. Deluigi, R., Fedeli, L.: Laboratory approach and co- teaching: plural methodologies for an integrated training. Lifelong Lifewide Learning 17(38), 95 106 (2021).
- Dugan, K., Letterman, M.: Student appraisals of collaborative teaching. College Teaching 56(1), 11-15 (2008).
- 7. Pinner, R.S.: Re-learning from experience: using autoethnography for teacher development. Educational Action Research 26(1), 91-105 (2018).
- 8. Biesta, G. J.J.: The Rediscovery of Teaching, Routledge, New York-London (2017).
- Biesta, G. J.J.: Beautiful Risk of Education: Interventions Education, Philosophy, and Culture, Routledge, New York-London (2014).

# Promoting a new Age of the Faculty Development through on-line initiatives

Roberta Silva<sup>1[0000-0001-5093-6622]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Verona, Italy

roberta.silva@univr.it

# 1 From the past, to the future

Mary Deane Sorcinelli (2006, 2020) presented an evolution of the concept of Faculty Development (FD) organized for "Ages" according to which it starts in the Sixties with "The Age of Scholar" in which the focus was on the faculty members and their academic skills within their disciplines to arrive to the years between 2010 and 2020, called "The Age of Evidence," in which universities addressed the problem of the effectiveness of their interventions, also in connection with stakeholders' needs (Beach et al., 2016, Sorcinelli, 2006, 2020).

And what about the next Age? The one that now stands before us and that has presented itself to us with the business card of a pandemic that has upset the entire globe's life and habits? What will it be? Some scholars (Baker & Lutz, 2021) believe that it will be "the Age of Global Community" (p.62), interpreting as a distinctive element of the new decade the possibility for universities to share their FD actions beyond the local dimension, thanks to the massive spread of the digital tools.

This is a refreshing perspective, but perhaps it is possible to take a step further, considering digitization something able to support not only an "international" comparison but also an essential element in the development of an internal process of "positive reinforcement." Indeed, I think that starting from the suggestions offered by the holistic approach (Sutherland, 2018), in the next decade FD actions should follow a systemic and multifocal logic. Starting from this premise, I think that FD should promote not "single actions", organized in a "sectionalized way", but initiatives connected according to a principle of mutual reinforcement. In this way, acting at different levels but consistently, it is possible to promote a" flexible "development, capable of rethinking itself even in unforeseen solicitations. In a perspective of this type, digital tools can represent an essential resource because they allow you to emphasize its multi-perspective soul, both by creating opportunities for exchange and comparison and by allowing modular and integrated management of initiatives.

# 2 Section

A concrete example of what I mean is represented by two FD actions promoted by the University Teaching and Learning Center (TaLC) of the Verona University, one

dedicated to teachers ("Formarsi per Formare") and one dedicated to students ("Competenze Trasversali").

The "Formarsi per Formare" program is an initiative aimed at developing faculty members teaching skills. It is structured into six thematic workshops. Each workshop is composed of three meetings and it is focused on a specific theme linked to one of the three main topics (teaching planning, learning tools, and evaluation strategies). The workshops can be attended independently, but the timetable is designed to allow (those who desire) to participate in all six workshops. The trainers present a brief theoretical background of the theme and then describe an experience connected to it, involving the faculty members in a shared reflection. All the meetings are online and synchronously conducted, but they are also registered and available to the staff through the intranet.

The "Competenze Trasersali" program promotes training courses open to all Verona University's students, aimed to support their development from a personal, professional, and civic point of view. Starting from the framework "Life skills for Europe", the courses are organized into nine areas (numeracy; literacy; problem-solving; civic; digital; environmental; personal and interpersonal; health; financial) and they propose skill-based courses connected with issues relevant to the daily life of students (i.e., "Positive conflict management"), sometimes related to topical issues (i.e. "Intercultural communication"). The courses are held in digital mode (mainly in synchronous) and use a e-learning platform (Moodle) for the management of the moments of comparison or assessment activities required for the certification of the acquired skills.

Although they are two separate programs, they have essential elements of continuity within them. Firstly, they are two connected axes of the "UNIVR per l'innovazione didattica - 2021-2023" project (valid for the University Triennial Programming), promoting a vision of FD in which the enrichment of teachers and the enrichment of students represent two sides of the same coin, both essential to support the growth of the University. Secondly, "Formarsi per Formare" is both a formative moment and the starting point for a stronger relationship between the teachers of the University and the staff of the TaLC. Indeed, in many cases, teachers who attended "Formarsi per Formare" decided to be actively committed to promoting teaching innovation, choosing to dedicate part of their time to design and implement a course belonging to the program "Competenze Trasversali": they put into action what they have learned about teaching innovation at the service of all students of the University, taking advantage of this opportunity as a professional challenge. Finally, for both experiences, are foreseen the certification of the achieved skill through micro-credentials (Open Badges): for the "Transversal Skills" project, this certification is already activated, while the "Formarsi per Formare" project will be activated from 2022 / 2023.

Hence, these two projects, even if they have a "their own life", are part of a wider framework that, thanks to their mutual positive interactions, is promoting a systemic vision of FD at the University of Verona, according to which the growth of the institution is the result of the growth of individuals, within a harmonious and articulated environment.

- Beach, A. L., Sorcinelli, M. D., Austin, A. E., & Rivard, J. K.: Faculty development in the age of evidence: Current practices, future imperatives. Stylus Publishing, Sterling - Virginia (2016).
- Sorcinelli, M. D., Austin, A. E., Eddy, P. L., & Beach, A. L.: Creating the future of faculty development: Learning from the past, understanding the present. Jossey-Bass. Hoboken – New Jersey (2006)
- Sorcinelli M.D. (2020) Fosteting 21<sup>st</sup> Century Teaching and learning: New Models for Faculty Professional Development. In Lotti, A., & Lampugnani, P. A. (eds). Faculty development in Italia: valorizzazione delle competenze didattiche dei docenti universitari, pp. 19-27. Genova University Press, Genova (2020)
- Baker, V. L., & Lutz, C.: Faculty Development Post COVID-19: A Cross-Atlantic Conversation and Call to Action. Journal of the Professoriate, 12(1), 55-81 (2021).
- Sutherland, K. A. Holistic academic development: Is it time to think more broadly about the academic development project? International Journal for Academic Development, 23(4), 261–273 (2018).

# Capability approach and sustainability, a survey for the faculty development

Lucia Maniscalco<sup>1[0000-0002-7507-0236]</sup> and Martina Albanese<sup>2 [0000-0003-4786-1863]</sup>

 Palermo University, Piazza Marina, 61, 90133, Italy lucia.maniscalco04@unipa.it
 Palermo University, Piazza Marina, 61, 90133, Italy martina.albanese@unipa.it

# **1** Theoretical framework

Higher Education must cope complex intertwining of challenges that places university teachers in a condition of continuous updating. With this in mind, we intend to deepen the theme of Faculty Development (FD) with specific reference to the fascinating intertwining of the Capability Approach (CA) and the objectives of the 2030 agenda.

What connects the boost provided by studies on FD and the CA is the invitation for teachers to train active, responsible citizens capable of critical reasoning and problemsolving skills.

The horizon of meaning outlined by the capability approach defines a primary and preliminary social responsibility: outlining the characteristics of the context to define the possibilities of acting, imagining, promoting, predicting. Therefore, the CA expresses a competence to act, in all contexts of life, from school to professional, defining the objectives that the person him- self is preparing to achieve. It therefore becomes an essential right for the full flowering of the human being, for the expression of citizenship and democratic participation. Through the CA perspective, human capital incorporates another aspect: the dimension of lifelong learning and learning by doing, stimulating learning in formal and non-formal contexts, and aiming at the acquisition of cognitive opportunities and the development of capabilities.

As a matter of fact, Nussbaum's capabilities approach is a constant reassessment of the answer to the question: Of what does the prosperity of a nation or region of the work and the quality of life of its inhabitants consist of? (Nussbaum, 1993).

The CA also meets the issue of sustainability in the educational-didactic field, directing the focus of research on the figure of the teacher and on the didactic planning that is implemented daily in professional practice.

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development in this sense is a crucial document; it carries out an action program for people, the planet, and prosperity. The 2030 Agenda

incorporates 17 Sustainable Development Goals, SDGs - into a large action program that reveals a total of 169 targets or milestones.

The sustainability philosophy encompasses three interrelated dimensions (Alessanrini, 2019): human development, social justice, care for the environment. The paradigm of sustainability and the perspective of the CA find a point of possible convergence for pedagogical reflection also around the theme of the community (Alessandrini et al., 2021). The purpose of global development, like that of any good national development policy, consists of promoting the growth of the capabilities of everyone (Ponce et al., 2018).

In this perspective, it is the 2030 Agenda itself that identifies community cohesion as one of the key elements for building an enabling environment for the full realization of rights and the putting into practice of the abilities of children and young people (UN, 2015, 7).

The agency represents the effective opportunity of the subject to exercise his freedom in terms of skills, or ways of acting, doing and being that guarantee his full development as a human being, respect for dignity and the promotion of individual well-being and collective (Alessandrini et al, 2021).

# 2 Second Section

The challenge argued should see everyone trying to find unprecedented answers to extremely complex questions. For this reason, at the University of Palermo, an investigation is being carried out for the in-depth study of the topics exposed. The research group envisaged in the first instance the involvement of the students of the CdS in Pedagogical Sciences attending the following subjects: Methodology of Re- search in the Educational Field (189 students) and Docimology and laboratory (200 students) - a.y. 2021/2022.

The research process activated sees both students and the research team as protagonists, as it allows to activate a reflective action on teaching practice to be able to constantly im- prove it and raise its quality. The survey aims at understanding how much future pedagogues know and know how to apply the 17 objectives promoted by the 2030 Agenda. According to what has been said, it is therefore a pre- liminary reflection step that precedes an experimental intervention, expected for the next academic year, that will be based on the implementation of activities workshops designed and implemented using the CA and which focus on the objectives of the 2030 Agenda. The tool used is the "Capability Approach and Sustainability" questionnaire created and built by the research group and the data analysis is quantitative.

- 1. Alessandrini, G.: Educazione alla sostenibilità come "civic engagement": dall'Agenda 2030 alla lezione di Martha Nussbaum. Pedagogia Oggi 19(2), 013–021 (2021).
- 2. Alessandrini, G.: Sostenibilità e capability approach. FrancoAngeli, Milano (2019).
- ONU Organizzazione Nazioni Unite: Trasformare il nostro mondo: l'Agenda 2030 per lo Sviluppo Sostenibile. Risoluzione adottata dall'Assemblea Generale il 25 settembre 2015 (2015).
- 4. Ponce, R. S., Cancio, J. A. P., & Sánchez, J. E.: The capabilities approach and values of
- sustainability: Towards an inclusive Pedagogy. Journal of Innovation & Knowledge, 3(2), 76-81 (2018).
- M.C. Nussbaum, A. Sen (Compilers) (Eds.), The quality of life, Oxford University Press, Oxford (1993).

# Co-design and Co-teaching in Higher Education: a research experience

Loretta Fabbri<sup>1[0000-0001-7106-0367]</sup> Mario Giampaolo<sup>2[[0000-0001-8041-3902]</sup> and Martina Capaccioli<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Siena, Italy
 <sup>2</sup> University of Siena, Italy
 <sup>3</sup> University of Siena, Italy

mario.giampaolo@unisi.it

# 1 Introduction

This paper describes the advancement of a previous design-based research [1] [2] [3] [4] [5] on a blended model of teaching conducted at University of Siena during the uncertain period of the Covid Pandemic. Analysis in that research brought authors to conclude that the disorienting dilemma produced by the epidemiological emergency transformed a period of high uncertainty in an opportunity for didactic innovation. Moreover, authors suggested that to facilitate this opportunity academic governance could have supported the emergence of micro communities of faculty members that would have fostered professional development [6]. Following that research experience authors started to work jointly in a micro community codesigning and coteaching academic courses.

In this paper authors have two main objectives: a) describe more in deep how the micro community designed learning resources and activities and b) analyze their interactions and those had with students during the lessons. The general aim is to highlights how novices had the opportunity to share skills and knowledge necessary to support senior colleagues in providing examples and points of view, underlining new actions to design and conduct technology enhanced courses. note that the first paragraph of a section or subsection is not indented. The first paragraphs that follows a table, figure, equation etc. does not have an indent, either.

## 2 Method

The authors worked together in six courses of the Bachelor and Master's degrees in Educational Sciences at University of Siena during the 2020/2021 and 2021/2022 academic years. The micro community meet daily in presence or on-line to design learning resources and activities to be adopted during synchronous and asynchronous lessons, like cases, forums, webinars, and formative assessments. The Moodle Learning Content Management System (LCMS), Google meet system for video conferences, and the Panopto software to record lessons were the institutional technological support. To
these, micro community adopted other web-based software like Canva or Thinglink. Students enrolled in the courses were for the most female (94%) attending lessons online and in presence.

To describe how the micro community designed courses, authors highlight the following aspects: a) number and types of learning resources or activities developed; b) description of the learning resources and of the assigned activities; c) number of students' interventions in online discussions and during the lessons; d) quality of students' interventions in online discussions and activities carried out on-line and in presence. Data have been collected through logs in the LMCS and through content analysis of the task carried out by the students [7] [8] [9].

To analyze interactions between micro community members and with students during the lessons, videos have been analyzed. Authors conducted video analysis following three different phases: a) creation of a register for video recordings that included the annotation of minutes and seconds, a summary description of the scenes, and comments related to a specific scene; b) transcription of the videos including dialogues, non-verbal language, and details of the scenes to refine the data archiving and annotation process; c) creation of meaning categories to examining social interactions starting from the transcription of the videos [10] [11].

#### **3** First results and emerging themes

In this paper authors describe the joint work of codesign and coteach six academic courses. Even if data analysis described before is still ongoing first results and themes emerge. Resources and activities designed show an extreme variability, from the most traditional as forum discussions and assessment tests to photo based self-reflection exercises with Thinglink. Generally, the LCMS logs show a good level of participation in traditional reflection tasks (i.e., writing reflections on the read resource) but those level improves when students' creativity and problem solve skills are called upon in performance-based activities or in project-based learning. Interactions among micro community and students during lessons grow when the expertise of the senior colleague in proposing more professional contents meet novices' knowledge and was applied to on-line team works. Finally, interactions among members of the micro community allow for teaching skills development in terms of class management, use of different media to propose contents and to allow students' expression, design of assessment and evaluation.

- 1. Design-Based Research Collective: Design-based research: An emerging paradigm for educational inquiry. Educational researcher 32(1), 5-8 (2003).
- 2. Wang, F., Hannafin, M. J.: Design-based research and technology-enhanced learning environments. Educational technology research and development 53(4), 5-23 (2005).

- Reimann, P.: Design-Based Research. In: Markauskaite, L., Freebody, P., Irwin, J. (eds.) Methodological Choice and Design. Methodos Series, vol. 9, pp. 37-50. Springer, Dordrecht (2011).
- 4. Anderson, T., Shattuck, J.: Design-based research: A decade of progress in education research? Educational researcher 41(1), 16-25 (2012).
- Lyons, K. M., Lobczowski, N. G., Greene, J. A., Whitley, J., McLaughlin, J. E.: Using a design-based research approach to develop and study a web-based tool to support collaborative learning. Computers & Education 161(104064), 1-18 (2021).
- Fabbri, L., Giampaolo, M., Capaccioli, M.: Blended learning and transformative processes to face new and uncertain destinies. In: Agrati L. S., et al. (eds) Bridges and Mediation in Higher Distance Education. HELMeTO 2020, Communications in Computer and Information Science, vol. 1344, pp. 214-225. Springer Nature, Cham (2020).
- Downe-Wamboldt, B.: Content analysis: method, applications, and issues. Health care for women international 13(3), 313-321 (1992).
- Hsieh, H. F., Shannon, S. E.: Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qualitative health research 15(9), 1277-1288 (2005).
- Renz, S. M., Carrington, J. M., Badger, T. A.: Two strategies for qualitative content analysis: An intramethod approach to triangulation. Qualitative health research 28(5), 824-831 (2018).
- 10. Derry, S. J. (ed.): Guidelines for Video Research in Education. Recommendations from an Expert Panel. NORC University of Chicago, Chicago (2007).
- 11. National Center for Research Methods (ed.): An Introduction for using video for research. Working Paper. Institute of Education, London (2012).

### How To Cultivate Transformative Learning in Faculty Development: Towards the Framework of the 4s Model.

Alessandra Romano1[0000-0002-5679-8758] and Loretta Fabbri2[0000-0001-7106-0367]

<sup>1</sup> University of Siena, Viale Cittadini 33, Arezzo, 52100, Italy <sup>2</sup> University of Siena, Viale Cittadini 33, Arezzo, 52100, Italy alessandra.romano2@unisi.it

#### **1** Transforming Teaching and Learning in Higher Education

#### 1.1 Overview

The contribution presents the first results of an exploratory study on faculty perspective transformations [1] due to the massive shift to online and blended learning in the time of the pandemic of Covid-19 [2; 3; 4]. The study was carried out in 2021 at the Teaching & Learning Center of the University of Siena and involves 50 faculty members, coming from a variety of disciplines and subjects. The conceptual framework included the methodological international literature on faculty development [5; 6; 7],on faculty community of learning [8; 9; 10], on methods for learning from experience in organizational and Higher Education contexts [11; 12; 13] and on collaborative and transformative research in Higher Education [1; 14; 15; 16].

The research questions were:

1. How and to what extent has the massive shift to emergency remote teaching changed faculty perspectives on teaching and learning?

2. What are the teaching methods that will be most promising in the integrated digital teaching post-Covid19?

3. How and to what extent can faculty be accompanied in a revolutionary process of reconfiguring their professional identity and epistemology towards the new digitalbased scenarios?

Starting from those questions, the Authors developed an exploratory study with colleagues from several subjects belonging to 14 different University departments.

40 faculty from University of Siena took part: they were all enrolled in a training course for active learning methodology for blended learning. Furthermore, 10 faculty and director of Center for Teaching and Learning of foreign universities (USA, Canada, Greece) were interviewed.

## 2 Towards the framework of the 4S Model for faculty development

The research design implied 8 focus-group and 35 in-depth interviews to gather deep and rich data. Focus group and interviews were videorecorded and transcribed ad verbatim. The data analysis process was iterative: a thematic content analysis was carried out, using the N-Vivo12 software to support researchers handling the coding [17], and implied several coding steps in which three researchers worked first independently and then combining the results.

Findings suggest that institutions could benefit from the course and initiatives created during the pandemic for updating and re-adapting teaching practices carried out in the classroom. The results also show significant changes in epistemological perspectives about their professional epistemology for 30 participants: only for part of them this shift in epistemological premises about themselves as faculty resulted in teaching changes. For most of them, a polarized thinking about a dichotomy between online/in presence teaching still prevails. In addition, the analysis of participants' responses allowed to formalize a model to respond the new challenges of the post-Covid 19 university: the 4S model to faculty development, where the 4S is the acronym for Sociocracy, Space, Sustainability and Share dimensions of faculty development. The 4S model organizes into four dimensions the material and immaterial conditions, factors, and contextual elements that *moderate* and influence the different competencies developed by faculty and the changes in their traditional teaching practices.

Future research in the field might apply and test the 4S model to faculty development to enhance faculty self-efficacy and teaching effectiveness. To facilitate a large-scale evaluation of the framework with other institutions, the Teaching & Learning Center of the University of Siena is currently working on a dashboard for the dissemination of the 4S Model.

- 1. Mezirow, J.: Apprendimento e Trasformazione. Raffaello Cortina Editore, Milano (2003).
- 2. Hodges, C., Moore, S., Lockee, B., Trust, T., Bond, A.: The Difference Between Emergency

Remote Teaching and Online Learning (2020). Retrieved at:<u>https://er.educause.edu/articles/2020/3/the-difference-between-emergency-</u>remoteteaching-and-online-learning.

- Trust, T., Whalen, J.: Should Teachers be Trained in Emergency Remote Teaching? Lessons Learned from the Covid-19 Pandemic. Journal of Technology and Teacher Education, 28 (2), 189 – 199 (2020).
- Rivoltella, P.C.: Regolare nel distance learning. In: Rivoltella, P.C. (Ed.), Apprendere a distanza. Teorie e metodi, pp. 175-186. Raffaello Cortina Editore, Milano (2021).
- Perla, L.: Lo sviluppo professionale del docente universitario. Vision, organizzazione e coprogettazione nell'esperienza TLL dell'Università di Bari. Scuola democratica, Learning for Democracy, 3(2020), 561- 572 (2020). Doi: 10.12828/99904.
- Trust, T., Whalen, J.: Should Teachers be Trained in Emergency Remote Teaching? Lessons Learned from the Covid-19 Pandemic. Journal of Technology and Teacher Education, 28 (2), 189 – 199 (2020).
- Weimer, M.: Learner-centered teaching. Five Key Changes to Practice. Second Edition. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco (2013).
- Esterhazy, R., de Lange, T., Bastiansen, S., Wittek, A.L.: Moving Beyond Peer Review of Teaching: A Conceptual Framework for Collegial Faculty Development. Review of Educational Research, 20 (10), 1–35 (2021). DOI: 10.3102/0034654321990721.
- 9. Wenger, E., McDermott, R., Snyder, W.M.: Coltivare comunità di pratica. Guerini e Associati, Milano (2007).
- 10. Stark, A.M., Smith, G.A.: Communities of practice as agents of future faculty development. Journal of Faculty Development, 30 (2), 59-67 (2016).
- 11. Brookfield, S.: Becoming a Critically Reflective Teacher. Second Edition. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco (2017).
- Taylor, E.W.: Teaching Beliefs of Graduate Students in Adult Education: A Longitudinal Perspective. In: Cervero, R. M., Courtenay, B. C., Monaghan, C. H., (Eds), Comps. The Cyril O. Houle Scholars in Adult & Continuing Education Program Global Research Perspectives, vol. 2, pp. 120-131. University of Georgia (2002).
- Lundgren, H., Bang, A., Justice, S.B., Marsick, V.J., Poell R. F., Yorks L.: Conceptualizing reflection in experience-based workplace learning. Human Resource Development International, 20 (4), 305-326 (2017).
- Dawson, D., Britnell, J., Hitchcock, A.: Developing Competency Models of Faculty Developers. To Improve the Academy, 28 (1), 3 – 24 (2010). DOI: 10.1002/j.23344822.2010.tb00593.x
- Fedeli, M., Taylor, E.W.: Strategie per l'innovazione didattica. L'esperienza di un teachers' study group. In: E. Felisatti, A. Serbati (Eds), Preparare alla professionalità docente e innovare la didattica universitaria, pp.184-194. FrancoAngeli, Milano (2017).
- Fabbri, L., Romano, A.: Engaging Transformative Organizational Learning to Promote Employability. New Directions on Adult and Continuing Education, Fostering Employability in Adult and Higher Education: An International Perspective, 163 (2019), 5365 (2019).
- 17. Miles, M.B., Huberman, A.M., Saldana, J.: Qualitative Data Analysis: A Methods Sourcebook and the Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers. SAGE, Thousand Oaks (2014).

## Technology enhanced assessment and feedback practices: findings from a syllabi analysis to inform academic development

Federica Picasso<sup>1</sup>, Anna Serbati<sup>1</sup>, Beatrice Doria<sup>2</sup>, Paola Venuti<sup>1</sup>, Valentina Grion<sup>2</sup> <sup>1</sup> University of Trento, Italy <sup>2</sup> University of Padova, Italy federica.picasso@unitn.it

#### **1** Theoretical framework

Nowadays there is a growing attention to teachers' and students' digital competencies in a now developed and digital world. The analysis of the European Framework for the Digital Competence of Educators [1] describes the educators' competencies and divides them into six main areas and in related 22 sub-competencies. In the context of these six competency areas (1 Professional Engagement; 2 Digital Resources; 3 Teaching and Learning; 4 Assessment; 5 Empowering Learners; 6 Facilitating Learners' Digital Competence), this study explores the area of assessment to understand how university lecturers implement the use of technologies within their assessment practices. As the framework suggests, the use of digital technologies in the assessment process can contribute to monitor learners' progress, to facilitate feedback and to allow educators to assess and adapt their teaching strategies. This research focuses on integration of technologies in assessment and, more specifically, on the use of semi-automated assessment systems, intended as "systems characterised by the fundamental features of an online submission process by students and distribution of assessed material back to the students in a coordinated fashion" [2]. A specific emphasis is given to semi-automated feedback systems, in order to understand whether academics use these practices in their assessment and feedback processes. Why have we decided to investigate this specific topic? The Digital Scholar Framework [3] identifies the main features of the modern university teacher as a digital scholar, intended as "someone who employs digital, networked and open approaches to demonstrate specialism in a field" [4, 5].

The development and growth of a digital scholar "not only refers to linearly growing and developing digital competencies, but also to exploring, hopping around and jumping back and forth, sometimes failing, sometimes succeeding, but always and steadily acquiring new competencies in a more complex, sophisticated way" [3, p.30]. Academic development initiatives are therefore called to equip professors with such digital competencies, to use technologies and data in their teaching, learning and assessment practices. [6] Raffaghelli (2019) highlights the importance of the development of data literacy for educators, to be applied in designing and implementing their assessment strategies. More specifically the author refers to: integration of data produced in the learning process for summative and formative assessment; generation, selection and analysis of data as evidence of learners' activity to inform teaching and learning; use data collected to offer targeted and timely feedback. The literature highlights the power of (semi)automated feedback provided by the technological system for formative assessment [7-10]: in fact, this type of timely feedback involves students in continuous processes of reflection on their own work and development of deeper learning processes. Automated feedback has also an impact on teachers, who play the role of learning facilitators [7, 9] and can continuously improve their teaching practice.

#### 2 Aims

The research intends to investigate, in a national context, teachers' use of technologyenhanced assessment and feedback assessment practices using syllabi analysis. Therefore, the research questions are the following: 1. What technology-enhanced practices do university teachers implement in their assessment processes? 2. Are semi-automated feedback practices included in Italian academic assessment processes?

#### 3 Methods

In order to answer the research questions a sample of 1145 university teachers belonging to the Italian state "Mega Universities", as defined by Censis in the classification of 2021/2022 edition, was identified through a simple random sampling with proportional allocation. The sample to be analysed in the present study was selected from a larger, statistically representative sample, consisting of 5% of the comprehensive population and constituted by a subpopulation (n=3008 teachers), extracted by stratifying the entire population of Italian lecturers of all state and private universities (n=60158).

The found subpopulation represents the 5% of the overall population of the Mega Universities (22968 lecturers). It was decided to refer to the lecturers affiliated to the Mega Universities, assuming that they present the widest variability in terms of teaching characteristics, thus ensuring the possibility of obtaining a sample with the highest variability possible. Beginning with the identified sample we randomly selected, for each lecturer, the Syllabus referred to a single teaching unit. However, it wasn't possible to find the totality of the documents because they weren't available on the Universities' website.

#### 4 Results and conclusions

The preliminary analysis shows that there is a lack of use of assessment or feedback practices implemented through the use of technology among the university Italian syllabi. The analysis is still ongoing, but it already appears that only a minority of teachers declare to use technology-enhanced assessment practices. Among the limitations of the research, we highlight that the academics may not have declared the use of technology applied in their assessment and feedback approaches as it was not required by the syllabus format. In fact, the research shows the need for a shared syllabus format to make the syllabus design homogeneous across universities, hence a syllabus model that would include the introduction of accurate information on the use of technology in teaching and assessment practices, as a pact for clarity, transparency and student involvement. Despite the pandemic, it seems that academics still need training and guidance to integrate technologies in formative and summative assessment and even more in feedback practices. Theoretical, practical, and policy implications are discussed along with avenues for further research. The results of the research will inform faculty development processes aimed at fostering the development of new assessment skills for university lecturers to become digital scholars.

- 1. Redecker, C., & Punie, Y.: Digital Competence of Educators. Edited by Yves Punie (2017).
- Burrows, S., & Shortis, M.: An evaluation of semi-automated, collaborative marking and feedback systems: Academic staff perspectives. Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, 27(7) (2011).
- 3. Van Petegem, W., Bosman, J. P., De Klerk, M., & Strydom, S.: Evolving as a Digital Scholar: Teaching and Researching in a Digital World. Leuven University Press (2021).
- 4. Scanlon, E. (2018). Digital scholarship: Identity, interdisciplinarity, and openness. Frontiers in Digital Humanities, 5, 3.
- 5. Weller, M.: The digital scholar: How technology is transforming academic practice. A&C Black (2011).
- Raffaghelli, J., Developing a Framework for Educators¿ Data Literacy in the European context: Proposal, Implications and Debate. Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Education and New Learning Technologies, IATED: Palma de Majorca, Spain, 1-3 July (2019).
- Tonelli, D., Grion, V., Serbati, A.: L'efficace interazione fra valutazione e tecnologie: evidenze da una rassegna sistematica della letteratura. Italian Journal of Educational Technology, 26(3) (2018).
- 8. Wilson, J., Olinghouse, N.G., Andrada, G.N.: Does Automated Feedback Improve Writing Quality. Learning Disabilities – A Contemporary Journal, 12(1), 93-118 (2014).
- Tang, J., Rich, C.S., Wang, Y.: Technology-enhanced English Language Writing Assessment in the Classroom. Chinese Journal of Applied Linguistics (De Gruyter), 35(4) (2012).
- Wang, Y.: Use of Interactive Web-Based Exercises for English as a Foreign Language Learning: Learners' Perceptions. Teaching English with Technology, 14(3) 16-29 (2014).

# Hybrid mediation to faculty developers: didactic and organisational intersections in the TLC Uniba

Loredana Perla<sup>1[0000-0003-1520-0884]</sup> Viviana Vinci<sup>2</sup><sup>[0000-0002-4091-0098]</sup> and Alessia Scarinci<sup>1[0000-0002-3174-7137]</sup>

> <sup>1</sup> University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy
> <sup>2</sup> Mediterranea University of Reggio Calabria, Italy loredana.perla@uniba.it viviana.vinci@uniba.it alessia.scarinci@uniba.it

### 1 Changes in Higher Education: qualification of teaching and hybrid learning environments

The Recommendations of the Ministers of the European Higher Education Area [1] highlighted how university teaching qualification processes are related to a studentcentered vision of learning, the continuous improvement of teaching practices and the ability of universities to support improvement of teaching-learning processes. The implementation of organisational-didactic changes, already envisaged by the Bologna reform [2] and aimed at promoting students' skills, appeared even more necessary due to the Covid-19 emergency. It has been a push towards an organisational rethinking of universities and greater flexibility and hybridization of learning environments [3, 4]. The growing use of technologies in university teaching represents a strong factor of change in the context of higher education [5] thanks to more flexible and accessible virtual spaces [6, 7]. This requires on the part of the teacher, an adaptation of their teaching strategies and the ability to act in different contexts, in presence and at a distance [8]; by universities, new training approaches to promote sophisticated knowledge not only of a disciplinary and / or pedagogical type, but also of a techno-logical-logical one [9]. Universities have been called upon to structure interventions in favor of hybrid teaching and the development of teaching skills through Faculty Development actions [10].

## 2 The faculty developer as a change agent in university teaching

In order to facilitate the actions of change and innovation in higher education, universities usually target one or more figures acting as manager of Faculty Development actions and programs [11]: these are the faculty developers, "agents of change" [12] and promoters of the improvement of didactics within the departments [13, 14]. They act within the Teacher and Learning Centers (TLC) and are involved in processes of negotiation, construction and tuning of knowledge, skills and identity with the organisational context [15]; their training activities should be oriented to facilitate an adaptive and situated use of knowledge, supporting the reflective capacity on practice. The University of Bari structured, in 2021/2022, a curricular training model for faculty developers, intentionally designed to encourage the creation of interdisciplinary networks at the departmental level. The aim is to activate, within the organisation chart of the Uniba TLC, a community able to facilitate an analysis of its practices [16] and to formulate proposals for innovation to fulfill the system level in the University.

#### 2.1 What hybrid mediation for faculty developers?

The curricular model has a "drop down" [17] and provides for different target groups: at an institutional level (macro), the Quality Presidium; at the training level of the trainers (meso), the departmental representatives - faculty developers; at the level of groups of teachers (micro), the communities of practice. 22 departmental representatives (one for each department) were selected as faculty developers willing to engage in the hybrid mediation training course, to implement the knowledge acquired in teaching practice and to support the training of new hires and expert professionals, with different skills profiles. The course includes the involvement of experts at national and international level, in co-teaching. Also thanks to specific adaptations of the Moodle platform, tools for re-elaborating the experience will be used to support critical reflection on the practice. The results of a survey will be described which involved the administration of qualitative-quantitative data collection tools: a multiple and open-ended survey and probing interview questions. The survey is part of a mixed-methods research-training protocol (Fig. 1) structured to evaluate the impact of training actions in hybrid teaching, the learning actually achieved, the possible repercussions on teaching practice and the point of view of the participants in the training, starting from the explanation of their motivations, expectations, previous knowledge, training needs.



Fig. 1 - Research-training process on hybrid mediation to faculty developers

- BFUG Advisory Group 2 on Learning and Teaching: Recommendations to National Authorities for the Enhancement of Higher Education Learning and Teaching in the EHEA. Roma (2020).
- EHEA Bologna Declaration, http://www.ehea.info/page-ministerial-conference-bologna-1999 (1999).
- Perla, L., Vinci, V., Scarinci, A.: Hybrid mediation and Digital Scholarship in Higher Education. In G. Ubachs, S. Meuleman, A. Antonaci (Eds.). Higher Education in the new normal: the role of online, blended and distance learning, pp. 58-70. Maastricht, The Netherlands: European Association of Distance Teaching Universities (EADTU) (2021).
- Perla, L., Scarinci, A., Amati, I.: Metamorphosis of space into digital scholarship. A research on hybrid mediation in a university context. In: Agrati, L.S. et al. (Eds.). Bridges and Mediation in Higher Distance Education. CCIS, 1344, 226-239 (2021).
- Vinci, V., Scarinci, A.: Distance Learning and Digital Scholarship: new challenges for Faculty Development. In: Casalino, G. et al. (eds.) Higher Education Learning Methodologies and Technologies Online. HELMeTO 2021. CCIS, vol 1542. Springer, Cham (2022).
- Mishra, L., Gupta T., Shree, A.: Online teaching-learning in higher education during lockdown period of COVID-19 pandemic, International Journal of Educational Research Open (2020).
- Huang, R., Tlili, H., Chang, T., Zhang, X., Nascimbeni, N., Burgos, D.: Disrupted classes, undisrupted learning during COVID- 19 outbreak in China: application of open educational practices and resources. Smart Learning Environment, 7, 19 (2020).
- Dipace, A., Scarinci, A.: Formazione metodologica, tecnologie didattiche ed esperienze nella promozione delle competenze di insegnamento e apprendimento, pp. 95-111. In Excellence and Innovation in Learning and Teaching, Special issue (2021).
- Perla, L., Agrati, L.S., Vinci, V.: The 'Sophisticated' Knowledge of e-Teacher. Re-shape Digital Resources for Online Courses. In Burgos D. et al. (Eds.), Higher Education Learning Methodologies and Technologies Online. HELMeTO 2019. CCIS, 1091, 3-17 (2019).
- Austin, A.E., Sorcinelli, M.D.: The future of faculty development: Where are we going? New directions for teaching and learning (133), 85-97 (2013).
- 11. Sorcinelli, M.D.: Faculty Development: The Challenge Going Forward, 9, 4 (2007).
- 12. Evans, L., Chauvin, S.: Faculty Developers as Change Facilitators: The Concerns-Based Adoption Model to Improve the Academy, 278 (1993).
- Lueddeke, G. Emerging learning environments in higher education: Implications for institutional change and academic developers. International Journal for Academic Development, 2(2), 13-21 (1997).
- McGrath, C. Academic developers as brokers of change: insights from a research project on change practice and agency. International Journal for Academic Development, 25(2), 94-106 (2019).
- Baker, L., Leslie, K., Panisko, D., Wong, A., Stubbs, B., Mylopoulos, M.: Exploring Faculty Developers' Experiences to Inform Our Understanding of Competence in Faculty Development, Academic Medicine, 93, 2 (2018).
- Laurillard, D.: Insegnamento come scienza della progettazione. Costruire modelli pedagogici per apprendere con le tecnologie. Milano: FrancoAngeli (2015).
- Perla, L., Vinci, V., Scarinci, A. Faculty Development Design: A Curricular Training Model for Academic Professional Development. In SCUOLA DEMOCRATICA (Ed.). Pandemic and Post- Pandemic Space and Time. Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference REINVENTING EDUCATION (pp. 544-557). Vol. III (2021).

## Special Track 7

# Artificial Intelligence and Multimodal Technologies in Education (AI&MTEd '22)

Organizers:

Daniele Di Mitri, Leibniz Institute for Research and Information in Education Jan Schneider, Leibniz Institute for Research and Information in Education Bibeg Limbu, Leibniz Institute for Research and Information in Education Pietro Picerno, E-Campus

## Effects of a Collaborative Video-Learning-Tool on Flow Perception, Cognitive Load and Usability Evaluation

Carolin Straßmann<sup>1</sup>[0000-0002-9473-2944]</sup>, André Helgert<sup>1</sup>[0000-0001-6008-4793], and Andreas Lingnau<sup>1</sup>[0000-0001-5259-4822]

<sup>1</sup> Computer Science Institute, University of Applied Sciences Ruhr West, Bottrop, Germany carolin.strassmann@hs-ruhrwest.de

#### 1 Introduction

Educational research suggests that the use of videos for teaching, studying and learning can be meaningful and beneficial. E.g., Merkt et al. investigated the role of interactive features comparing print media with video learning [1]. They found that features that allow micro-level activities (e.g. pausing the videos) could actually show a benefit in learning success compared to using print media for learning. These results suggest that videos do have the potential to contribute to learning success, which is important for online learning environments, especially due to the changing learning structures triggered by COVID-19. However, social isolation is particularly observed in online teaching. According to Hiltz, this has the consequence that "one of the potential negative effects of online courses is a loss of social relationships and a loss of the sense of community that is usually present on a traditional campus" [2]. Therefore, she presupposes a type of collaborative learning for asynchronous teaching. Laal and Ghodsi examined collaborative learning as an educational approach and categorized the greatest benefits as social, psychological, academic, and assessment benefits [3]. They assume that learning in a learning group leads to higher success in the learning process and thus in examinations. The benefits and approaches of collaborative learning could mitigate the drawbacks of isolated learning at home and lead to more effective teaching.

To tackle this, we developed a collaborative framework called VGather2Learn (which in preliminary work was called Learnflix [4]), that supports students to watch and discuss teaching videos collaboratively in groups. By using this tool, students can collaborate on asynchronous teaching content and learn together through a chat and features to highlight specific video passages. VGather2Learn thus provides students with a form of communication and could be a useful tool against isolated learning.

#### 2 Psychological Evaluation

To evaluate the VGather2Learn tool and its functionalities a psychological evaluation study got conducted. Overall, 17 students in 7 different groups participated and used the VGather2Learn tool for 2 learning sessions within 2 weeks (one week between each learning session). The average age of the sample was 22 years (M = 21.59, SD = 2.28). Unfortunately, the sample was not gender balanced, since 14 men and only 3 women

participated. The evaluation was not embedded into an overall lecture or course program. Two independent science videos (Effects of glutamate (1) and blue light caused by digital devices (2) on the human body) that were not related to the students' course program were used to prevent confounding factors of participants' individual learning progresses. Students participated in self-organized pre-defined learning groups of 2-3 people. The whole evaluation study got conducted online and participants received course credits for their participation. After an online written instruction by the experimenter the participants used the tool on their own and were asked to watch the video collaboratively (using the given features of the tool) with the overall goal to learn about the videos content (like it would be a video-lecture used in regular courses). To test the usability and effectiveness of the tool no further adjustments were made by the experimenters. Thus, all participants gathered in their learning groups on their own using the VGather2Learn tool that was embedded via Moodle. After both collaborative video watching sessions participants filled in a questionnaire to assess the tools (psychological) effects. To test, whether the tool enhances the learning process or if it distracts from the actual learning goal, participants flow [5] and cognitive load [6] got measured. Moreover, different scales were used to measure the tools usability (SUS) [8], Enjoyment [7], Perceived Ease of Use [8]) and participants usage intention (self-constructed scale). Moreover, we checked for the social components and investigated how save participants felt in their group during the collaborative learning process (Perceived Saftey [9]). T-Tests were used to check if the sample's means significantly differ from the scale's center (indicating a low or high value). Results indicate that participants experienced a flow state (M = 5.37, SD = 0.94), that their extraneous cognitive load is low (M = 2.23, SD = 1.28), while the germane cognitive load is high (M = 5.00, SD =(0.89), when using the tool. This means that due to the low extraneous load participants are not distracted by the tool's functions and that due to the high germane load participants were engaged into the learning process. Moreover, learners felt save in their group (M=3.49, SD=1.21), and this positively correlates with the germane load (the engagement into the learning process) (r = .626, p = .002). In addition, the tools usability evaluation was good (M = 78.86, SD = 15.24), and participants indicated a high enjoyment (M = 3.92, SD = 0.90), ease of use (M = 4.13, SD = 0.77) and perceived usefulness (M = 3.15, SD = 1.13) of the tool. This enhances the overall usage intention.

#### 3 Conclusion

To conclude, this work presents a psychological evaluation of a collaborative synchronous video based online learning tool that supports learners to jointly watch and discuss pre-recorded videos. As assumed, the evaluation demonstrated positive effects of the tool, since it enhances important psychological processes (like flow and cognitive load) within the learning process. Moreover, its usability was rated as good and participants showed a high usage intention for the tool. Nevertheless, further investigations in longterm learning courses are needed to finally confirm the tools effectiveness.

- 1. Merkt, M., Weigand, S., Heier, A., & Schwan, S. (2011). Learning with videos vs. learning with print: The role of interactive features. Learning and Instruction, 21(6), 687-704.
- Hiltz, S. R. (1998). Collaborative Learning in Asynchronous Learning Networks: Building Learning Communities.
- Laal, M., & Ghodsi, S. M. (2012). Benefits of collaborative learning. *Procedia-social and behavioral sciences*, 31, 486-490.
- Lingnau, A., Strassmann, C., Helgert, A., Benjes, M., & Neumann, A. (2021, July). Learnflix: A Tool for Collaborative Synchronous Video Based Online Learning. In 2021 International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (ICALT) (pp. 119-121). IEEE.
- 5. Rheinberg, F., Vollmeyer, R., & Engeser, S. (2003). Die erfassung des flow-erlebens.
- Klepsch, M., Schmitz, F., & Seufert, T. (2017). Development and validation of two instruments measuring intrinsic, extraneous, and germane cognitive load. *Frontiers in psychology*, 1997.
- Brooke, J. (1996). Sus: a "quick and dirty' usability. Usability evaluation in industry, 189(3).
- Venkatesh, V., & Bala, H. (2008). Technology acceptance model 3 and a research agenda on interventions. *Decision sciences*, 39(2), 273-315.
- Fischer, J. A., & Hüttermann, H. (2020). PsySafety-Check (PS- C): Fragebogen zur Messung psychologischer Sicherheit in Teams. Zusammenstellung sozialwissenschaftlicher Items und Skalen (ZIS). https://doi.org/10.6102/zis279

## Validation of the Relationship among Brain Waves, Heart Rates, and Facial Expressions during Programming Learning

Katsuyuki Umezawa<sup>1</sup>, Makoto Nakazawa<sup>2</sup>, Michiko Nakano<sup>3</sup>, and Shigeichi Hirasawa<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Shonan Institute of Technology, Kanagawa, Japan
 <sup>2</sup> Junior College of Aizu, Fukushima, Japan
 <sup>3</sup> Waseda University, Tokyo, Japan

#### 1 Introduction

Thus far, several studies on electroencephalogram (EEG) and research on applying EEG measurements to learning have been conducted[1][2]. The value of  $\beta/\alpha$ was also evaluated [3]. We also conducted follow-up experiments [4][5]. However, it is unrealistic for learners to wear an EEG for learning.

In this study, we aim to discover biometric information that is an alternative to brain waves for estimating the learning state. We measure biometric information (brain waves, heart rates, and facial expressions) when performing programming tasks of different difficulty levels. Then, we try to explain the brain waves in terms of heart rates and facial expressions.

## 2 Explanation of brain waves by heart rates and facial expressions

#### 2.1 Experiment

A total of nine fourth-year students of the Shonan Institute of Technology were included in the experiment. We measured brain waves, heart rates, and facial expressions (anger, contempt, disgust, fear, joy, sadness, surprise, neutral, engagement, and valence) while performing three types of tasks with different difficulty levels and obtained 27 experimental data.

#### 2.2 Analysis

Although other types of brain waves are also considered in our research, we focus only on low  $\alpha$  waves ( $\alpha_l$ ) and low  $\beta$  waves ( $\beta_l$ ) in this article due to the page limitation. We seek a regression equation that describes the ratio  $\beta_l/\alpha_l$  in terms of heart rate and facial expression. This time, for selecting explanatory variables, a multiple regression fraction is obtained by round robin (all combinations of 11 types of explanatory variables). Cross-validation is performed for the 27 experimental data with each combination of explanatory variables using the leave-one-out cross-validation. Particularly, one of the 27 data was used as test data, and the remaining 26 were used as training data. Multiple regression analysis was performed using 26 data to obtain a regression equation. We applied the test data to the regression equation to obtain the predicted value. We then found the difference between the predicted and measured values. These were repeated 27 times to obtain the root-mean-squared error (RMSE). These 27 iterations were performed for all combinations of explanatory variables to find the optimal combination of explanatory variables, i.e., the combination with the minimum RMSE.

#### 2.3 Result

We performed the analysis according to the method in the previous section. The multiple regression equation using the combination of explanatory variables with the minimum RMSE value (0.0464) is as follows:

$$\hat{w}_1 = -0.0072z_1 + 0.2409z_3 - 0.3228z_4 + 4.6063z_5 + 0.2140z_6 + 0.1784z_7 -0.8902z_8 + 0.1308z_9 - 0.0165z_{10} - 0.0455z_{11} - 0.0261$$
(1)

where  $\hat{w}_1$  denotes the predicted value of  $\beta_l/\alpha_l$ ,  $z_1$  denotes heart rate,  $z_3$  denotes contempt,  $z_4$  denotes disgust,  $z_5$  denotes fear,  $z_6$  denotes joy,  $z_7$  denotes sadness,  $z_8$  denotes surprise,  $z_9$  denotes neutral,  $z_{10}$  denotes engagement, and  $z_{11}$  denotes valence.

#### 3 Conclusion and future work

In this study, we collected biological information during programming learning through experiments and obtained multiple regression equations that predict brain waves from heart rates and facial expressions. We used cross-validation to select explanatory variables and found the optimal combination of explanatory variables. Our study is at an early stage and used classical multiple regression analysis. In the future, we would like to use machine learning techniques to perform our analysis. In addition, we would like to perform further experiments to increase the sample data to improve the accuracy and clarify the relationship with the educational effect improvement.

#### **Research** ethics

The experiments were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of Shonan Institute of Technology. We also received signatures from examinees and parents of the examinees concerning experiment participation.

#### Acknowledgment

Part of this research result was carried out as a part of the research project "Research on e-learning for next-generation" of Waseda Research Institute for Science and Engineering, Waseda University. Part of this work was supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Numbers JP22H01055, JP21K18535, and JP20K03082. The research leading to this paper was partially supported by the grant as a research working group "ICT and Education" of JASMIN.

- 1. D. Giannitrapani, "The role of 13-hz activity in mentation," The EEG of Mental Activities, pp. 149–152, (1988).
- H. Uwano, K. Ishida, Y. Matsuda, S. Fukushima, N. Nakamichi, M. Ohira, K. Matsumoto, and Y. Okada, "Evaluation of software usability using electroencephalogram comparison of frequency component between different software versions," Journal of Human Interface Society, 10(2), pp. 233–242, (2008). (in Japanese)
- K. Yoshida, Y. Sakamoto, I. Miyaji, and K. Yamada, "Analysis comparison of brain waves at the learning status by simple electroencephalography," KES'2012, Proceedings, Knowledge-Based Intelligent Information and Engineering Systems, pp. 1817–1826, (2012).
- K. Umezawa, T. Ishida, T. Saito, M. Nakazawa, and S. Hirasawa, "Collection and analysis of the browsing history, editing history, and biological information for high school students," National Conference of JASMIN 2016 Autumn, Japan Society for Management Information, D2-1. pp. 1–6, (2016). (in Japanese)
- K. Umezawa, T. Saito, T. Ishida, M. Nakazawa and S. Hirasawa, "An Electroencephalograph-based Method for Judging the Difficulty of a Task given to a Learner," Proceeding of the IEEE 17th International Conference on Advanced Learning Technologies (IEEE ICALT 2017), p.p.384–386, July 2017.

## Use of conversational agents in the university environment: First results

Juan Bautista Jiménez<sup>[0000-0002-3256-5175]</sup>, Luis de-la-Fuente-Valentín<sup>[0000-0001-9727-315X]</sup> and Pablo Moreno-Ger<sup>[0000-0003-4817-8150]</sup>

> Universidad Internacional de La Rioja (UNIR), Logroño, Spain {juan.jimenez, luisdelafuente, pablo.moreno}@unir.net

#### 1 Introduction

Conversational Agents have been identified as a tool that have gained popularity in the resent times, and it is a system than have been adapted and developed for many different domains [1]. Among other fields of application, the educational arena has a great potential for its application. There are many different scenarios of application, ranging from of information structuring and organization to facilitating the different processes such as student admission, support for educational processes, both in teaching and tutoring levels. Another relevant scenario, as described by Clarizia et al. [2] is the reinforcement of internal training procedures for the continuous improvement of all the roles that work in a university: administrative personnel and faculty members. According to [3], speech-based CA are closer to the human language than text-based ones. Thus, voice interaction is often used in customer support.

In this article we present a case study where an ALEXA-based Conversational Agent was used to deliver the course material to the students in a course. We have chosen ALEXA, which has been used in many cases reported in the literature [4], [5], [6], [7], [8]. In the presented case study, the students were able to ask the CA for new content, to ask for an evaluation test or ask for contents related to a given content. This CA was deployed during 15 weeks in two actual courses being taught at the hosting University.

#### 2 Methodology

The methodology in use for the experiments is described as follows: first, we deployed a preliminary usability study. There, 6 volunteer students were observed while using the CA in a test case. As a result, we observed the need to split course contents (i.e. text with long paragraphs) in a set of short learning pills with no more than 20 words each. Also, we defined the type of actions more suitable for interacting with the CA: listening the pills in a sequential way, asking for specific parts of the content, or asking for the contents that explains specific concepts. With the lessons learned from this usability study, the conversational flow was designed. The designed flow allowed the students to maintain a fluid conversation with the CA without the need of previous training, and had the required adaptivity to fit the needs of different student profiles, depending on their experience on the use of Cas, and also depending on the previous user interactions with the system. The conversational flow was also designed to contain evaluation procedures, so that the students could ask for a test that challenges their acquired knowledge. This evaluation procedure is based on multiple choice questions. After that, the conversational flow was filled with the actual course content, which was correspondingly adapted to the case of use as described above (i.e. short pills instead of long paragraphs), and also with a collection of multiple choice questions.

Two courses were chosen to deploy the CA: "Entrepreneurship, innovation and digital creativity" in a Master's Degree in Educational Technology and Digital Competences taught at the Faculty of Education where students have a not-technical profile; and "Human-Computer Interaction" in a Computer Science Degree, where the students had a technical profile. In both courses, the students were divided into control and experimental groups, where the CA was offered only to the experimental group. The students were randomly assigned to the groups. The CA was offered to the students with no award nor extra score in the course.

The analysis will follow a mixed model, considering these information sources: surveys launched for all the participants, interviews with a reduced number of participants, usage data for both the chatbot and the virtual campus and, finally, the obtained grade. Surveys and interviews will focus on measuring the TAM model for this system, also for understanding how the chatbot influenced the interaction with the course.

#### 3 Result

A total of 800 students were enrolled in those courses, with 550 students in the experimental group and 250 in the control group. The evaluation of the impact of the CA in the course was based on understanding how, and how much, was the CA used, what was the students' satisfaction and perceived usefulness. The evaluation also includes the comparative analysis of the final course results and interaction patterns of those students who made intensive use of the CA and those who did not. Table 1 presents preliminary usage statistics, with the course still on-going.

| Data             | Sessions               | Unique Customers | Utterances       |
|------------------|------------------------|------------------|------------------|
| Sessions         | 585                    | 103              | 2.613            |
| Unique Customers | <b>28</b> (03/01/2022) | 11 (02/23/2022)  | 148 (03/01/2022) |
| Average per day  | 7,46                   | 2,94             | 34,37            |

Table 1. Usage data from 2/23/22 To 5/10/2022.

Future research lines include the qualitative and quantitative analysis of the students satisfaction and perceived usefulness, and also an analysis of the course results with and without using the CA. In a preliminary analysis, it has been observed that:

The case study reveals low level of participation. The identified cause for such low level is the lack of reward in the final grade for those students who uses the CA. That is, the CA was offered as a complementary tool, and the students recognized that, given

the course workload, they are more prone to use the already known interface rather than experimental ones. Future experiments will reward the users to encourage CA usage.

Many students reported usage problems caused by their lack of experience with CA interfaces. Thus, the students did not know how to ask for course content. This reveals the need to introduce guidance systems for novice users. TAM surveys were launched in July that will allow us to obtain qualitative data. As of July 24, we have 55 completed surveys. Finally, multiple students acknowledged their use of text-to-speech tools, so that they listen the course content. This fact reveals a great potential of CA for interaction with course content, where a CA is by far more interactive that text-to-speech tools.

As conclusion, the presented case study for the delivery of course material in two authentic courses at a university level, where the preliminary results reveal interesting lessons learned that will be applied for the improvement of future experimental cases.

- T. P. Nagarhalli, V. Vaze, and N. K. Rana, "A Review of Current Trends in the Development of Chatbot Systems," 2020 6th Int. Conf. Adv. Comput. Commun. Syst. ICACCS 2020, pp. 706–710, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1109/ICACCS48705.2020.9074420.
- [2] C. Rzepka, B. Berger, and T. Hess, "Voice Assistant vs. Chatbot Examining the Fit Between Conversational Agents' Interaction Modalities and Information Search Tasks," *Inf. Syst. Front.*, 2021, doi: 10.1007/s10796-021-10226-5.
- [3] V. Pitardi and H. R. Marriott, "Alexa, she's not human but... Unveiling the drivers of consumers' trust in voice-based artificial intelligence," *Psychol. Mark.*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 626–642, Apr. 2021, doi: 10.1002/MAR.21457.
- [4] D. Marikyan, S. Papagiannidis, O. F. Rana, R. Ranjan, and G. Morgan, "Alexa, let's talk about my productivity': The impact of digital assistants on work productivity," *J. Bus. Res.*, vol. 142, pp. 572–584, Mar. 2022, doi: 10.1016/J.JBUSRES.2022.01.015.
- [5] W. M. Lim, S. Kumar, S. Verma, and R. Chaturvedi, "Alexa, what do we know about conversational commerce? Insights from a systematic literature review," *Psychol. Mark.*, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 1129–1155, Jun. 2022, doi: 10.1002/MAR.21654.
- [6] S. Natale and H. Cooke, "Browsing with Alexa: Interrogating the impact of voice assistants as web interfaces:," https://doi.org/10.1177/0163443720983295, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 1000–1016, Dec. 2020, doi: 10.1177/0163443720983295.
- [7] C. Jimenez, E. Saavedra, G. Del Campo, and A. Santamaria, "Alexa-Based Voice Assistant for Smart Home Applications," *IEEE Potentials*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 31–38, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1109/MPOT.2020.3002526.
- [8] J. Van Brummelen, V. Tabunshchyk, and T. Heng, "Alexa, Can i Program You?": Student Perceptions of Conversational Artificial Intelligence before and after Programming Alexa," in *Proceedings of Interaction Design and Children*, *IDC 2021*, 2021, pp. 305–313. doi: 10.1145/3459990.3460730.

## An Artificial Intelligence-based system for fast configuration of cultural and learning paths

Yousef Ali Abd El Dayem<sup>1</sup>, Amedeo Cesta<sup>2</sup>, Gabriella Cortellessa<sup>2</sup>, Riccardo De Benedictis<sup>2</sup>, Carlo De Medio<sup>1</sup>, Carla Limongelli<sup>1</sup>, and Augusto Palombini<sup>2</sup>

```
<sup>1</sup> Roma Tre University, Rome, Italy
you.aliabdeldayem@stud.uniroma3.it,carlo.demedio@uniroma3.it,
carla.limongelli@uniroma3.it
<sup>2</sup> National Research Council of Italy
amedeo.cesta@istc.cnr.it,gabriella.cortellessa@istc.cnr.it,
riccardo.debenedictis@istc.cnr.it,augusto.palombini@istc.cnr.it
```

#### 1 Context

Cultural heritage provides a favourable context for stimulating and enriching knowledge. Cultural experiences can contribute to the development of creativity and can be a stimulous for learning. The crisis caused by the COVID-19 health emergency has highlighted, on the one hand, the need to develop alternative forms of learning and enjoyment and, on the other hand, the great opportunities offered by technology.

Some works have been already proposed in this context. For example, simulation videogames for engaging visitors [1] or, more in general, systems allowing extremely realistic virtual tours. Other approaches focus on interactive storytelling like Proteous [2]. It takes advantage from linguistic hierarchies such as WordNet or ConceptNet to introduce new planning actions which produce different stories starting from a storyline baseline. Fidas et al. [3] report some end-user authoring tools to create mobile applications for the cultural heritage domain.

One of the valuable tools used in these approaches is technology-enhanced learning (TEL) to support and enhance learning processes [4–6]. TEL-based systems offer significant opportunities and alternatives to classical learning methods, but suffer from many problems related to authoring, i.e., content creation. It is estimated that for each hour of use 200-300 hours of overall development are necessary [7].

#### 2 The system

In this paper, we present our work toward the development of systems that help content generation for learning paths. Specifically, we present WIKITEL, a system for the rapid configuration of courses to be delivered to learners in a personalized way.

We started with a system, called ExPLORAA [8,9], which aims to support experiential learning through the use of automated scheduling. This system has been integrated with an authoring tool, called Wiki Course Builder (WCB) [11], which leverages semantic analysis of Wikipedia pages and allows for the generation of personalized lessons [12] based on appropriate sequencing of Wikipedia pages. Many studies on Wikipedia state that it is a valid learning support both for students and anyone who wants to search for information quickly and satisfactorily. In 2016, the vast majority of university students were using Wikipedia [13] while its use still encounters resistance from lecturers who, consequently, negatively influence students' approach to this instrument.

Additionally, the integration of ExPLORAA and WCB has been enhanced with more accurate user modeling. The teacher has also the possibility to add content (files, pictures, etc.) in addition to Wikipedia pages.

From a methodological point of view, this work integrates several AI technologies ranging from semantic reasoning to automated planning and machine learning techniques, allowing the implementation of the above services, resulting in the definition of a flexible tool for the management of teaching materials.

Specifically, WCB allows the categorisation of Wikipedia resources that support adaptability, while Explora supports the generation of paths by a timeline planner. When the teacher (modelled according to his or her interests) sends a request to WIKITEL, the response is a set of Wikipedia pages selected according to their proximity to the request and the teacher's model. Machine Learning techniques make it possible to establish prerequisite relations between the selected pages [14]. Then, each user will receive a personalized plan with the proposed activities. The personalization depends on the users' interests.

#### 3 Applications and future work

From the application point of view, the proposed system can be very flexible and can be applied to different contexts ranging from the management of educational materials to the creation of fruition paths and visits to cultural heritage. For example, the teacher can create some content about "Matera" by a simple search that returns the nodes linked to the Matera Wikipedia page. The nodes are ordered on the base of their proximity to teacher interests. In this way, the teacher can select the most relevant nodes and deepen into a node to search for further interesting links. Once the content is ready, different people with different interests and objectives can have their own paths to follow. Specifically, if a tourist is interested in Palombaro Lungo he or she will receive a path different from the one suggested to a geologist interested in the structure and materials of the area, or someone interested in the history of the location.

In today's professional contexts, where the interconnections between cultural domains are constantly growing in relevance, the WikiTEL application can be defined as a real *cultural cross-over*, i.e. a tool that focuses on disciplinary connections and helps to deepen the components of cultural heritage knowledge.

We are in the process of setting up the system for large-scale experimentation.

- Jorge Garcia Fernandez and Leonor Medeiros. Cultural heritage and communication through simulation videogames-a validation of minecraft. *Heritage*, 2:2262– 2274, 08 2019.
- Julie Porteous, Alan Lindsay, Jonathon Read, Mark Truran, and Marc Cavazza. Automated extension of narrative planning domains with antonymic operators. In Proceedings of the 2015 International Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems (AAMAS '15), pages 1547–1555, Richland County, South Carolina, May 2015. International Foundation for Autonomous Agents and Multiagent Systems. Conference held in Istanbul, Turkey from 04 - 08 May, 2015.
- C. Fidas, C. Sintoris, N. Yiannoutsou, and N. Avouris. A survey on tools for end user authoring of mobile applications for cultural heritage. In 2015 6th International Conference on Information, Intelligence, Systems and Applications (IISA), pages 1–5, 2015.
- L Pavlova, L. Draganov, D. Luchev, Desislava Paneva-Marinova, G. Szántó, László Márkus, and Tibor Szkaliczki. Technology-enhanced learning for cultural heritage. Digital Presentation and Preservation of Cultural and Scientific Heritage, V:293– 301, 2015.
- Wim Westera. Technology-enhanced learning: review and prospects. ACM Computing Classification System, 4:159–182, 01 2010.
- Francesca Pozzi, Alivizatou M., Francesca Dagnino, and Michela Ott. Going beyond preservation: How to support technology-enhanced learning in ich education. International Journal of Heritage in the Digital Era, 4:21–40, 03 2015.
- Vincent Aleven, Bruce M. McLaren, Jonathan Sewall, and Kenneth R. Koedinger. The Cognitive Tutor Authoring Tools (CTAT): Preliminary Evaluation of Efficiency Gains. In Mitsuru Ikeda, Kevin D. Ashley, and Tak-Wai Chan, editors, *Intelligent Tutoring Systems*, pages 61–70, 2006. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Riccardo De Benedictis, Carlo De Medio, Augusto Palombini, Gabriella Cortellessa, Carla Limongelli, and Amedeo Cesta. Fostering the creation of personalized content for cultural visits. *Applied Sciences*, 11(16), 2021.
- Riccardo De Benedictis, Gabriella Cortellessa, Francesca Fracasso, and Amedeo Cesta. Technology-enhanced learning to support active ageing (in Italian). Form@re - Open Journal per la formazione in rete, 19(1):301–311, 2019.
- Carla Limongelli, Matteo Lombardi, and Alessandro Marani. Towards the recommendation of resources in coursera. In *Intelligent Tutoring Systems: 13th Inte. Conference, ITS 2016. Proceedin.gs*, volume 9684, page 461. Springer, 2016.
- C. De Medio, F. Gasparetti, C. Limongelli, and F. Sciarrone. Automatic Extraction and Sequencing of Wikipedia Pages for Smart Course Building. In 21st International Conference Information Visualisation (IV), pages 378–383, 2017.
- 12. Amedeo Cesta, Gabriella Cortellessa, Riccardo De Benedictis, Carlo De Medio, Carla Limongelli, Filippo Sciarrone, Giulia Tassarotti, and Augusto Palombini. Personalizing technology-enhanced learning for cultural visits. In Adjunct Publication of the 28th ACM Conference on User Modeling, Adaptation and Personalization, UMAP '20 Adjunct, page 333–339, New York, NY, USA, 2020. ACM.
- Neil Selwyn and Stephen Gorard. Students' use of wikipedia as an academic resource - patterns of use and perceptions of usefulness. The Internet and Higher Education, 28:28–34, 2016.
- F. Gasparetti, C. De Medio, C. Limongelli, F. Sciarrone, and M. Temperini. Prerequisites between learning objects: Automatic extraction based on a machine learning approach. *Telematics and Informatics*, 35(3):595–610, 2018.

#### **Transformer-based Recommender**

#### **Enabling Automatic Flashcards Generation**

Baha Thabet<sup>1[0000-0002-3895-2491]</sup> Niccolò Zanichelli<sup>2[0000-0002-3093-3587]</sup> Francesco Zanichelli<sup>1[0000-0002-5802-8343]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Dept. of Engineering and Architecture (francesco.zanichelli, baha.thabet)@unipr.it
<sup>2</sup> Dept. of Mathematical, Physical and Computer Sciences, niccolo.zanichelli1@studenti.unipr.it Università di Parma, ITALY

#### **1** Transformer-based Flashcards Generation Framework

Flashcards are the main tool used in the Spaced Repetition [1] evidence-based learning and memorization method, yet there are not always available for many topics due to the high effort required to create them. The combination of Transformer based models [2] with a Recommender System (RS) can enable a dynamic model to auto generate flashcards as recommendations for learners and serious game players, thus improving their learning achievements.

In previous work we introduced an Intelligent Serious Games (ISG) model [3] by combining hybrid Deep Knowledge Tracing (DKT) [4] with a Transformer-based Recommender. The ISG aims to predict the results of the next missions for players in gameplay with enabling flashcard recommendations when needed so that players can complete the missions successfully. However, in the previous work of the ISG model we focused on evaluating the DKT models. In contrast, this work comes to focus and extend the Transformer-based recommender [3] taking into consideration future directions of recent systematic reviews in [5], [6] related to questions and answers generation.

In this study, we introduced a novel architecture and specifications for the Transformer-based recommender [3] (see Figure 1); we also introduced and evaluated a novel Transformer-based Framework tailored to three NLP tasks to auto generate programming skills flashcards (see Figure 2). The main contributions of this work are as follows:

(1) we fine-tuned and evaluated the GPT-2 [7] and GPT-Neo [8] models on a new textual dataset called C++ Code Guide (C++CG) to generate paragraphs related to programming skills; (2) we fine-tuned and evaluated BART [9] and T5 [10] models on a new dataset called C++ Summaries (C++SUMM) to generate answers from given paragraphs; (3) we finetuned and evaluated the T5 model on a new dataset called C++ Questions/Answers (C++QA) to generate questions. More information will be available in the full paper.



Figure 1. Transformer-based Recommender Architecture



Figure 2. Fully Automated Flashcards Generation Framework

#### 2 **Experiments, Results and Conclusions**

Using Google Colab, we conducted three experiment sets to generate flashcards in the form of Ouestions, Answers and supporting Paragraphs as follows: (1) we fine-tuned GPT-2/124M and GPT-Neo/125M on the C++CG dataset to generate C++ related paragraphs; (2) we fine-tuned T5-large and BART-large on the C++SUMM and cnn-dailymail [11] dataset to generate C++ answers by summarizing the obtained paragraphs; (3) we fine-tuned T5-large on the C++QA and on SciQ [12] datasets to generate C++ questions from the obtained answers. We considered three standard metrics to evaluate the N-gram overlaps [13], [14] and the cosine semantic similarity [15] to ensure coherence and semantics of the text.

| Table 1 Models' Performance in Generating Paragraphs |                   |                            |                     |                            |           |          |                 |                     |                              |                       |
|--|-------------------|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|-----------|----------|-----------------|---------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------|
| Mod  | el Testing<br>Set | Sacre<br>BLEU<br>Precision | ROUGE-1<br>F1 score | Cosine<br>Semantic<br>Sim. | DS        | Model    | Search<br>Algo. | ROUGE-1<br>F1 score | Cosine<br>Seman-<br>tic Sim. | Sum-<br>mary<br>Ratio |
| GPT-2  | Set-1             | 0.808                      | 0.843               | 0.937                      | DS1:      | BART     | Sampling        | 0.624               | 0.869                        | 70                    |
|  | Set-2             | 0.918                      | 0.880               | 0.930                      | 201.      | Dinter   | Daam            | 0.024               | 0.809                        | 44.0                  |
|  | Set-3             | 0.901                      | 0.876               | 0.959                      | C++ with  |          | Beam            | 0.654               | 0.8/3                        | 44.5                  |
| GPT-N  | leo Set-1         | 0.808                      | 0.847               | 0.944                      | cnn-      |          | Greedy          | 0.622               | 0.869                        | 46.2                  |
|  | Set-2             | 0.795                      | 0.771               | 0.860                      | dailymail | T5       | Sampling        | 0.558               | 0.832                        | 57.0                  |
|  | Set-3             | 0.922                      | 0.843               | 0.965                      | Ganyman   |          | Beam            | 0.575               | 0.850                        | 57.4                  |
|  | Bet 5             | 0.922                      | 0.045               | 0.905                      |           |          | Greedy          | 0.564               | 0.847                        | 57.2                  |
| Table 3. Models' Performance in Generating Questions |                   |                            |                     | DS2:                       | BART      | Sampling | 0.595           | 0.856               | 43.6                         |                       |
| Model  | : T5              |                            |                     |                            | C++ alone |          | Beam            | 0.596               | 0.856                        | 43.3                  |
|  | Porcentage of     | G                          |                     | <i>a</i> .                 |           |          | Greedy          | 0.622               | 0.870                        | 44.8                  |
| Exp  | C++ Topics in     | Sacre                      | ROUGE-1             | Cosine                     |           | T5       | Sampling        | 0.485               | 0.792                        | 53.4                  |
| No.  | the Training      | BLEU                       | E1 soom             | Seman-                     |           |          | Beam            | 0.482               | 0.805                        | 53.1                  |
|  | DS.               | Precision                  | F1 score            | tic Sim.                   |           |          | Greedy          | 0.456               | 0.797                        | 56.4                  |
| 1  | 0% of Topics      | 0.205                      | 0.251               | 0.563                      | DS3:      | BART     | Sampling        | 0.515               | 0.824                        | 16.1                  |
| 2  | 15% of Topics     | 0.503                      | 0.595               | 0.768                      | cnn-      |          | Beam            | 0.514               | 0.827                        | 15.4                  |
| 3  | 25% of Topics     | 0.48                       | 0.576               | 0.789                      | dailymail |          | Greedy          | 0.543               | 0.837                        | 17.7                  |

T5

alone

0.597

0.702

0.729

50% of Topics

75% of Topics

100% of Topics

0.631

0.666

0.739

0.838

0.859

0.868

Table 2. Models' Performance in Generating Answers

Sampling

Beam

Greedy

0 4 3 3

0.448

0.45

0773

0.791

0.793

217

21.1

21.0

Table 1 shows that the models are capable of generating paragraphs related to C++ programming skills with F1 scores higher than 85% and 90% for the cosine semantic score. Such high scores for both metrics confirm the models maintained two important factors, namely coherence and meaning. Results in Table 2 evidence that the models are capable of summarizing paragraphs and generating C++ answers with a semantic similarity score always higher than 0.79 and the best summarization ratio reaching 57.4%. Also, combining C++ and cnn-dailymail summaries together achieved better scores on all metrics, whereas using a dataset with only out of topic summaries downgraded the performance. Moreover, the summarization ratio uncovers the importance of using this metric in the summarization task. In particular, the models in some cases achieve acceptable scores, but they are regenerating almost the same input paragraphs such as in DS3. Overall, the BART model demonstrated better metrics scores, whereas T5 model showed better summarization ratio. Finally, the qualitative evaluation uncovers that the beam and the sampling decoding methods are better than the greedy one as the latter is mostly returning the same sentences without rephrasing them in new ones. Table 3 shows that the T5 model is capable of generating coherent questions with a semantic similarity score around 0.87. Also, results highlighted that the model is able to generate coherent questions even including only 15% of the topics in the training data. Furthermore, we investigated the influence of the dataset size on the performance of the generated C++ questions and on the science questions dataset. Results for both datasets show that increasing the number of relevant questions in the training data can improve the performance of the generated questions. These results underline the importance of having a relevant Q&A dataset so that the model can recognize the context and the terms' dependencies for a certain subject. Overall, we presented in this work a novel architecture and specifications of the Transformer-based recommender for the ISG model. We introduced and evaluated a novel Transformer-based framework tailored to three NLP tasks to generate flashcards in a fully automated process.

- P. Smolen, Y. Zhang, and J. H. Byrne, "The right time to learn: mechanisms and optimization of spaced learning," *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 77–88, Feb. 2016, doi: 10.1038/nrn.2015.18.
- A. Vaswani et al., "Attention is All you Need," in Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 2017, vol. 30. [Online]. Available: https://proceedings.neurips.cc/paper/2017/file/3f5ee243547dee91fbd053c1c4a845aa-Paper.pdf
- B. Thabet and F. Zanichelli, "Towards Intelligent Serious Games: Deep Knowledge Tracing with Hybrid Prediction Models," Ningbo, China, Aug. 2022. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/
- C. Piech et al., "Deep Knowledge Tracing," in Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 2015, vol. 28. [Online]. Available: https://proceedings.neurips.cc/paper/2015/file/bac9162b47c56fc8a4d2a519803d51b3-Paper.pdf
- 5. R. Zhang, J. Guo, L. Chen, Y. Fan, and X. Cheng, "A Review on Question Generation from Natural Language Text," *ACM Trans. Inf. Syst.*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 1–43, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1145/3468889.
- G. Kurdi, J. Leo, B. Parsia, U. Sattler, and S. Al-Emari, "A Systematic Review of Automatic Question Generation for Educational Purposes," *Int. J. Artif. Intell. Educ.*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 121–204, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1007/s40593-019-00186-y.
- A. Radford, J. Wu, R. Child, D. Luan, D. Amodei, and I. Sutskever, "Language Models are Unsupervised Multitask Learners," 2019.
- 8. T. B. Brown *et al.*, "Language Models are Few-Shot Learners," 2020, doi: 10.48550/ARXIV.2005.14165.
- M. Lewis et al., "BART: Denoising Sequence-to-Sequence Pre-training for Natural Language Generation, Translation, and Comprehension," in *Proceedings of the 58th Annual Meeting of the Association* for Computational Linguistics, Online, 2020, pp. 7871–7880. doi: 10.18653/v1/2020.acl-main.703.
- C. Raffel *et al.*, "Exploring the Limits of Transfer Learning with a Unified Text-to-Text Transformer." arXiv, Jul. 28, 2020. Accessed: May 25, 2022. [Online]. Available: http://arxiv.org/abs/1910.10683
- 11. "cnn\_dailymail Summary Dataset." [Online]. Available: https://www.kaggle.com/code/ashutoshj/cnn-dailymail/data
- "SciQ dataset for science exam questions about Physics, Chemistry and Biology, among others." [Online]. Available: https://allenai.org/data/sciq
- M. Post, "A Call for Clarity in Reporting BLEU Scores," in *Proceedings of the Third Conference on Machine Translation: Research Papers*, Belgium, Brussels, 2018, pp. 186–191. doi: 10.18653/v1/W18-6319.
- C.-Y. Lin, "ROUGE: A Package for Automatic Evaluation of Summaries," in *Text Summarization Branches Out*, Barcelona, Spain, Jul. 2004, pp. 74–81. [Online]. Available: https://aclanthology.org/W04-1013
- N. Reimers and I. Gurevych, "Sentence-BERT: Sentence Embeddings using Siamese BERT-Networks," ArXiv190810084 Cs, Aug. 2019, Accessed: Apr. 24, 2022. [Online]. Available: http://arxiv.org/abs/1908.10084

## Special Track 8

# Experience-based training activities for online higher education

Organizers:

Laura Sara Agrati, University of Bergamo Marco Lazzari, University of Bergamo Massimiliano Barattucci, University of Bergamo Federica Baroni, University of Bergamo

### Designing Gamified Learning Activities on Digital Teaching in Higher Education

Maria Ranieri<sup>1[0000-0002-8080-5436]</sup>, Elena Gabbi<sup>1[0000-0001-9757-1173]</sup> and Cristina Gaggioli<sup>2[0000-0003-4161-3906]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Florence <sup>2</sup> University for Foreigners of Perugia

#### 1 Introduction

In recent years, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, higher education has been challenged to rethink and reconvert its teaching and assessment practices [1, 2, 3]. Both distance or hybrid modes entered university teaching, involving a massive use of digital technologies [4], and determining social [5, 6] and psychological [7] conditions that have heavily influenced the students' approach to university life. In particular, a sense of declining motivation is reported in several studies [8, 9, 10], urging teachers to find new strategies for engaging students. This contribution intends to present an experience conducted by the authors in the course of "Nuove Tecnologie per l'Educazione e la Formazione" held by Prof. Maria Ranieri at the University of Florence in hybrid mode.

#### 2 Gamification to promote learning and engagement

Gamification was a key ingredient of the course. As well known, gamification refers to "the use of game design elements in non-game contexts" [11, p.10]. It is, therefore, a manipulation of playfulness, intentionally pursued in the design phase, using the game as an educational tool. Clearly, it doesn't happen only by adding points and badges but it requires a preliminary design effort taking into account: how the game is used, its design and elements, the player characteristics and the academic context in which it is applied. This means that the task of the university teacher is not simply to build tools, but to design meaningful learning experiences, characterized by learning by doing; to develop forms of intrinsic motivation to learn; to offer the possibility of conveying knowledge by providing enjoyment; to maintain the authenticity of university instructional design oriented by specific learning goals; to leverage the autonomy of attending students within the process, fostering self-efficacy and self-esteem [12]; and make post-covid university teaching increasingly inclusive and engaging [13].

#### **3** Instructional design of course activities

The designed model was delivered during the five lectures of the course, taking up two of the total four hours of each lesson and addressing topics covered in one of the examination books [14]: Special Needs Education (SEN), game-based learning, design of game mechanics and gamification in education. It was based on three assumptions [15, 16]: a) the relevance of mobilizing pre-existing knowledge, b) the importance of providing learners opportunities to apply knowledge, and c) the value of formative assessment for authentic learning, and involved three phases per lesson: a) introduction to the topics of digital technology for inclusive education, b) collaborative learning activities, and c) formative assessment of results and scoring (Table 1). Game design elements were introduced in each lesson in terms of challenges, winners and scores.

| Lesson | (a) Activation         | (b) Application  | (c) Assessment                 |
|--------|------------------------|--|--------------------------------|
| #1     | SEN                    | Collaborative creation of inclusive avatar                 | Peer Evaluation                |
| #2     | SEN & Learning         | Observation of game-based digital tools                    | Automatic Feedback             |
| #3     | Videogame<br>education | Analysis of the game mechanics of an educational videogame | Self- and Expert<br>Evaluation |
| #4     | Game elements          | Writing assignment of a Game play                          | Peer Evaluation                |
| #5     | Gamification           | Design of an educational, digital and inclusive game       | Expert and Peer<br>Evaluation  |

Table. 1. Summary of key elements of the course design.

The Moodle platform was used for the general presentation, technical instructions and rules for each phase. As for the five activities, their assessment and reward methods, both internal features (workshop, quiz, assignment, rubric, badges) and external tools (digital bulletin boards, student response systems, forms) were used to create the tasks to be performed collaboratively. Attending students (n=203) were assigned to 20 teams and given instructions for the gamified progression in the course represented by leaderboard, points and grading criteria. Though results on students' satisfaction and learning are still under analysis, it can be observed that a high level of attendance characterized the course with all students participating in a no mandatory course until the end of an intense experience.

#### 4 Conclusion

New challenges are arising on the horizon of higher education systems. Reshaping traditional practices of teaching to increase the quality of education and (re-)engage students, after a tough period of unplanned events, has become a priority for academic institutions. Gamification may provide opportunities to renew university teaching leveraging on students' participation and engagement. The experience presented here was based on the integration of gamified elements in a course on inclusive digital education. Further studies will be necessary to unlock the pedagogical potential of gamification for higher education.

- Di Palma, D., Belfiore, P.: La trasformazione didattica universitaria ai tempi del Covid-19: un'opportunità di innovazione?. FORMAZIONE & INSEGNAMENTO. Rivista internazionale di Scienze dell'educazione e della formazione 18(1), 281-293 (2020).
- Spinu, M.B., Castelli, F. Ranieri, M., Pezzati, F., Bruni, I., Gallo, F., Renzini, G., Švab, M.: Pratiche di valutazione formativa nella didattica ibrida: sperimentazione di uno student response system integrato in Moodle. In: MoodleMoot, Torino, 2-4 dicembre 2021, *MediaTouch* 2000, 129-136 (2022).
- 3. Vinci, V.: Didattica digitale in Università: luci, ombre, prospettive. Giornale Italiano di Educazione alla Salute, Sport e Didattica Inclusiva, 4(4\_si), 103-110 (2020).
- Perla, L., Felisatti, E., Grion, V., Agrati, L. S., Gallelli, R., Vinci, V., Bonelli, R.: Oltre l'era Covid-19: dall'emergenza alle prospettive di sviluppo professionale. Excellence and Innovation in Learning and Teaching-Open Access 5(2), 18-37 (2020).
- Sarno, E.: Emergenza sanitaria e chiusura di scuole e università. Il divario culturale come ulteriore effetto del Covid-19. Documenti geografici (1), 219-229 (2020).
- Tino, C., Stefanini, A.: Apprendimento a distanza all'università nel periodo del Covid19 e confronto con la modalità F2F: percezioni di studenti e studentesse. FORMAZIONE & INSEGNAMENTO. Rivista internazionale di Scienze dell'educazione e della formazione 19(2), 96-111 (2021).
- 7. Monteduro, G.: La vita degli studenti universitari al tempo del COVID-19. Erickson, Trento (2021).
- Gonzalez-Ramirez, J., Mulqueen, K., Zealand, R., Silverstein, S., Reina, C., BuShell, S., et al.: Emergency online learning: college students' perceptions during the COVID-19 pandemic. College Student Journal, 55(1), 29-46 (2021).
- Hicks, L. J., Caron, E. E., Smilek, D.: SARS-CoV-2 and Learning: the Impact of a Global Pandemic on Undergraduate Learning Experiences. Scholarship of Teaching and Learning in Psychology (2021).
- Tasso, A. F., Hisli Sahin, N., San Roman, G. J.: COVID-19 disruption on college students: Academic and socioemotional implications. Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 13(1), 9-15 (2021).
- 11. Deterding S., Dixon D., Khaled R., Nacke L.: From game design elements to gamefulness: defining "gamification". In: Proceedings of the 15th international academic MindTrek conference: Envisioning future media environments, 9-15, (2011).
- 12. Perrotta C., Featherstone G., Aston H., Houghton, E.: Game-based learning: Latest evidence and future directions. NFER, Slough (2013).
- Valenti, A., Montesano, L., Straniero, A. M.: Come immaginare una didattica universitaria post-Covid inclusiva. Form@ re 21(3), 133-140 (2021).
- 14. Gaggioli, C.: La classe oltre le mura. Gamificare per includere. Franco Angeli, Milano (2022).
- Merrill, M. D.: First principles of instructional design. Educ. Technol., Res. Dev. 50, 43-59 (2002).
- 16. Hattie, J., Clarke, S.: Visible Learning: Feedback. Routledge, Abingdon-New York (2018).

## Online group activities and exercises to replace those in the classroom: indications from the pandemic phase

Massimiliano Barattucci<sup>1[0000-0003-2650-3661]</sup>, Tiziana Ramaci<sup>2[0000-0002-0745-2013]</sup>, Alice Garofalo<sup>2[0000-0001-8346-2902]</sup>, Silvia Ivaldi<sup>1[0000-0002-4059-8372]</sup>, and Giuseppe Scaratti<sup>1[0000-0003-4461-5085]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Università degli studi di Bergamo, Dipartimento di Scienze Umane e Sociali, Bergamo, Italy <sup>2</sup> Facoltà di Scienze dell'Uomo e della Società, Università degli Studi di Enna Kore, Enna, Italy massimiliano.barattucci@unibg.it

#### 1 Introduction

The adaptability of some didactic experiences to digital contexts has actually generated new products and tools that have enormously expanded the offer for academic teaching, even if not always can reproduce some dynamic aspects of group exercises and interactivity between participants [1].

Starting from 2020, universities have adapted their learning contexts to the pandemic situation, and frontal teaching has not suffered significant shocks from the transition from physical to virtual schoolroom; on the other hand, interactive group exercises, group role-playing, and other experiential class activities have been either replaced by other types of mainly individual tasks, supplemented by group discussion tools and applications in a virtual environment or recreated scenarios [2].

However, the exercises and activities in which it is necessary to observe, manage and monitor the relational dynamics in progress appear difficult to integrate into the online mode. There are numerous opportunities for integration between individual and group teaching, but fewer seem to be those for the reproduction of a digital environment in which people perceive live interactive signals from all the participants and participate in the observation and contextual management of group dynamics [3, 4]. Despite the theoretical and applicative importance of this object of study, the research appears to be heavily underdeveloped.

#### 2 The present research

In order to address this current gap in the literature, exploratory research from correlational design was conducted to explore students' perceptions of both online and inclass learning activities., and to compare them with non-academic training contexts.

The research investigated what the possible operational and methodological solutions could be, the possible re-reading of the online interactive learning environment, the implementation of replacement interactive activities through online and digital resources, the evaluation of the results of participation in experiential activities in online mode, the effectiveness of replacement activities, the potential, and limits of online group interactive training.

The research was conducted in 3 small samples: 2 cohorts of students of the master's degree of psychology (2020/21, 2021/22) of an Italian university, and a group of students of a course reserved for graduates of the three-year degree (respectively, N = 56, N = 54, N = 89 subjects), with a mean age of 22.9 years. The participants were randomly assigned to groups with digital interactive scenarios and activities or with real physical scenarios. The differences in the score for the different variables were calculated through t-student and ANOVA, through SPSS 22.0.

Students' perceptions in scenario studies (digital vs physical) comparing the following variables, taken from a systematic literature review: the student's computer skills, experience with virtual environments, involvement, entertainment, satisfaction with the activity, and perceived effectiveness.

#### 3 Results

Overall, the results indicate that if digital interactive activities have greater entertaining and involvement than activities in a real physical environment, the perceived effectiveness appears to be lower.

Through a reconstruction of the deficient aspects of the interactive experience, the students themselves collected ideas and proposals from the analysis of the literature and developed projects and improvement solutions. Among the suggestions, several appear to be entirely feasible: the creation of a simul-game in VR, based on video situations, stimuli, and decision-making; use of real physical groups and online observers; development of an online platform for basketball exercises (escape room model) with group comments, live chat and audio.

#### 4 Conclusion

The reproduction of environments and live situations for teaching offers great potential but appears limited in the aspects of dynamic interaction underlying learning, and in the transfer of learning to the real world.

Is it possible to develop a virtual environment capable of reproducing a physical space that makes people interact online as if they were present in the same room? Future research will certainly have to lay the foundations for the development of new learning environments capable of preserving the dynamic-interactive aspects of training and learning, which today are reported among the fundamental life skills to be developed in university students for entry into the world of work [5].

- McCrory, R., Putnam, R., Jansen, A.: Interaction in Online Courses for Teacher Education: Subject Matter and Pedagogy. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education* 16(2), 155-180 (2008).
- Roddy, C., Amiet, D. L., Chung, J., Holt, C., Shaw, L., McKenzie, S., Garivaldis, F., Lodge, J. M., Mundy, M. E.: Applying Best Practice Online Learning, Teaching, and Support to Intensive Online Environments: An Integrative Review. *Frontiers in Education* 2, 59 (2017).
- Baber, H.: Social interaction and effectiveness of the online learning A moderating role of maintaining social distance during the pandemic COVID-19. Asian Education and Development Studies 11(1), 159-171 (2022).
- Nieto-Escamez, F. A., Roldán-Tapia, M. D.: Gamification as Online Teaching Strategy During COVID-19: A Mini-Review. *Frontiers in Psychology* 12, 648552 (2021).
- Neuwirth, L. S., Jović, S., Mukherji, B. R.: Reimagining higher education during and post-COVID-19: Challenges and opportunities. *Journal of Adult and Continuing Education* 27(2), 141–156 (2021).

### The invented case: an innovative (but not so new) instrument to teach law at distance

Alberto Gianola1 and Domitilla Vanni2

<sup>1</sup> Full Professor of Private Comparative Law – Department of Management – University of Torino alberto.gianola@unito.it <sup>2</sup> Associate Professor of Private Comparative Law – Department of Law – University of Palermo domitilla.vannidisanvincenzo@unipa.it

#### 1 Traditional approach in civil law systems and e-learning.

In Italy, and more generally in civil law systems, the traditional and most widely used approach to teach law at university level today is knowledge-based teaching centered on face-to-face (F2F) lecture [1, 2, 3]. Comparative law analysis reveals the link between the sources of law and the formation of the jurist [4, 5, 6].

On line teaching showed me the limits of the traditional approach: the most evident one was its low efficiency to induce students' skills development, in particular the skill to apply the known rules. It must be also noted that the current context requires the university to deliver more professionalizing education [7, 8].

I teach international contracts law in a degree course in Business Administration (bachelor program) whose aim is to prepare students to managerial responsibility roles in enterprises of every sector and/or to work as business consultants. Managers and business consultants must know law rules and they must be able to apply them in practice in order to choose the most adequate conduct to fulfil their own or their client's interests at best.

Looking for more efficient teaching strategies, in addition to traditional F2F lectures, I used the invented case method and I realized how it is efficient to induce the learning objective skills development. In practice I proposed to my students invented cases concerning explained items. After the theoretic illustration of an argument, I described an event or a situation using ordinary words and then I asked the students to find the solution, i.e. to identify the legal aspects and the position of the parties. The solution of the case implied a careful analysis of the event, the identification of the applicable legal institutions and rule, of the obligations and the rights of the parties and consequently the description of the conduct that each of them should have taken in order to pursue their own interests in the best way. Normally I proposed the case at the end of a lecture, asking the students to imagine the solution individually, looking for the necessary data. After a week, I explained the solution.

In conclusion, the invented case method teaches students how the rules work in practice: to know the rules does not imply automatically the skill to apply them to find the solution of a problem. Invented case strategy offers other important possibilities, especially in a digital learning context: an interdisciplinary approach (cases whose solution requires the application of different type date, for ex. legal and marketing data); a flipped-classroom mode (students read suggested materials about a general topic and then they attend a lesson discussing with the teacher a case involving the application of that general topic); a blended mode (at distance lectures about general topic and in presence meetings to discuss the cases applying explained items). The author of this paragraph is Alberto Gianola.

#### 2 Case method and case study method.

Case method to teach law is widely used in the USA [9]. The case method in legal education was invented by Christopher Columbus Langdell (Dean of Harvard Law School from 1870 to 1895). Langdell conceived of a way to systematize and simplify legal education by focusing on previous case law that furthered principle or doctrines. Students read the cases and came prepared to analyze them during Socratic question-and-answer sessions in class.

So later the Harvard Business School case study method grew out of the Langdellian method [10, 11]. But instead of using established case law, business professors chose real-life examples from the business world to highlight and analyze business principles. HBS style case studies typically consist of a short narrative, told from the point of view of a manager or business leader embroiled in a dilemma. Cases are based on interviews or public sources; sometimes, case studies are disguised versions of actual events or composites based on the faculty authors' experience and knowledge of the subject.

The case study method is not the Langdellian case method, but it is more of a problemsolving approach to learning. The business school case method presents students with real-life problems, used to identify issues that could occur within the operation of a business. As the decision makers, students review the cases to determine the causes of the problem and enumerate various methodologies to find a solution. The basic premise of this approach is that, rather than simply listening to a lecture about various options, students hone both communication and leadership skills.

New and emerging technologies are having a profound impact on how we learn. The Case Method is not immune to adaptation. The new approach is to facilitate and nurture new case format conversations with key schools to apply digital learning knowledge at the outset of course planning [12]. That way, new Case Studies can be expertly designed – and existing case studies enhanced – by monitoring content interaction via our born digital case platform that is responsive to how students and instructors use Case Studies.

The author of this paragraph is Domitilla Vanni.
- 1. Pasciuta B., Loschiavo L. (a cura di), *La formazione del giurista Contributi a una riflessione*, RomaTrE-Press, Roma, 2018.
- De Nova G., Appunti sul metodo casistico nell'insegnamento del diritto privato, Rivista trimestrale di diritto e procedura civile, 374-385 (1978).
- Merryman J. H., Legal Education in Civil Law and Common Law Universities: a Comparison of Objectives and Methods, in Picardi N., Martino M. (a cura di), L'educazione giuridica, I, 2°ed., Bari, Cacucci editore, Bari, 2008, 168-199.
- 4. Gambaro A., Sacco R., Sistemi giuridici comparati, 3º ed., Giappichelli, Torino, 2008.
- Weber M., Sociologie du droit (Préface de P. Raynaud, Introduction et traduction par J. Grosclaude), 2° éd., Presses Universitaires de France (PUF), Paris, 2013.
- Gianola A, L'insegnamento universitario del diritto privato alla prova della trasformazione digitale, Rivista di ricerca e didattica digitale 3(II), 37-48 (2022).
- Irti N., La formazione del giurista nell'università del «saper fare», Rivista giuridica degli studenti dell'Università di Macerata, 29-36 (2010).
- 8. Trinchero R., Valutare gli apprendimenti nella didattica universitaria, Quiedit, Verona, 2021.
- 9. Gilmore G., *Le grandi epoche del diritto americano*, a cura di A. Gambaro, U. Mattei, Giuffrè, Milano, 1988.
- 10. Hammond J., Learning by Case Method, Harvard Business School, (2002).
- 11. Rebeiz K. S., An Insider Perspective on Implementing the Harvard Case Study Method in Business Teaching, US-China Education Review, 591-601 (2011).
- 12. Gisbert T., Bullen M., *Teaching and Learning in Digital Worlds: Strategies and Issues in Higher Education*, Publicacions Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Tarragona Spain, 2015.

# Experience-based activities in a blended model Master's degree

Giovanni Ganino<sup>1</sup>, Loredana La Vecchia<sup>2</sup> and Tamara Zappaterra<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Ferrara, Italy, giovanni.ganino@unife.it

<sup>2</sup> University of Ferrara, Italy, loredana.lavecchia@unife.it

<sup>3</sup> University of Ferrara, Italy, tamara.zappaterra@unife.it

#### 1 Introduction

As of this academic year, the University of Ferrara has activated the Master's Degree Course "Formazione, comunicazione e cittadinanza digitale" (Training, communication and digital citizenship), belonging to class LM-93 - Theories and Methodologies of E-Learning and Media Education, in blended mode. The degree course is the fruit of a complex series of didactic-pedagogical reflections and many years' experience built up in the field of media education. In this sense, the course was designed with the intention of responding to the needs posed by the advent of network technologies and the related changes that have taken place in our society and in our lives.

#### 1.1 **The context of the trial**

Hence this is a highly challenging scenario from the training-educational perspective and which, of course, requires the regeneration of knowledge, contents and teaching practices, but also the promotion of new ranges of skills and competences. Taking into account that social reality is increasingly constructed and determined by digitization, higher education must allow students to develop academic skills on media, which are clearly necessary in the digital age. Indeed, if we think about the pioneering works of Flores d'Arcais [1], Volpicelli [2], Mialaret [3] and Lefranc [4], education sciences have for some time now indicated the elective perspective in education towards media, with media and for media, for the promotion of critical thinking, a multitude of viewpoints, discussion and doubt, yet neither schools nor universities have succeeded in embracing this opportunity, if not marginally. Now, precisely in consideration of all this, an educational model has been devised, which is able to: (i) combine theoretical knowledge, through the alternation of classroom lectures and video lessons presented on the Moodle platform, and practical knowledge, through laboratory activities to be carried out in person and/or remotely (synchronous and asynchronous); (ii) promote principles of responsibility and sustainability with respect to the learning and assessment processes in students, thanks to the reflection induced by ongoing

feedback and the delivery of the work produced (e.g. essays, reports, articles, communication campaign projects, training unit projects, creation of media products).

#### 1.2 Research methodology

The choice made clearly calls into question the concept of "authentic task" - educational operation based on knowledge, cognitive and practical skills in real situations - and the methodological option of Hahn, precursor of the current Expeditionary Learning Schools [5], an option developed by Kolb [6] with the stages of Experiential learning, by Mezirow [7] with the reflective experience, by Lave and Wenger [8] with Situated learning in communities of practice, without denying the fact that the real intellectual debt is owed to Dewey [9].

Naturally, all the teachings followed this model with margins of freedom and, in the opinion of the Authors, this will have a role in facilitating the achievement of so-called transversal skills, because it allows students to *(i)* look at problems in an interdisciplinary key, *(ii)* think "by connection" about the different aspects of knowledge, *(iii)* negotiate meanings through discussion with peers.

The teachings of the Authors took place within the didactic framework presented. The purpose of the work is to provide data on the experience gained in the respective three curricular courses, in an attempt to highlight the strengths and weaknesses of the degree model itself. To this end we will use both the testimony-description of what we experienced and the answers to be obtained from the qualitative-hermeneutic investigation in progress, in order to record the point of view of students on the didactic system applied, the perception of effectiveness, the perceived usefulness of the work done in terms of learning, and the difficulties encountered. The tool administered to 83 subjects is a questionnaire, built *ad hoc*, comprising Likert scale questions, with multiple choice and open answers.

The teaching in question took place in the first semester (Ganino) and in the second semester (Zappaterra, La Vecchia) and included practical collaborative activities in order to implement what was contextually presented on a theoretical level. In fact, the authors hypothesized that the conditions for profound, meaningful learning could actually lie right in the intersection between the two dimensions. In brief, the works produced were related to: the preparation of a series of didactic plans with a focus on disability and inclusion (Zappaterra), activities carried out with face-to-face groups and others online; the design and creation of media artefacts with a focus on communication (Ganino), an activity carried out with some groups alternately, in person and online, with others (composed of students who attended the entire online course) exclusively online; the reconversion of media artefacts already produced in an educational key (La Vecchia), and an activity carried out online in asynchronous mode, using a space dedicated to each work group on the Moodle platform.

- 1. Flores d'Arcais, G.: Pedagogia e didattica del cinema. La Scuola, Brescia (1963).
- 2. Volpicelli, L.: Il film e i problemi dell'educazione. Bocca, Milano-Roma (1953).
- Mialaret, G.: Psycho-pedagogie des moyens audiovisuells dans l'enseignament du premier degré. Paris: PUF (1964).
- 4. Lefranc, R.: Les tecniques audiovisuells au service de l'enseignament. Paris: Borellier (1963).
- Knoll, M. (a cura di): Kurt Hahn: Reform mit Augenmas. Ausgewahlte Schrifteneines Politikers und Padagogen (Mit einem Vorwort von Hartmut von Hentig). KlettCotta, Stuttgart (1998).
- 6. Kolb, D.: Experiential Learning: experience as the source of learning and development. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ (1984).
- Mezirow, J.: Transformative Learning as Discourse. Journal of Transformative Education, 1, 58-63 (2003).
- 8. Lave, J., Wenger, E.: Situated Learning. Legitimate peripheral participation. University Press, Cambridge (1991).
- 9. Dewey, J.: Experience and education. Simon and Schuster, New York (1938).

# Training teachers' digital skills after pandemic. A startup study on 'Didactic technologies' laboratory at UniBg

Marco Lazzari<sup>1[0000-0003-1961-9914]</sup>, Laura Sara Agrati<sup>1[0003-0108-5176]</sup>, Federica Baroni<sup>1[0000-0003-1331-0238]</sup>, Sabrina Natali<sup>1[0000-0002-5250-8864]</sup>, Juanjo Mena<sup>2[0000-0002-6925-889X]</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Bergamo (Italy); <sup>2</sup>University of Salamanca (Spain) marco.lazzari@unibg.it; laurasara.agrati@unibg.it;federica.baroni@unibg.it; sabrina.natali@unibg.it; juanjo\_mena@usal.es

#### **1** Initial training of primary school teachers and digital skills

Comparative research on initial teacher training (1) confirmed a trend towards 'simultaneous' models, experience-based training activities, the flexible offer, also thanks to digital support. Like any other professional higher education course. In Italy, the 'Primary Education Sciences' master degree qualifies future teachers of kindergarten and primary school through a close integration between university and school environment (2) and experimental organizational solutions that integrate lectures, internships and laboratories, also for what concerns the strength of teachers' digital skills (3). The pandemic emergency has forced to find new solutions to carry out experience-based training activities in order to guarantee the expected outgoing skills, through online or hybrid methods (4) (5). Many investigations highlighted the effect of pandemic on higher education, among other things, the re-think the technological and digital skills of trainee teachers (6), as well as the positive feedback from students regarding virtual or hybrid laboratories (7) (8).

#### 2 Context, objectives and methodology of the study

At the 'Didactic technologies' laboratory (3 CFU), held in the fourth year of the master degree 'Primary Education Sciences' at the University of Bergamo, students are asked to produce a digital storytelling (DTS) of about 5 minutes. Students must undertake a path structured in three macro-phases to produce three outputs (description of the project, script and storyboard, final digital story), and for each of the three phases they must evaluate the products of three colleagues, in a peer-evaluation process aimed at stimulating the students' creativity and the quality of their products (9) (10).

In 2021/22 years, a study has been started with the aim of (a.) knowing the perception of students regarding the 'Didactic technologies' laboratory experience; (b.) verify if the modality of participation in the laboratory - in-person/remotely - influenced the students' perception of the laboratory. An online 'ad hoc' questionnaire was administered to all attended students (n. tot. 150) - 102 students answered the questionnaire (68%) - at the end of the laboratory activities.

The statistical analysis of the data matrix was made on three levels: a. description of the student population involved – average age of 21-30 (75.49%); 0-1 years of service (50.98%); in remotely attendance (86.27%); b. description of the answers to questions

nos. 5-7 (see Table 1); c. study of the relationship between 'in person or remotely attendance' and the answers to the questions nn. 5-7 (see Table 2).

| Table 1.Answers to questions nn. 5-7      |               |        |  |  |
|---|---------------|--------|--|--|
| Questions                                 | N. (Tot. 102) | %      |  |  |
| Characterizing didactic methods (n.5)     |               |        |  |  |
| content delivery                          | 6             | 5,88%  |  |  |
| alternation 'content-delivery' exercises  | 92            | 90,20% |  |  |
| exercises                                 | 4             | 3,92%  |  |  |
| Most connection with (n.6)                |               |        |  |  |
| lecture                                   | 16            | 15,69% |  |  |
| other laboratories                        | 18            | 17,65% |  |  |
| internship                                | 68            | 66,67% |  |  |
| Strength of personal digital skills (n.7) |               |        |  |  |
| not at all                                | 0             | 0,00%  |  |  |
| little                                    | 8             | 7,84%  |  |  |
| quite                                     | 34            | 33,33% |  |  |
| very                                      | 49            | 48,04% |  |  |
| fully                                     | 11            | 10,78% |  |  |

## 3. Early findings and some considerations

| Table 2. Answers to c | uestions nn. 5-7. | Difference rea | motely- and i | in person-attended s | students |
|-----------------------|-------------------|----------------|---------------|----------------------|----------|
|                       |                   |                |               |                      |          |

| Questions                                 | In-person, n. and % | Remotely, n. and % |
|---|---------------------|--------------------|
|   | (Tot. 14)           | (Tot. 88)          |
| Characterizing didactic methods (n.5)     |                     |                    |
| content delivery                          | 0 (0,00%)           | 6 (6,82%)          |
| altern. 'content-delivery' exercises      | 13 (92,86%)         | 79 (89,77%)        |
| exercises                                 | 1 (7,14%)           | 3 (3,41%)          |
| Most connection with (n.6)                |                     |                    |
| lecture                                   | 1 (7,14%)           | 15 (17,05%)        |
| other laboratories                        | 3 (21,43%)          | 15 (17,05%)        |
| internship                                | 10 (71,43%)         | 58 (65,91%)        |
| Strength of personal digital skills (n.7) |                     |                    |
| not at all                                | 0 (0,00%)           | 0 (0,00%)          |
| little                                    | 0 (0,00%)           | 8 (9,09%)          |
| quite                                     | 3 (21,43%)          | 31 (35,23%)        |
| very                                      | 9 (64,29%)          | 40 (45,45%)        |
| fully                                     | 2 (14,29%)          | 9 (10,23%)         |

The descriptive statistical analysis allows at the moment to infer a difference between in person-attended and remotely-attended students, regarding:

- the characterizing didactic methods in person-attended students most sensitive to alternation 'content-delivery' exercises; remotely-attended students most sensitive to 'content delivery';
- specifically, the connection of the didactic technology laboratory with other training activities remotely-attended students most capable of grasping the connections with lectures and other laboratories.

In the full paper, data will be integrated with the analysis of statistical significance (p<0.05) and with the statistical regression between in person-attended and remotely-attended students.

- 1. OECD-TALIS 2018 Results (Volume I): *Teachers and School Leaders as Lifelong Learners*, OECD Publishing. doi: 10.1787/1d0bc92a-en (2019).
- IIEP UNESCO: Le recrutement et la formation des enseignants: questions et options, Paris (2015).
- Caena, F, Redecker C.: Aligning teacher competence frameworks to 21st century challenges: The case for the European Digital Competence Framework for Educators (Digcompedu), "European Journal of Education", 2019; 54:356–369. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12345</u>.
- Marinoni, G., Van't Land, H., Jensen T.: The impact of Covid-19 on higher education around the world. IAU Global Survey Report (2020).
- Gaebel, M., Zhang, T., (eds) Trends 2018. Learning and teaching in the European Higher Education Area, EUA – European University Association, Brussels (2018).
- Winter, E., Costello A. O'Brien, M, Hickey, G.: Teachers' use of technology and the impact of Covid-19. Irish Educational Studies. 40(2), pp. 235-246 (2021).
- Bashir, A., Bashir, S., Rana, K., Lambert, P., Vernallis, A.: Post-COVID-19 Adaptations; the Shifts Towards Online Learning, Hybrid Course Delivery and the Implications for Biosciences Courses in the Higher Education Setting. Front. Educ. 6:711619 (2021).
- Kapilan, N., Vidhya, P., Xiao-Zhi Gao. Virtual Laboratory: A Boon to the Mechanical Engineering Education During Covid-19 Pandemic. Higher Education for the Future, 8(1), pp. 31-46.
- 9. Lazzari, M. Digital storytelling and teacher education: an experience in initial teacher training. *Form@re Open Journal per la formazione in rete.* 2(16), pp. 226-241 (2016).
- 10. Robin, B.R.: The Power of Digital Storytelling to Support Teaching and Learning. *Digital Education Review* Number 30, December 2016- http://greav.ub.edu/der/ (2016).

# A visualization software tool used in teaching of scheduling algorithms

Sedlacek Peter<sup>1[0000-0002-7481-6905]</sup>, Rusnak Patrik<sup>1[0000-0001-9683-5376]</sup>, and Novotnak Dusan<sup>1</sup>

University of Zilina, Zilina, Slovakia {peter.sedlacek,patrik.rusnak}@fri.uniza.sk, dusan.novotnak@stud.uniza.sk

## Introduction

Nowadays, the teaching process is influenced by modern technologies. Therefore, new approaches that use these technologies are often used in teaching [1,3]. At the Faculty of Management Science and Informatics of the University of Zilina in Zilina, modern technologies are used in several courses, one of which is a course called Principles of Operating Systems [2, 4, 5, 7]. In this course, students deepen their knowledge of the operation of operating systems, such as the modetexl of memory management and its allocation to individual processes, synchronization of processes as well as their planning, etc. Many of these topics are not easy for students, as multiple approaches and algorithms are used to implement them. One of these topics is process scheduling. Within it, it is necessary for students to master not only the scheduling process itself, but also the way of scheduling individual processes according to the given scheduling algorithm. For this reason, we have decided to implement a software tool that will appropriately visualize process scheduling and will take into account several process scheduling algorithms along with their specifics.

### 1 Scheduling algorithms

The process scheduler must decide which process from the queue of ready processes will processor be allocated to [6]. There are many ways for such decision and in this article we will focus on algorithms that are part of the teaching lectures of the mentioned course, namely: **1. First Come, First Served (FCFS)**: This algorithm works in such a way that the process that first requests for a processor also receives it. **2. Shortest Job First (SJF)**: The algorithm compares the execution time of individual processes and, based on this length, favors a process with a shorter execution time. **3. Priority scheduling:** This algorithm selects process based on his priority. Priority is the value assigned to a process and can be determined based on various factors. **4. Round Robin (RR)**: Scheduling algorithm, in which the queue of prepared processes is traversed by a cycle and each is assigned to the processor for equal time. **5. Multi-level queue scheduling:** Scheduling algorithm, in which prepared processes are arranged in several queues, each of these queues having its own algorithm for planning and planning must also take place between individual queues as well.

## 2 Visualization software tool

The Visualization Software Tool (VST) is developed with an emphasis on a simple and clear display of the status of individual processes in the system as well as the most important information about these processes. The application includes process scheduling algorithms used in lectures. When VST starts, the main window will appear. This window can be seen in Fig. 1 and contains a form for selecting a specific scheduling algorithm and its properties. It also contains a form for inserting a new process, which depends on the selected scheduling algorithm. The user can easily control the scheduling execution and can define own processes. VST clearly displays information about individual processes during their run.



Fig. 1. Preview from VST

As can be seen in Fig. 1, added processes are placed in the table of processes in the main area of this application. Each row in this table represents one process with each characteristic of this process. Below this area there are buttons for simulation run management and Gantt graph with information about current state of execution of individual processes.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by the Ministry of Education, Science, Research, and Sport of the Slovak Republic under grant "Creation of methodological and learning materials for Biomedical Informatics – a new engineering program at the UNIZA" (reg.no. KEGA 009ŽU-4/2020) and the Slovak Research and Development Agency (APVV) under grant "Risk assessment of environmental disturbance using Earth observation data" (reg.no. SK-UA-21-0037).

- AL-Oudat, M., Altamimi, A.M.: Factors influencing behavior intentions to use virtual reality in education. International Journal of Data and Network Science 6(3), 733–742 (2022). https://doi.org/10.5267/j.ijdns.2022.3.008
- Mrena, M., Kvassay, M., Stankovic, R.S.: Software library for teaching applications of binary decision diagrams in reliability analysis. In: 2020 18th International Conference on Emerging eLearning Technologies and Applications (ICETA). IEEE (Nov 2020). https://doi.org/10.1109/iceta51985.2020.9379170
- Noble, S.M., Saville, J.D., Foster, L.L.: VR as a choice: what drives learners' technology acceptance? International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education 19(1) (Jan 2022). https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-021-00310-w
- Sedlacek, P., Kmec, M., Rusnak, P.: Software visualization application for threads synchronization handling in operating systems. In: 2020 18th International Conference on Emerging eLearning Technologies and Applications (ICETA). IEEE (Nov 2020). https://doi.org/10.1109/iceta51985.2020.9379224
- Sedlacek, P., Kvet, M., Václavková, M.: Development of FRIMAN supporting tool for object oriented programming teaching. Open Computer Science 11(1), 90– 98 (Dec 2020). https://doi.org/10.1515/comp-2020-0117
- Silberschatz, A., Galvin, P.B., Gagne, G.: Operating System Concepts, 10e Abridged Print Companion (01 2018)
- Varga, M., Kvassay, M., Kvet, M.: Teaching course on algorithms and data structures during the coronavirus pandemic. In: 2020 18th International Conference on Emerging eLearning Technologies and Applications (ICETA). IEEE (Nov 2020). https://doi.org/10.1109/iceta51985.2020.9379156

# Behind the Scenes of the 2022 Edition of the Italian Coding League: Experience-based Learning for Computer Science Students

G. Delzanno<sup>1</sup>, L. Gelati<sup>2</sup>, G. Guerrini<sup>1</sup>, A. Sugliano<sup>1</sup>, and D. Traversaro<sup>1</sup>

 $^1$ Università degli Studi di Genova, Genova, Italy $^2$ Edutainment Formula, Italy

Experiential learning is quite common in Computer Science degrees in the form of capstone projects [1,2] related to programming or data science. In this paper, we present an activity proposed as part of an introductory bachelor course on Computer Science Education, named ICDD (Computer Science for Creativity, Teaching, and Dissemination). The learning outcomes of the course include skills to design and conduct hands-on lab activities for introducing beginners to coding and programming. These hands-on activities are targeted to primary and middle school students and their contents are based on the national directions for teaching Computer Science in schools, proposed by the CINI (Italian Inter-university Consortium for Computer Science) [3]. In pre-pandemic times, our students acquired such skills through design and conduction of in-presence laboratories mainly based on block-based visual languages, such as Scratch [4] and Pocketcode [5]. The need to switch to the online setting gave us the opportunity to introduce an additional gamification element [6,7], by involving our students in the design and realization of an online coding challenge among middle school classes, named Italian Coding League<sup>3</sup> (ICL). ICL, jointly organized by the Digital School Interest Group of the University of Genova and by Edutainment Formula, took place in March 2022 and involved 609 students from 29 classes from 9 Italian regions. (The first edition of the ICL [8] was organized in 2021 with limited student involvement.) The competition was supported by the Smart O.C.A. online game platform [9] and was managed by the authors assisted by 15 tutors for a total of 112 hours of training and competitions among the classes. The involvement of the ICDD students in the experience of the ICL organization pertained several different aspects, as discussed below.

Conceptual Phase: Game Design. The first phase consisted in the preparation of the questions to be used in the challenge. Students were required to prepare quizzes distributed over three main areas of the CINI syllabus, i.e., algorithms, programming and data. A further requirement was to formulate them according to the main principles of Computational Thinking, i.e., relying on daily life algorithm examples (recipes, regulations, etc), and to properties of algorithms, so to distinguish algorithms from ambiguous or incomplete or non-terminating procedures. Many of the programming questions were related to examples of scripts in Scratch. The resulting 32 questions were discussed at length in a very engaging collaborative work involving students and instructors with in presence meetings

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> https://coding.dibris.unige.it/

(16 hours) and online collaborative work (three weeks). As a second step, students worked on the presentation of the challenge, creating a game board and a graphical layout for the different questions via the Genially editor. The graphical layout was inspired to the 17 Go Goals of the Agenda 2030, a topic of interest by itself for schools. In the last step the questions were linked to the Smart O.C.A. game instance so as to provide a multiplayer game experience.

Concrete Phase: Game Conduction. After several internal tests, our students brought their artefact to the field by conducting 609 participants during both the selection phase and the final match. The tutors guided the different classes with independent online conferences sessions (via Google Meet). In the selection phase, each of the 29 enrolled classes went through a 15-question challenge with the help of their tutors. During the game, responses from individual students (or pairs) in a class were aggregated using WooClap, an online poll app. The answer most voted by the class was then entered by the tutor in the platform. Participants were left free to reason and discuss to avoid putting the brakes on the communication mechanisms already rooted in the class. The same challenge was then repeated in the following days by each tutor with the class, with no scores involved, and students first tried to tackle the questions individually, then the voted answers were commented in a plenary discussion to let the correct answer emerge. The final match was organized as a real competition among the 13 classes selected on the basis of scores acquired during the selection phase. Each class, connected as a single team to the Smart O.C.A. platform, had to tackle a new 17-step challenge. A shared game board displayed the teams position.

Reflection Phase: Learning Outcomes. According to the meta-cognitive [10] activity carried on after the experience, our students recognized the following as the main skills achieved or strengthened by the experience: (i) creating content aimed at middle school, matching CS knowledge and the topics required by the syllabus; (ii) appreciating the difference between knowing a subject and being able to teach a subject; (iii) focusing on the specific skill/knowledge assessed by a question; (iv) formulating clear and unambiguous questions; (v) team work and project management; (vi) inventiveness and creativity. In the same metacognitive final feedback, the main difficulties related to the experience emerged as formulating questions, at the appropriate level and targeted to a specific objective, and linking the questions to the Agenda 2030 objectives. Though the online management of the challenge was not simple, this was not perceived as a difficulty by the students. Being part of a bachelor's degree course, the proposed activity was a great opportunity for students to discuss their experiences, to propose and test their work to a real audience, therefore empowering their soft skills, and for instructors to establish a sense of trust and openness with students according to the experience-based learning criteria proposed in [11] and, specifically, concrete experience, active experimentation and reflective observation.

Acknowledgements. The authors would like to thank the students of the third-year bachelor course ICDD and the tutors of the 2021 and 2022 editions of ICL for their support and engagement in participating in the initiatives.

- 1. Allen, G.I. Experiential learning in data science: Developing an interdisciplinary, client-sponsored capstone program. In Proc. 52nd ACM Technical Symposium on Computer Science Education, pp. 516-522, 2021.
- Tzafilkou, K., Protogeros, N., and Chouliara, A., Experiential learning in web development courses: Examining students' performance, perception and acceptance. Education and Information Technologies, 25(6), pp.5687-5701, 2020.
- Nardelli, E., Forlizzi. L., Lodi, M., Lonati, V., Mirolo, C., Monga, M., Montresor, A., and Morpurgo, A. (CINI Computer Science & School Lab). Proposta di Indicazioni Nazionali per l'insegnamento dell'Informatica nella Scuola. December 2017. In Italian. Available at: https://www.consorzio-cini.it/index.php/it/ component/attachments/download/745
- Resnick, M., Maloney, J., Monroy-Hernández, A., Rusk, N., Eastmond, E., Brennan, K., and Kafai, Y. Scratch: programming for all. Communications of the ACM, 52(11), 60-67, 2009.
- 5. Slany, W. Tinkering with Pocket Code, a Scratch-like programming app for your smartphone. Proceedings of Constructionism, 2014.
- Combéfis, S., Beresnevičius, G. and Dagienė, V. Learning programming through games and contests: overview, characterisation and discussion. Olympiads in Informatics, 10(1), pp.39-60, 2016.
- 7. Venter, M. Gamification in STEM programming courses: State of the art, 2020 IEEE Global Engineering Education Conference (EDUCON), pp. 859-866, 2020.
- Delzanno, G., Denegri, R., Gelati, L., and Guerrini, G. The Italian Coding League: A Collaborative Computational Thinking Format for Distance Learning. Proc. of Didamatica, pp. 269-277, 2021.
- Edutainmment Formula. Smart O.C.A. Online Challenge Activity. In Italian. Available at https://www.edutainmentformula.com/web-app/smart-oca/ (accessed June 2022).
- Tanner, K.D. Promoting student metacognition. CBE—Life Sciences Education, 11(2), pp. 113-120, 2012.
- Andresen, L., Boud, D., and Cohen, R. Experience-Based Learning, in Foley, G., Understanding Adult Education and Training, second edition, Allen and Unwin, Sydney, 2000.

# **Special Track 9**

# Intelligent Analytics for Process-aware Higher Education

*Organizers:* Pasquale Ardimento, University of Bari Mario Bernardi, University of Sannio

# Predicting student's performance using environmental and activity metrics

 $\begin{array}{c} \mbox{Lerina Aversano}^{1[0000-0003-2436-6835]}, \mbox{Mario Luca} \\ \mbox{Bernardi}^{1[0000-0002-3223-7032]}, \mbox{Marta Cimitile}^{2[0000-0003-2403-8313]}, \mbox{Martina Iammarino}^{1[0000-0001-8025-733X]}, \mbox{Debora Montano}^{1[0000-0002-5598-0822]}, \mbox{and Chiara Verdone}^{1[0000-0003-1335-5276]} \end{array}$ 

<sup>1</sup> Dept. of Engineering University of Sannio Benevento, Italy, <sup>2</sup> UnitelmaSapienza University, Rome, Italy aversano@unisannio.it

## 1 Introduction

Recently the education sector shows a significant development, in particular, in the research field of Educational Data Mining (EDM) [1]. EDM is a discipline, which through the exploration of big data, deals with the development of methods to better understand students and learning contexts [2], [3], [4]. The EDM also consists of the adoption of Machine Learning (ML) and predicting models to understand and predict students' performance and/or students' dropout [5]. The advantages of the adoption of ML to predict student performance are several including the detection of failure risk for each student, the assurance of student retention, and the course and resource allocations [6],[7].

This study aims to explore a new feature model and a set of machine learning classifiers to predict student performance by monitoring his/her activities in the Virtual Learning Environment (VLE). The features are used to train the classifier to predict the final exam result of each student.

The proposed model is evaluated by using a dataset built at the Open University of London [8]. The results show good performance of the proposed approach also compared to other similar studies [6], [9].

# 2 Method and Empirical Validation

This study proposes the adoption of ML binary classifiers to predict if the student passes the exam successfully from the analysis of a set of features extracted from data collected from the student's interaction with the learning platform.

The proposed feature model is described in Table 1. The considered features include socio-demographic information, the course characteristics such as the type of assessment, the weight and the score of the assessment, the date the student enrolled and unsubscribed from the module, the number of attempts the student had for the module; the information on the student's interaction with the VLE and study effort such as the number of days the student interacts with the material and the number of clicks on the VLE on that day.

| FEATURE            | DESCRIPTION  |
|--------------------|--|
| module             | Name of the module   |
| presentation       | Year and month of the start of the module                                      |
| date               | Date of registration of the student on the module                              |
| module-length      | Lenght of the module measured in days  |
| gender             | Gender of the student (" $M$ "= male; " $F$ "= female)                         |
| region             | Geographic region where the student lives during the module                    |
| education          | Highest education level of the student on entry to the module                  |
| imd                | Indices of multiple deprivation referred to where the student lives            |
| age                | Age of student in classes ("0-35"; "35+")                                      |
| prevattempts       | Number of times that the student is attempted the module                       |
| credits            | Number of credits for the module   |
| disability         | The student descaled a disability? $("N" = no; "Y" = yes)$                     |
| click              | Number of the interactions of the student with the material of the module      |
| $\mathbf{student}$ | Unique identifiers of the student  |
| unregistration     | Number of days until the unregistration of the student from the module         |
| score              | Weighted score (student's score * weight of the assessment)                    |
| late-rate          | Rate of delay in the delivery of the assignment submission                     |
| fail-rate          | The assignment with a final score of less than 40 (the scoring range is 0-100) |
| result             | Final result of the student ("Fail" or "Pass")                                 |

Table 1. The proposed feature model.

The binary classification (failure/success in the final exams) for each student in each considered course is performed using several ML and Boosting algorithms: Logit [10], K-neighbors [11], Random Forest [12], Decision Trees classifiers [13], SVC [14], MLP [15], Gradient Boosting [16], XGBoosting [17], Ada Boosting [18], and CAT Boosting [19].

The suggested approach is evaluated on a real dataset provided by the Knowledge Media Institute of the Open University. The publicly available dataset is obtained from different data sources containing information about 7 courses and 32593 students.

The results obtained (Table 2) show good accuracy for both the train set and the test set; in particular, the best results are provided by iterative methods with strong self-learning skills such as Random Forest, Multi Layers Perceptron, and Boosting methods.

| ML Classifiers | ACCUI | BO   |    |
|----------------|-------|------|----|
|                | TRAIN | TEST |    |
| LOGIT          | 0.75  | 0.75 | GR |
| KNEIGHBORS     | 0.70  | 0.70 | AD |
| RANDOM FOREST  | 0.78  | 0.78 | XG |
| EXTRA TREES    | 0.74  | 0.75 | CA |
| SVC            | 0.66  | 0.66 |    |
| MLP            | 0.78  | 0.78 |    |

| Table 2. Accuracy of the considered class | ssifiers in predicting students' performance. |
|---|---|
|---|---|

| BOOSTING Classifiers | ACCU  | <b>ACY</b> |
|----------------------|-------|------------|
|                      | TRAIN | TEST       |
| GRADIENT BOOSTING    | 0.71  | 0.71       |
| ADA BOOSTING         | 0.78  | 0.77       |
| XGBOOSTING           | 0.78  | 0.78       |
| CAT BOOSTING         | 0.80  | 0.79       |
|                      |       |            |

- 1. Hernández-Blanco, Antonio, et al. "A systematic review of deep learning approaches to educational data mining." Complexity 2019 (2019).
- Pasquale Ardimento, Mario Luca Bernardi, Marta Cimitile: On the Students' Misconceptions in Object-Oriented Language Constructs. HELMeTO 2019: 97-112
- Pasquale Ardimento, Mario Luca Bernardi, Marta Cimitile: Software Analytics to Support Students in Object-Oriented Programming Tasks: An Empirical Study. IEEE Access 8: 132171-132187 (2020)
- 4. Bengio, Yoshua, Yann Lecun, and Geoffrey Hinton. "Deep learning for AI." Communications of the ACM 64.7 (2021): 58-65.
- 5. Romero, Cristobal, and Sebastian Ventura. "Data mining in education." Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery 3.1 (2013): 12-27.
- Abu Zohair, L.M. Prediction of Student's performance by modelling small dataset size. Int J Educ Technol High Educ 16, 27 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-019-0160-3.
- Namoun, Abdallah, and Abdullah Alshanqiti. "Predicting student performance using data mining and learning analytics techniques: A systematic literature review." Applied Sciences 11.1 (2020): 237.
- Kuzilek, Jakub and Hlosta, Martin and Zdrahal, Zdenek. "Open University Learning Analytics dataset". Scientific Data, 2017, https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2017.171.
- N. Tomasevic, N. Gvozdenovic, and S. Vranes, "An overview and comparison of supervised data mining techniques for student exam performance prediction," Comput. Educ., vol. 143, Jan. 2020, Art. no. 103676
- 10. Anderson, Simon P., André De Palma, and J-F. Thisse. "A representative consumer theory of the logit model." International Economic Review (1988): 461-466.
- Denoeux, Thierry. "A k-nearest neighbor classification rule based on Dempster-Shafer theory." Classic works of the Dempster-Shafer theory of belief functions. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2008. 737-760.
- Khaled Fawagreh, Mohamed Medhat Gaber, Eyad Elyan. Random forests: from early developments to recent advancements. Systems Science & Control Engineering, 2(1):602–609, 2014.
- Kim, H., and G. J. Koehler. "Theory and practice of decision tree induction." Omega 23.6 (1995): 637-652.
- 14. Noble, William S. "What is a support vector machine?." Nature biotechnology 24.12 (2006): 1565-1567.
- 15. Jean-Gabriel Attali and Gilles Pag'es. Approximations of functions by a multilayer perceptron: a new approach. Neural Networks, 10(6):1069–1081, 1997.
- Candice Bent'ejac, Anna Cs"org"o, and Gonzalo Mart'mez-Mu"noz. A comparative analysis of gradient boosting algorithms. Artificial Intelligence Review, 54(3):1937–1967, 2021.
- Tianqi Chen and Carlos Guestrin. Xgboost: A scalable tree boosting system. In Proceedings of the 22nd acm sigkdd international conference on knowledge discovery and data mining, pages 785–794, 2016.
- Ying, Cao, et al. "Advance and prospects of AdaBoost algorithm." Acta Automatica Sinica 39.6 (2013): 745-758.
- Anna Veronika Dorogush, Vasily Ershov, and Andrey Gulin. Catboost: gradient boosting with categorical features support. CoRR, abs/1810.11363, 2018.

# Explainable fuzzy models for Learning Analytics

Gabriella Casalino<sup>1</sup>[0000-0003-0713-2260]</sup>, Giovanna Castellano<sup>1</sup>[0000-0002-6489-8628]</sup>, and Gianluca Zaza<sup>1</sup>[0000-0003-3272-9739]</sup>

University of Bari, Department of Computer Science, Bari, Italy name.surname@uniba.it

#### 1 Introduction

The educational field is benefiting from the use of Artificial Intelligence (AI) which is transforming the way of teaching and learning. The explainability of these automatic techniques has become mandatory to inform the user about how results have been obtained. In this context, the use of fuzzy logic for explanation purposes becomes critical [1].

In this work, we focus on the use of fuzzy models for students' assessments prediction. Fuzzy Inference Systems (FISs) use IF-THEN rules and fuzzy term to define the expert knowledge and reasoning, being thus easy to explain. However, the manual definition of fuzzy rules is a complex task, whilst their automatic definition through learning from available data is feasible. To this aim, hybridization of fuzzy inference systems and neural networks has been proposed in the form of neuro-fuzzy systems (NFSs), which are hybrid models possessing the ability to learn from real-world observations and whose behavior can be described naturally as a collection of linguistic rules. Particularly, we use NFS to learn accurate fuzzy models from clickstream data collected through the Virtual Learning Environment (VLE) of the Open University for predicting students' outcomes.

## 2 Experiments

The Open University Learning Analytics Dataset (OULAD) collects information about students attending the Open University [2]. Since the goal of our analysis is to define students' behaviors models, based on their interactions with the VLE, to be used to assess the students' performances and thus to predict them, a student-oriented data, composed by the nine most discriminant activities for the predictive task [3], has been selected <sup>1</sup>. Data is composed of 25,819 samples representing the students interaction with the University VLE for a given subject, in terms of these nine features. The target class is the students' outcomes which can assume the two values *Pass* and *Fail*.

The work aims to verify the effectiveness of neuro-fuzzy systems in the context of learning analytics. For this purpose, neuro-fuzzy models (NFM), based

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Student oriented subset of the Open University Learning Analytics dataset: https: //zenodo.org/record/4264397#.X60DEkJKj8E

on Gaussian fuzzy sets are proposed, and their effectiveness is compared with baseline machine learning methods Random Forest (RF), Multilayer Perceptron (MLP), Multiclass support vector machine (SVC), XGBoost (XBG). However, whilst these methods are very effective for the classification tasks they are not explainable. Morover, a feature selection method, based on the Univariate ANOVA, is applied to reduce the complexity of the neuro-fuzzy model explanations.

A quantitative comparison with black-box models has been carried out to verify the effectiveness of the NFS predictions. Comparisons have been conducted on the original data and after the feature selection phase to verify if it impacts the performance (Table 1). Overall, ensemble methods outperform the others without feature selection. However, these are ensemble methods, which combine different classifiers to improve the performance while losing explainability. When feature selection is used, the maximum performance values decrease, and all the algorithms are comparable.



Table 1: Quantitative evaluation of the Fig. 1: Example of fuzzy rules generated NFS model and the black-box models, by the neuro-fuzzy model with the feawithout and with feature selection. ture selection process.

In addition, we performed a qualitative evaluation of the NFS model to appreciate its explainability, in the context of learning analytics. The feature selection process reduces the number of fuzzy rules thus making the model easier to handle and more "*readable*". Figure 1 shows the fuzzy rules generated by ANFIS with the feature selection process.

## 3 Conclusions

To conclude, the NFS model has shown to be effective and also explainable when feature selection is applied. Indeed, in this case, its performance is comparable with those obtained with the other black-box methods. Moreover, in the context of Learning Analytics, the NFS model has been useful to explain why a given result has been obtained. This explanation is crucial for both the learners and the teachers, who can improve their study or their course, respectively.

# Acknowledgment

Gabriella Casalino acknowledges funding from the Italian Ministry of Education, University and Research through the European PON project AIM (Attraction and International Mobility), nr. 1852414, activity 2, line 1. All authors are members of the INdAM GNCS research group.

- Jose Maria Alonso Moral, Ciro Castiello, Luis Magdalena, and Corrado Mencar. Toward explainable artificial intelligence through fuzzy systems. In *Explainable Fuzzy Systems*, pages 1–23. Springer, 2021.
- Jakub Kuzilek, Martin Hlosta, and Zdenek Zdrahal. Open university learning analytics dataset. Scientific data, 4(1):1–8, 2017.
- Gabriella Casalino, Giovanna Castellano, Andrea Mannavola, and Gennaro Vessio. Educational stream data analysis: a case study. In 2020 IEEE 20th Mediterranean Electrotechnical Conference (MELECON), pages 232–237. IEEE, 2020.

# Fuzzy Hoeffding Decision Trees for Incremental and Interpretable Predictions of Students' Outcomes\*

Gabriella Casalino<sup>1</sup>[0000-0003-0713-2260]</sup>, Pietro Ducange<sup>2</sup>[0000-0003-4510-1350]</sup>, Michela Fazzolari<sup>3</sup>[0000-0002-8562-6904]</sup>, and Riccardo Pecori<sup>4,5</sup>[0000-0002-5948-5845]

<sup>1</sup> University of Bari, Dep. of Computer Science, Via Orabona 4, Bari, Italy
<sup>2</sup> University of Pisa, Dep. of Information Engineering, Largo Lazzarino 1, Pisa, Italy
<sup>3</sup> IIT-CNR, Via Moruzzi 1, Pisa, Italy
<sup>4</sup> IMEM-CNR, Parco Area delle Scienze 37/A, Parma, Italy
<sup>5</sup> "Universitas Mercatorum", Fac. of Economics, P.zza Mattei 10, Rome, Italy

# 1 Introduction

In the last years, also thanks to the spreading of the COVID-19 pandemic, distance learning and the usage of Virtual Learning Environments (VLEs) have experienced a steep increase, becoming powerful tools to support higher education throughout the world. VLEs allow also to continuously collect logs and information, non-stationary by nature, regarding how and when students interact with the educational platform. Artificial Intelligence (AI) methods, capable to analyze streams of data (such as logs), can be effectively employed to extract knowledge from them, being useful for all stakeholders involved in the learning process, especially students and teachers. They have proved to be more effective and accurate than traditional batch-based techniques, also in the educational context, since they are able to capture the inner evolving and adaptive nature of the learning process [1].

In this abstract, we summarize the results obtained by two stream-based classifiers, namely Hoeffding Decision Tree (HDT) [2] and its fuzzified version FHDT [3], to predict the students' outcomes in sequential semesters. Moreover, a feature analysis suggesting the most discriminant features for the predictive task has been discussed to explain the reasons behind the success (or failure) of given students in the regarded semesters.

# 2 Materials and Methods

In this abstract, we have exploited a subset of the Open University Learning Analytics Dataset  $(OULAD)^6$  [4], with data belonging to the academic years 2013

<sup>\*</sup> This work was partially supported by the Italian Ministry of Education and Research (MIUR), in the framework of the CrossLab project (Departments of Excellence)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Dataset: https://zenodo.org/record/4264397#.X60DEkJKj8E

and 2014. Thus, a data stream of 4 sequential chunks, containing the instances of each semester, in chronological order, has been considered. Each instance is composed of 18 features, describing demographic information, student's performance and the interactions with the VLE, and one categorical class (Pass/Fail).

Regarding classification models, we have adopted HDTs, whose structure can be updated incrementally while new chunks of labeled semester data are available. Moreover, we have also considered FHDTs, which ensure a good tradeoff between their classification performance level, the overall model complexity, and their explainability level. Indeed, explainability of AI models is one of the current hot topic in the specialized literature [5].

For the simulations, we have considered the Test-the-train scenario and the Adaptive Naive Bayes voting strategy.

#### 3 Results and Discussion

In Table 1, we compare the two predictive methods (HDT and FHDT) on the considered dataset, in terms of classification performance and model complexity. For the former, we considered the Area Under the Curve (AUC), while for the latter the number of leaves of the derived trees. Moreover, we have compared two FHDT models, endowed with 3 and 5 fuzzy sets, respectively.

Overall, HDT and FHDT have output very good predictive performance, with FHDT having almost always results, which are better than or similar as those of the traditional HDT. However, a drastic reduction in the number of leaves is observed passing from HDT to FHDT, thus suggesting a strong decrease in the complexity and a high increase in the model interpretability.

The analysis of the final decision trees shows different subsets of the most discriminant features, varying the classification algorithms. However, all of them agree on the *number of assessments* feature, which represents the number of intermediate assessments the student has performed.

To conclude, Hoeffding Decision Trees have proven to be effective in predicting the students' outcomes, by taking into account the time (the semesters). Moreover, their fuzzy variant has shown to be easier to understand, having a lower number of leaves. This is crucial in domains, such as the educational one, where the final stakeholders are not technicians, so they need to trust and understand the computation behind the results.

|              | AUC      |          | No. of Leaves |          |          |     |
|--------------|----------|----------|---------------|----------|----------|-----|
| Tested chunk | FHDT-3FS | FHDT-5FS | HDT           | FHDT-3FS | FHDT-5FS | HDT |
| Chunk 0      | 0.9145   | 0.8849   | 0.9155        | 17       | 37       | 96  |
| Chunk 1      | 0.6336   | 0.7993   | 0.8072        | 17       | 37       | 96  |
| Chunk 2      | 0.9040   | 0.9154   | 0.8877        | 17       | 41       | 249 |
| Chunk 3      | 0.9028   | 0.9043   | 0.8916        | 19       | 41       | 362 |

Table 1: Comparison of HDT and FHDT in terms of classification performance and model complexity, for the tested chunks of the considered stream dataset.

- Gabriella Casalino, Giovanna Castellano, and Gennaro Vessio. Exploiting time in adaptive learning from educational data. In Laura Sara Agrati, Daniel Burgos, Pietro Ducange, Pierpaolo Limone, Loredana Perla, Pietro Picerno, Paolo Raviolo, and Christian M. Stracke, editors, *Bridges and Mediation in Higher Distance Education*, pages 3–16, Cham, 2021. Springer International Publishing.
- Nicolas Kourtellis, Gianmarco De Francisci Morales, Albert Bifet, and Arinto Murdopo. Vht: Vertical hoeffding tree. In 2016 IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data), pages 915–922, 2016.
- Pietro Ducange, Francesco Marcelloni, and Riccardo Pecori. Fuzzy hoeffding decision tree for data stream classification. International Journal of Computational Intelligence Systems, 14:946–964, 2021.
- Jakub Kuzilek, Martin Hlosta, and Zdenek Zdrahal. Open university learning analytics dataset. Scientific data, 4(1):1–8, 2017.
- Alejandro Barredo Arrieta, Natalia Díaz-Rodríguez, Javier Del Ser, Adrien Bennetot, Siham Tabik, Alberto Barbado, Salvador García, Sergio Gil-López, Daniel Molina, Richard Benjamins, et al. Explainable artificial intelligence (xai): Concepts, taxonomies, opportunities and challenges toward responsible ai. *Information fusion*, 58:82–115, 2020.

# Students' dropout predictive models in higher education

Francesca Del Bonifro<sup>2[]</sup>, Maurizio Gabbrielli<sup>2[0000-0003-0609-8662]</sup>, Anita Macauda<sup>1[0000-0003-1522-5440]</sup>, Chiara Panciroli<sup>1[0000-0001-7173-670X]</sup>, Andrea Zanellati<sup>2[0000-0001-6171-0397]</sup>, Stefano Pio Zingaro<sup>2[0000-0002-8462-5651]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Education Studies, University of Bologna, Italy <sup>2</sup> Department of Computer Science and Engineering, University of Bologna, Italy chiara.panciroli@unibo.it

#### 1 Artificial Intelligence for Education

The international scientific literature highlights how artificial intelligence (AI) is assuming an emerging role in the field of educational technology [1] [2]. Specifically, the Artificial Intelligence in Education (AIEd) is the subject of a wide debate which is increasingly characterized by a broad interdisciplinarity: education, psychology, neuroscience, linguistics, sociology and anthropology. As Luckin & Cukurova [3] affirm, to create meaningful connections between AI and the educational sphere, it is necessary to ensure that "the fields of research and experimentation contaminate each other in a synchronous and reciprocal way, finding a space for comparison, design and of development through a joint negotiation of models, values, intentions, actions and effective results". Today, a particularly significant space for discussion on AI issues in education is that of the Global Partnership on Artificial Intelligence (GPAI): an international and multi-stakeholder partnership with the mandate to guide the development and responsible use of AI in a consistent with human rights, fundamental freedoms and shared democratic values.

Education can benefit from AI support in several ways, one of these is the usage of predictive models to mine student's data and forecast problematic situations which can affect the learning processes.

Historical and personal data about students have been used to predict the dropout risk. Here we want to propose a novel approach which can integrate this kind of data with information from a survey where students can express their point of view about the courses and evaluate how this can help in predicting and reducing the dropout rate.

#### 2 Predictive analysis in higher education

Both at the national and international level, sector studies report the experimentation of predictive models for dropout risk detection. Specifically, machine learning models have been developed to build predictive tools both in distance education [4] and inperson courses [5]. These models usually exploit data collected at the time of enrolment (e.g., gender, age, educational qualification, high school grade) [6], including

characteristics regarding the provenance of students [7] or richer datasets of characteristics, which also involve the state of family and the living conditions of each student [8]. In a previous work, we investigated the correlation between the student's condition at the time of enrolment and the probability of study interruption [9] by developing a machine learning model capable of predicting the risk with an accuracy ranging between 65-75%. However, it should be noted that data on students' behaviours and their cognitive processes could be highly informative with respect to students' performances. In this regard, the authors in [10] propose a predictive model for the final performance of students in distance education. In these cases, the use of specific technological devices allows for enriching the dataset (e.g., consultation of the task submission registers, scrolling behaviour) and improving the model performance. In a similar way, we aim to exploit qualitative data and trace cognitive and behavioural aspects in a face-toface teaching context through students' self-assessment feedbacks.

#### 3 Integration of students' dropout predictive models

With reference to this general framework and to our previous work [9], we aim to present an extension which includes quantitative and qualitative data on the students' learning process. This extension phase of the research project was launched in the 2020-2021 academic year at the Department of Educational Sciences (EDU) and at the Department of Computer Science and Engineering (DISI) of the University of Bologna by expanding the dataset with student performances (examination assessment) and data from quality assessment questionnaires. Our aim is to study each feature's contribution to the description of the phenomenon of interruption or continuation of the course. Specifically, we aim to improve on previous results by integrating into the predictive model gualitative information concerning how students learn and how they assess the guality of teaching by means of NLP techniques, as we consider the contribution of this representation in the evaluation of dropout risk to be crucial. Our goal is to extract relevant information and collect evidence that allows us to analyse those aspects of the learning process related to the learner's experience within a specific learning environment. The research involved first year students of four EDU and DISI courses. In this first phase, a questionnaire was administered to these students to extract data relating to the course of study carried out during the first year of university. In particular, the questionnaire analysis is aimed at identifying significant correlations between the student's study / learning methods and the amount of credits acquired during the first year of the course.

The novelty of the proposed approach is twofold: i) the integration of quantitative and qualitative information into a single machine learning model for describing the dropout phenomenon; ii) the interdisciplinary nature of the research, which, starting from specific educational goals [11], proposes an automatic, data-driven analysis involving different disciplinary fields – education and computer science – and contributes through an integrated methodological approach and a shared lexicon to the development of new organizational systems for teaching.

- Hinojo-Lucena, F.-J., Aznar-Díaz, I., Cáceres-Reche, M.-P., Romero-Rodríguez, J.-M: Artificial intelligence in higher education: A bibliometric study on its impact in the scientific literature, Education Sciences, 9(1), 51 (2019).
- Pedró, F., Subosa, M., Rivas, A., Valverde, P.: Artificial intelligence in education: Challenges and opportunities for sustainable development, UNESCO, Paris (2019).
- Luckin, R., Cukurova: Artificial intelligence and multimodal data in the service of human decision-making: a case study in debate tutoring, British Journal of Educational Technology, 50(6), 3032-3046 (2019).
- Kotsiantis, S.B., Pierrakeas, C.J., Pintelas, P.E.: Preventing student dropout in distance learning using machine learning techniques. LNCS 2774, 267–274 (2003).
- Serra, A., Perchinunno, P., Bilancia, M.: Predicting student dropouts in higher education using supervised classification algorithms. LNCS 3043, 18-33 (2004).
- Pal, S.: Mining educational data using classification to decrease dropout rate of students. CoRR abs/1206.3078 (2012).
- Aulck, L., Velagapudi, N., Blumenstock, J. and West, J.: Predicting student dropout in higher education. In: 2016 ICML Work. #Data4Good Mach. Learn. vol. abs/1606.06364, pp. 16-20. New York (2016)
- Martinho, V.R.D.C., Nunes, C., Minussi, C.R.: An intelligent system for prediction of school dropout risk group in higher education classroom based on artificial neural networks. In: 2013 IEEE 25th International Conference on Tools with Artificial Intelligence, pp. 159-166 (2013).
- Del Bonifro, F., Gabbrielli, M., Lisanti G., Zingaro, S. P.: Student dropout prediction. In Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics). Springer, Cham (2020).
- Whitehill, J., Mohan, K., Seaton, D., Rosen, Y., Tingley, D.: MOOC dropout prediction: How to measure accuracy? In *Proceedings of the fourth (2017) ACM conference on learn*ing@scale, 161-164 (2017).
- Covington, M. V.: Intrinsic Versus Extrinsic Motivation in Schools: A Reconciliation. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 9(1), 22–25 (2000).

# An Experience of Integrating Flipped Classroom Strategy in an Academic Course

Pasquale Ardimento 1[0000-0001-6134-2993] and Michele Scalera 1[0000-0002-2455-2032]

<sup>1</sup> Computer Science Department, University of Bari Aldo Moro pasquale.ardimento@uniba.it, michele.scalera@uniba.it

## 1. Introduction

This paper describes an experience on integrating the "flipped classroom" approach for one selected topic in a second-year programming university course, Programming II, focused on Object-Oriented paradigm. A flipped classroom is a form of blended learning focused on student engagement and active learning where students must tackle the course materials before the classroom [1]. We have devised a flipped classroom approach to let the students carry out the learning activities before coming to the class where they then apply the knowledge during face-to-face lessons for a more engaging learning experience. In this experience, the authors have chosen a topic that presents a low difficulty to be understood, differently from a previous experience [6] where they chose a topic with medium difficulty. Support slides and videos readily available online and designed by the teachers themselves were provided to the students. This experiment aims to stimulate the integration of flipped classrooms for some appropriate topics taught in object-oriented programming.

## 2. Experiment

To explore the possibility of integrating the flipped class teaching we selected the "SEt and List" (SEL) topic. This topic, according to our experience, is considered as a low difficulty topic in our Programming II course. This course is delivered in the first semester of the second academic year of the bachelor's degree course in Computer Science and Technology for the Production of Software at the University of Bari Aldo Moro in the academic year 2021/2022. Since we are interested in studying the effect on programming accuracy after training subjects on the proposed topic, only students that had no previous knowledge and experience on SEL were involved in the study. This requirement ensures us that all the students have a similar background on the SEL topic. The selected subjects were then organized into two groups using profiling and assessment test information:

- FlippedGroup: students to which training was provided according to the flipped classroom;
- TraditionalGroup: students to which training was provided according to the traditional approach.

Both groups were consisted of 32 students where 16 of them had academic average score (AVS) 25/30 or lower and 16 had an AVS equal to or higher than 25/30. The two lessons (flipped and traditional) were carried out in parallel according to the scheme of Table 1 where the second and third column list the tasks to do by, respectively,

FlippedGroup and TraditionalGroup. To full integration with e-learning web technologies requires each individual resource to be included in a Learning Management System (LMS) [5]. The teaching materials provided to students were:

- introduction to SEL (30 minutes): these lecture slides provide a good overview of the SEL concepts;
- explanation of SEL (60 minutes): these lecture slides summarize the key points and emphasize the different conditions for choosing between Set and List in Java;
- examples and practices on JHE (30 minutes): this video conveys the practical considerations to decide when and how to adopt a Set or a List in a Java program.

The expected learning outcomes to achieve if the trial is carried out successfully are listed: to be able to understand the concepts and basic notions on SEL by answering to a theory questionnaire of ten questions; to be able to insert and use in a little Java program, comprising four classes, the right collection (either Set or List).

The worksheets and programs were collected by the tutors for marking.

| Week number                | FlippedGroup   | TraditionalGroup         |  |
|----------------------------|--|--------------------------|--|
| 1st lesson of the semester | Brief explanation to students on how to learn this topic   |                          |  |
| Week n.7 of the semester   | Learn the topic on their own   | Frontal Lesson           |  |
| Week n.7 of the semester   | Training on their own  | Individual Study         |  |
| Week n.8 of the semester   | Flipped Lesson (an activity, conducted by the teacher, of elaboration, reflection and comparison on what has been learned) | Training on their<br>own |  |
| XX 1 0 0.1                 |  |                          |  |

Table 1. Flipped class schedule

Week n.9 of the semester Questionnaire session (10 minutes) - Development task (20 minutes)

#### 3. Results and Discussion

Students of the FlippedGroup gave 74% of correct answers while TraditionalGroup only 71%. Both results, obtained before the end of the course, could be considered positive and comparable to one another. Concerning the programming task, the accuracy of the proposed solution by the students was manually evaluated by the instructors. In the case of the FlippedGroup 75.27% of the students performed the learning verification test with 0 errors, 17.13% made only one error while only 7.60% made multiple errors. On the other hand, the TraditionalGroup achieved worse results, where 62.32% of the students performed the learning verification test with 0 errors, 16.92% made only one error while only 20.76% made multiple errors. These results demonstrate the superior performance of the students belonging to the FlippedGroup. Moreover, in the data collected it is seen that in the FlippedGroup the number of students who commit multiple errors is drastically reduced. This ultimately confirms the effectiveness of flipped learning in the classroom especially in maximizing the involvement of students.

These results confirm the positive ones obtained in our previous experience [6]. Thus, topics with low and medium difficulties present similar results. The authors are also aware that improving the quality of the online learning materials and strengthening students' motivation for self-learning are both necessary to integrate the flipped approach successfully. In our future experiences, we plan to simultaneously investigate topics of different complexity and investigate the degree of satisfaction of students.

- Kiat, P.N., Kwong, Y.T.: The flipped classroom experience. IEEE 27th Conference on Software Engineering Education and Training (CSEE&T), Klagenfurt, pp. 39-43, (2014).
- 2. Bergmann, J., Sams, A. Flip your classroom: Reach every student in every class every day. International society for technology in education, 2012.
- 3. Ardimento, P., Boffoli, N., Convertini, V.N., Visaggio, G. The lifelong learning in the university: Learning networks and knowledge transferring. Journal of E-Learning and Knowledge Society, 7 (1), pp. 21-31, (2011).
- Kirschner, P. A., John, S., Richard, E. C., Why minimal guidance during instruction does not work: An analysis of the failure of constructivist, discovery, problem-based, experiential, and inquiry-based teaching. Educational Psychologist, 41(2), pp. 75–86, (2006).
- Dimauro, G., Gentile, E., Plantamura, P., Scalera, M.. The Flipped Classroom in a University Context: an Academic Experimentation. International Journal for Infonomics (IJI), Volume 12, Issue 3, September (2019).
- Ardimento, P., Scalera, M. (2021). Experimentation of Flipped Learning in a University Course on Object-Oriented Programming Paradigm. In: et al. Bridges and Mediation in Higher Distance Education. HELMeTO 2020. Communications in Computer and Information Science, vol 1344. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-67435-9\_19

Special Track 10

# The digital innovation of university teaching observed through the prism of emotions

Organizers: Fiorella Vinci, eCampus University Antonella De Blasio, eCampus University Fabrizio Barpi, Politecnico di Torino Davide Dalmazzo, Politecnico di Torino

# Pedagogical Strategies based on Socio-affective Scenarios: application and evaluation

Jacqueline Mayumi Akazaki<sup>1</sup>, Leticia Rocha Machado<sup>1</sup>, Patricia Alejandra Behar<sup>1</sup> and Magali Teresinha Longhi<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, Avenue Paulo Gama, 110, 90040060, Porto Alegre, Brazil {jacquelineakazaki, leticiarmachado, magali.longhi}@gmail.com, pbehar@terra.com.br

#### 1 Introduction

Distance Education (DE) over the last ten years has been changing in Brazil [1], as it demands greater student autonomy. In this modality, it is essential to adopt practice capable of dynamizing the classes [2], as is the case of the Pedagogical Strategies (PS) that are ways of supporting the professor [3], especially considering the social and affective aspects of the students in the VLE. The objective of the research is to apply and evaluate the use of PS based on Socio-affective Scenarios in a VLE. The Scenarios are understood as the intersection between the indicators of the Social Map (SM) and the Affective Map (AM) present in the VLE of the Cooperative Learning Network (in Portuguese: ROODA). The SM presents the social relationships established in the environment, and the AM comprises the subjects' moods [4].

The work is organized into four sections. Next, the research methodology is described. In the third section the results are presented. Finally, the conclusions are listed.

# 2 Methodology

The methodology of this study has an interpretive qualitative approach. The qualitative choice is justified as a result of the research object involving the Socio-affective Scenarios that are inferred in the ROODA, expressed subjectively through the exchange of messages, texts and the relationship between the participants. From the mapping of social indicators and moods, 38 Socio-affective Scenarios (https://bityli.com/oDTJok) were created. In this bias, based on the Scenarios, a strategy was developed for each of the 6 functionalities used to generate the Social and Affective Maps (Chat, Contacts, Diary, Forum, Library and Web Portfolio), totaling 228 PS (https://bityli.com/EwOGVf). Thus, after the creation of the PS, they were applied and later evaluated through a questionnaire in two graduate disciplines. It should be noted that the PS are in the Portuguese language of Brazil, since it is a study specifically applied in the country.

#### 3 Results

The research had six professors and three monitors who applied and evaluated the PS. Therefore, from the analysis of the answers obtained in the questionnaire, the main points were raised: the creation of a functionality so that it is possible to automatically apply PS; the importance of considering the context, profile and technological resources; the use of PS served to intensify social interactions and exchanges in the VLE, the role of professor and monitors in personalized monitoring was fundamental for students.

#### 4 Conclusions

In Distance Education, the physical distance between the participants makes their relationships unique. In this way, considering the needs of each student, when applying Pedagogical Strategies (PS) can be an instrument of support for the professor, making it possible to personalize teaching and learning. The study analyzed 228 PS prepared, being possible to apply 83 that were considered the most relevant and corresponded to the Socio-affective profile of the classes.

The possibility of future research is related to the creation of a functionality that makes the automatic analysis of the Socio-affective Scenarios and indicates their PS to the professor.

## Acknowledgment

"This study was financed in part by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior – Brasil (CAPES) – Finance Code 001".

- ABED Homepage, <u>http://www.abed.org.br/site/pt/midiateca/censo\_ead/1644/2019/10/cen-soeadbr\_2018/2019</u>, last accessed 2022/07/26.
- Almeida, S. S. de: Creativity inspiring and motivating in teaching-learning. In: International Congress on Education and Technologies and Meeting of Researchers in Distance Education, pp. 1-11. CIET: EnPED, São Carlos (2018).
- Behar, P. A. Pedagogical Recommendation in Distance Education. 1 st edn. Penso, Porto Alegre (2019).
- Longhi, M. T. Mapping of affective aspects in a Virtual Learning Environment. 2011. 273p. Doctoral Thesis (Doctorate in Informatics in Education), Interdisciplinary Center for Informatics in Education. Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre (2011). Available at: <u>https://lume.ufrgs.br/handle/10183/39578</u>, last accessed 2022/07/26.

# The didactic use of video and perceptual processes. A Pedagogical reflection

Alessandra Marfoglia<sup>1</sup>, Ilaria D'Angelo<sup>1</sup>, Aldo Caldarelli<sup>2</sup>, Chiara Gentilozzi<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Macerata, Macerata ITA <sup>2</sup> University of Cusano, Rome, ITA lncs@springer.com

# 1 Introduction

We can reduce the main variations of the didactic use of video to three. The oldest is as "content"; than as "tool"; finally, and most in recent years, as "environment". Therefore, if on the one hand this medium is characterized by a "semantic complexity" determined by the different linguistic codes that it recalls (image, sound, text, shot, color,...); on the other hand, it is characterized by a "functional complexity" that has multiplied its aesthetic forms, think, for example, of its use in social networks (Montani 2020). Therefore, among the different media that characterize current teaching (Rivoltella, 2017), the video requires an indispensable pedagogical study to propose aware and effective uses of it in training contexts.

## 2 Method

We will use an interdisciplinary approach that reports the most recent reflections on video and its perception: aesthetics (Montani), history of cinema (Alovisio, 2013), neuroscience (Gallese, 2007; Gallese, Guerra, 2015), pedagogy (Rivoltella, 2015, 2017). Then, we will focus our attention on a specific form of video: the autobiographical video-narration.

Starting from this model we will focus our attention on what is one of the principles of video editing, that is, the process of deconstruction and reconstruction. This will allow to deepen the process of semantic composition and recomposition that the forms of representation induce in the observer, thus involving him in a process of construction of menaning. Therefore, we will try to highlight the teaching potential of this model by reporting an experience held at the University of Macerata.

#### **3** Experience

We will introduce a video format where telling the life stories of people with disabilities is configured as the central fulcrum for future teachers' inclusive education. In line with the experimentation of lifelong learning courses for inclusion, the format, designed by the research group of Special Pedagogy at the University of Macerata (Giaconi et al., 2021), wants to orient educational courses in a circularity between practices and theories around the foundation of life stories in order to reflect on the repercussions in terms of a teacher's professional profile.

This experience allow us to reflect on the potential of using videos in the entire curriculum of teacher education, opening up new scenarios for strengthening research in terms of circularity between practices and theories.

- 1. Alovisio, S.: L'occhio sensibile. Cinema e scienze della mente nell'Italia del primo Novecento. Con una antologia di testi d'epoca. Edizioni kaplan,Torino (2013)
- Altet, M., Charlier, E., Paquay, L., Perrenoud, P.: Formare gli insegnanti professionisti. Armando, Rome (2006)
- Amatori, G., Del Bianco N.: Cinematografia e pedagogia: una proposta di analisi. In: Giaconi, C., Del Bianco, N., Caldarelli, A. (eds.) L'Escluso. Storie di resilienza per non vivere infelici e scontenti (pp. 27-41). FrancoAngeli, Milan (2019).
- De Pascalis, A.I., Pescatore, G.: Dalle narrazioni estese agli ecosistemi narrativi. In: Pescatore, G. Ecosistemi narrativi. Dal fumetto alle serie tv (pp. 19-30). Carocci, Rome (2018).
- De Rossi, M., Ferranti, C.: L'uso della video narrazione per sviluppare soft skill nella formazione iniziale degli insegnanti. Italian Journal of Educational Technology, 28(2), 168-182 (2020).
- Gallese, V.: Dai neuroni specchio alla consonanza intenzionale: Meccanismi neurofisiologici dell'intersoggettività. Rivista di Psicoanalisi, LIII(1), 197-208 (2007).
- Gallese, V., Guerra, M.: Lo schermo empatico. Cinema e neuroscienze. Raffaello Cortina Editore, Milan (2015).
- Giaconi, C., Aparecida Capellini, S..: Pedagogia speciale e narrazioni: un binomio euristico e formativo per professionisti inclusivi. In: Giaconi, C., Del Bianco, N., Caldarelli, A. (eds.), L'Escluso. Storie di resilienza per non vivere infelici e scontenti, pp. 17-26. FrancoAngeli, Milan (2019).
- 9. Giaconi, C., Del Bianco, N., Caldarelli, A. (2019). L'Escluso. Storie di resilienza per non vivere infelici e scontenti. Milan: FrancoAngeli.
- Giaconi C., Del Bianco, N., D'Angelo I., Taddei, A., Caldarelli, A., Aparecida Capellini, S.: La narrazione come approccio innovativo per la formazione inclusiva del docente: dalle storie di vita al cambiamento professionale. Annali online della Didattica e della Formazione Docente 13(21), 7-21(2021).
- Goldman, R., Pea, R., Barron, B., Derry, S.J (eds.): Videoricerca nei contesti educativi. Rafaele Cortina Editore, Milano (2009).
- 12. Montani, P.: Estetica ed ermeneutica. Laterza, Rome-Bari (1996)
- Montani, P.: Cinema, multimedialità, esperienza narrativa. Testo della lezione tenuta all'Università Sapienza di Roma (2001).
- 14. Montani, P.: Emozioni dell'intelligenza. Un percorso nel sensorio digitale. Meltemi, Milan (2020).
- Mortari, L.: Cultura della ricerca e pedagogia. Prospettive epistemologiche. Carocci, Rome (2007).
- Rivoltella, P. C.: La previsione. Neuroscienza, apprendimento, didattica. Editrice La scuola, Milano (2014).
- 17. Rivoltella, P. C.: Le virtù del digitale. Per un'etica dei media. Brescia, Morcelliana (2015).
- 18. Rivoltella, P. C.: Media education. Idea, metodo, ricerca. Scholé, Brescia (2017).
- 19. Wiebke, F., Bienvenido, L.: The power of storytelling and video: a visual rhetoric for science communication. Journal of Science Communication 18(05), 1-23 (2019).

# A STUDY ON EMPATHY FROM SOCIO-AFFECTIVE INDICATORS IDENTIFIED IN A VIRTUAL LEARNING ENVIRONMENT

Magalí T. Longhi<sup>1[0000-0001-8981-8471]</sup>, Patricia A. Behar<sup>1[0000-0001-6939-5678]</sup> and Leticia R. Machado<sup>1[0000-0003-4102-2225]</sup>

#### <sup>1</sup> Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, PPGIE, Av. Paulo Gama, 110 – 329, Porto Alegre, RS, 90040-060, Brazil

This article aims to present a study on empathy as a socio-affective competence to be considered in the interactions and relationships formed in virtual learning environments (VLE). In the schools and universities, teachers and students felt uncomfortable with the mandatory remote teaching during de COVID-19 Pandemic. This was due to the isolation feeling, to the little resilience, and to the face-to-face deprivation. The first reason was due to the lack of infrastructure technological or the competence to use them, as well as asking (and offering) help to better use them. The second was the inability to cope with difficulties, crisis situations, and fast adaptation of changes. And the third was the displacement of face-to-face to virtual classes in an imposed way.

Thus, one of the factors that regulate or determine these motives is empathy. Empathy is understood as the subject's ability to experience events and emotions the way others experience them [1]. That is, the empathy involves sharing the feelings, emotions, mood, etc. of another, whether positive or negative, by indicators such as facial and corporal expressions, voice and writing cues, and behavioral signs [2].

In Distance Education context, we believe that the construction of empathic competence can be a catalyst for both students and teachers with regard to social presence in the VLE and resilience as a way of adapting to emotional issues that arise in relationships from VLE. In this study, competence is understood as the set of conditions and resources that must be mobilized to respond or act in a given situation [3]. A socioaffective competence is understood as the subject's ability to mobilize their social and affective aspects to interact and relate to others based on affection, mutual respect and welcoming.

Therefore, this article presents the results on the mapping of empathy carried out from the social and affective indicators identified in the VLE. The identification of the students' socio-affective profile is made using the Social Map and Affective Map tools. These tools are implemented on the ROODA (Cooperative Learning Network) platform, one of the VLEs at the Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil. The Social Map generates sociograms from user interactions in synchronous and asynchronous communication tools in ROODA. The teacher can graphically visualize the relationships established based on six social indicators: (1) Informal Groups: it presents the constant exchanges established by groups formed between three or more students; (2) Collaboration: it indicates how much the student contributes with the exchange of ideas and posting of materials in the class; (3) Popularity: it shows which students stand out
for maintaining a higher frequency of interactions than the rest of the class; (4) Class Distancing: it points out the student who comes into contact with colleagues and does not receive feedback; (5) Absence: it signals the student who enters the environment and does not return the class's contact requests; and (6) Dropout: specifies the student who does not carry out the course activities and does not establish exchanges. The Affective Map [4] offers information on student 's moods (animated, discouraged, satisfied and dissatisfied) with the interactions and content development. The mood inference is done by analyzing of (1) subjectivity affective in text (messages available from asynchronous communication tools), (2) motivational factors (deducted from the behavioral pattern in the AVA) and (3) personality traits (obtained from the Big Five inventory).

The research methodology was conducted from a descriptive quantitative and qualitative approach of the single case study type [5], in which the moods and social interactions of students were mapped and identified, with the objective of evaluating the possible contributions of the affective and social aspects for the empathy recognition in the Distance Education. The case study was applied in a Postgraduate course offered in 2021, distance modality, at the Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS), Brazil. The class had 27 students enrolled. In all classes, students had to participate in group work. Data collection was performed using three instruments: a) inference of social and affective indicators in the Social Map and Affective Map; b) application of a questionnaire adapted from Branco [6]; and c) researchers participant observation.

The results show that the social indicators Class Distancing, Absence, Dropout and Informal Groups did not present data. Regarding the Informal Groups indicator, it was verified that there was no spontaneous grouping among VLE participants because they grouped in the beginning of course. On the other hand, one student was the most Popular and for Collaboration only six students contributed a lot of to the classes. As for affective indicators, two students remained satisfied during all classes; none of student felt dissatisfied; eight of them at some time felt discouraged; and the rest oscillated between animated and satisfied. The correlation between students' collaboration and discouragement was analyzed and, initially, it was verified whether the most collaborative students were empathetic with students discouraged. No correlation was found. The analysis was extended to verify if any colleague expressed himself empathically. No correlation was found either. Analyzing the logbooks, it was found that two students in a state of discouragement received empathic feedback from the teacher.

The results indicated that although most students were animated and satisfied with the classes, many do not express affection with their colleagues, especially with those who showed discouragement at some time. In this way, it is verified how much research is needed on empathy in virtual learning environments.

The contribution of this research is to provide subsidies for building an Empathy Perception Model (EPM). The EPM will be part of the technological resource to be implemented in the AVA ROODA. This resource will inform the teacher about the need to apply pedagogical strategies for the construction of socio-affective competence Empathy towards students. The objective is that such strategies will help the teacher in the application of actions that strengthen the interaction and intensify the teaching and learning processes in the VLE.

- 1. Titchener, E.: Elementary psychology of the thought processes. Macmillan, New York (1909).
- 2. Eisenberg, N., and Strayer, J. (eds): Empathy and its development. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1990).
- Behar, P. A. (ed.): Competências em educação a distância [Competencies in distance education]. Penso, Porto Alegre (2013).
- Longhi, M. T.: Mapeamento de aspectos afetivos em um ambiente virtual de aprendizagem [Mapping of affective aspects in a virtual learning environment]. URI: http://hdl.handle.net/10183/39578. Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre (2011).
- 5. Yin, R. K.: Case Study: Planning and Methods. 5th ed. Sage Publications (2013).
- 6. Branco, A. V. Emotional competence empathy. Psycho-educational and social intervention program for parents. Lumen, Romania, p. 110-112 (2018).

### The invisible bridges: the functions of technology and emotions in rehabilitation programs for prisoners

Lara Giovanelli<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Universitas Mercatorum, Piazza Mattei, 10 - 00186 - Rome, Italy Telematic University of the Italian Chambers of Commerce

lara.giovanelli@live.com

### 1 Introduction

The pandemic has left a profound mark on people's lives and institutions around the world. Digital communication has proved to be an effective substitute for denied presence in work contexts and in numerous environments, including prison settings [1]. Recognizing the place that technology has played in guaranteeing minimum forms of contact that would allow the survival of social networks, family, and friends in different spheres, it remains however to understand what the effects of digital communication have been in the various areas and not least in a context extremely specific such as prison. With this goal, I reconstruct the experience of the post-graduate internship in Psychology at the prisons of Opera, San Vittore and Bollate. Aimed at understanding the most relevant psychological dimensions that intervene in the rehabilitation programs for prisoners, the internship owes its originality to the discovery of unexpected effects: on the one side it confirmed the functions of emotions in rehabilitation programs, on the other side it showed their expressions during digital communication. The study is divided into two sections: the first is dedicated to the description of the internship, the second to the analysis of unexpected effects.

#### 1.1 The experience of the post-graduate internship

During the pandemic emergency period, I began my post-graduate training with the Onlus Trasgressione.net Association of Milan, founded and coordinated by the Psychotherapist Angelo Aparo. The psychological activity conducted by the Group consists in bringing out the inmate's emotions and conscience to induce him to undertake the process of change that places him in front of the consequences of his actions. What I am engaged in is a work of mutual knowledge and learning. In fact, in observation, through an ethnographic method, I note the emotional trans- formations of the prisoner and at the same time the changes in my way of considering him, my possibility of seeing the person beyond guilt and punishment. Post- graduate internships allow universities to generate situated learning and reveal the proximity existing between multiple contexts, frequently unknown, discovered and networked through a work of care and social re-habilitation.

## **1.2** Unexpected Effects of Technology. Emotions travel in social relation- ships

The internship, in addition to highlighting the importance of the work conducted by the Group, a research laboratory that aims to recover and enhance emotions, it was an opportunity to understand the most relevant psychological dimensions of emotions during pandemic isolation. The closing of the prison doors was the moment when the already precarious equilibrium of the prison was broken. If we consider prison the maximum expression of communication deprivation, imagining what emotions the inmates felt while watching death images on TV is simple: anguish, panic, uncertainty, loss, and abandonment. Many prisoners have experienced the most painful period of their entire detention. Inside the prisons, radios, TVs, books, and newspapers are allowed which, although important for people's lives, respond to security needs, given the characteristic of the mono-directionality of the message in which the inmate represents a mere passive user [1]. In addition to representing a learning, information and communication tool, ICT has transformed into an environment in which to build social, cultural, and reeducational activities [2]. Prison cannot remain a world unto itself [1]. The introduction of means for making video calls between inmates and their families has been "pure oxygen" and a salvation. Needless to say, these technologies have helped to keep alive the emotional ties already heavily undermined by confinement and physical distance. The results of the interviews conducted with prisoners from the maxi- mum security of the Opera prison were touching. Men in prison for 25/30 years for life imprisonment were able to meet their family on video call but also relatives whom they had not seen for a whole life, because they were unable to reach the prison from Sicily. Seeing after such a long period, even if only through a smartphone, the courtyard where you played as child, home where you lived with your family, the kitchen where the mother prepared a snack is something exciting. The daily use of ICT should become a possible horizon, a right, especially in conditions of cultural and psychological fragility of which most prisoners are carriers [3]..

- Pillera, G. C.: Form@are Open Journal per la formazione in rete ISSN 1825-7321, vol. 21, n. 3, pp. 88-104 (2021).
- Lévy, P., L'intelligenza colletiva. Per un'antropologia del cyberspazio. Feltrinelli, Milano, (1996).
- 3. Da Costa G., Pedagogia de la presencia. Buenos Aires: Losada, (2005).

### The sociological relevance of public emotions in online university education. A nussbaumian intepretation

Fiorella Vinci<sup>1[0000-0002-6429-9051]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Università eCampus, Novedrate, Italy fiorella.vinci@uniecampus.it

### **1** Introduction

The numerous virtual learning environments experienced during the pandemic in the academic field highlight the need for a theoretical pragmatic approach that considers the centrality of the pedagogical experience and its personal and social consequences [1]. The possibility of analysing the pedagogical experiences diffused in academic environments in relation to contemporary societies invites us to put the political dimensions of higher education at the center of the analysis [2, 3]. Recently, the problem of education in the formation of democratic and more just societies was raised by M. Nussbaum [4]. The philosopher supports the importance of arousing public emotions in young people by proposing the thesis that public emotions shape the democratic form of societies. Grafting Nussbaum's proposal into a sociological-pragmatic framework [5], the contribution proposes a reflection on teaching practices that in an online university could arouse public emotions. The methodology used is that of action-research [6, 7, 8]. The study is divided into two phases. The first is reserved to the exploration of the sociological-pragmatic relevance of Nussbaum's approach to public emotions. The second to the analysis of an experimental teaching practice: the intensive semi-inpresence week in which the author of the research was also a teacher.

## 2 The sociological relevance of Nussbaum's approach to political emotions

Moving away from a substantialist conception of political emotions present for example in Comte and deepening a pragmatic conception [9], Nussbaum investigates public emotions considering them a form of life necessary rather than to maintain the democratic order to innovate it. The fulcrum of her approach is on the one hand the need to make people participate, to make them feel protagonists of their political community, on the other the awareness that the chances of participation in public life are different for different citizens. Political emotions, in Nussbaum's conception, are social sentiments [10, 11] that promote, in the members of a political community, the desire-action to perceive their uniqueness not in opposition but in harmony, in agreement with other political communities, in a broader effort of discovery-enhancement of the political community as a human community.

Nussabaum's approach, if applied to academic training in a semi-presential situation, highlights the possibility of the virtual and the presential didactic environment to promote a link between educational tools, including digital ones, and emotions [12], it raises the theme of how to arouse not only community feelings of solidarity among students and teachers but universal feelings linked to the sharing of the same human condition.

### 3 An experimental teaching practice: the semi-in-presence intensive week

Why could a university e-learning environment be particularly consistent with Nussbaum's proposal?

The analysis of a teaching practice experimented at the eCampus online University in 2019: the intensive semi-in-presence week, a mixed teaching practice, that involves, in two cycles, 40 students, shows the construction between teacher and students of a common emotional world full of memories of the future. The researcher-teacher of the course of Sociology of Economic Processes reveals the birth, during the online phase, of a personal historical relationship between teacher and students based on the common discovery of the hermeneutic sense of knowledge, on the possibility to understand their reciprocal participation, through the knowledge, to a bigger common world. Reciprocal attention and care and compassion are the emotions most widely manifested and recorded in this phase, they seem correlated to the experimentation with digital didactic tools. They occur in 30 out of 36 interventions and they seem democratic emotions since they allow to discover the similarity between individuals, because they cure social resentment by bringing out feelings of similarity and mutual respect. Instead, during the phase in presence, the teacher notes the activation of a meta-knowledge based on the desire of students to share, within the class, future projects, concerning their future active life. In the presentations of the contents of the course to the whole class in presence there is the research for a human reciprocal recognition, in the students' presentations the social significance of projects occurs in 80% of cases. The practical-discursive analysis of the students' interventions reveals the recurrence of a transformative tension, the desire to get involved; the hope for the future and trust in oneself and in others is the emotion that occurs in 27 out of 30 interventions and which nourishes the teacher's commitment and didactic action in an atmosphere of reciprocity. In such a situation, the semi-in presence didactic environment is transformed into a didactic and social laboratory which promotes technological experimentation but also which prepares the discovery-demonstration of the human value of each participant, which allows, in the teacher and in the students, a thought that becomes free for the other.

Within the limits of this case study, an attentive educational scheme emerges. This scheme has its fundamental points in the possibility of the teacher to engage in the *capability enhancing of students*, in its ability to guide students in the discovery of their future, in the desire and the commitment for a more human society.

- Ramella, F., Rostan, M.: Universi DAD: Gli accademici italiani e la didattica a distanza durante l'emergenza Covid-19, in «Il Mulino», n. 1, 2020.
- 2. Habermas, J.: L'Università nella democrazia, De Donato, Bari, (1967).
- McCormick J.P.: Weber, Habermas and Transformations of the European State: Constitutional, Social and Supranational Democracy, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, (2009).
- Nussbaum, M.: Emozioni politiche. Perché l'amore conta per la giustizia, Bologna, Il Mulino, (2014).
- Lipman, M.: Thinking in education (1st ed.), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, (2003).
- Lipari, D., Scaratti, G.: Comunità di pratica. Formazione. I metodi; Quaglino, G.P., Eds., Raffaello Cortina Editore, Milano, pp. 207-232, (2014).
- 7. McAteer, M.: Action Research in Education, Sage, London, (2013).
- 8. Marani G.: La ricerca-azione. Una prospettiva deweyana, Franco Angeli, Milano, (2013).
- 9. Mead, H.: Mente, sé e società, Firenze, Giunti Editore, (2010).
- Dreon, R., Santarelli, M.: Emozioni naturalmente culturali. Un recupero dell'eredità pragmatista. Società Mutamento Politica, 12 (24), pp. 61-72, (2021).
- Bruni, L.: Costruite perché scoperte insieme. Sul carattere sociale delle emozioni. Società Mutamento Politica, 12 (24), pp. 117-128, (2021).
- Marchand, G. C., & Gutierrez, A. P.: The role of emotion in the learning process: Comparisons between online and face-to-face learning settings, «The Internet and Higher Education», 15(3), 150-160, (2011).

### eLearning,

### technology as a factor in enhancing the person in higher education and in the world of work

Zanuccoli Cristiana<sup>[0000-0002-4114-118X]</sup>

cristiana.zanuccoli@gmail.com

Università degli studi eCampus via Isimbardi, 10- 22060 Novedrate (CO)

### 1 The context

The entrenchment of the COVID-19 pandemic in the daily lives of billions of people around the world has had a profound impact on the way in which activities involving human-machine interactions are carried out, requiring rethinking and careful preliminary planning of individual processes.

Studies have shown that an effective online transition requires the integration of syn-chronous and asynchronous tools into a seamless online distribution, overcoming bar-riers to access to technology, improving online skills for students and teachers, the op-timal management of privacy and confidentiality policies. In the context of these stud-ies, some answers emerged for a framework of best practices of online education: 1) technological support for teachers and students, in addition to the careful development of online teaching materials 2) design of blended learning paths, which combine the online experience to that of physical spaces, in preparation for the post-covid period 3) offering specific training on educational technologies and their effective use, for both teachers and students 4) enabling a strong sense of connection among students through their active participation in groups / communities. The real challenge, cross to these issues, however, remains that of using the technological and innovative potential of digitalisation in order to always and in any case enhance people.

### 2 Use case

Starting from the importance of personal enhancement, even in a digital environment, this contribution illustrates how the digitization of the onboarding processes of new graduates within a complex organization can respond to the training needs related to hard skills, but at the same time, to enable a path of insertion of young people in a completely new organizational, cultural, social and productive context, through the articulated and creative use of the technical capabilities that the various company tools offer, for the purpose of enhancing soft skills. The use case refers to the It department of Intesasanpaolo, and in particular to the Domain Investimenti, which in the last 3

years has hired 13 recent graduates and is ready to hire another 199 in the next 50 months. Aware of the importance of socialization processes within organizations, the classic training courses were integrated with:

- Sessions to enable mutual knowledge between newly hired people

- Meetings to set up a community for discussion and knowledge sharing

- Increase in the number and form of surveys administered, structured or not, to detect self-confidence on the objectives assigned, the level of autonomy achieved and any pain points on one's insertion / orientation

- Identification of "Angels" figures (tutor) who had the purpose of driving new hires on practical matters, logistical issues, social life and unwritten rules of the organization

- Significant use of feedback, emoticons during the Group webboards, distance tutoring with "world caffee practice", shared information repositories (via Teams).

The educational background of the students, all from recent university courses, facilitated a digital and innovative approach, participating in the first person in the transformation of consolidated modus operandi. A newcomer's time to productivity is not necessarily one trajectory of learning, but a combination of multiple domain (and company) specific knowledge.Virtual onboarding of employees is destined for an increasingly intensive use and for this reason it is important that organizations understand the need to implement innovative tools and techniques, but at the same time also to enhance the aspects of socialization and mutual knowledge, activating a process of multiplying through the new hires themselves, who from users become builders of improvement.

### **3** Statistics

To date, only 1 girl has resigned, 7 boys occupy a role of responsibility, 2 have become Tutors for new hires and 5 have brought significant improvements to the internal onboarding processes. The following Table 1 gives a summary.

| id | Name | City    | Gender | Contractu<br>al status<br>to date | Responsab<br>ility role | Tutor/''Angel''<br>for following<br>new hires | Reviewer<br>processes&tool<br>for onboarding |
|----|------|---------|--------|-----------------------------------|-------------------------|---|--|
| 1  | DS   | Bergamo | F      | Employee                          | Yes                     |   |  |
| 2  | DFS  | Bologna | F      | Employee                          |                         |   | Yes  |
| 3  | GAR  | Bologna | F      | Employee                          |                         | Yes   | Yes  |
| 4  | ML   | Padova  | F      | Discharged                        |                         |   |  |
| 5  | BC   | Torino  | М      | Employee                          |                         |   |  |
| 6  | CN   | Bologna | М      | Employee                          | Yes                     |   | Yes  |
| 7  | DN   | Padova  | М      | Employee                          |                         |   |  |
| 8  | GP   | Bologna | М      | Employee                          | Yes                     |   | Yes  |
| 9  | KV   | Bologna | М      | Employee                          |                         |   | yes  |
| 10 | SM   | Milano  | М      | Employee                          | Yes                     |   |  |
| 11 | PS   | Milano  | F      | Employee                          | Yes                     | Yes   |  |
| 12 | BS   | Milano  | М      | Employee                          | Yes                     |   |  |
| 13 | LR   | Milano  | М      | Employee                          | Yes                     |   |  |

Table 1. Current roles and active involvement of the 13 new hires

- Nacheva, R., & Jansone, A. (2021): Multi-layered Higher Education E-Learning Framework. Baltic Journal of Modern Computing, 9(3), 345-362.
- Turnbull, D., Chugh, R., & Luck, J. (2021): Transitioning to E-Learning during the COVID-19 pandemic: How have Higher Education Institutions responded to the challenge. Education and Information Technologies, 26(5), 6401-6419.
- Fermín-González, M. (2019): Research on virtual education, inclusion, and diversity: A systematic review of scientific publications (2007–2017). International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning, 20(5), 146-167.
- 4. Pavlina, K. (2020): Assessing best practices for the virtual onboarding of new hires in the technology industry. Pepperdine University.
- Varshney, D. (2022). Understanding Virtual Employee Onboarding (VEO): The New Normal and beyond. Emirati Journal of Business, Economics and Social Studies.
- 6. Nikolaou, I. (2021). What is the Role of Technology in Recruitment and Selection. The Spanish journal of psychology, 24.
- 7. Karlsson, N., & Ebers, L. (2022). Onboarding employees in a fast-growing and knowledgeintensive firm.
- Chong, J. X., Beenen, G., Gagné, M., & Dunlop, P. D. (2021). Satisfying newcomers' needs: The role of socialization tactics and supervisor autonomy support. Journal of Business and Psychology, 36(2), 315-331.

## Special Track 11

# Empowering soft skills and digital competencies in higher education

Organizers:

Organizers Elif Gulbay, University of Palermo Leonarda Longo, University of Palermo Valeria Di Martino, University of Palermo Federica Martino, University of Palermo Ylenia Falzone, University of Palermo Burcu Sezginsoy Seker, University of Balikesir Umit Izgi Onbasili, University of Mersin

### University Teachers' Technology Acceptance and Mobile Education

Flavia Santoianni 1[0000-0003-3382-5765] and Alessandro Ciasullo 2[0000-0001-6271-2554]

<sup>12</sup>University of Naples Federico II, Naples, Italy bes@unina.it

### **1** Digital University Education

#### 1.1 21<sup>st</sup> Century Skills and Digital Skills

The intertwining between education and technology has led to a groundbreaking rethinking of the role of university education to prepare students to their future integration in the 21st century knowledge society, rooted in networked teaching, learning, and working environments, and in technological contexts, requiring embedded multimedia digital skills and literacy. Knowledge development is nowadays narrowly related to the enhancement of 21<sup>st</sup> century skills – as creativity, problem solving, critical thinking, flexibility, and self-regulation [1], but also interaction, participation, and teamwork [2] [3] – in agreement with 21<sup>st</sup> century *digital* skills. This is because digital literacy is no more seen only in its technical use as a competence to effectively cope with digital resources and devices, but instead it is today considered as the entanglement of technological, cognitive, and emotional aspects. The core idea of 21<sup>st</sup> century skills as investing both learning, literacy, and life fields meets digital skills. The shared overlapping between the two domains – general and digital skills – has been re-designed through the co-creation of two emerging and interactive research areas - core skills and contextual skills [4]. Since there is a basic common significance ground between general and digital 21<sup>st</sup> century skills, the aim of university education to integrate students in the current and evolving knowledge society cannot avoid focusing on their continuous overlapping, and the linked consequence is that university digital education has gained a leading role in educational research. The re-designing of teaching practices for the strengthening of digital skills is becoming a key point of discussion [5].

#### 1.2 21<sup>st</sup> Century Teachers' Digital Skills

In the last years, The European Commission boosted a developing Digital Education Action Plan [6] [7], which has been recently renewed as a policy initiative for 2021-2027. The original aim was to improve into educational contexts the use of digital technology for teaching and learning by enhancing teachers' digital skills. Nowadays, the Digital Education Action Plan has been enriched of two priority areas, respectively concerning the development of a high-performing digital education ecosystem, with digitally competent and confident teachers managing user-friendly digital learning content, and the enhancing of advanced digital skills and digital literacy for the digital

transformation, which requires specific competences in digital studies. The teaching approach towards educational technology has been classified in different educational aspects, concerning first the basic skills involved in access to technology and then the competencies related to the use of educational software and gamification in classroom, by computer assisted learning. Technology-related knowledge, skills, and attitudes of teachers, named KSA, also regard online learning and the design of Open Educational Resources (OERs), Learning Management Systems (LMS), and Massive Open Online Courses (MOOCs) [8]. A Synthesis of Qualitative Evidence (SQD) model has been introduced to explain how technology is embedded in every kind of education [9]. Teachers' motivation and confidence with educational technology is to be really supported [10] through training and professional development because technology in education is considered as a means rather than as an end [11]. Any process of educational change needs a significant rethinking of teachers' practice and behaviors, which – if applied to technology – may widely range from rejection to adoption.

### 2 Digital University Teachers

### 2.1 University Teachers' Technology Acceptance

The relation between education and technology has been discussed because technology - and, particularly, mobile technology [12] and virtual environments [13] - may negatively affect users' attention and can be related to disorientation and loneliness phenomena, so influencing teachers' openness or closure to technology, and their educational approaches. To explore the levels of teachers' technology acceptance in a university context, this research has been carried out with a volunteer sample of 56 university professors from the Department of Humanities of the University Federico II of Naples (25 men and 31 women aged between 34 and 69 years). A questionnaire of 6 items has been administered to the volunteer sample. Questions were about the importance of co-creating digital learning communities; if to encourage formal or informal digital study; if it's appropriate to let students have digital chats on learning materials without the online teachers' presence; how to respect students' personal differences; if students can be allowed to modify their own digital learning environment, co-creating flexible didactic interactions; how digital content should be shaped, provided, and made available. A sentiment analysis has been added to the questionnaire. Results have been analyzed and discussed. Results show that many university professors have a contrary attitude towards educational technology and has low levels of acceptance of the use of technology in education.

### 2.2 iMILK Innovative Mobile Interactive Learning and Knowledge

To encourage and enhance university teachers' technology acceptance, this research suggests carrying on a Learning Management System project to co-create a mobile educational path for university digital education. iMILK Innovative Mobile Interactive Learning and Knowledge [14] is introduced here to co-create a Learning Management System for university mobile education.

- National Research Council: Education for Life and Work: Developing Transferable Knowledge and Skills in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century. The National Academies Press, Washington (2012).
- Vincent-Layton, K.: Mobile Learning and Engagement: Designing Effective Mobile Lessons. In: Zhang, Y., Cristol, D. (eds.) HANDBOOK OF MOBILE TEACHING AND LEARNING, pp. 241-256. Springer, Singapore (2019).
- Dede, C., Grotzer, T.A., Kamarainen, A., Metcalf, S.: EcoXPT: Designing for Deeper Learning through Experimentation in an Immersive Virtual Ecosystem. Journal of Educational Technology & Society 20(4), 166-78 (2017).
- van Laar, E., van Deursen, A., van Dijk, J., de Haan, J.: The Relation between 21st Century Skills and Digital Skills: A Systematic Literature Review. Computers in Human Behavior 72, 577-588 (2017).
- Boude Figueredo, O.R., Jimenez Villamizar, J.A.: Framework for Design of Mobile Learning Strategies. In: Zhang, Y., Cristol, D. (eds.) HANDBOOK OF MOBILE TEACHING AND LEARNING, pp. 257-272. Springer, Singapore (2019).
- European Commission: Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions on the Digital Education Action Plan 2018 Homepage, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52018DC0022&from=EN, last accessed 2022/07/20.
- European Commission: Digital Economy and Society Index 2019 Homepage, https://digitalstrategy.ec.europa.eu/en/policies/desi-integration-technology-enterprises, last accessed 2022/07/20.
- Seufert, S., Guggemos, J., Sailer, M.: Technology-Related Knowledge, Skills, and Attitudes of Pre- and In- Service Teachers: The Current Situation and Emerging Trends. Computers in Human Behavior 115, 106552 (2021).
- Tondeur, J., van Braak, J., Sang, G., Voogt, J.M., Fisser, P., Ottenbreit-Leftwich, A.: Preparing Pre-Service Teachers to Integrate Technology in Education: A Synthesis of Qualitative Evidence. Computers & Education 59(1), 134-144 (2012).
- Beardsley, M., Albó, L., Aragón, P., Hernández-Leo, D.: Emergency Education Effects on Teacher Abilities and Motivation to Use Digital Technologies. British Journal of Educational Technology 52, 1455-1477 (2021).
- Miniawi, H.E., Brenjekjy, A.H.: Educational Technology, Potentials, Expectations and Challenges. Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences 174, 1474-1480 (2015).
- Santoianni, F.: Educational Design of Mobile Learning Environments. In: Santoianni, F., Petrucco, C., Ciasullo, A., Agostini, D. TEACHING AND MOBILE LEARNING. INTERACTIVE EDUCATIONAL DESIGN, pp. 50-72. Taylor & Francis, CRC Press, Boca Raton (2021).
- Ciasullo, A.: A Bioeducational Approach to Virtual Learning Environments. In: Panconesi, G., Guida, M. (eds.) HANDBOOK OF RESEARCH ON TEACHING WITH VIRTUAL ENVIRONMENTS AND AI, pp. 189-209. IGI Global, Pennsylvania (2021).
- Santoianni, F.: iMILK Innovative Mobile Interactive Learning and Knowledge. Co-creating a Learning Management System for University Mobile Education. RTH Research Trends in Humanities 9, 66-87 (2020).

### Observing the effectiveness of a distance remedial course for the key-competences to enroll in university: the case of PER.S.E.O

Rita Cersosimo [0000-0002-2280-6350], Giulia Lombardi [0000-0002-9990-6376], Ruggero Pagnan [0000-0002-2816-933X] and Maria Laura Torrente [0000-0001-8781-9278] 1

<sup>1</sup> Università di Genova, Via Balbi 5, 16126 Genova, Italy

### 1 Introduction

In this paper we intend to observe the effectiveness of a remedial course for the fulfilment of the educational lacks (O.F.A) accrued by those freshmen who did not pass the entrance test of the University of Genoa. We offer a quantitative and qualitative analysis of scores obtained by students before and after the training intervention and of their answers to a final evaluation questionnaire.

The topic is of a great interest in the field of higher education, particularly in relation to the design and administration of remedial courses in the basic skills of literacy and mathematical literacy [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6]. In 2019 the University of Genoa's Teaching Commission began to work in the direction suggested by the Skills Agenda for Europe [7] and the OECD Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) [8], reflecting on how to assess the initial knowledge required of newly enrolled students and on the allocation and fulfilment of any Additional Educational Lacks (O.F.A.) that they may have accrued.

### 2 The TE.L.E.MA.CO test

In the A.Y. 2020/2021, the TE.L.E.MA.CO test (TEst di Logica E MAtematica e COmprensione testuale), which is ideally placed in the continuum traced by the INVALSI test [9] and the TECO-T test [10] in the assessment of basic skills, was administered to all freshmen enrolled in open access courses (except for Humanities, History, Conservation of Cultural Heritage, Modern Languages and Cultures) at the University of Genoa. The TE.L.E.MA.CO test consisted of 30 multiple choice questions aimed at testing the transversal skills of text comprehension and knowledge of the Italian language (literacy), and logical reasoning skills (mathematical literacy), plus an extension consisting of 15 specific questions for the access to courses in the scientific-technological area. Students who had not passed one or more sections of the test or had not taken it in any of the three available sessions, had some O.F.A. to be filled through a PERcorso di Supporto per Eventuali O.F.A. (PER.S.E.O), a remedial course provided entirely by distance learning and self-study material [11].

### **3** The remedial course PER.S.E.O

PER.S.E.O. included two courses focusing on literacy and mathematical competences respectively, whose remediation was checked at the end by a new test (TE.S.E.O). PER.S.E.O was an asynchronous online course delivered via Aulaweb, the Moodle-based e-learning platform provided by the University of Genoa.

The part of PER.S.E.O focusing on literacy consisted of three sections covering the cognitive and linguistic processes that are activated before, during and after reading a text, including exercises to improve reading skills and to introduce students to the main features of texts.

The part focusing on mathematical skills, on the other hand, is aimed at ensuring that students can solve problems involving basic algebraic knowledge, simple expressions and factor decompositions; it also covers Cartesian geometry and the elementary properties of geometric figures in the plane, strategies for interpreting graphs and functions and for deriving the data needed to calculate a probability from the description of a situation. Candidates' problem-solving skills are reinforced through critical and guided analysis of the information provided in the proposed texts.

The time gap between the first test (TE.L.E.MA.CO) and the remedial test (TE.S.E.O) ranged from 40 to 90 days, depending on whether students enrolled in the first or last session of TE.S.E.O. [12].

### 4 The effectiveness of the PER.S.E.O course

In order to observe the extent to which PER.S.E.O. was effective in remediating the basic literacy and mathematical literacy skills of students with educational lacks, we made an average comparison between the scores of the target population in the TE.L.E.MA.CO and TE.S.E.O test, applying a paired t-test. The quantitative and qualitative data were synthesized by reports downloaded from the platform on which students sustained the tests; they were then statistically analyzed by means of combined electronic sheets, so as to maintain the student-by-student data correspondence before and after the remedial course. We obtained a value of 1 for both remedial courses and p-values of  $3*10^{-101}$  for Text Comprehension and  $3*10^{-101}$  for Basic Mathematics. Therefore, the course appears to be an effective aid for students to pass the remedial test.

In order to assess students' satisfaction in attending the online remedial course, we also designed a questionnaire along the lines of the one designed by Bolliger and Martindale [13, 14]. Students could rate PERSEO by assigning a grade from 1 to 5 to several specific aspects related to their learning experience, where a grade greater than or equal to 3 was interpreted as an expression of clear satisfaction. Overall, 80% of the students e pressed a clear satisfaction with their experience of using PER.S.E.O., while the percentage of students who rated the course negatively was around 6%.

### 5 Conclusions

The analysis of data extrapolated from the two tests and those derived from the final satisfaction questionnaire, allow us to consider our online remedial course PER.S.E.O. as a potentially repeatable model in universities where a compulsory test is required to verify students' initial knowledge.

- Bean, J. P.: Dropouts and turnover: The synthesis and test of a causal model of student attrition. Research in Higher Education, 12(2), 155–187 (1980).
- Magolda, M., & Astin, A.: What Matters in College: Four Critical Years Revisited. Educational Researcher, 22 (1993).
- 3. Martinez, P.: Raising Achievement: A Guide to Successful Strategies (2000).
- Rizzo O. G.: Online remedial courses for missing mathematics credits in scientific degree programme: are they effective? Quaderni di ricerca in Didattica, Numero speciale n.8.G.R.I.M. (Dipartimento di Matematica e Informatica, University of Palermo, Italy), 79-86 (2020).
- Tierney W.G. & Sablan J. R.: Completing College: Rethinking Institutional Action, The Journal of Higher Education, 85(2), 280-282 (2014).
- 6. Unesco. Ripensare l'educazione: verso un bene comune globale? (2019).
- Commissione Europea: COMUNICAZIONE Un'agenda per le competenze per l'Europa paper la competitività sostenibile, l'equità sociale e la resilienza (2020).
- 8. OECD: PISA for Development Assessment and Analytical Framework (2018).
- 9. INVALSI: Quadro di Riferimento delle prove INVALSI (2018).
- Ciolfi, A., Sabella, M., Di Benedetto, A., Infurna, M. R., Rumiati, R., & Checchi, D.: Il progetto TECO. Prime riflessioni sui risultati e direzioni future. Interventi alla Tavola Rotonda GEO (30 giugno 2017). In M. Michielini, ed., Riflessioni sull'innovazione didattica universitaria, Udine: Forum, pp. 149–156 (2018).
- Trentin, G.: Didattica con e nella rete. Dall'emergenza all'uso ordinario. FrancoAngeli. Milano (2020).
- 12. Cersosimo, R., Lombardi, G., Pagnan, R., Torrente, M.L.: PER.S.E.O.: analisi dell'efficacia di un percorso in autoformazione per l'assolvimento degli Obblighi Formativi Aggiuntivi, Quaderni del GLIA, 1 (forthcoming).
- Bolliger, D., & Martindale, T.: Key Factors for Determining Student Satisfaction in Online Courses. International Journal on E-Learning, 3, 61–67 (2004).
- 14. Bolliger, D. U., & Erichsen, E. A.: Student Satisfaction with Blended and Online Courses Based on Personality Type / Niveau de satisfaction des étudiants dans les cours hybrides et en ligne basé sur le type de personnalité. Canadian Journal of Learning and Technology / La Revue Canadienne de l'apprentissage et de La Technologie, 39(1), (2012).

### The training potential of collaborative writing mediated by digital technology in times of pandemic: analysis of best practices

Giuseppe Liverano [0000-0003-1011-0054]

University of Bari "Aldo Moro" giuseppe.liverano@uniba.it

Today's school is called upon to support students toward the formation of a conscious identity and a sense of responsible citizenship through the development of key competencies for lifelong learning. For these reasons, it must develop new pedagogical models and new teaching tools in order to succeed in meeting the ever-changing needs of students. Information and communication technologies, in this sense, represent useful resources to focus attention on the learning of each individual learner understood as a dynamic and relational process of shared and participatory meaning-making, [1] in which there is, precisely, sharing of knowledge and skills, by all actors [2]. For these reasons, cooperative modes of knowledge construction, including through ICTs, must find fertile ground in different school contexts, as, due to their pedagogical potential, they foster the elaboration of educational content [3] and the development of useful skills for future citizens [4]. Among the many cooperative modes of knowledge construction mediated by digital technologies, collaborative writing with apps represents an active and shared participation activity that is finding increasing application, both in school and informal educational settings, as it holds a yet-to-be-explored formative and learning potential in terms of life skills. In this approach, each pupil usually works in small groups sharing a learning resource and experiencing the skills and competencies that every other pupil in the group possesses. Each pupil's knowledge, therefore, becomes an exchange asset and, at the same time, a common asset. The logic is the same as that of the many experiences of collaborative online work (how can we not think of Wikipedia). From an epistemological point of view, collaborative writing mediated by digital technologies represents a social challenge, which assumes the paradigm of social learning and is based on Vygotsky's socio-cutural theories, according to which cognitive activity and knowledge construction are socially mediated [5], but also on Celestin Freinet's collective writing experiences, through which the French pedagogue helped children explore its pedagogical potential. As a tool for liberation and openness to the world [6] as the French pedagogue had been able to verify. A collaborative writing experience with apps takes the form of a hybrid learning space, in line with the latest perspectives in educational theory on learning in mixed spaces [7] and with the Trialogic Learning Approach [8] according to which technologies should be used by students not as tools to store information, but as real learning environments in a mutual influence approach, because in this way they are useful to activate the right motivation

to develop skills [9] and produce cognitive artifacts. It represents a "different" way of expressing the learning needs that come from pupils with different cultures. The paper aims to reflect on the formative value of collaborative writing through apps and to analyze some online proposals at school during the pandemic period, when threats to emotional and social stability young people come from multiple directions. The aim is to analyze the learning outcomes of cognitive, character and personality skills and to understand what relationship may exist between emergent period, computer-mediated collaborative writing and skill development. Best practices selected have indeed highlighted the important social and cognitive function of computer-mediated collaborative writing in pandemic times [ex. 10]. In some cases, collaborative writing highlighted the existence of multiple modes of interaction that greatly complicate collaboration [11], but that if managed with shared rules through scripts and without the obligation to follow scripts imposed by teachers can improve "agency" in students [12].

- Rojprasert S., Neanchaleay J., Boonlue S., Sinlarat, P.: Designing and implementing constructionist learning in a blended advertising photography course. In "Technol. Enhanc. Learn.". Vol. 12, 20–37, (2020).
- Van Leeuwen A., Janssen J.: A systematic review of teacher guidance during collaborative learning in primary and secondary education. In Educ. Res. Rev", vol. 27, 71-89, (2019).
- Zhang S., Wen Y., Liu Q.: Exploring student teachers? Social knowledge construction behaviors and collective agency in an online collaborative learning environment. Interact. Learn. Environ,1–13, (2019).
- Sansone N., Cesareni D., Ligorio M. B., Bortolotti I., Buglass S.: Teaching technologymediated collaborative learning for trainee teachers. In Technology, Pedagogy and Education, 28:3, 381-394, (2019).
- Vygotskij L.: The genesis of mental functions. In J. V. Wertsch (a cura di), The Concept of Activity in Soviet Psychology (pp. 144-188), Sharpe, Armonk, (1981).
- 6. Freinet C.: Pour l'école du peuple: Guide pratique pour l'organisation matérielle, technique et pédagogique de l'ecole populaire, François Maspéro. Paris, (1969).
- 7. Ellis, R.A., Goodyear, P.: Models of learning space: Integrating research on space, place and learning in higher education. Rev. Educ., 4, 149-191, (2016).
- Paavola S., Engeström R., Hakkarainen K.: The Trialogical Approach as a New Form of Mediation. In A. Moen A., A. I. Mørch, S. Paavola (a cura di). Collaborative Knowledge Creation: Practices, Tools, Concepts, Sense Publishers, Rotterdam, (2012).
- Cesareni, D., Ligorio, M. B., Sansone, N.: Fare e collaborare: l'approccio trialogico nella didattica, FrancoAngeli, Milano, (2018).
- Li, M.: Computer-Mediated Collaborative Writing. In: Researching and Teaching Second Language Writing in the Digital Age. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham., (2021).
- Ludvigsen, S., Law, N., Rose, CP and Stahl, G.: Mass collaboration frameworks, adaptive scripts, complex systems theory, and collaborative writing. International journal of computer-supported collaborative learning, 12 (2), 127-131, (2017).
- Heinonen, K., De Grez, N., Hämäläinen, R., De Wever, B. and van der Meijs, S.: Scripting as a pedagogical method to guide collaborative writing: reflections of university students. Research and practice in technology-enhanced learning, 15 (1), 1-20, (2020).

### Development of Communication Skills Using Silent Video Task

Simona Gorčáková1 and Klára Velmovská1

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Mathematics, Physics and Informatics, Comenius University, Mlynská dolina F1, 842 48 Bratislava, Slovakia gorcakova@fmph.uniba.sk

### 1 Introduction

During the pre-service physics teacher education, emphasis must be placed on the development of all the competencies necessary for his profession [1]. Given that the development of each student's communication skills is time-consuming, it is necessary to find a way to effect this development.

It turns out that a silent video task could be a suitable means. A silent video is a video sequence that normally lasts one to two minutes, shows some physical phenomenon, trial or experiment whereby student's task is to create and record a voice-over to this video sequence. [2]

The silent video is also used by teachers at Ludwig Maximilian University in Munich as a type of task in the pre-service physics teacher education. [3] Based on their work and our previous experience and the results of the silent video research, we believe that such a task is providing us with space for the development of communication skills in the education. In this contribution, research aimed at developing these skills is presented together with partial results, given that the research is still ongoing.

### 2 Research

#### 2.1 Research question

As it is important to us to find a way to develop key teacher competencies even better, especially communication skills, the research question is asked: Can a silent video task help to develop the communication skills of pre-service physics teachers?

#### 2.2 Hypotheses

The first step in developing students' communication skills is to find out the relationship between knowledge and success in commenting on silent video. The first hypothesis is formulated:

H1: Students with a higher level of physical knowledge will achieve a better rating per comment than students with a lower level of physical knowledge.

It is suggested by Schweinberger and colleagues [3] that the presentation skills of pre-service teachers could be developed using a silent video task. Presentation skills are closely related to communication skills, which according to many authors [4 - 8] are a necessary competence that a future teacher should have. Therefore, it is expected that the communication skills could be developed by using silent video in their education. Therefore, the following hypothesis is established:

H2: If the silent video tasks are implemented in the education of pre-service physics teachers, their communication skills will be improved.

#### 2.3 Methods and the research sample

Since we want to verify the hypothesis that the communication skills of pre-service teachers are developed using silent video task, it need to be implemented in their education. The experimental method will be practiced [9] and it will take part of one semester at the subject aimed at school experiments. The first step is to determine the baseline composed of two-part pretest. At first, the test focused on students' physics knowledge will be taken. As the next part the presentation of selected physics experiment will be recorded by each student.

Students' communication skills will be developed by gradually implementing five silent video tasks into their education. The voice-overs for the first silent video will be used to verify hypothesis H1. For this the correlation between the knowledge of physics and the success in creating a voice-over to the silent video will be determined. Then before creation of another voice-overs the strategy of commenting on the silent video will be progressively introduced to the pre-service teachers. After creating each comment, students will be provided with feedback on their voice-overs. After the experimental work, a posttest will be performed, which will also consist of two same parts – test focused on knowledge of physics and the same experiment as at the beginning of the semester. As for control group, the pretest at the beginning of semester and a posttest at the end will be carried out. Students of the control group will take part at the course in the same way as those of the experimental group, except for the implementation of activities with silent video. To verify hypothesis H2, the average values of the shift in terms of knowledge and success in presenting the experiment of the experimental group students will be compared with the control group students.

As a research sample, students of physics teachers who were attending the subject School Experiments in Physics in the winter semester of the academic year 2021/2022 were chosen. Due to the low number of students in the class, the students who will attend this course a year later were chosen as a control group. In the contribution, we will present the partial results we have obtained so far.

### Acknowlegments

This contrubution was elaborated with the support of the projects KEGA no. 013UK-4-2021 Methodical materials focused on the systematic development of critical thinking and UK/81/2022.

- 1. OECD. Creating Effective Teaching and Learning Environments: First Results from TALIS. OECD Publishing, Paris (2009).
- Gorčáková, S., Velmovská, K. Oral examinations of the student during distance physics education. In DIDFYZ 2021, p. 1-6. AIP Publishing, Melville (2022).
- 4. Demkanin, P. Some issues we learned during distance education in scaffolding within preservice physics teachers' training. In DIDFYZ 2021, p. 1-8. AIP Publishing, Melville (2022).
- Tingting, L., Haibin, S. Key Competencies of Physics Teachers. In: Higher Education Studies; Vol. 11, No. 1; p. 28 – 33. (2021).
- 6. Kyriacou, CH. Essential Teaching Skills. 3rd edn. Nelson Thornes Ltd, Cheltenham (2007).
- Manassero-Mas, M.A., Vázquez–Alonso, Á. Science Education as Thinking: The Beauty of Scientific Thinking and Critical Thinking. In Electronic Proceedings of the ESERA 2019 Conference. Part [7/7]. p. 816 – 825 ALMA MATER STUDIORUM – University of Bologna, Bologna (2020).
- Zhu, Ch., Wang, D. Key competencies and characteristics for innovative teaching among secondary school teachers: a mixed-methods research. In Asia Pacific Education Review, Vol. 15, No. 2, p. 299 – 311. (2014).
- Gavora, P. Výskumné metódy v pedagogike. 1st edn Comenius University, Bratislava (1997).

### Self-Reflection and Digital Wisdom Development of Future Teachers

Alessandra La Marca<sup>1</sup> [0000-0003-3758-7055] and Elif Gulbay<sup>2</sup>[0000-0003-1876-4255] and Ylenia Falzone<sup>3</sup> [0000-0002-0945-109X]

> <sup>1</sup> University of Palermo, alessandra.lamarca@unipa.it <sup>2</sup> University of Palermo, elif.gulbay@unipa.it <sup>3</sup> University of Palermo, ylenia.falzone@unipa.it

### 1 Introduction

Given the increasingly digital nature of our societies, an educational planning becomes essential that intends to develop the technological competence linked to the concepts of digital wisdom and digital citizenship [1]. Increased knowledge in the era of globalization in the 21st century has resulted in the activities of daily life including in the world of education cannot be separated from the development of information technology [2]. As a result, today's world requires students to have skills, knowledge and abilities in technology, media and information, learning and innovation skills as well as life and career skills [3]. At the same time, the education in this era is expected to obtain graduates who are competent in terms of utilizing digital technologies but also competent in literacy, critical thinking, problem solving, communication, collaboration, and have good character quality [4]. The increasing online risks raise ethical questions about how to use digital technologies in a critical, competent and responsible way with users required to engage in processes of moral decision-making online, from observing copyright laws to navigating forms of incivility on social media platforms [5,6]. Being digitally wise allows today's students not only to strengthen their natural abilities through existing technologies, but also to respond appropriately to learning networks that are increasingly complex [7]. Therefore, it is important, teachers and educators to continually update and expand their professional knowledge base and to improve or revise their practices so as to meet the learning needs of their increasingly diverse students [8].

### 2 Methods

The research has been conducted during the academic year 2021-2022 with the participation of 1173 teacher trainees enrolled in the Primary Education Degree Program of the University of Palermo. The trainees carried out their activities through digital tools. Brown and Green's (2006) Wisdom Development Scale tool [9] was used to measure eight factors of wisdom development - across 79 seven-point Likert-type scale items i.e. level of self-knowledge, emotion management, selflessness, judgment, inspirational commitment, knowledge of life, life skills and a willingness to learn. In addition, some items were selected from the SELFIE for Teachers tool to help student teachers to review and get feedback on how they are currently using digital tools and technologies for their future their work.

- 1. Fabbri, M.: Preadolescenti onlife: educare alla cittadinanza digitale. MeTis-Mondi educativi. Temi indagini suggestioni 10(1), 139-161 (2020).
- Ridho, S., Wardani, S., Saptono, S.: Development of local wisdom digital books to improve critical thinking skills through problem based learning. Journal of Innovative Science Education, 10(1), 1-7 (2021).
- 3. Shamir-Inbal, T., Blau, I.: Developing digital wisdom by students and teachers: The impact of integrating tablet computers on learning and pedagogy in an elementary school. Journal of Educational Computing Research 54(7), 967-996 (2016).
- Polizzi, G., Harrison, T.: Wisdom in the digital age: a conceptual and practical framework for understanding and cultivating cyber-wisdom. Ethics and Information Technology, 24(1), 1-16 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10676-022-09640-3.
- Rivoltella, P.C.: Saggezza digitale: l'educazione mediale tra sfida etica e scuola di cittadinanza. Educare tra scuola e formazioni sociali, pp. 107-11. La Scuola, Brescia (2011) [http://hdl.handle.net/10807/8047]
- 6. La Marca, A.: Competenza digitale e saggezza a scuola. La scuola, Brescia (2014).
- Kok, A.: Cultivating Wisdom through Digital Learning Technologies. Journal of Educational Technology 6(2), 12-19 (2009).
- Blau, I., Peled, Y., Nusan, A.: Technological, pedagogical and content knowledge in oneto-one classroom: teachers developing "digital wisdom". Interactive Learning Environments 24(6), 1215-1230 (2016).
- 9. Greene, J.A., Brown, S.C.: The wisdom development scale: Further validity investigations. The International Journal of Aging and Human Development, 68(4), 289-320 (2009).

### Developing teachers' leadership skills with coaching

Leonarda Longo<sup>1</sup>[0000-0002-7404-3332], Valeria Di Martino<sup>2</sup>[0000-0002-9397-6226], Federica Martino<sup>3</sup> [0000-0001-8339-5658]

<sup>1</sup> University of Palermo, leonarda.longo@unipa.it

<sup>2</sup> University of Palermo, valeria.dimartino@unipa.it

<sup>3</sup>University of Palermo, federica.martino01@.unipa.it

### 1 Introduction

It is not possible for schools to stay out of change in the rapidly changing world with the effect of globalization. In this case, schools will continue their lives as organizations that are either only affected by their environment or affect their environment by being integrated into change. Effective implementation of innovation initiatives in schools depends on the participation of teachers as practitioners in these processes and the creation of new behaviors for teachers. In this context, it is crucial to support teachers' leadership behaviors and to create leadership behaviors in teachers [4,10]. In order for schools to be pioneers in the process of change, there is a need for leader teachers who can influence their environment. Teachers need special skills to be effective leaders in order to evaluate their own views and practices. They need development in terms of communication and facilitation in order to ensure that the change to be experienced at school takes place in cooperation [7,9].

Teacher leaders exemplify certain defining characteristics. While all teachers possess several of these traits, only teacher leaders consistently and simultaneously integrate them into teacher leadership. Teacher leaders are able to set healthy boundaries to cope with overworking, to regulate emotions, to use assertiveness to respond properly to colleagues, students, and families' demands, and they know how to maximize their strengths in order to minimize hurriedness and time-wasting [3,12].

Coaching can play a significant role in leadership development because it echoes strongly the process of how adults learn. It seeks to help leaders understand the meaning they bring to their surroundings and the actions they take [1]. Working within the domain of how leaders see the world it strives to build competency development and to leave the leaders self-correcting and self-generating [6].

Coaching provides a structure for the follow up to training that is essential for acquiring new teaching skills and strategies. It can help building communities of teachers who continuously engage in the study of their craft. Coaching is as much a communal activity, a relationship among seeking professionals, as it is the exercise of a set of skills and a vital component of training [5]. Moreover, coaching develops the shared language and set of common understandings necessary for the collegial study of new knowledge and skills. Especially important is the agreement that curriculum and instruction need constant improvement and that expanding our repertoire of teaching skills requires hard work, in which the help of our colleagues is indispensable [13].

This paper aims at analyzing the empowerment of leadership skills and soft skills of teachers through an individual coaching intervention.

### 2 Methods

The study adopts a mix-methods approach using a pretest-posttest design without a control group. The research lasts for three years. A sample of 15 schools was selected for each year. On the basis of their individual availability, for each school the head teacher has identified 4 teachers with staff functions. A total of 60 teachers participate in the experimentation started in the first year.

Each teacher is involved in an individual coaching intervention lasting two and a half months, consisting of 5 individual sessions fifteen days apart.

Two measures were administrated before and after the coaching sessions:

a) Soft Skills Inventory [8];

b) Teacher Leaders Self-assessment tool [2].

At the beginning and at the end of the coaching sessions, for each school, two focus groups were planned on some of the strengths or weaknesses that emerged from the administration of the Teacher Leaders Self-assessment tool. Qualitative data were analyzed using MAXQDA and quantitative data were analyzed using ANOVA and Cohen's d for pretest-posttest design was calculated.

### 3 Conclusions

Since the first year of the research is still in progress, the results of the intervention are not yet available. Preliminary results will be presented at the conference.

From the results of the study it is expected to find that coaching sessions have a positive impact on improving both leadership skills and soft skills of teacher leaders. Positive repercussions are also expected with regard to a higher executive effectiveness in teacher leaders' practices and a better ability to achieve the programmed objectives, as well as on the climate of the school community itself. The reflections on the strengths and weaknesses that emerged during the focus groups could also be interesting.

The results of the research could also help review the same research design to be repeated in the next two years.

Finally, the findings from this study may be useful for both educational and scientific purposes and they encourage proceeding with a larger study to evaluate coaching intervention's effectiveness on leadership and soft skills and dispositions.

1. Baker, J. A., An, K. D.: Coaching. School Administrator, 34, 33-36 (2019)

2. Center on Great Teacher & Leader: Teacher Leadership - Teacher Self-Assessment Tool. American Institute for Research (2017)

3. Grant, A. M.: An integrated model of goal-focused coaching: an evidence-based framework for teaching and practice. Coaching Researched: A Coaching Psychology Reader, 115-139 (2020)

4. Ingersoll, R., Sirinides, P., Doughtery, R.: School leadership: Teachers' roles in school decision-making, and student achievement. Consortium for Policy Research in Education, Philadelphia, PA (2017)

5. Killion, J., Bryan, C., Clifton, H.: Coaching matters. Learning Forward, Oxford (2020)

6. Knight, J.: Why teacher autonomy is central to coaching success. Educational Leadership, 77(3), 14-20 (2019)

7. Kraft, M., Papay, J.: Developing workplaces where teachers stay, improve, and succeed. Albert Shanker Institute, Washington, DC (2016)

8. La Marca, A., Longo, L.: L'autovalutazione delle Soft skills organizzativo-gestionali e relazionali degli insegnanti. Pensa Multimedia, Lecce (2018)

9. Maxfield, C. R., Wells, C. M., Keane, W., Klocko, B. A.: The Role of Superintendents in Supporting Teacher Leadership. International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation, 3(3), n.3 (2008)

10. Harris, A., Muijs, D.: Teacher leadership: A review of research. ACADEMIA, Retriever January 25, 2007 (2002)

11. Papay, J., Taylor, E.S., Tyler, J., Laski, M.: Learning job skills from colleagues at work: Evidence from a field experiment using teacher performance data. National Bureau of Economic Research, Washington, DC (2016)

12. Ronfeldt, M., Farmer, S.O., McQueen, K., Grissom, J.: Teacher collaboration in instructional teams and student achievement. American Educational Research Journal, 52 (3), 475–514 (2015)

13. Van Niewerburgh, C. (Ed.). Coaching in education: Getting better results for students, educators, and parents. Routledge, London (2018)

14. York-Barr, J., Duke, K.: What do we know about teacher leadership? Findings from two decades of scholarship. Review of Educational Research, 74(3), 255-316 (2004)

### Coding Maps: A Planetary Journey into Computational Thinking and Digital Skills

G. Delzanno, G. Guerrini, M. Pusceddu, G. Zanone,, and A. Ferrando

Università degli Studi di Genova, Genova, Italy

In this paper we present the Coding Maps project [1] carried out by a team of students and teachers of the computer science bachelor's degree of the University of Ge-nova, aimed at the creation of a computational thinking distance laboratory for the 2021 edition of the Genova Science Festival.

The main challenge for the team was to create an online laboratory that could be engaging for students of different ages (middle and high school) making the most of what was learned (both as teachers and as students) in the distance learning experience due to the pandemics. For this purpose, the team decided to adopt the metaphor of gamification and interactive applications [2,3] via the online game platform Smart O.C.A. [4] in combination with more traditional computer science orientation ap-proaches based on computational thinking and problem solving [5,6].

Computational thinking [5] involves solving problems, designing systems, and understanding human behavior, by drawing on the concepts fundamental to computer science, such as breaking down problems, abstract thinking, algorithmic lens for formalizing solutions. The setting of the Coding Maps game was a planetary journey during which participants faced questions and solved problems associated with basic computational concepts presented in four different galaxies: logic, control flow, variables, and input/output. Recreating a journey into space was an attempt to create an inclusive activity, e.g., to reduce the gender gap in introductory coding activities [7], since space exploration refers to a vast and mysterious topic that interests all young minds.

Before exploring a galaxy, a tutor, connected via video conference with a group of participants logged into the game platform, provided a brief presentation of the main concepts behind the galaxy topics. Every question proposed to participants within a galaxy presented a different type of difficulty: notion understanding, reasoning, programming, etc. The first two groups of questions, logic principles and control flow, were related to propositional logic and firstorder statements and to basic programming constructs such as repetition and alternative. Logic has a strong correlation with natural language, making it a perfect transition topic from "human thinking" to "computer thinking". Control flow such as if-then-else and repeat statements were used to implicitly present the concept of algorithm. These groups of questions were also related to the idea of breaking down problems and solving them using the basic constructs. The third galaxy introduced the concept of computer memory, implement-ed using variables. Finally, the concept of input/output was introduced by using the metaphor of communication between astronauts (the participants) and a base station on planet earth. Even though this interaction is only simulated, it's

enough to give an intuition of what a flow of information means in a computer system. Correct answers allowed participants to receive additional information to continue their journey moving from galaxy to galaxy, and from planet to planet. Additional explanations were given in case of wrong answers. The last quizzes of the game, with increasing difficulty, required to reuse concepts introduced during the journey. This way, students had the opportunity to apply the knowledge they had just acquired.

The project was developed and hosted on the Smart O.C.A. platform [4], a web application to create games inspired by the "Snake and Ladders" game, developed by the Edutainment Formula company in the context of a collaboration with our team. Each cell of the game board can be associated with a video quiz. Multiple participants can challenge each other in the same session. To improve user experience, we integrated Smart O.C.A. with Genially, an online tool for producing interactive education material resulting in public web pages. In our extension, each cell of a Smart O.C.A. game instance can be associated with an interactive mini game prepared in Genially. The mini game exploits interactive buttons to navigate through the different web pages of the presentation: display of the question; presentation of the answer options; presentation of result (correct/wrong answer) with explanations in case of mistakes. The integration of Genially and Smart O.C.A. allowed us to associate reactive presentations with a catchy graphical rendering hosted on Genially to the game instances in the multiplayer Smart O.C.A. platform. A dedicated Javascript library was developed, to provide interoperability between Smart O.C.A. and the embedded Genially web pages displayed during the game. Decoupling the quiz creation in Genially from the game design phase in Smart OCA turned out to be quite effective for improving productivity in the design phase. Indeed, we were able to work in parallel on different quizzes and/or on modifications of the game structure.

The Coding Maps project was accepted as a DigiLab in the program for schools of the Genova Science Festival. Several computer science students entered our team as tutors to conduct online the lab with the registered classes. In total 370 online participants took part in the activity in the different time slots in which it was offered. The project required a lot of efforts and allowed the entire team (both students and teachers) to improve their digital and soft skills. More specifically, designing and conducting the laboratory during the Science Festival allowed the team members to experiment a non-standard combination of technologies for distance learning, online games, and polls with more traditional computer science orientation approaches. Thanks to this project, several computer science students got interested in principles and tools used in computer science education and several other projects aimed at exploring digital technologies (e.g., AR and XR) emerged as possible interesting future directions for continuing our work.

Acknowledgements. The authors would like to thank the students involved as tutors in the Coding Maps DigiLab at the Science Festival for their support and engagement in conducting the lab.

- 1. Pusceddu, M., Sartori, A. Digilab Coding Map: una sfida fra scuole per scoprire l'informatica. November 2021. In Italian. Available at: https://life.unige.it/unviaggio-planetario-nel-pensiero-computazionale
- Abykanova, B., Nugumanova, S., Yelezhanova, S., Kabylkhamit, Z. and Sabiro-va, Z. The Use of Interactive Learning Technology in Institutions of Higher Learn-ing. International Journal of Environmental and Science Education, 11(18), pp. 12528-12539. 2016.
- 3. Venter, M. Gamification in STEM programming courses: State of the art. In 2020 IEEE Global Engineering Education Conference (EDUCON), pp. 859-866. 2020.
- 4. Edutainment Formula. Smart O.C.A. Online Challenge Activity. In Italian. Available at https://www.edutainmentformula.com/web-app/smart-oca/ (accessed June 2022).
- 5. Wing, J. M. Computational thinking. Communications of the ACM, 49(3), 33–36. 2006.
- Li, Y., Schoenfeld, A.H., diSessa, A.A. et al. Computational Thinking is More about Thinking than Computing. Journal for STEM Educ Res 3, 1–18 (2020).
- Sax, L.J., Lehman, K.J., Jacobs, J.A., Kanny, M.A., Lim, G., Monje-Paulson, L. and Zimmerman, H.B. Anatomy of an enduring gender gap: The evolution of women's participation in computer science. The Journal of Higher Education, 88(2), pp. 258-293. 2017.

### **Blended Learning and new scenarios**

Giusi Antonia Toto<sup>1[0000-0001-5538-5858]</sup> Martina Rossi<sup>1[0000-0001-7701-6367]</sup>

Piergiorgio Guarini<sup>1[0000-0002-7281-798X]</sup> Alessia Scarinci<sup>2[0000-0002-3174-7137]</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Learning Science Hub, University of Foggia, Via Arpi 176, 71122 Foggia, Italy <sup>2</sup>University of Bari, Via Scipione Crisanzio 42, 70122 Bari, Italy lncs@springer.com

### 1 Conceptual background

In recent years, technological advancements related to education and digital culture have played a fundamental role in learning processes. The aim of the work and efforts made by institutions to integrate innovative methodologies into teaching is to overcome obstacles, simplify learning processes, and make them more motivating. Distance learning, which happens online, has now become deeply rooted in the mindset of the community, because it guarantees flexible access to educational content at any time, from any place, and through diversified means. In this work, we focus particularly on Blended Learning (BL), a phenomenon that has recently attracted the attention of the scientific community [1, 2, 3, 4, 5], especially within the emergency framework of the COVID-19 pandemic, to a great extent, so much so that, in the latest Horizon Report of 2021 [6], an entire section was dedicated to BL. With the advent of new technologies, the learning environments where the practice the educational process are changing themselves [7]. In fact, today's learning environments are very different from traditional ones [8]:

| Type of environment  | Description   | Materials and tools  |
|----------------------|---|--|
| Smart classroom 1.0  | Use of non-immersive media tools (synchronous activities only)                  | Interactive<br>blacboards, video<br>projectors, etc.         |
| Smart classroom 2.0  | Use of immersive media tools (synchronous or non-synchronous activities)        | VR/AR Headsets, websites, etc.                               |
| Online classroom 1.0 | Use of non-immersive media tools<br>(synchronous or non-synchronous activities) | Video-conference<br>softwares, chats,<br>online forums, etc. |
| Online classroom 2.0 | Use of immersive media tools (synchronous or non-synchronous activities)        | VR/AR Headsets, websites, etc.                               |

Table 1. Categorization of the modern learning environments.

### 2 **Purpose of the study**

Firstly, this work introduces readers to the use of BL in educational institutions, from a historical-narrative perspective. Secondly, a theoretical framework will be built, in which the latest developments of BL in higher education environments are reported, with an examination of the digital services that are made available to teachers and students during the pandemic. The main purpose of this work is, therefore, to present a critical reflection on the possibilities that BL has offered during the COVID-19 pandemic and what it will be able to offer in the post-pandemic age. In the first part of the work, the intrinsic constructs and crucial aspects of digital culture in the contemporary world of education and training are highlighted, outlining an essential theoretical path that emphasizes the substantial advantages and tools offered by technology. A definition of BL is provided below, based on the definitions given by authors who have received the most international credit for their work. The study is presented, in the main section, as an exploratory investigation of the blended model for higher education, and is articulated with various references to the most recent strategies implemented by educational institutions. The main reference is the aforementioned Horizon 2021 Report, published by EDUCAUSE. Based on the results of this analysis, we can gauge the willingness of educational institutions to invest in the design of new educational paths that use a blended methodology, to provide concrete support to teachers to fill in any gaps with respect to their digital skills. The reflection, as already mentioned, is supported by concrete examples that demonstrate some good practices that were followed at international universities, and provides as an outcome, an updated list of best practices using which it is possible to stimulate a constructive debate, innovative study, and research projections for the global scientific community.

### 3 Results

In the final part of the work, the authors focus on the case of the University of Foggia, in particular on the answer provided by the university about the contemporary needs of higher education. The University of Puglia, which was one of the first to adopt the BL methodology, has a multi-year history of technological innovation; in this work, the fundamental stages of the university's progress in technological innovations are retraced, through the pre-pandemic and then the emergency phase, highlighting its strengths, presenting the services offered, and outlining possible future development paths. In conclusion, some reflections are presented on the applications of BL in educational institutions in the future. Therefore, this work intends to provide new perspectives for the study and implementation of the BL models tested during the pandemic, with an aim of promoting faculty development and modernizing the higher education sector, making it more efficient, flexible, and in step with the current times.

- 1. Garrison, D. R., Kanuka, H.: Blended learning: Uncovering its transformative potential in higher education. Internet and Higher Education 7, 95–105 (2004).
- Graham, C. R.: Blended learning systems: Definition, current trends and future directions. In Bonk C. J., Graham C. R. (eds.). The handbook of blended learning: Global perspectives, local designs, pp. 3–21. Pfeiffer, San Francisco (2006).
- 3. Greco, G., Caria, M.: Competenze digitali per la media education: il modello blended learning di Monopoli. Media Education, 11(1), 25-35 (2020).
- 4. Ampera, D., Chalid, S.: Development of blended learning type and flipped classroom-based cultural arts subjects. International Journal of Education in Mathematics, Science, and Technology (IJEMST), 9(4), 655-667 (2021).
- Peimani, N., Kamalipour, H.: Online Education in the Post COVID-19 Era: Students' Perception and Learning Experience. Education Sciences, 11(10), 633 (2021).
- Pelletier, K., Brown, M., Brooks, D. C., McCormack, M., Reeves, J., Arbino, N., ... & Mondelli, V.: 2021 EDUCAUSE Horizon Report Teaching and Learning Edition (2021).
- Limone, P.: Towards a hybrid ecosystem of blended learning within university contexts. In Proceedings of the First Workshop on Technology Enhanced Learning Environments for Blended Education (teleXbe 2021), Foggia, Italy, 21–22 January 2021.
- 8. Rivoltella, P. C., Rossi, P. G.: Tecnologie per l'educazione. 1st edn. Milano: Pearson (2020).

## Special Track 12

# Manufacturing Education for a Sustainable fourth industrial revolution

*Organizers:* Michele Lanzetta, Università di Pisa Antonio Maffei, KTH Royal Institute of Technology in Stockholm
# Manufacturing Education Transformation during Covid-19 Pandemics

Tena Žužek<sup>1</sup>, Primož Podržaj<sup>1</sup> and Andreja Malus<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, University of Ljubljana, Aškerčeva 6, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

## 1 Introduction

To become more sustainable and successfully transition from traditional manufacturing to Industry 4.0, today's industries must face many challenges and overcome a range of obstacles [1]. Higher Education Institutions (HEIs), especially in the field of manufacturing, must therefore adapt their educational process and educate Industry 4.0-capable engineers. One of the main aspects and also challenges of this transition, is the ubiquitous digitalization. HEIs must provide students with the necessary skills and introduce digital technologies into educational process at all levels. With the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, the need for digitalization became even more evident and a significant surge in the application of digital technologies at various aspects of the educational process has been observed [2-4].

The main aim of this paper is to present an overview of Covid-19 related aspects of the manufacturing education transformation at the University of Ljubljana, Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, and to identify the good practices adopted during the pandemic. We wanted to investigate whether some of the practices that were initially implemented as a necessary measure to carry out the educational process during the covid-related restrictions, could be beneficial even after the pandemic. Based on our experience, we provide some important implications for HEIs on how to exploit the novel digital technologies to improve educational process in the future. We also address some potential benefits these practices could have in terms of sustainability and competencies of future engineers. Ideas for future research are also provided.

# 2 Short presentation of University of Ljubljana and Faculty of Mechanical Engineering

University of Ljubljana is the oldest, largest, and internationally best ranked university in Slovenia. It encompasses 23 faculties, 3 art academies and 3 associated members, and ranks among the largest HEIs in Europe with more than 40.000 students and approximately 5.700 employees. It covers all ISCED areas in the 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> cycle study programs, and leads the way in some new developments in technology and research. Faculty of Mechanical Engineering is one of the largest members of the University of Ljubljana. It consists of 16 chairs, 33 laboratories, and approximately 400 employees. In the year 2021/22, there were 1894 students enrolled.

# **3** Overview of Covid-19 related actions by the University of Ljubljana and Faculty of Mechanical Engineering

In order to manage and restrict the Covid-19 outbreak, University of Ljubljana and Faculty of Mechanical Engineering adopted various measures, the first one being a transition from live lectures to online ones in the beginning of March 2020. Soon, the (lab) exercises were also performed fully remotely. For the execution of the online lectures, the first application of choice was GoToMeeting. In the next semester, when the University managed to provide the license, GoToMeeting was replaced by Cisco Webex. Later on, Zoom and Microsoft Teams have also become a popular option for practitioners.

In order to ensure a continuous educational process during the pandemic, another important challenge to address is the online execution of exams [5]. For that purpose, interactive digital applications such as e-classrooms have been introduced.

Gradually, when both lecturers and students adapted to the remote educational process, digital technologies began to be exploited also for other purposes. Interactive courses [6], virtual experiments [7], etc., started to appear on a regular basis. Employees at the Faculty of Mechanical Engineering have also started to study more extensively other good teaching practices reported in the relevant scientific literature [8-10].

#### 4 Implications

When the Covid-19 pandemic was over, the teaching and learning practices did not return to the state prior to the pandemic. Many good teaching practices were kept. Online lecturing/meeting platforms (GoToMeeting, Webex, Zoom) are still being used in many situations. Online exams have also been preserved in some courses. The syllabus for most courses also predicts a further use of digital technologies, such as e-classrooms and virtual labs.

The necessity of online activities and the use of advanced digital technologies has forced both teachers and students to improve their digital competencies. A significant increase in digital literacy/proficiency is thus expected, and future engineers will therefore be more competent to work in Industry 4.0 environment and drive the development of smart and digital companies.

In terms of sustainability, there have also been some indications of potential benefits the digital transformation of educational process could have. The transition from on-site to online education is not only more convenient and time saving, but can also aid in lowering transportation costs and consequently carbon footprint [11].

In the future, good practices of different manufacturing/engineering HEIs worldwide should be thoroughly analyzed (timeline of measures, syllabus changes, satisfaction of different stakeholders (students, teachers), etc.), and an extensive comparative analysis of this larger sample should be carried out. Based on the findings, the pedagogical approach should be properly aligned and curricula's content adequately renewed.

- Paravizo, Esdras, et al. "Exploring gamification to support manufacturing education on industry 4.0 as an enabler for innovation and sustainability." Procedia manufacturing 21 (2018): 438-445.
- García-Morales, Víctor J., Aurora Garrido-Moreno, and Rodrigo Martín-Rojas. "The transformation of higher education after the COVID disruption: Emerging challenges in an online learning scenario." Frontiers in Psychology 12 (2021): 616059.
- 3. Bogdandy, Bence, Judit Tamas, and Zsolt Toth. "Digital transformation in education during COVID-19: A case study." 2020 11th IEEE international conference on cognitive infocommunications (CoginfoCom). IEEE, 2020.
- 4. Kang, Byeongwoo. "How the COVID-19 pandemic is reshaping the education service." The Future of Service Post-COVID-19 Pandemic, Volume 1 (2021): 15-36.
- 5. Ahmed, Fatima Rayan Awad, et al. "Analysis and challenges of robust E-exams performance under COVID-19." Results in Physics 23 (2021): 103987.
- 6. https://icct.cafre.unipi.it/
- 7. https://web.fs.uni-lj.si/lampa/en/events/renesas-virtual-mcu-rally/
- Erdoğmuş, Alim Kerem, and Ugur Yayan. "Virtual Robotic Laboratory Compatible Mobile Robots for Education and Research." 2021 International Conference on INnovations in Intelligent SysTems and Applications (INISTA). IEEE, 2021.
- 9. Anand, Harish, et al. "OpenUAV Cloud Testbed: a Collaborative Design Studio for Field Robotics." 2021 IEEE 17th International Conference on Automation Science and Engineering (CASE). IEEE, 2021.
- 10. Mourtzis, Dimitris, et al. "A hybrid teaching factory model for supporting the educational process in COVID-19 era." Procedia Cirp 104 (2021): 1626-1631.
- 11. https://data.europa.eu/en/impact-studies/covid-19/covid-19-related-traffic-reduction-and-decreased-air-pollution-europe

# How much digital learning is enough? Lesson learned from Covid-19

Antonio Maffei<sup>1[0000-0002-0723-1712]</sup> and Fredrik Enoksson<sup>1[0000-0002-5222-970X]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> KTH Royal Institute of Technology, 114 28 Stockholm, Sweden maffei@kth.se

#### 1 Introduction

The recent Covid-19 pandemic forced educators at HEI to shift from almost non-existing use to full adoption of digital tools [1]. Literature shows how this spontaneous experiment produced different results, some positive, mainly streamlining of activities, and some negative such as problem with assessment and impossible transmission of functional knowledge [2]. In view of this, the body of literature generated during the pandemic, and the teacher experiences, have a huge potential to reveal what is a "wellconceived" blended learning strategy in different educational situation. This work aims at investigating what would be the relevant pedagogical constructs to consider and their impact on an optimal blended learning strategy for the after-Covid phase based on the experience of instructors during the pandemic.

## 2 Method

A widely accepted description of Blended learning strategies proposed by literature includes an array of six approaches in which different digital tools are used in combination with traditional face-to-face activities with specific timing [3]. For the purpose of this exploratory study the *definition of Blended learning* strategy for an educational unit can be simplified as *the percentage of hours, included preparation, of activities classified as digital learning on the total workload, digital plus face-to-face, of the educational unit.* The selected methodology is a focus group, involving expert teachers, themed: *impact of covid on work in higher education in the context of adoption of blended learning strategies.* 

The focus group was organized within the framework of the Erasmus+ BLISS project [4] and involved 13 teachers, including the authors, from the consortium. The preparation to the discussion included a few interactive presentations about the following topic: (1) impact of the pandemic as depicted in literature, (2) pedagogical concepts such as taxonomies of learning [5] [6], constructive alignment [7], communities of enquiry [8] and approaches/tools for digital learning [9] and (3) the double role of universities in forming the students – including knowledge transfer as well as hub for meaningful social interaction. Documentation of the preparation activities and recording of the session are available at [10]. The focus group session was moderated and documented by

the authors and lasted around 45 minutes. The specific sub-themes and answers by the audience are summarized in the following section.

#### **3** Results

The main findings of the focus group are as follows:

**Blended learning strategy before and during Covid.** The group answers confirmed the finding of mainstream literature: the % of digital learning on the total volume of learning activities was in the range 0-5% before the pandemic and rose to 90-100% during the pandemic.

**Optimal Blended learning strategy post Covid.** The group considered the impact of two main factors influencing the optimal blended learning strategy: (1) the social dimension of students' interaction with peers and teachers and (2) the Bloom's level of understanding of the specific educational unit considered. The (1) factors optimal strategy consists of having a higher amount of face-to-face activities during the first years of study, to encourage early interaction among students. The factor (2) discussion indicates that the % of acceptable digital learning activities is higher in the lower level of understanding and decreases as one goes up in the taxonomy. This is based on the assumption that interaction with teachers is more and more necessary as the complexity of the learning goals increases.

*Obstacle/Challenges with implementing optimal Blended learning strategies.* Difficulties were mentioned in bringing back the students to class for activities, such as lectures, that the students appreciated in digital, asynchronous form during the pandemic. This is especially true for working students.

- 1. Marinoni, Giorgio, Hilligje Van't Land, and Trine Jensen. "The impact of Covid-19 on higher education around the world." *IAU global survey report* 23 (2020).
- Agasisti, Tommaso, and Mara Soncin. "Higher education in troubled times: on the impact of Covid-19 in Italy." *Studies in Higher Education* 46.1 (2021): 86-95.
- Alammary, Ali, Judy Sheard, and Angela Carbone. "Blended learning in higher education: Three different design approaches." *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology* 30.4 (2014).
- 4. https://bliss.riteh.hr/
- Bloom, Benjamin S. Taxonomy of Educational Objectives: The Classification of Educational Goals. New York: Longmans, Green, 1956. Print.
- Biggs, John B., and Kevin F. Collis. Evaluating the quality of learning: The SOLO taxonomy (Structure of the Observed Learning Outcome). Academic Press, 2014.
- 7. Biggs, John. "Enhancing teaching through constructive alignment." *Higher education* 32.3 (1996): 347-364.
- Garrison, D. Randy, Terry Anderson, and Walter Archer. "Critical thinking, cognitive presence, and computer conferencing in distance education." *American Journal of distance education* 15.1 (2001): 7-23.

- 9. Sousa, Maria José, Rui Cruz, and Jorge Miguel Martins. "Digital learning methodologies and tools-a literature review." *Edulearn17 Proceedings* (2017): 5185-5192.
- 10. https://kth-my.sharepoint.com/:f:/g/personal/maffei\_ug\_kth\_se/Eh3itthbPztHlgQAif5e2TkBP9VcEFFfc0OB1IX33omB6w?e=3hg0xT

# Introducing sustainability themes in STEM education: evidences from some European countries

Dario Antonelli<sup>1</sup><sup>[0000-0002-0118-0424]</sup>, Paolo Minetola<sup>1</sup>, Paolo C. Priarone<sup>1</sup>, Antonio Maffei<sup>2</sup>, Michele Lanzetta<sup>3</sup>, Dorota Stadnicka<sup>4</sup> and Primož Podržaj<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Politecnico di Torino, DIGEP, Torino, Italy, dario.antonelli@polito.it
 <sup>2</sup> Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden
 <sup>3</sup> University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy
 <sup>4</sup> Rzeszow University Of Technology, Rzeszow, Poland
 <sup>5</sup> University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia

# 1 Introduction

The Sustainability Development Goals (SDGs) adopted by United Nations in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development will modulate the efforts toward a better world considering the pillars of economic, social, and environmental sustainability [1]. The Industry 4.0 (I4.0) framework is emerging from the introduction of several advancements in a way that substantially and rapidly transforms the design, manufacturing, operation and services related to manufacturing systems or products [2]. I4.0 technologies are expected to have a significant impact on the achievement of the SDGs. The 'MAnufacturing Education for a SusTainable fourth Industrial RevOlution' project (MAESTRO, E+ 2019-1-SE01-KA203-060572) is an ongoing research collaboration where experts from diverse engineering disciplines and seven European institutions from Sweden, United Kingdom, Italy, Portugal, Poland, and Slovenia are putting together efforts to define and deliver the key new competences required by the future engineers who will be part of the I4.0 revolution, focusing on SDGs [3, 4].

The SDGs relevant to the teaching of I4.0 were introduced in different academic courses, mainly taught online, by strictly following the Constructive Alignment (CA) principles. CA was devised [5, 6] as a paradigm for the design of effective and efficient pedagogical activities in higher education. CA is based on two main concepts: the constructivist understanding of the learning process, and the practical need for aligned and outcome-based curricula design. Teaching and Learning Activities and Assessment Tasks are therefore planned in a way that is aligned with their Intended Learning Outcomes. The underlying hypotheses that were verified were related to:

- 1. the sensitivity of people from different countries to sustainability themes
- 2. the different degree of confidence in the possibility of learning a sustainable use of technologies
- 3. the different perception of the proactive role of digital technologies in achieving sustainability goals.

#### 2 Design of the survey and discussion of results

A survey aimed to verify and quantify the possibility of communicating the impact of Industry 4.0 on sustainability, through new didactic modules, has been conducted in different European universities. The survey, inspired by [7], was created for the purpose of testing the hypotheses listed in section 1 and was distributed to students after reaching a consensus on the questions to be presented. The main sections of the survey are pertaining to the evaluation of I4.0 technology impact on education profile, the evaluation of sustainability awareness as well as the evaluation of course alignment with the overall education profile. A four-point Likert scale is used to produce a forced choice of the respondents between agreement and disagreement. Data collection is going on, with 132 forms analyzed by now from Italy, Poland and Sweden (63 female and 69 male students). Results passed the consistency test. Krusk Wallis one way ANOVA by ranks was used for testing the significance of the different factors. There is a strong country factor while all the I4.0 technologies have a similar influence on SDG goals, as can be seen in Fig.1. Learning a sustainable use of technology is considered effective only by the students of some countries. Student perception about the impact of I4.0 technologies was compared to the experts' opinion about the impact of I4.0 technologies on main SDG goals [4]. I4.0 technologies mainly affect the SDGs related to health, industry, growth, production and consumption. Another result is the lack of confidence among the students on the effectiveness of reaching sustainable goals through professional training. This is just the starting point of an improvement process that will align stakeholders' expectation with the actual course embodiment.



Fig. 1. Radar diagram showing the mapping of specific I4.0 technologies on selected SDGs

- UN. 2015. "Sustainable Development Goals." United Nations Department of Public Information. Retrieved (https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/?menu=1300).
- 2. Davies, Ron. 2015. Industry 4.0 Digitalisation for Productivity and Growth.
- Stadnicka, D., Litwin, P., Antonelli, D. Human factor in industry of the future: Knowledge acquisition and motivation. FME Transactions, 47(4), 823-830 (2019).
- M. Mabkhot, M., Ferreira, P., Maffei, A., Podržaj, P., Mądziel, M., Antonelli, D., ... & Lohse, N. (2021). Mapping industry 4.0 enabling technologies into united nations sustainability development goals. Sustainability, 13(5), 2560.
- 5. Biggs, J. What the student does: teaching for enhanced learning. Higher education research & development, 18, 57-75, (1999).
- Boffa, E., Lupi, F., Lanzetta, M., & Maffei, A. (2021, September). The Digitalization of Engineering Curricula: Defining the Categories that Preserve Constructive Alignment. In International Workshop on Higher Education Learning Methodologies and Technologies Online (pp. 333-346). Springer, Cham.
- Minetola, P., Iuliano, L., Bassoli, E., & Gatto, A. (2015). Impact of additive manufacturing on engineering education–evidence from Italy. Rapid Prototyping Journal.

# An Archetype for Engineering Education Towards Industry 4.0 Enabled Sustainability

Francesco Lupi<sup>1[0000-0003-4994-0215]</sup>, Mohammed M. Mabkhot<sup>2 [0000-0002-2473-5058]</sup>, Pedro Ferreira<sup>2</sup>, Niels Lohse<sup>2[0000-0001-7279-8849]</sup>, Dario Antonelli<sup>3[0000-0002-0118-0424]</sup> and Michele Lanzetta<sup>1 [0000-0002-1803-5717]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Civil and Industrial Engineering, University of Pisa, Italy
 <sup>2</sup> Intelligent Automation Centre, The Wolfson School of Mechanical, Electrical and Manufacturing Engineering, Loughborough University, Loughborough LE11 3TU, UK
 <sup>3</sup> Department of Management and Production Engineering, Politecnico di Torino, 10129 Tori-

no, Italy

francesco.lupi@phd.unipi.it

## 1 Motivation

Educational accreditation bodies provide standards of the programs that students should meet. This is a high-level and broad perspective guideline [1]. On the other hand, educational institutes define course syllabi or Intended Learning Outcomes (ILOs) to guide the learning process and proffer a sense of measurable statement of acquiring a specific skill, which are used by academics and students [2]. There is a massive gap in engineering education to match the higher-level standards and the lower-level ILOs with the industrial needs. At the same time, these standards and ILOs are rigid and do not accommodate current edge technology advances (I4.0), especially those with promising potential for sustainable development [3]. Harmonization quantitatively with sustainability goals is another major challenge [4].

Archetypes (aka personas) have been widely applied in marketing segmentation and human-centered design, taking a singular fictitious instance mirroring people of the target markets (i.e., reflecting enduring personas that feed into the human experience) [5]. The archetypes allow communication of user needs and orient teams towards user experience [6]. The same abstraction process can be applied to the identification and representation of professional educational figures (e.g., engineers, biologists, designers), summarizing the specific set of possessed skills in between the higher-level standards and the lower-level ILOs [4].

Among the tangible benefits arising from the introduction of the professional profile archetypes is the definition of a common language between stakeholders (i.e., university and industry). This guarantees objective, repeatable, and standardized views, which enable the realignment of the educational and occupational framework and simplify the design of educational courses and communication between academia and industry.

## 2 Methodology

Defining engineering archetypes is a challenging process (cf. Figure 1). On the one hand, challenges are rising from potential inputs of educational bodies and the needs of the industrial sector. Different institutions adapt to different educational body standardizations. Numerous low-level ILOs for each course (average 250) do not help the industrial sector find its needs. Despite the global skilled worker market, there is a skill gap in many industries. One of the main reasons is the lack of common competencies standards. Rigidity in evolving existing frameworks with current edge technology is another challenge, especially with the rapid technology advancement.

On the other hand, defining archetypes that can match the industries and education is challenging. At the same time, the archetypes should enable the vital role of education in preparing new engineers who can realize social, economic, and environmental sustainability. Archetypes should be evolvable with technology and reliable to ensure that the competencies are required for a foreseen period. Another challenge is to define measurable archetypes that help different stakeholders find and satisfy their needs. Defining clustered competences is one way toward this end. The authors have learned many lessons from the previous attempt, a manual approach that relied mainly on experts [4], including time-consuming, non-comprehensive, and subjective to some extent. This highlights the need for more advanced techniques in a more comprehensive and systematic way, which is what is currently under development.



Fig. 1. Challenges of defining engineering educational archetypes.

#### 3 Conclusion

The mismatching between education and industry calls for urgent identification of standardized professional figures descriptions for course design, assessment, communication, and job market integration. Two crucial topics for the industrial sector are the I4.0 contemporary edge technologies and sustainability. Unfortunately, they are not harmonized in the educational and occupational engineering frameworks. This work introduces a standardized professional figure description via archetype concept, representing the artificially generated centroid of a set of instances. The potential of archetypes is a clear, structured, measurable, comprehensive, and dynamic description of the main skills of a professional figure.

- Patil, A., & Codner, G. (2007). Accreditation of engineering education: review, observations and proposal for global accreditation. European journal of engineering education, 32(6), 639-651.
- Biggs, John. "Enhancing teaching through constructive alignment." Higher education 32.3 (1996): 347-364.
- M. Mabkhot, M., Ferreira, P., Maffei, A., Podržaj, P., Mądziel, M., Antonelli, D., ... & Lohse, N. (2021). Mapping industry 4.0 enabling technologies into united nations sustainability development goals. Sustainability, 13(5), 2560.
- Lupi, F., Mabkhot, M. M., Finžgar, et al. Toward a sustainable educational engineer archetype through Industry 4.0. Computers in Industry, 134, 103543 (2022). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2021.103543
- Junior, P. T. A., & Filgueiras, L. V. L. (2005, October). User modeling with personas. In Proceedings of the 2005 Latin American conference on Human-computer interaction (pp. 277-282).
- Miaskiewicz, T., & Kozar, K. A. (2011). Personas and user-centered design: How can personas benefit product design processes?. Design studies, 32(5), 417-430.

# Additive Manufacturing for Sustainability

Francesco Lupi<sup>1[0000-0003-4994-0215]</sup> and Michele Lanzetta<sup>1,2[0000-0002-1803-5717]</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Department of Civil and Industrial Engineering, University of Pisa, Italy
 <sup>2</sup> Interdepartmental Center for Lifelong Learning, Training and Education Research, University of Pisa, Italy
 francesco.lupi@phd.unipi.it, lanzetta@unipi.it

#### 1 Framework

The Constructive Alignment (CA) builds upon the constructivist understanding of the learning process and it is based on the principle of an aligned and outcomebased curricula design [1]. Implementing CA means devising Intended Learning Outcomes (ILO) that are based on an Educational Goal Verb (EGV), derived from the Bloom taxonomy, which refers to the action the students are expected to learn after completion of the educational unit. The ILO, and related EGV, are then enacted through Teaching and Learning Activities (TLA) and verified through Assessment Tasks (AT) [2]. The alignment between ILO, TLA and AT is achieved by using the same EGV [3].

Sustainable development (SD) and Industry 4.0 (I4.0) are considered two of the major trends in current production systems and their combination opens up promising scenarios in the manufacturing and beyond [4]. The shift toward SD in the engineering disciplines has never been so urgent and the upcoming smart manufacturing scenario triggered by I4.0 enablers (i.e., IoT, big data and analytics, additive manufacturing, simulation, etc.) call for intensive commitment in the engineering course rethinking [5].

This works stimulates on the need to include sustainability topics in the existing I4.0. related curricula via dedicated educational units and evaluate the impact of such thematic from the students and educators perspective.

## 2 Methodology

The selected course for pilot study is the biomedical technologies course at the University of Pisa. It focuses on conventional and unconventional manufacturing processes with particular attention to Additive Manufacturing (AM) technologies (i.e., fusion, binding, or solidifying liquid resin and powders) in the module of manufacturing technology laboratory. Following the framework of the Erasmus+ MAESTRO project [6], a new educational unit on sustainability has been included in order to meet the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) according to the selected I4.0 technology enabler (i.e., AM). This new perspective has been developed by following the CA framework for the definition of TLA and AT (Table 1) starting from the defined ILO: *The student should be able to design and* 

optimize the environmental impact of AM processes for single medical devices production.

**Table 1.** Constructively aligned Teaching Activities (TA) and Learning Activities (LA) (i.e., TLA) for the SD educational unit included in the AM course.

#### Description

 TA TA 1.1: Present and explain energy analysis for rapid prototyping approaches, design methodology, pros/cons, environmental impact frameworks and standards.
 TA 1.2: Provide updated case studies through seminars on medicine and AM prosthesis by a sustainable perspective.

TA 1.3: Set brief and provide ongoing feedback on project work. Organise students into groups of three or four and provided with a real case study project.

TA 1.4: Provide prompt feedback to each group during the project development.
LA LA 2.1: Listen, query, discuss with peers and produce an infographic to explain, describe, and visualise the information at the end of each lecture.
LA 2.2: Listen, query, discuss with peers and seminar guests experts as well.
LA 1.3: Discuss within the group members and provide/share ideas by a 30 minute final presentation. Check understandings with one another. Take back to the group

and improve the project in a second round based on peers and teacher review. LA 1.4: Provide 1 hour final presentation to the whole class.

AT Each project group present a final written report of the project to the professor. The group is assessed on the main standard attributes of the project: Problem presentation, CAD design, AM software and implemented solution, practical prototype realization and sustainability assessment.

#### 3 Results

A survey after delivering the course in 2022 to 20 students and 4 educators has clearly shown that AM does not only affects sustainability in manufacturing (9), but also health (3), because it allows the mass customization of human parts. The experts have identified a focused impact on a subset of SDGs (9 and 3) vs a broader sustainability potential according to the students.

# 4 Conclusion

This work aims to stimulate the integration of SD dedicated modules into engineering courses. A specific focus on the process followed to add a new educational unit on sustainability for the AM course at the University of Pisa is offered. The adopted methodology in accordance to CA theory is detailed. A final survey was submitted to 20 students and 4 educators to validate the implemented topics and the perceived integration between sustainability topics and I4.0. Acknowledgements The authors gratefully acknowledge cooperation from the MAESTRO team [6] and Carmelo De Maria for the insightful discussions.

- Biggs, J., Tang, C.: Applying constructive alignment to outcomes-based teaching and learning. In: Training material for "quality teaching for learning in higher education" workshop for master trainers, Ministry of Higher Education, Kuala Lumpur. pp. 23–25 (2010)
- Biggs, J.: Enhancing teaching through constructive alignment. Higher education 32(3), 347–364 (1996)
- Maffei, A., Boffa, E., Lupi, F., Lanzetta, M.: On the design of constructively aligned educational unit. Education Sciences 12(7), 438 (2022)
- M. Mabkhot, M., Ferreira, P., Maffei, A., Podržaj, P., Mądziel, M., Antonelli, D., Lanzetta, M., Barata, J., Boffa, E., Finžgar, M., et al.: Mapping industry 4.0 enabling technologies into united nations sustainability development goals. Sustainability 13(5), 2560 (2021)
- Lupi, F., Mabkhot, M.M., Finžgar, M., Minetola, P., Stadnicka, D., Maffei, A., Litwin, P., Boffa, E., Ferreira, P., Podržaj, P., et al.: Toward a sustainable educational engineer archetype through industry 4.0. Computers in Industry 134, 103543 (2022)
- 6. Maestro Erasmus+ (2022), https://maestro.w.prz.edu.pl/

# Adapting education programs to the requirements of industry and society

Dorota Stadnicka<sup>1[0000-0002-4516-7926]</sup>, Paweł Litwin<sup>1[0000-0002-4497-6553]</sup> and Łukasz Paśko<sup>1[0000-0001-8175-2295]</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Mechanical Engineering and Aeronautics, Rzeszow University of Technology, Rzeszów, Poland dorota.stadnicka@prz.edu.pl

#### 1 Introduction

To implement the knowledge and skills related to technologies from the Industry 4.0 area in the education process, universities monitor the situation in the industry, identify newly implemented technologies, conduct a dialogue with the industry, analyze their own study programs, and then introduce improvements to the existing study programs or offer new programs. For some time, universities have also started to become interested in introducing issues related into sustainable development to their study programs. The introduced issues emphasize not only the economic analysis of production processes, but also the environmental analysis of the work carried out and the impact of these processes and the methods of their implementation on employees and, more broadly, on society. In addition, the recent pandemic has also required the introduction of new teaching methods, as existing methods were not appropriate during the isolation period. Furthermore, it was observed that even after the pandemic period, when it was possible to implement activities again and no online tasks were required, the public saw the benefits of minimizing travel and found that the new methods could be equally effective in achieving educational goals. This work presents activities and results of four international projects, the aim of which was to conduct research to identify changes necessary in the educational process and their implementation to prepare staff for the industry of the future.

The paper deals with the following aspects: (1) distance learning techniques to activate students to work independently, (2) methods of motivating students to expand their knowledge and present solutions for specific industries, (3) industrial research to identify currently used technologies and strategies for implementing new technologies, and (4) analysis of educational programs offered by universities in order to identify opportunities for their improvement and better matching of graduates' skills to the needs of the industry. Some previously published works elaborate these issues [1, 2, 3, 4, 5].

## 2 Review of completed work and achieved goals

The work on better preparation of graduates to perform tasks in the industry is carried out in many ways. In this article, we refer to four selected projects and selected works



carried out in their field to show the complementarity of implemented projects and their joint efforts to better prepare graduates from different points of view (Fig.1.).

Fig. 1. Complementarity of projects in providing personnel to work in the industry of the future.

In the context of the TIPHYS project [6] a distance learning methodology was discussed which activates students to perform independent work and at the same time is based on the need to achieve goals as part of the cooperation between students. In the frame of ASSETs+ project [7] a methodology of the competition that motivates students not only to independently search for knowledge, but also to present their proposals was developed. Information on the two completed editions of the challenge is available in [8]. In the framework of the PLANET4 project [9] industrial research was carried out, the main purpose of which was to identify the needs of industry and related technologies. It was found, among others, that there is relatively little knowledge about the possibilities of practical application of edge computing. Finally, in the MAESTRO project [10], a way of introducing sustainable development into education was proposed.

### Acknowledgement

This work has been partially funded by Erasmus+ Programmes: No 621639-EPP-1-2020-1-IT-EPPKA2-KA, PLANET4: Practical Learning of Artificial iNtelligence on the Edge for indusTry 4.0; No 2019-1-SE01-KA203-060572, MAESTRO: Manufacturing Education for a Sustainable Fourth Industrial Revolution; No 612678-EPP-1-2019-1-IT-EPPKA2-SSA-B, ASSETs+: Alliance for Strategic Skills Addressing Emerging Technologies in Defence; No 2017-1-SE01-KA203-034524, TIPHYS: Social Network Based Doctoral Education on Industry 4.0.

- Stadnicka, D.; Sęp, J.; Amadio, R.; Mazzei, D.; Tyrovolas, M.; Stylios, C.; Carreras-Coch, A.; Merino, J.A.; Żabiński, T.; Navarro, J.: Industrial Needs in the Fields of Artificial Intelligence, Internet of Things and Edge Computing. Sensors 22(12), 4501 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/s22124501
- Paśko, Ł.; Mądziel, M.; Stadnicka, D.; Dec, G.; Carreras-Coch, A.; Solé-Beteta, X.; Pappa, L.; Stylios, C.; Mazzei, D.; Atzeni, D.: Plan and Develop Advanced Knowledge and Skills for Future Industrial Employees in the Field of Artificial Intelligence, Internet of Things and Edge Computing. Sustainability 14(6), 3312 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/su14063312
- Lupi, F.; Mabkhot, M.M.; Finžgar, M.; Minetola, P.; Stadnicka, D.; Maffei, A.; Litwin, P.; Boffa, E.; Ferreira, P.; Podržaj, P.; Chelli, R.; Lohse, N.; Lanzetta, M.: Toward a sustainable educational engineer archetype through Industry 4.0. Computers in Industry 134, 103543 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2021.103543
- Mabkhot, M.M.; Ferreira, P.; Maffei, A.; Podržaj, P.; Mądziel, M.; Antonelli, D.; Lanzetta, M.; Barata, J.; Boffa, E.; Finžgar, M.; Paśko, Ł.; Minetola, P.; Chelli, R.; Nikghadam-Hojjati S.; Wang, X.V.; Priarone, P.C.; Litwin, P.; Stadnicka, D.; Lohse, N.; Lupi, F.: Mapping industry 4.0 enabling technologies into united nations sustainability development goals. Sustainability 13(5), 2560 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3390/su13052560
- Aponte, C.; Agi, K.; Jordan, R.: International Profile of a Global Engineer. 2017 7th World Engineering Education Forum (WEEF), pp. 470-477 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1109/WEEF.2017.8467050
- TIPHYS homepage, https://leanacademy.wbmil.prz.edu.pl/projekty-unijne/projekt-tiphys, last accessed 2022/07/21
- 7. ASSETs+ homepage, https://assets-plus.eu/, last accessed 2022/07/21
- 8. European Defence Challenge, https://assets-plus.eu/challenge/, last accessed 2022/07/21
- 9. PLANET4 homepage, https://www.planet4project.eu/, last accessed 2022/07/21
- 10. MAESTRO homepage, https://maestro.w.prz.edu.pl/, last accessed 2022/07/21

# A metacognition approach to engineering management education: the Debatethon

Antonella Martini<sup>1</sup>, Irene Spada<sup>2</sup>, Vito Giordano<sup>2</sup>, Gualtiero Fantoni<sup>3</sup> and Filippo Chiarello<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Engineering, Department of Energy, Systems, Land and Construction Engineering, University of Pisa, Italy

<sup>2</sup> School of Engineering, Department of Information Engineering, University of Pisa, Italy

<sup>3</sup> School of Engineering, Department of Civil and Industrial Engineering, University of Pisa,

Italy

# 1 Introduction

The complexity and multifaceted nature of current technological and social changes requires new skills and values to properly tackle the posed challenges. Educators and teachers are therefore called to implement novel practices and approaches to stimulate learners and contribute to the development of a critical mindset. This is particularly true in the context of engineering, where traditional face-to-face lectures, typically used for the fundamentals and technical concepts, may fail in preparing students for the intricate real-world dynamics [1]. Debate can be one of the methodologies highly effective to this end [2]. It has been recognized in literature as a valuable approach to foster critical thinking and communication skills [3; 4], it encourages students to analyze an issue in multiple perspectives [2] and promote students' participation and discussions [5]. The debate is a pedagogical approach consisting of a verbal challenge in which two parts confront each other on opposing positions: debaters argue on a specific topic in a limited time and following specific rules to present their theses [6]. This approach relies on the theory of constructive pedagogy, leveraging on the concept of cooperative learning and peer education and it is included among the interactive teaching methods [7]. The dialogic classrooms engage students in learning activities into the higher levels of the Bloom's Taxonomy, analysis, synthesis, and evaluation [8]. In addition, dialogue and discussion are a fundamental part of human beings, consequently, fostering learning and understanding in such a social process as debate can contribute to the development of social abilities of the learners [9]. Debates can be implemented in various disciplines, such as accounting [3], marketing [4], both for adult learning [2] and for adolescents [10]. The application of such an approach in the STEM field is rarer, even though some peculiar cases are reported in literature, e.g., the authors in [11] propose the debate for discussing ethical issues in the degree of Biomedical Engineering, [12] presents the use of debate in English Foreign Language course, and [13] illustrates the model of mathematical debate.

In the current work, we propose the *debatethon*: a marathon of debates in which participants discuss dichotomies of a given topic. We realized the pilot of the *debatethon*, involving the students of the bachelor's and master's degree courses in Management Engineering of the University of Pisa. The debate was organized in a one-day

session of 5 hours, and it was held in the Museum of Calculus (Museo degli Strumenti del Calcolo) of the University of Pisa. The objective of such a location was to motivate students and encourage them in an open-minded interaction both with peers and facilitators. The implementation of educational activities out of the classroom can enhance interdisciplinary learning and teaching experiences [15; 16]. The preposition focuses on the conceptual dichotomies of the figure of the management engineer, that are: (a) methods: engineering versus management; (b) skills: soft versus hard; (c) approach: process-based versus goal-based; (d) performance: effectiveness versus efficiency; (e) working environment: physical versus digital. The expected learning outcomes of the proposed activity are to develop analytical, critical, argumentative and communication skills. The evaluation is based on the changes in the audience's sentiment, measured before and after the debate.

#### 2 Pilot experience of the *Debatethon*

The debate requires a well-defined format, with specification on roles for people involved, rules for conducting the session and duration. In our pilot debatethon, the following roles are set up: Facilitators, which are professors of the Department of Management Engineering, researchers and PhD students from the Departments of Management Engineering and Computer Science. The presence of different figures can enable a distributed moderation, considered as a vantage point for success in discussions [14]; Tutors, i.e., Master's degree students in Management Engineering, who performed this activity as part of the capstone project "SMART INNOVATION 2022"; Debaters, who are bachelor's degree students in Management Engineering. Then we defined the preposition of the debate, namely a concept characterized by several dichotomies, and so we described this concept in terms of the identified opposite features. Before the event, we submitted a questionnaire on the dichotomy to *ex-ante* position the students. The initial preferences of the students on the opposite positions are used to select the opposite features which polarize at most the audience and to group the students based on their homogeneous answers. Six groups of five students were formed, and each "pair of groups" was assigned to the 3 most polarized dualities (a, b, d). The day of the event, each group worked on its own argument with the support of its tutor and the stimuli of the facilitators. After the oral presentation of both positions of the dichotomy, all participating students voted on the argument deemed most convincing. The groups that managed to be more persuasive with the arguments, bringing the audience to its side, was able to win the challenge. We collected the final preferences of the students on the opposite positions. The presentation confirmed the sentiment for the dichotomies (a) and (d), while they completely turned the game for the feature (b).

The presented pilot of *debatethon* is a powerful approach for cooperative learning and peer education. Its strengths are the presence of different facilitators and students from different degrees, the implementation out of the classroom, and the development of the transversal skills. Finally, the *debatethon* is a game: getting involved in the dynamics of the team and the competition is the best way to learn.

- Ditcher, A. K. (2001). Effective teaching and learning in higher education, with particular reference to the undergraduate education of professional engineers. *International Journal of Engineering Education*, 17(1), 24-29.
- Yang, C. H., & Rusli, E. (2012). Using debate as a pedagogical tool in enhancing pre-service teachers' learning and critical thinking. *Journal of International Education Research (JIER)*, 8(2), 135-144.
- Camp, J. M., & Schnader, A. L. (2010). Using debate to enhance critical thinking in the accounting classroom: The Sarbanes-Oxley Act and US tax policy. *Issues in accounting education*, 25(4), 655-675.
- Roy, A., & Macchiette, B. (2005). Debating the issues: A tool for augmenting critical thinking skills of marketing students. *Journal of Marketing Education*, 27(3), 264-276.
- Elliot, L. B. (1993). Using debates to teach the psychology of women. *Teaching of Psychology*, 20(1), 35-38.
- 6. Freeley, A. J., & Steinberg, D. L. (2013). Argumentation and debate. Cengage Learning.
- Kutbiddinova, R. A., Eromasova, A., & Romanova, M. A. (2016). The Use of Interactive Methods in the Educational Process of the Higher Education Institution. *International Jour*nal of Environmental and Science Education, 11(14), 6557-6572.
- Scheib, J. W. (2012). Empowering preservice music teachers through the dialogue-centered methods class. *Journal of Music Teacher Education*, 22(1), 103-112.
- Gulnaz, F. (2020). Fostering Saudi EFL Learners' Communicative, Collaborative and Critical Thinking Skills Through the Technique of In-Class Debate. *International Journal of English Linguistics*, 10(5), 265.
- Malone, Y., & Michael, T. (2018). Collaborative learning and critical thinking skills: Effects of a debate-based pedagogy. *International Journal of Learning and Teaching*, 10(1), 61-69.
- Wallen, M., & Pandit, A. (2009). Developing research competencies through a project-based tissue-engineering module in the biomedical engineering undergraduate curriculum. *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part H: Journal of Engineering in Medicine*, 223(4), 443-448.
- 12. Iman, J. N. (2017). Debate Instruction in EFL Classroom: Impacts on the Critical Thinking and Speaking Skill. *International Journal of Instruction*, *10*(4), 87-108.
- Giangrande, M., & Matteucci, A. (2021). Il Debate metamatematico: un nuovo approccio orientato alla metacognizione per la didattica della matematica. FORMAZIONE & INSEGNAMENTO. Rivista internazionale di Scienze dell'educazione e della formazione, 19(3), 276-297.
- Lampe, C., Zube, P., Lee, J., Park, C. H., & Johnston, E. (2014). Crowdsourcing civility: A natural experiment examining the effects of distributed moderation in online forums. *Government Information Quarterly*, 31(2), 317-326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2013.11.005
- Mayoral García-Berlanga, O., Simó Noguera, C., & Suay i Lerma, F. (2018). Outdoor academic debate as a tool to stimulate critical thinking and scientific orientation: a pilot experience. @ tic. Revista d'innovació educativa, 2018, vol. 21, num. Juliol-desembre, p. 67-74.
- Rickinson, M., Dillon, J., Teamey, K., Morris, M., Choi, M. Y., Sanders, D., & Benefield, P. (2004). A review of research on outdoor learning.







Università degli Studi di Palermo



4th International Conference on Higher Education Learning Methodologies and Technologies Online - HELMeTO2022 September 21-23, 2022, Palermo, Italy